Public Document Pack

DISTRICT COUNCIL
NORTH OXFORDSHIRE

Committee: Planning Committee

Date: Thursday 14 August 2025

Time: 4.00 pm

Venue 39 Castle Quay, Banbury, OX16 5FD
Membership

Councillor Barry Wood (Chair) Councillor Amanda Watkins (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Rebecca Biegel Councillor Chris Brant
Councillor John Broad Councillor Phil Chapman
Councillor Becky Clarke MBE Councillor Jean Conway
Councillor Dr Isabel Creed Councillor lan Harwood
Councillor David Hingley Councillor Fiona Mawson
Councillor Lesley McLean Councillor Robert Parkinson
Councillor Chris Pruden Councillor Les Sibley
Councillor Dr Kerrie Thornhill Councillor Douglas Webb

Substitutes

Councillor Nick Cotter Councillor Andrew Crichton
Councillor Harry Knight Councillor Dr Chukwudi Okeke
Councillor Lynne Parsons Councillor Rob Pattenden
Councillor Edward Fraser Reeves Councillor David Rogers
Councillor Nigel Simpson Councillor Dorothy Walker
Councillor Linda Ward Councillor John Willett
AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members
2. Declarations of Interest

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting

Cherwell District Council, 39 Castle Quay, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX16 5FD
www.cherwell.gov.uk



http://www.cherwell.gov.uk/

3. Requests to Address the Meeting
The Chair to report on any requests to address the meeting.
Requests to address the meeting (including the application, whether you will speak

in support of or objection to the application, your contact details) should be
submitted to democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk

The deadline for requests to address this meeting is noon on Wednesday 13
August.

Addresses can be made virtually or in person. Full details of public participation at
Planning Committee meeting is available in the Constitution, Planning Committee
Procedure Rules.

4, Chair's Announcements

To receive communications from the Chair.

Planning Applications

5. Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway Railway
Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington (Pages 6 - 291) 24/00539/F

Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon
hole in the Members’ Lounge at the end of the meeting.

Information about this Agenda

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence should be notified to democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk or 01295
221534 prior to the start of the meeting.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item.

Evacuation Procedure
If you hear the fire alarm, please leave the building via the nearest available exit. The fire
assembly point is outside the Premier Inn, adjacent to the canal.

Access to Meetings

If you have any special requirements, such as a large print version of these papers or
special access facilities to view a meeting online or attend a meeting in person, please
contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as possible before the meeting.


mailto:democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
https://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=531&MId=3982&Ver=4
https://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=531&MId=3982&Ver=4
mailto:democracy@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk

Mobile Phones
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off.

Webcasting and Broadcasting Notice

The meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the
council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except when confidential or
exempt items are being considered. The webcast will be retained on the website for 6
months.

If you make a representation to the meeting, you will be deemed by the council to have
consented to being recorded. By entering the Council Chamber or joining virtually, you
are consenting to being recorded and to the possible use of those images and sound
recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.

The council is obliged, by law, to allow members of the public to take photographs, film,
audio-record, and report on proceedings. The council will only seek to prevent this should
it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.

Queries Regarding this Agenda

Please contact Matt Swinford / Martyn Surfleet, Democratic and Elections
democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 01295 221534

Shiraz Sheikh
Monitoring Officer

Published on Wednesday 6 August 2025



Agenda Annex
CHERWELL DISTRICT COUNCIL

Planning Committee — 14 August 2025
PLANNING APPLICATIONS INDEX

The Officer's recommendations are given at the end of the report on each application.

Members should get in touch with staff as soon as possible after receiving this agenda
if they wish to have any further information on the applications.

Any responses to consultations, or information which has been received after the
application report was finalised, will be reported at the meeting.

The individual reports normally only refer to the main topic policies in the Cherwell
Local Plan that are appropriate to the proposal. However, there may be other policies
in the Development Plan, or the Local Plan, or other national and local planning
guidance that are material to the proposal but are not specifically referred to.

The reports also only include a summary of the planning issues received in consultee
representations and statements submitted on an application. Full copies of the
comments received are available for inspection by Members in advance of the
meeting.

Legal, Health and Safety, Crime and Disorder, Sustainability and Equalities
Implications

Any relevant matters pertaining to the specific applications are as set out in the
individual reports.

Human Rights Implications

The recommendations in the reports may, if accepted, affect the human rights of
individuals under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European
Convention on Human Rights. However, in all the circumstances relating to the
development proposals, it is concluded that the recommendations are in accordance
with the law and are necessary in a democratic society for the protection of the rights
and freedom of others and are also necessary to control the use of property in the
interest of the public.

Background Papers

For each of the applications listed are: the application form; the accompanying
certificates and plans and any other information provided by the applicant/agent;
representations made by bodies or persons consulted on the application; any
submissions supporting or objecting to the application; any decision notices or letters
containing previous planning decisions relating to the application site.

Page 4



Item | Site Application | Ward Recommen @ Contact

No. Number dation Officer
5 Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake | 24/00539/F Kidlington Approval* Laura Bell
And West Of Oxford Parkway East
Railway Station, Oxford Road,
Kidlington

*Subject to referral to the Secretary of State, conditions and a S106 legal agreement.

Cherwell District Council Democratic and Elections Team, 39 Castle
Quay, Banbury, OX16 5FD

Page 5



DISTRICT COUNCIL
HORTH OXFORDSHIRE




/ N

A JIM 0 67.1m b
t Of Strgtld Brake
ord Parki ay Railway Station

\
«
v

Stratfield Brake

DISTRICT COUNCIL
oooooooo ORDSHIRE \

N :;?5/”*. ‘

4 ity s

o4 Tﬁ( ‘.-»Ir’\

(1)
ghlance Survey 100018504 LS




i A S w3 U
-\',; S (1] " f\
il / \
f Oxford P

U r
\
\
N\
~
»
/) NN
Y / o\l 1§
& \
/ /,
| E— | — ' <

[—
= ——
b ,Eiﬁw &
—
<

—\

b

3]

Stratfield Brake

DISTRICT COUNCIL
NORTH OXFORDSHIRE

3 LR 2




Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford 24/00539/F
Parkway Railway Station Oxford Road Kidlington

Case Officer:

Laura Bell

Applicant: Oxford United Football Club Limited

Proposal: Erection of a stadium (Use Class F2) with flexible commercial and community
facilities and uses including for conferences, exhibitions, education, and other
events, club shop, public restaurant, bar, health and wellbeing facility/clinic,
and gym (Use Class E/Sui Generis), hotel (Use Class C1), external
concourse/fan-zone, car and cycle parking, access and highway works,
utilities, public realm, landscaping and all associated and ancillary works and
structures

Ward: Kidlington East and Kidlington West

Councillors:  Councillors Mawson, Middleton and Ward for Kidlington East
Councillors Conway, McLean and Walker for Kidlington West

Reason for Major development/Significant departure from adopted development plan or

Referral: other CDC approved policies

Expiry Date: 15 August 2025 Committee Date: 14 August 2025

This application was subject to a Committee Members Site Visit, which took place on
Tuesday 1 July 2025.

Acronyms are used throughout this report. Please refer to Appendix 4 to find the
glossary.

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO REFERRAL TO
THE SECRETARY OF STATE, CONDITIONS, AND A S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT

Executive Summary

Oxford United Football Club (OUFC) has submitted a full planning application for the
development of a new 16,000-seat stadium and associated facilities on a 7.17-hectare site
known as “The Triangle,” located between Stratfield Brake and Oxford Parkway Railway
Station, Kidlington. The proposal includes commercial, community, and hospitality uses,
extensive landscaping, and transport infrastructure.

The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt and is not allocated for development in the
adopted or emerging Local Plans. The proposal constitutes inappropriate development in
the Green Belt and must demonstrate Very Special Circumstances (VSC) to be approved.

The site contributes strongly to Green Belt purposes, particularly preventing urban sprawl
and the merging of Oxford and Kidlington. The development would significantly weaken the
Kidlington Gap, undermining the openness and strategic function of the Green Belt.

The December 2024 revision of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduced
the concept of Grey Belt land. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF outlines that development in the
Green Belt may not be considered inappropriate if it meets specific criteria, including being
located on Grey Belt land.

Page 9



The application site was assessed against the Grey Belt definition using the updated
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and Cherwell’s Green Belt evidence base and is not
considered to comprise Grey Belt land.

As the site is not Grey Belt, the proposal must be treated as inappropriate development in
the Green Belt. In accordance with NPPF paragraph 153, such development should only
be approved if Very Special Circumstances (VSC) are demonstrated that clearly outweigh
the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm.

The applicant presents a multi-faceted VSC case, which Officers consider is comprehensive
and compelling, addressing the urgent need for relocation, lack of alternatives, and wide-
ranging public benefits.

In terms of “other harm”, as per paragraph 153 of the NPPF, the development would clearly
impact openness given the scale of the development in a part of the green belt which is
fragile and where development would significantly weaken the distinction between
Kidlington and Oxford. The land makes a significant contribution to the Green Belt and its
purposes in this location. The development would cause significant landscape and visual
harm at a localised level and there would be some impacts to ecology which would need to
be carefully mitigated for.

To avoid and minimise additional harm beyond the ‘by definition’ harm of allowing
inappropriate development in the Green Belt (which attracts substantial weight), mitigation
has been secured to achieve a neutral impact on a number of factors. This includes:
improvements to the surrounding transport network and the inclusion of measures to
encourage the use of public transport and active modes of travel; measures to reduce and
enhance ecological impact, notably through a requirement to achieve biodiversity net gain;
inclusion of a package of works and planning obligations to reinforce supporting
infrastructure capacity; and discipline specific measures to protect residential amenity,
notably in relation to noise, air quality and lighting.

Account has been taken of the impacts of the development, including the landscape and
visual impacts, change to the existing setting of nearby receptors and the impact to the
openness of and the direct loss of Green Belt land, which has been considered and weighed
in the planning balance.

After very careful consideration, Officers have concluded that very special circumstances
to justify this proposed development have been demonstrated, on the basis that the harm
to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and the other harm from the proposal, is
clearly outweighed by the other considerations set out in the report below.

It is therefore recommended that Members resolve to grant planning permission, subject to
the conditions set out at the end of this report (and any amendments to those conditions as
deemed necessary) and completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, to secure the mitigation outlined in Appendix 2.

The application is a departure from the Development Plan and will be referred to
the Secretary of State, if resolved to approve.

Page 10



Contents (page numbers refer to report, right hand number, not agenda pack number)

EXECULIVE SUMMAIY ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e eaaeas 2
=T =T o T o 5
APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY ..ot 5
CON ST RAINT S e a e e e e e e e e 6
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT .......ouuiiiiiiiiiiieieiiiiiiieneneeeneennnnennnnnnnnns 6
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY ....ootiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeiteeeeeieeeesaeeeesseeseeeeeeasenesennnennes 8
PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS ......oooiiiiiiiiiiiiieitiieieeeieeeeeeeeeeaeeseeeeasssseessesnsnsessnnnnnnes 9
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY .ttt 9
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ..o 10
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeieiiiniieees 32
APPRAISAL ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaaaaaaans 35
Principle of Development and Impact on the Green Belt............ccccoceeeiiiiiiieenn. 36
Very Special CirCUmMSIANCES..........covviiiiiii i ettt saessesseeeene D
Trees and ECOIOQY .....couuuuiiiiiiei e 66
Landscape and visual iIMPaCt..........ooouiiiiiii e 71
3751 o 75
Retail IMPACT ... .o e e e e et e e e e e e eeeees 79
Residential amenity ........coooiiiiiiiii i 80
Transport and Highway Safety ........ccooiiiiiiiiii e 82
NOiS€ and AIr QUAIILY ........eeeiiiieeiiiee e a e e e e 97
[0 ) {1 o [PPSR 99
Flooding and Drainage.........ccooooioooieeeeeeeeee e 101
SUSEAINADIIILY ..ovuei e ———————— 104
Environmental Statement..........coooooiiiiii 105
Planning ODbligations .........oouuiiiii e e 107
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION ..o 111
RECOMMENDATION. ...ttt esseeeneennnnnnnnnnne 114
APPENDIX 1 - SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS....................... Separate document

APPENDIX 2 — Draft Heads of Terms for Section 106 Agreement/Undertaking ..Separate document

APPENDIX 3 — Oxfordshire County Council Single Response............ Separate document
APPENDIX 4 — Glossary Of terms .........ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e Separate document
Figure 1: Application site in CONteXt ........oooiiiii e 54
Figure 2: Proposed Sit€ Plan...... ... 87
Figure 3: Extract from Planning Statement Addendum .............ccccoooiiiiiiiiicii e, 43
Figure 4: Location of application site in context of Green Belt and Partial Review site
= o= 11T 1= PP 78
Figure 5: Study area plan and sites considered by Savills and Ridge (Fabrik 2023)........ 55
Figure 6: Development ‘any other harm' assessment summary............cccccooiiiieeeeennnns 109
3

Page 11



Page 12



1 Main Report

APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY

1.1. The application site comprises approximately 7.17ha of primarily inaccessible scrub
and commercial willow plantation situated 6 km to the north of Oxford and at the
gateway of Kidlington. The site is known locally as ‘The Triangle’.

1.2. The Site is bound by Kidlington Roundabout to the north, Oxford Road to the north-
east, Frieze Way A4260 to the west and a block of woodland to the south, with further
agricultural land beyond. To the south east of the Site is the A34 and then Oxford
Parkway Railway Station and the Park and Ride, and to the west of the Site is
Stratfield Brake Sports Ground. The Site is also bound by a number of site allocations
within the adopted Local Plan, namely Allocated Site PR6b (residential development
of ~670 dwellings) to the south-east, Allocated Site PR6c¢ (for the potential
construction of a golf course should this be required as a result of site PR6b) to the
south-west, and Site Allocation PR7a (for ~430 dwellings, an extension to Kidlington
Cemetery and 11 hectares of land to provide formal sports/green infrastructure for the
development and for the wider community) to the north-east. Allocated site PR6a
(allocated for ~690 dwellings) lies to the south east of the Site. Allocated site PR7b
lies to the northwest of the site, north of Stratfield Brake and this is an allocation for
~120 homes.

1.3. The extract below from the applicant’s Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (L
VIA) shows the application site outlined in red and its relationship with the surrounding
land.

Figure 1: Application site in context

W 7 3 ]

LEGEND

SITEBOUNDARY

EXISTING STRATFIELD BRAKE SPORTS
ROUND

EXISTING CREEN BELT

EXISTING VEGETATION

NERC ACT 541 HABITAT

STRATEGIC SITE ALLOCATIONS

RAILWAY STATION

| RAILWAY LINE

POLICY PREC: LAND AT FRIEZE

FARM: RESERVED SITE FOR
REPLACEMENT GOLF COURSE

PROW- FOOTPATH

PERMISSIVEFOOTPATH

OXFORD CANAL

ik
a
:
]
)
-
8
B
'E
H

ROADS

CONTOURS.

230KV OVERHEAD TRANSMISSION LINES

420KV OVERHEAD TRANSMISSION
LINES + EASEMENT

EXISTING OAK TREES

Qs NENINONEONEEONEQO

REPRESENTATIVE VIEWPOINT LOCATION

' REPRODUCEDFROM ORDNANCE!

Page 13



2.1.

2.2.

3.1.

3.2.

CONSTRAINTS

The Site comprises greenfield land with vegetated boundaries and a strip of woodland
along the Site’s southern boundary. The Site exhibits a varied topography, with a
relatively flat gentle gradient of 1:150 —1:200 falling east to west. The Site is located
in Flood Zone 1. The north of the Site presents some risk of surface water flooding
due to its topography. There are field ditches found on the western boundary and to
the northern edge of the woodland. The north of the Site contains a Gas Main and
Overhead Power Cable. Stratfield Brake District Wildlife Site (site code 41V21) lies
within the southern portion of the Site, and to the west of Frieze Way. An area of land
adjacent to the red line boundary (now not within it), in the southern portion of the
triangle, comprises Lowland Mixed Deciduous Woodland, which is defined as a
habitat of principal importance for the conservation of biodiversity in England under
section 41 of the NERC (Natural Environment and Rural Communities) Act

The Site is not in or adjacent to an environmentally sensitive area, as defined by
Regulation 2(1) of the EIA Regulations (i.e. sites designated as Sites of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI), National Parks, World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments, National Landscapes (formally called Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty) and sites covered by international conservation designations). However, the
Site is located within 2km of the following SSSI sites: Hook Meadow and The Trap
Grounds, Pixey and Yarnton Meads, Port Meadow with Wolvercote Common and
Green and Wolvercote Meadows. The site is also within 1km of the Meadows West
of Oxford Canal Local Wildlife site and ~1.9km north of the Oxford Meadows Special
Area of Conservation (SAC). The Lower Cherwell Valley Conservation Target Area
(‘CTA) also lies in close proximity to the Site. The site is therefore within proximity to
sites of ecological importance. The Site lies within the Oxford Green Belt. No
Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens or Registered Battlefields are
present within or in the vicinity of the Site. Whilst there are no Listed Buildings within
the Site, there are a number of Listed Buildings within its proximity (this is detailed
within the heritage section of the appraisal).

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

The description of development is for:

Erection of a stadium (Use Class F2) with flexible commercial and community facilities
and uses including for conferences, exhibitions, education, and other events, club
shop, public restaurant, bar, health and wellbeing facility/clinic, and gym (Use Class
E/Sui Generis), hotel (Use Class C1), external concourse/fan-zone, car and cycle
parking, access and highway works, utilities, public realm, landscaping and all
associated and ancillary works and structures

The proposed development seeks consent for the following uses below:

Use Use Class Quantum

Stadium, to include | F2 16,000 seat capacity
conferencing and events
space for ~1000 guests

Club shop and ticket office | E 264sgm

Sports bar Sui Generis 178sgm

Page 14



3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

Restaurant E 320sgm

Gym E 677sgm

Health and wellbeing/ clinic | E 813sgm

facility

Hotel C1 180 bedrooms

Parking Ancillary 161 car parking spaces,

2 coach bays, motorcycle
spaces and 446 cycle

spaces
Green Ancillary The Plaza and Gardens -
infrastructure/landscaped 7,581sgm The Southern
areas Plaza — 1,160 sgm The
Approach — 1,918 sgm
Other areas of

landscaping and SUDS
drainage — 2,297 sqm

The stadium is situated in the southern part of the site on a north-west/south-east
axis. A pedestrian concourse is proposed around the perimeter of the stadium, as well
as a community plaza and fan zone to the north of the Stadium, with an area of
enhanced green infrastructure in the northern corner of the site. Car parking is
situated to the south-west of the stadium, which includes an area which would be
used as an outdoor broadcasting compound on matchdays. To the south of the site
are SuDs drainage ponds as well as another area of public realm to the south-east.

The proposed maximum height of the stadium is 24.6 metres. The roof is proposed to
be angled, with the highest point facing towards Kidlington/Frieze Way and the shorter
side towards the Oxford Road.

The extract below (not to scale) is from the Design and Access statement, showing

the proposed site plan, location of stadium, parking, drainage, landscape and access
and the relationship to the wider area.

Page 15



Figure 2: Proposed site plan

4.1.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:

Reference number

Description

Date and outcome

and ride car park
including 800 car parking
spaces, staff office,
toilets, bus shelter,
information point, cycle
shelter, cameras,
landscaping and
balancing pond.

97/01897/F Change of use from Permitted January 1998
agricultural to motorcycle | (1 year temporary
track consent)
00/01527/0CC Construction of a park Permitted, 30 January

2001

Page 16




5.1.

5.2.

6.1.

6.2.

a pedestrian bridge

23/02276/SCOP Scoping Opinion — new Scoping Opinion Issued,
stadium development 29 September 2023

23/02335/PREAPP Pre-application request - | Response Sent 28
new stadium February 2024
development

24/03029/PREAPP The potential erection of | Response sent 30

January 2025

crossing Oxford Road (3
options presented), to
accompany proposals for
new stadium
development for Oxford
United Football Club.

PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS

The applicants sought formal pre-application advice in August 2023, in relation to the
erection of a new football stadium, with ancillary uses, on the proposed site. A formal
written response was provided on 11 October 2023. The response set out high level,
principal policy issues and identified topic areas that ought to be covered and
addressed as part of a formal planning application.

A further pre-application submission was received in November 2024 with regard to
the potential erection of a pedestrian bridge crossing Oxford Road, to accompany the
current proposals for new stadium development for Oxford United Football Club. A
formal written response was provided on 30 January 2025, providing high level
comments on the options presented.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY

This application has been publicised by way of site notices displayed near the site
and by advertisement in the local newspaper. The final date for comments was 26"
July 2025.

There have been several rounds of consultation as follows:
¢ Initial consultation on receipt of application in February 2024

e First re-consultation in September 2024 relating to the North Oxford VISSIM
Model Scoping Report 2024. The Council’'s consultant reviews of LVIA, RIA
and sustainability information was also available at this time and prompted the
second Regulation 25 letter requesting more information on those matters and
the ASA.

e Second re-consultation in December 2024 relating to the ES Addendum,
amended plans and application documents.

e Third re-consultation in March 2025 relating to the updated Alternative Site

Assessment (ASA) and Landscape and Visual Impact Alternative Site
Assessment (LVASA).

Page 17



6.3.

6.4.

6.5.

Fourth re-consultation in April 2025 relating to a Planning Statement
Addendum, Ecology Response, Security Questions response and Transport
Addendum.

Fifth re-consultation in early June 2025 concerning further information
received in relation to the environmental statement, comprising an updated
biodiversity metric and ecology response. Additional information was also
received relating to LVIA clarifications, community benefits and an updated
Planning Statement.

Sixth re-consultation in late June 2025 upon further information received in
relation to the environmental statement comprising an updated lighting
assessment and ecology statement. Additional information was also received

in relation to financial sustainability.

At the time of publishing this report, the Council has received a total of 3947
representations, comprising 2812 of support (71%) and 998 representations of
objection (25%) and 137 comments (4%). All responses are summarised in Appendix

1 and have been taken into account fully and carefully in assessing the proposal.

The tables below summarises the geographical origins of the representations
received. OX2 postcodes are addresses from Kidlington and the surrounding area

and OX5 are addresses from North Oxford and surrounding area.

The table below shows a breakdown of where the 3947 representations originate from

OX2 Postcodes 8%
OX5 Postcodes 24%
Wider Oxfordshire postcodes 31%
Other UK postcodes 36%
Overseas 1%

6.6. The table below shows a breakdown of where the 2812 letters of support originate

from
OX2 Postcodes 4%
OX5 Postcodes 10%
Wider Oxfordshire postcodes 40%
Other UK postcodes 45%
Overseas 1%

6.7. The table below shows a breakdown of where the 998 letters of objection originate

from:
OX2 Postcodes 21%
OX5 Postcodes 63%
Wider Oxfordshire postcodes 8%
Other UK postcodes 8%
Overseas 0%

Page 18

10



6.8. The comments received can be viewed in full on the Council’s website, via the online

7.1.

7.2.

Planning Register.

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION

The application has been advertised as a departure from the adopted Development
Plan and in accordance with the requirements of EIA submissions. There have been
several rounds of consultation, as set out in paragraph 6.2 above.

Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website, via the online
Planning Register.

11
Page 19



Consultee

Date of response

Comments made

Kidlington
Parish Council
(KPC)

03/04/24, 25/04/24,
15/04/25 and 30/05/25

06/11/24, | OBJECTION in relation to:

Bus access up the Oxford Road - There is a
clear risk that the police will just close the road
completely, disrupting the service buses which
are very regular from Bicester, Banbury,
Woodstock and Kidlington all going into Oxford
or the hospitals. KPC cannot understand
without more detail how this is safely possible.
It would appear that buses will only be allowed
along the current bus lane with marshalling.
How will service buses be able to travel in both
directions? Has the modelling allowed for the
safe passage of the large number of bus
routes using the Oxford Road to link Oxford
with the North?

Parking Control — more information is required.

Crowd Management — more detail is required.
We have no confidence that the crowd and
traffic control measures that will be required for
the stadium to operate will be sustainable.

Public Transport

Transport Modelling — doubts in relation to
Park and Ride capacity, the length of the
required road closure, the use of sustainable
transport by supporters, the feasibility of
providing the required additional public
transport, and the calculations about traffic
flow at affected road junctions.

Green Belt loss leading to coalescence of
settlements

Site search and no justification for leaving the
Kassam

Adverse ecological impact - ecological
assessment / BNG calculation and stadium
planting plan to be revised and to include the
additional impact of the proposed Frieze Way
path.

Adverse woodland impact

Page 20

12




Loss of biodiversity

Unsustainable - energy, embodied
carbon/waste and materials. The cost of
disposing of the existing stadium should be
included in the energy, carbon and waste
account of the new stadium

Adverse landscape impact

Adverse visual impact - KPC would like to see
more measures to mitigate the adverse visual
impact of the proposed stadium in this Green
Belt location.

Adverse construction impact — the CEMP
needs to demonstrate a clear commitment to
best practice procedures

Lack of community benefits. KPC asks CDC to
secure assurances that OUFC will support
maintenance and improve facilities at Stratfield
Brake as condition of approval. KPC
appreciate the support for apprenticeships and
work experience for young people in the area,
but are seeking an increased commitment to
the number of apprenticeship roles after the
construction phase.

Water and flooding - Until the offsite surface
water system has been adequately
investigated and the planning authority have
evidence that the flow from the OUFC site can
be accommodated downstream, the proposal
should be refused.

Applicant not answered questions raised by
the Parish Council.

No ‘Very Special Circumstances’ (VSC) for this
development in the Green Belt

ASA not done appropriately and OUFC should
remain at Grenoble Road.

Detrimental to the economy of the area.

Maintain  highway objections and no
convincing travel plan. OUFC must provide full
travel plan prior to determination and local
residents, businesses and stakeholders

Page 21

13




should be consulted on effectiveness of Travel
Plan at regular intervals

e No crowd management plan - OUFC must
provide a final / definitive emergency
evacuation procedure and have this approved
by Thames Valley Police and other
responsible approval bodies before the
application can be considered

e Previous concerns over drainage, biodiversity
landscape and visual impact remain.

e Determining the planning application is
premature as important matters not resolved

e KPC intends to make S106 request (if
approved) to secure community benefits and
mitigate local pressures as result of application

o Site is not grey belt

e KPC maintains objection for reasons
previously rehearsed.

e KPC have provided a draft heads of terms for
a S106 agreement, seeking contributions via
the District Council to cover the following
items: Maintenance and Development of
Stratfield Brake Sports Ground, Biodiversity
and Green Infrastructure, Community
Mitigation measures, Community employment
initiatives, Health and Wellbeing Provision,
Sustainable Transport and Green Strategy
and monitoring & implementation.

Kidlington
Parish Council

21/07/2025

On 21/07/2025, Kidlington Parish Council submitted
three documents — a response covering the key
objections with the scheme, a supplementary
response on ftraffic management and a transport
technical note prepared by Mayer Brown. Each
document is summarised as follows:

KPC Response

o KPC considers that it is inappropriate to decide
the application while several key material
planning matters remain unresolved. OUFC
should develop the overarching operational
strategies and make them available to

14

Page 22




stakeholders for agreement before the
application is decided.

The consultation period closes after the
publication of the report.

Welcome the response that the land is a very
highly performing part of the Green Belt and
that development of the site would have a
considerable adverse impact on the most
fragile part of the Kidlington Gap.

Still consider VSC has not yet been proven.

If the application is approved then various
matters should be resolved before
development commences including:

o Need for an independent audit to
demonstrate current and future
financial stability

o Reliable 3" party evidence proving the
club cannot stay at the Kassam.

o An independent audit of the ecological
and BNG work

o Amendment to protect the ancient
woodland

o A detailed operational plan for handling
security/ evacuation and crowd
segregation

o Completion of OCC’s formal highways
consultation and sign off

o Resolution of issues raised by Thames
Water re. foul and fresh water supply

o Detail on the location, costs and
management of the Controlled Parking
Zone

o Further traffic and  pedestrian
modelling to clarity the severity of the
traffic congestion impact resulting from
the proposed road closures.

Page 23

15




KPC appreciate the importance the club holds
for its supporters but equal weight should be
given to the strength of local opposition.

If approved, then KPC intends to make a S106
request to secure community benefits and to
mitigate the additional local pressures that will
arise as a result of the application.

Supplementary response on traffic management and
Mayer Brown report:

KPC have serious concerns regarding the
impact of the stadium and strong reservations
regarding the OCC Highway’s response. OCC
have been too ready to accept best case
scenarios and in some areas have ignored the
advice of their external transport consultant
Pell Frischmann.

KPC commissioned Mayer Brown (a Transport
Consultancy) to provide an assessment of
OCC'’s response to the planning application.
Key points from this are:

o Impacts of road closures are
consistently understated, including that
impacts could occur with greater
frequency than anticipated, concern
over road closures.

o KPC consider the impacts would be
severe and that the OCC response is
over-optimistic.

o Pell Frishmann recommendations
have not been followed. The potential
cumulative impact of these concerns
should not be overlooked.

o Reliance on the use of Peartree and
Oxford Parkway Park & Rides (P&R) is
not a sustainable transport option
because they are being used as car
parks, not as sustainable travel
options. There is likely to be insufficient
parking for matchdays and would
impact the primary function of the P&R
facilities. Encouraging the use of these

Page 24

16




P&Rs will increase car use by
encouraging fans to drive to the area.

o No evidence that the toucan crossing
adjacent to Loop Farm Roundabout
has been modelled.

Officer comment. OCC Transport were asked to
review the submitted evidence from Mayer Brown on
behalf of Kidlington Parish Council. OCC Highways
stated on 5 August 2025: “Oxfordshire County Council
are confident that the Transport Assessment is robust
and that the points raised by KPC/Mayer Brown have
been adequately assessed throughout the planning
application process. However, we are currently in the
process of writing a formal response to the points
raised which we will submit next week (w/c 11/08/25)”

Begbroke
Parish Council

N/A

No response received.

Yarnton Parish
Council

25/04/24, 24/10/24 and 17/02/25

OBJECTION

Inadequate water supply, if permission is granted then
a ‘Grampian’ condition ought to be imposed. Flooding
issues still have not been addressed. Sewage
capacity at Cassington is substandard. The
development will cause significant traffic delays in the
area. Insufficient information and detail regarding
traffic management and road closure operations. The
travel plan needs to be finalised and the travel plan
group ought to include Yarnton and Begbroke as they
are in the CPZ zone. P&R facilities will be negatively
impacted. The proposed footway cycleway on the
north side of Frieze Way includes no details of
dimensions of pavements, the need for a verge or
barriers between the carriageway and the cycleway -
more clarity needed. CDC must prioritise cycling and
walking in line with their resolution to reduce the
impact of climate change. Significant detrimental
impact on green space, hedgerows, trees and
biodiversity. Adverse impact on residents on a
Saturday. Lack of detail on the proposed CPZ's.
Toucan crossings will slow traffic and cause tailbacks.
Questionable economic viability of the proposals.

17

Page 25




Gosford
Water

and
Eaton

Parish Council

18/06/24, 25/10/24, 24/02/25,
08/04/25, 18/06/25 and 5/8/25

OBJECTION

The ASAA fails to justify very special circumstances
(for development in the Green Belt). As a general
point, Oxford United’s claims are that it can’t stay at
the Kassam Stadium. These claims then gradually
morph into claims that Oxford United can’t afford to
stay at the Kassam Stadium, or to buy it. Oxford
United’s financial circumstances are not a relevant
consideration and must therefore be disregarded. This
is relevant to: i. Oxford United’s reasons for not having
contacted Oxford City Council to discuss the
possibility of a Compulsory Purchase Order.
Investigating a CPO would seem to us to be essential
before Very Special Circumstances can be claimed,
and ii. Oxford United’s limited use rights. Purchase of
the Kassam Stadium would solve this issue, as could
a re-negotiation. No evidence has been provided to
show that market value has been offered for site 30
(Land near to Pear Tree Park and Ride).

The traffic modelling proposal seems to be based on
the use of data from 2018. There has been substantial
development in the area since 2018, and it would be
preferable if more recent data were used to ensure the
output from the modelling is reliable.

The scoping report does not state the planned
diversion routes. For completeness these should be
included.

The modelling is based on 30-minute road closures
which must surely be a ‘best case’ scenario and in our
view is wholly unworkable. We see it as inevitable that
road closures will last for significantly longer. The
modelling must incorporate varying and longer closure
periods in order to reflect the reality of moving up to
16,000 people, arriving via different means (road,
train, coach, bus etc), into an area with restricted
space.

OUFC will be seeking to improve its income by selling
food and beverages before and after games. This will
lead to fans arriving and leaving over a more
protracted period of time thus making the 30-minute
road closures entirely impractical.

OUFC originally proposed road closures of up to one
hour before matches and up to two hours after

18

Page 26




matches. What has changed to make 30-minute
closures a realistic proposal?

Kick off time for Saturday can vary from 3pm but this
does not appear to be considered in the scoping
report. Saturday 12.30 kick offs are less common, but
they do exist and there is nothing to guarantee that
more matches won’t move to this time in future.
Different kick off times should be incorporated into the
modelling as, without this, it is useless in practice.
Saturday mornings in an around our parish and
Kidlington are busy periods.

We question why the traffic modelling scoping report
is only based around the men’s games when the
reality is that there will undoubtedly be other large
events requiring road closures.

The conference modelling is being based on the
existing model without ‘revalidation.” We disagree with
this approach because: the conference facilities will
cater for up to 1,000 people; will happen with
increasing regularity; and will have a significant impact
on local traffic. They should therefore be modelled as
accurately as possible, and this will require
revalidation of the model.

Two large Park & Ride sites are located close by at
Oxford Parkway and Peartree and they will inevitably
attract large numbers of fans arriving by car. It is
unclear to what extent fans will be permitted to park in
the Park & Rides, or even if it will be possible for their
use to be managed/controlled. However, on the
assumption that they will be used, a large number of
fans leaving these sites within a narrow window, can
be expected to have a significant impact on the local
road network, including the diversion route. We are
unclear if, or how, this has been taken into account in
the scoping report but feel that it should be.

The sites in Norfolk that have been selected from the
TRICS database for use in the modelling are a
questionable choice because they have little in
common with this area. It would be more appropriate
to select areas which are more densely populated and
have higher levels of car use.

VSC case not made by OUFC.

Road closures will limit accessibility. As local residents
who experience local traffic on a regular basis we

19
Page 27




believe Ridge’s conclusion that road closures will not
have a severe impact is not credible and we are
deeply sceptical of the rationale behind it. Put simply
we have no faith in this conclusion.

No economic benefits from the proposals.

Frieze Way path unacceptable and concerns about
impact of this path which would impact on the Section
41 Natural Environment and Rural Communities
(NERC) Act 2006 protected Priority Habitat (possibly
ancient) woodland.

Impact on highways unacceptable

Ecology implications remain unacceptable — impact
too great.

No clear evacuation procedure in emergencies

Pedestrian modelling has been updated but raises
more questions than it answers. At no time has a clear
road closure plan been communicated in the planning
documents. Such a plan should be a requirement, now
and not once the stadium is operational. How can a
pedestrian model be run unless there is a detailed
road closure plan?

There are inaccuracies in the LVIA that the applicants
have failed to address, e.g. impact on the proposal on
PRG6b.

The removal of TPO’d trees should be reconsidered.

Cherwell specifically requested a buffer to the
woodland at an early stage in this planning
application, but the applicant chose not to plan for this.
This parish council also asked for the stadium design
to be amended to protect the woodland with a buffer.
A buffer should be incorporated.

Fabrik’'s proposals for the management of the
woodland appear superficial and much more thought
is required for the management of this priority habitat.

We are aware of the current situation where Natural
England has withdrawn its support for Ancient
Woodland based on it not being shown as present on
two maps dated 1823 and 1831. However, we
understand that the council and Natural England have

20
Page 28




now been provided with an 1833 map which shows
woodland at Stratfield Brake.

Clearly this matter is of great significance to the
planning decision which is due to be taken soon. We
therefore ask the council to take the new evidence into
consideration and to make every effort to resolve this
matter with Natural England as soon as possible, and
certainly before the planning decision.

Bicester Town | 25/06/25 NO OBJECTION

Council
This club represents Oxfordshire at the highest of
levels and it would be placed in jeopardy should this
application not be approved. We urge you to allow
football to succeed and ask that the District Council
support the sport of football.

Councillor 10/10/24 COMMENT

Linda Ward

Ward Clir for Road closures will be required and as such stadium

Kidlington East

should not go ahead. VISSIM scoping report is not
robust. Independent consultants should critically
review the model scope. A better approach would be
to extend the model and revalidate it to allow for large
scale events that occur frequently. Better comparator
sites should be used. The ideal solution is one where
routine road closures are NOT required yet it seems
this is impossible to achieve at this location. Modelling
based on ticket sales would better predict the impact
of different levels of attendance on the need for traffic
management.

Ward Clirs -
Kidlington West

Councillors
Jean Conway,
Lesley MclLean

No comments received

and Dorothy

Walker

Councillor lan | 04/03/24, 22/04/24, 17/02/25 and | OBJECTION

Middleton  as | 19/05/25

CDC Member No VSC demonstrated. Overdevelopment. Limited
for  Kidlington economic benefits to locality. Lack of detail on crowd

East, Leader of
the Green and
Independent

management. Over dominating impact on the
character and landscape of the area and would impact
important sight lines into heritage sites. Many

21

Page 29




Alliance,
Executive
Member for
Neighbourhood
Services

residents are reluctant to comment due to fear of
reprisal. No scope for further expansion. Site is land
locked by two major roads which restricts access to
railway station and park and ride. The application fails
to include a pedestrian bridge and this aspect ought to
be considered as part of overall project and this
application ought to be deferred until a bridge
submission is included/or ‘Grampian’ condition
imposed. Concerns about traffic and transport flows
and detrimental impact on local road network
operation and anti- social parking. Lack of detail
regarding continued safe and effective operation of
railway station and park and ride facilities. Concerns
re: safe access to/from the site for pedestrians. Road
closures will exacerbate already congested network,
particularly at peak times. HGV's from Heidelberg site
will be adversely affected which will impact safety.
Removal of bus lane on Oxford Road unacceptable.
Ecological impacts underplayed and survey work
inaccurate. Adverse impact on local business, due to
frontage blocking and competition. Proposals to
support local sports facilities should be enshrined in
planning conditions. Site is prone to flooding.

The footbridge is integral but not mentioned. Local
residents ought to decide this application. Unsuitable
location, there are other more preferable sites. Road
closures are inappropriate and will cause
demonstrable harm to the local area. The current
transport model is flawed. There are credible local
concerns regarding parking; there is insufficient
capacity to deal with influx. How will CPZ's be
controlled and managed. P&R facilities will be
adversely impacted. Serious concerns regarding
crowd modelling and public safety. Absence of VSC to
demonstrate Green Belt location. Adverse visual
impact and overdevelopment of the site. Insufficient
water and foul water capacity. Concerns regarding
Ecology report conclusions and methodology used.
Vague and questionable community benefits.

No overriding public need, this is a commercial
venture by a private club. The claimed community
benefits—such as training facilities or transport
hubs—are speculative, lack enforceable
commitments, and do not outweigh the permanent
harm to the green belt.

Would undermine existing Green Belt planning
policies and Cherwell Local Plan. The stadium would

22

Page 30




contribute to the creeping urbanisation of land
between Oxford and Kidlington, reducing the strategic
gap and threatening the distinct identity of both
settlements. Claims about sustainability and reduced
car usage are unsubstantiated.

Not only would the operation of this site impact on new
residents in terms of transport, noise and light
pollution and crowd management, the development
itself will put additional strain on local resources and
infrastructure which could delay the completion of
these important sites.

In short, the planning committee should not be swayed
by claims that a refusal of the current application
would be the death knell for the club. As with the
previous claims that 2026 would be the end of the road
for the club, it's clear that the road can be extended
when required.

Commercial development should not be allowed on
green belt land and to allow it in this case would
undermine the council’s existing local plan.

No compelling evidence has been provided to
demonstrate that the benefits of the proposed stadium
would clearly outweigh the substantial and irreversible
harm to the green belt. The proposal fails to meet the
exceptional criteria required under national planning
policy and represents an unjustifiable breach of long-
standing protections designed to safeguard our local
environment and community character.

Councillor lan
Middleton (via
ocCccC Single
Response -
Local Member
views)

08/04/24

OBJECTION

Triangle was purchased by OCC in 1937 with intention
of maintaining green buffer between Kidlington and
Oxford city and without local support, it should not be
permitted. Site remains Green Belt and development
is contrary to Local Plan revisions in 2020. Site is
extremely compact and landlocked with no direct
access to railway station. No details provided
regarding shuttle buses from park and ride facilities.
Road closures run contrary to negotiations with OCC
cabinet. Stated S106 commitments from PR sites re:
transport infrastructure are not yet secured and cannot
be relied on. Detrimental impact on Frieze Way in
terms of congestion on network. PR site allocations
need factoring into traffic modelling work. Toucan
crossings on Oxford Road will have potentially serious

23

Page 31




implications. Lack of pedestrian accessibility for
elderly and disabled into station from Oxford Road.
The inclusion of road closures in the application
seems to preclude development due to landowner
requirements. Road closures are not acceptable due
to detrimental traffic and transport implications. A
pedestrian bridge access ought to form part of the
planning application/’Grampian’ condition, connecting
the site directly to the train station. The removal of the
Oxford Road bus lane is not acceptable. Car parking
and fans travelling to the site by private vehicle is a
serious concern for local residents - it will lead to
added stress on the road network and problems with
antisocial parking. The traffic modelling submitted is in
doubt, due to absence of VISSIM modelling and
bridge. DRP recognised the site constraints. Potential
issues with Emergency Planning given constrained
site. Applicant's ecology work is questionable and
Members ought to view alternative survey work
submitted by third party qualified ecologists.
Unsatisfactory assessment of broad leaved woodland
to the south of the application site and impact of
proposal upon it. Questionable air quality impact
assessment. The site is prone to flooding and the
development will exacerbate carriageway inundation.
The club ought to look elsewhere for a suitable site.

Councillor lan
Middleton (as
County Council
Member for
Kidlington
South)

11/10/24

OBJECTION

The general thrust of the argument around road
closures from OUFC has been that OCC requested
them for reasons of road safety. This is not the case.
Road closures were not mentioned before approval for
lease negotiations were given by the OCC cabinet in
September 2023. The references to ‘traffic
management’ also include the provision of up to 2
additional Toucan crossings on the Oxford Road.
These crossings operate in such a way that if
pedestrians are still on the crossing the lights will
remain at red. It's easy to see that in such a scenario,
large numbers of fans crossing by means of these
facilities will in effect close the road for long periods by
default. Better comparator sites should be used. When
introduced, the traffic filters will push significant
amounts of additional traffic onto the ring road,
including

The A40 and A34 and mean that space in the
surrounding park and ride sites will be even more vital.
The applicant should at least justify why they haven'’t

24

Page 32




considered the earlier kick offs. Why are some of the
Partial Review [Local Plan] sites not included in the
modelling, which account for over 2100 homes.
Promoters for PR6a and PRG6b sites have raised
concerns about residential access during peak times
and on match days. It seems that when there are
projects that provide advantages to the proposals in
the report they are included as a given. Yet housing
and employment numbers which are essentially
locked into the local plan can be just as easily
disregarded for the sake of expediency. Agree with
Aspect conclusions and consider more work needed
on ASA. Concerns about impact of proposals on
Kidlington Village Centre.

Councillor lan | 30/05/25 COMMENTS
Middleton (via
OCC Single ¢ Insufficient evidence of site availability
Response - ]
Local Member ¢ Inconsistent and flawed ASA
views) e Lack of justification for Green Belt
development
e Inadequate Transport Assessment and
Addendum
e BNG assessment is flawed
e The site is not grey belt
o Stadium security and evacuation strategies
are lacking important detail. This must be
addressed prior to any planning decision being
made
e The woodland to the south appears to be
ancient woodland and ought to be protected
e Unsubstantiated community benefits
e Adverse impact on air quality
Councillor lan | 01/08/2025 OBJECTION

Middleton  (in
his capacity as
District and
County
Councillor)

Concerns raised regarding the reliability of transport
assessment and recommendations from Oxfordshire
County Council Transport Development Management
Team (TDM). The concerns raised are:

e OCC TDM have an unwillingness to look
critically at planning applications and to
provide LPAs with a coherent assessment of

25

Page 33




transport impacts. This undermines the ability
to demand better of developers.

Concerned that the experience of local
residents and local intelligence is not taken
into account.

Further critical analysis of the response from
OCC highways should be made.

The response sticks rigidly to desktop models
that rely on the right information being input
and the correct parameters defined.

OCC’s own external consultants made the
point that assumptions are being relied up of
best case scenarios and highly optimistic
postulations about traffic reduction measures
to mitigate road closures that don’t stand up to
scrutiny.

Concerns about the response have been
underlined by the review undertaken by
Kidlington Parish Council’s consultants Mayer
Brown.

No changes were made as a result of Clir
Middleton’s submissions on the traffic
modelling exercise which indicated clear
discrepancies.

The transport response is light touch and has
compared other stadia to the situation in
Kidlington which are not comparable (and
incorrect assertions are made).

No consideration by OCC Highways to
potential issues in the area surround the
proposed stadium site which will soon be
dealing with thousands of new residents. The
reduction in amenity as a result of road
closures and access to public transport on
match days is essentially dismissed as a minor
consideration.

Many other criticisms of the OCC Highways
response have not been taken account of
(including that from the OCC Cabinet Member
for Transport).

Page 34

26




There is an undermining of important aspects
of OCC’s transport strategy such as the
purpose of the park and rides

Deferral of important safety and transport
issues to a safety advisory group

This is a missed opportunity to get this right
before permission is considered. This
weakens and undermines local accountability
and democratic safeguards

The closure of the major Oxford Road and the
potential compromise of Frieze Way could
cause a tailback of over a km is not considered
to be significant.

The response of no objection gives less
latitude for the LPA to refuse the application on
transport grounds and expectations that
conditions will be met is speculative.

Surely a better response would have been to
object subject to the council being satisfied
that there are enforceable undertakings to
mitigate these issues.

There is a lack of sufficient junction modelling
with regard to the Loop Farm roundabout and
the proposal for an additional toucan crossing
on the Ad4.

Pedestrians could be left in a potentially
unsafe situation.

Chiltern rail have advised that the Parkway
station will be a no go area for anyone other
than football fans on match days and that the
car park and the park and ride will be
subsumed by fans.

Chiltern’s assessment is that only 25% of fans
will arrive by train in contrast to claims that the
proximity of the station is the main advantage
to the location.

Vague proposals about a CPZ with little or no
clarity about who will operate or pay for this.
Residents will be forced to pay to park outside
their own homes.

Page 35

27




e The apparent abandonment of any attempts to
provide an engineered solution to access to
the site such as a bridge as has been promised
for over 2 years.

The proposal will involve a planned element of
transport disruption as part of its operational profile
and this should attract scepticism and concern.

There should be an urgent, independent external audit
of OCC Transport and their most recent responses to
planning applications and the response to this
application has been called to be revised or
withdrawn.

Should this not occur, CDC should view the OCC
response with a high degree of scepticism and bear in
mind that OCC is a statutory consultee. The
Committee can take an alternative view if it is
confident it has grounds to do so.

County
Councillor Gant
as Divisional
Councillor  for
Wolvercote and
Cutteslowe

09/04/24 and 30/05/2025

OBJECTION

Road closure unacceptable and clearly ‘severe’ as per
para. 116 of the NPPF - removing this amenity not
acceptable to local residents. Diversion routes being
offered are residential in character and this will result
in an unacceptable increase in traffic congestion and
pollution for the residents of these roads. Provision for
active travel is minimal on these roads. Road closure
will impact Sainsburys. Park and Rides will be
adversely affected, as will many other nearby facilities.
Police should have the power to close the road as they
see fit, rather than a 'blanket' agreement to close the
road whenever the club see necessary. Parking
zones, coach parking etc need to be agreed and
secured as part of application, not reserved for
agreement at later date.

Closing the road would push unacceptable amounts
of traffic onto residential roads and local roundabouts,
with unacceptable impacts on safety and amenity. It
would significantly undermine the operation of the
Park and Ride and Parkway facilities. Please reject
this application.

County
Councillor Levy
as Divisional

15/04/24

OBJECTION

Travel arrangements on match days present a
problem. Extra traffic will cause significant congestion
on local and national highways. Use of Parkway will

28

Page 36




Councillor for

be adversely affected on match days. Rat running

Eynsham through Cassington and local villages will exacerbate
issues with speeding and congestion.

Oxford City | 16/05/25 OBJECTION

Council

Councillor Potential for car parks in Cutteslowe park to be used

Steve Goddard by supporters on match days.

as Ward

Councillor  for Existing CPZs in the area cover different time periods

Wolvercote for each road, but none cover match day evening
times — CPZ’s would have to be extended but this will
be inconvenient to local residents. How will CPZs be
enforced? Road closures are completely unrealistic
and will lead to long traffic delays.

County 19/06/25 Supportive of a need for the new stadium to be built to

Councillor Tom secure a long term home for Oxford United.

Greenaway as

Divisional As part of any development, large investment needs

Councillor  for to be brought forward to upgrade the local transport

Abingdon East network for visitors and the nearby community.
Expanding walking, cycling, public transport and road
networks will be absolutely key to making this project
safe and efficient for those travelling to and from
events.

Rt Hon Calum | 30/05/25 COMMENT

Miller MP
Support the club’s goal to find an alternative stadium
and expect the planning process to require the club to
demonstrate benefits to the local community and how
they will be delivered. However, there is local concern
about the environmental impact of the proposal on the
site, traffic and transport implications and safety and
evacuation procedures.

Rt Hon Layla | 22/04/24 COMMENT

Moran MP

In general, welcome the planning application, but
encourage Planning Committee to consider resident’s
concerns regarding road closures, absence of a
footbridge, club commitment to ensuring less than
10% of fans arriving by car, capacity at P&R sites
around Oxford. Still appears to be a lot of work to be
done on traffic and transport issues. Many residents
are concerned about parking on local roads and would
like plans to deal with this to cover a wide enough area
and be robust. Appears to be insufficient cycle parking
provision and this needs to be addressed.

29

Page 37




OCC
Highway
Authority)

(as

09/04/24, 16/10/24, 30/05/25,
11/06/25 and 25/06/25

NO OBJECTION, subject to conditions and
S106/S278 agreements.

The application site is in a highly sustainable location
in highway and connectivity terms, as discussed
throughout the report, and in transport terms meets all
the criteria to be considered acceptable. The benefits
of the site include:

e Availability of public transport services, both in
terms of bus and rail, with further services
coming forward over the next few years.

e Proximity to multiple Park and Rides which can
intercept fans travelling by car to the site.

¢ High quality active travel infrastructure coming
forward which would make walking and cycling
to site easy and attractive.

¢ A highway network which has good access to
the Strategic Road Network and multiple
routes to the site.

e Adjacent to large residential developments
which may mean a higher number of fans living
within walking and cycling distance.

In terms of impacts, whilst the temporary closure of
Oxford Road is beneficial for pedestrians it does
impact the highway network which is demonstrated by
the micro-simulation modelling.

Whilst the modelling does show delays, it also shows
that these delays do not last for a significant amount
of time are largely outside of peak times and on
average only take place 28 times per year (total split
between Saturday’s and weekday evenings). This
corresponds with the impact of the existing stadium
which despite having a smaller capacity, due to the
sustainability of the proposed site and the measures
to be implemented to prevent car use, generates a
higher number of trips than predicted at the proposed
stadium. The impact will be further reduced by the
mitigation requested, such as the Cowley Branch Line
and proposed A44 mobility hub which will further
reduce vehicular trips on the highway network.

The impact demonstrated is considered acceptable in
highway terms, as is the impact on Oxford Parkway
which is minimal. The club has a clear vision-led

30

Page 38




approach to the transport strategy which the Local
Highway Authority supports. This promotes active and
sustainable transport modes and in partnership with
local stakeholders prioritises the safety of fans.

The sustainable location, combined with the proposed
transport strategy for the site is in line with national
and local transport policy. This offers fans and
Oxfordshire residents the opportunity to travel
sustainably to a site situated in an area of growth with
an already high-quality integrated transport network
which will only improve in the future.

OCC (as Lead
Local Flood
Authority)

09/04/24, 07/03/25, 30/05/25,
11/06/25 and 25/06/25

NO OBJECTION, subject to conditions.

The approved drainage system shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved Detailed Design prior
to the use of the building commencing: Reference: «
Oxford United Stadium Development Flood Risk
Assessment and Drainage Strategy * OUFC New
Stadium Development: Environmental Statement
Volume 1 (February 2024)

In our previous responses we requested planning
conditions requiring the approval of a drainage
strategy and detailed drainage design prior to the
commencement of development. The comments in
the responses from Cherwell District Council’s
drainage officer dated 19/03/24 and Thames Water
dated 12/03/2025 must be taken into consideration
when applying to discharge these conditions.

OoCC
Archaeology

07/03/2024,
23/12/2024,18/03/2025,30/05/25,
11/06/25 and 25/06/25

NO OBJECTION, subject to conditions - the applicant
should be responsible for ensuring the implementation
of a staged programme of archaeological investigation
to be maintained during the period of construction.
This can be ensured through the attachment of a
suitable negative condition.

National
Highways

19/08/2024, 17/09/2024,
09/12/2024, 17/01/2025,
07/03/2025,15/5/25 and 25/06/25

NO OBJECTION, subject to conditions.

Traffic Impacts - Our review of the models and
supporting modelling materials resulted in the
following conclusions: Although forecast queuing on
the A34 off-slips never extends back onto the A34
mainline sections with the models as set-up, we are
concerned that the proposed development, with other
development in the vicinity, could adversely impact the
SRN by blocking the local highway network and
negatively undermining the existing off-slip flushing

31

Page 39




facilities at Peartree Roundabout. A signalling strategy
at Peartree Roundabout and on the A40 and A44
more broadly — more particularly, at Wolvercote
Roundabout — should therefore be implemented which
allows Peartree Roundabout to flush in its totality. Our
concerns mainly relate to regular weekday operations,
and more particularly large conferencing events, not
stadium fixtures or events which will be managed by
an Event Management Plan. Existing signal control
(MOVA and UTC takeover at both Wolvercote and
Peartree Roundabouts) has the potential for the above
to be addressed. If required, we will engage with OCC
to ensure suitable agreements are secured. Stadium
events have the potential to generate significant
pedestrian flows over the A34 southbound off-slip
(walking between Peartree Park and Ride and the
stadium and vice versa). We would be concerned if
pedestrian flows over the A34 southbound off-slip
generate queues that extend back onto the A34
mainline. Event-related marshalling and live signal
control using the same existing signal control
mentioned immediately above (i.e. MOVA and UTC
takeover at both Wolvercote and Peartree
Roundabouts) will allow our concerns to be
addressed, ensuring A34 southbound off-slip green
times that prevent queuing back on to the A34
mainline.

Water Eaton Bridge - We are also concerned about
the potential impact to the Strategic Road Network
(SRN) of proposed works on and close to the Water
Eaton Bridge (the red line coincides with the
northwestern bridge abutment edge and both the
eastern and western edges of Water Eaton Bridge as
it crosses the A34). Apart from works safety concerns
during the construction of the proposed works,
particularly those on Water Eaton Bridge as it crosses
the A34, landscape proposals located immediately
north of the northwestern abutment are also of interest
to us. Designs and construction plans for all works
affecting Water Eaton Bridge, including the
landscaping proposals located immediately north of
the northwestern abutment, will have to be submitted
to and agreed with us prior to us being able to confirm
deliverability.

Conditions to include:

Framework Event Management Plan, Construction
Environment Management Plan, Drainage,

32
Page 40




Landscaping and Boundary Treatments, A34 Water
Eaton Bridge details.

Natural
England

18/03/2024, 26/09/2024,
24/06/25, 06/07/25, 16/07/2025
and 24/07/2025

Natural England raised NO OBJECTION in their
responses of the 18/03/2024 and 26/09/2024; "Based
on the plans submitted, Natural England considers
that the proposed development will not have
significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected
nature conservation sites or landscapes. Natural
England’s generic advice on other natural
environment issues is set out at Annex A”.

On the 24/06/2025, Natural England commented that
advice provided in their previous response dated 18
March 2025, which they attached, applies equally to
the amendment they were commenting upon then;
“the proposed amendments to the original application
are unlikely to have significantly different impacts on
designated sites than the original proposal.

At the time, Natural England advised that any
amendments to the Ancient Woodland Inventory in
relation to Stratfield Brake were ongoing. Natural
England are responsible for maintaining the ancient
woodland inventory (AWI), but clarified that it does not
provide bespoke detailed planning advice about
avoiding impacts to, or regarding the management of,
ancient woodland, unless they form part of a SSSI.

Natural England advised it is the role of the local
planning authority as the decision maker on planning
applications to take account of all environmental and
other impacts and opportunities and to make a
decision on the proposed development. Where an
area of woodland has the potential/is likely to qualify
for ancient woodland classification, decisions should
be made in line with paragraph 193 (c) of the NPPF.

Should the proposal be amended in a way which
significantly affects its impact on the natural
environment then, in accordance with Section 4 of the
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006, Natural England should be consulted again.
Before sending the amended consultation, the
changes proposed should be assessed to determine
whether they would materially affect any of the advice
previously offered. If they are unlikely to, there is no
need to re-consult

33

Page 41




On the 6 July 2025, Natural England advised that
there had been sufficient evidence submitted to
support the inclusion of Stratfield Brake woodland as
ancient woodland. This was based on historic
mapping  evidence, ecological (incorporating
archaeological evidence) and arboricultural reports.
Natural England committed to reviewing any
substantially different evidence.

On 16 July 2025, Natural England submitted a
response of No objection based on their view that the
proposed development will not have significant
adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature
conservation sites or landscapes. The response
referred to their decision to include Stratfield Brake on
the ancient woodland inventory and that the proposals
as presented had the potential to adversely affect the
woodland. Natural England advised that any impacts
on ancient woodland and ancient and veteran trees
should be considered in line with paragraph 193 of the
NPPF.

Following Natural England’s response of 6 July 2025
the applicant submitted additional evidence to Natural
England regarding the status of the woodland. This
was copied to the LPA, but not formally submitted as
application document.

On 24" July 2025, Natural England advised as follows:

“On the 14" °" July 2025 Natural England (NE) was
asked to consider new evidence concerning the
classification of Stratfield Brake as ancient woodland.
NE responded with a commitment to prioritise the
review of any evidence which was substantially
different from evidence previously submitted. On the
18" °" July 2025 NE received documentary evidence
which differs substantially from the evidence
previously considered and has now reviewed this
evidence in line with its commitment.

The result of this review is that Natural England is
withdrawing its support for Stratfield Brake as
ancient woodland.

This decision is based on:

e Site not present on 1823 Map of the County of
Oxford by A. Bryant

e Site not present on 1831 Map of the County of
Oxford by C and J Greenwood

34
Page 42




This decision follows Natural England’s published
methodology for identifying ancient woodland
(Sansum 2018). The methodology underscores the
importance of the cartographic record in identifying
ancient woodland, whilst also considering the
provenance, purpose and limitations of individual
maps in recording woodland. In this case both maps
listed above would be expected to show Stratfield
Brake were it present at the time of the survey. The
lack of wooded symbology at Stratfield Brake on these
maps is evidence of an alternative land-use since
1600. It should be noted that both maps feature a
neighbouring woodland of similar size, Water Eaton
Coppice.

Several other maps were also considered where
Stratfield Brake was not recorded as woodland. These
include the 1766-1767 Jefferys County Map, the 1804
Ot Moor Map and the 1818 Enclosure Map for the
Parish of Kidlington. Whilst the recording of all
contemporary woodland on these maps may not have
been fully realised, it is notable that Stratfield Brake is
not recorded on any of these maps.

In conclusion, the available evidence demonstrates
that Stratfield Brake has not been continuously
wooded since 1600 and therefore does not meet the
definition of ancient woodland.”

Historic
England

12/03/24, 18/09/24, 17/03/25,
9/06/25 and 26/06/25

NO OBJECTION

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist
conservation and archaeological advisers.

Environment
Agency

11/06/24, 14/01/2025, 28/02/25,
18/03/2025, 23/06/25

NO OBJECTION

Original holding objection removed — now no
objections subject to conditions.

Condition — Drainage scheme. The development
hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such
time as a scheme to dispose of foul drainage has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. This will include confirmation from
the sewerage undertaker that the receiving Sewage
Treatment Works has the capacity to accept flows
from this development. The scheme shall be
implemented as approved. Reason: The Thames
River Basin Management Plan requires the restoration
and enhancement of water bodies to prevent
deterioration and promote recovery of water bodies.

35

Page 43




Without this condition, the impact could cause
deterioration of a quality element to a lower status
class and/or prevent the recovery of Thames
(Evenlode to Thame) and/or Northfield Brook water
body.

Sport England

11/06/2024, 07/01/2025, 6/6/25

NO OBJECTION

Sport England raises no objections for this application,
as it is considered to meet our Objective 1

Network Rail

10/03/2024, 11/09/2024,
20/05/25, 10/06/25 and
11/07/2025

NO OBJECTION, subject to the condition that any
Travel Plan for the Stadium actively promotes the use
of Sandy Lane bridge by cyclists and pedestrians,
rather than the Yarnton level crossing.

Latest response:

¢ Network Rail supports the work that Chiltern
Railways have done with Oxford United and
their request for Section 106 funding to make
improvements to Oxford Parkway Station in
order to manage the impact of the stadium
development.

e Network Rail as the owner of the land would
be a co-signatory to the S106 agreement to
ensure it is future proofed as the railway
transitions to UK public ownership.

¢ Network Rail and Chiltern will need to work
with Oxford United to deliver the
enhancements according to existing railway
standards and permissions. Further work will
be done to ascertain exact costs and scope of
these interventions once the scheme
progresses to a detailed design stage.

¢ Network Rail made comments on the need for
long term strategic planning including how
events would be planned and how those would
interact with existing service patterns, there
would need to be alignment with East West
Rail (EWR), there should be no prohibition of
achieving electrification or any other work
required for the delivery of EWR or other
planned decarbonisation programmes.

e Network Rail also commented that they will
need to review whether there is adequate
platform lengths and widths, footbridge width,

36

Page 44




ticket barriers etc which are sufficient for the
increase in patronage and potential mass
arrival of visitors without causing congestion
and an unsafe situation, what impacts there
may be to the fire strategy, that the proposed
steps can be delivered depending upon land
ownership, that the proposal should be
reviewed in line with Network Rail's Shared
Value Policy.

e Network Rail is in discussion with Chiltern
Railways to provide a single rail industry view
on enhancements at Oxford Parkway to
accommodate the expected uplift in passenger
usage. Further details will be provided in due
course.

East West Rail

22/4/24, 19/12/24

NO OBJECTION, subject to an informative:

“Land within the application site is proposed for the
construction and operation of the East West Railway,
a nationally significant infrastructure project. The
Council strongly advises the Applicant to liaise closely
with - EWR Co over the timing and detailed
implementation of the application proposals and the
EWR project, to seek to agree a detailed approach
that avoids or reduces conflicts between the two
development proposals, and that seeks to mitigate
any impacts arising”

Chiltern
Railways

15/04/2024, 07/02/2025
22/05/25

and

NO OBJECTION, subject to S106 contributions to be
agreed.

Whilst Chiltern Railways continue to support the
overall Stadium development, Chiltern needs to
ensure that up to 4000 fans can safely use rail
services before and after fixtures. Urge Planning
Committee and OUFC to make the necessary Section
106 funding available to ensure Oxford Parkway is fit
for purpose, including new access gates and ticket
readers, a dedicated toilet block, customer waiting
shelters, improved wayfinding and the creation of a
match day operations hub. Remain in open discussion
with the Department for Transport about bringing
additional carriages into Chiltern.

We expect a final decision on this additional capacity
after the June 2025 Spending Review process has
been completed. Oppose the proposals to prevent
OUFC fans using Oxford Parkway for match day

37

Page 45




parking, as this will help to cover the fixed costs of
operating match day services and station operations
for the fixture. Should fans not be allowed to park at
Oxford Parkway we would need to review whether it is
commercially viable to operate rail services on match
days, given the high fixed costs of operating and
managing additional rail services. Need to ensure that
our business-as-usual customers can retain access to
Oxford Parkway before, during and after fixtures,
noting we have already agreed to prevent egress for
up to 45 minutes after games to prioritise bus flows.

Whilst the announcement regarding funding for
additional rolling stock has not been received at the
time of writing this report, Officers have liaised with
Chiltern Railways who have provided the following
wording:

Chiltern Railways are expected to imminently confirm
new and additional trains which would replace their
oldest (47-year-old) carriages. The plan which is
awaiting final approval from the Department for
Transport would provide up to 20% additional capacity
across the Chiltern network, including providing
additional trains for special events such as future
Oxford United fixtures. Prior to the stadium opening
services on the first section of East West Rail will also
commence between Oxford and Milton Keynes. Whilst
these trains are only 2 car units, this will also provide
some additional capacity between Oxford — Oxford
Parkway — Milton Keynes which will be of particular
benefit to away fans accessing the Stadium from the
West Coast Main Line.

Subject to final approvals from the Department for
Transport and the delivery of the relevant S.106
improvements at Oxford Parkway, Chiltern Railways
will be in a position to provide adequate rail capacity
to the new stadium. We do however note that a
continuous assessment of rail capacity on this corridor
will need to take place in partnership with Chiltern
Railways, East West Rail Company and the
Department for Transport due to additional proposed
leisure developments such as the Puy du Fou and
Universal theme parks.

Officer comment: Chiltern Railways have confirmed
that funding has been secured for 13 newer, modern
trains for their intercity route between London and the
West Midlands. They state that whilst these trains will

38
Page 46




not serve Oxford Parkway, they will free up existing
trains (Class 165 and Class 168) so that they can run
longer and more services from December 2026. This
means that they do now have additional capacity
secured to support future Oxford United football
fixtures as per the original planning response.

Officers expect a formal response from Chiltern
Railways to be provided ahead of Planning
Committee.

Secretary  of | N/A No response received.
State for

Transport

National N/A No response received.
Planning

Casework Unit

CDC
Arboriculture

26/04/24 and 21/05/25

COMMENT

The updated AIA needs review as some trees appear
to be missing. Removal of TPO’s acknowledged and
accepted. Woodland to the south is not designated as
Ancient Woodland and current proposal is acceptable
in that regard. If consent granted, must be subject to
pre-commencement arboricultural method statement.

A response via an updated AIA was received in June
2025, no further comments have been made to this
document.

CDC Ecologist

28/5/2024,  25/07/2025
06/08/2025

and

May 2024 (Preliminary Response)
Objection, raised concerns over:

e Incomplete bird and invertebrate surveys
o Botanical discrepancies
o Bat habitat fragmentation

¢ BNG metric issues and unrealistic habitat
condition targets

July 2025 (Full Response)
Maintained objection due to:

e Net biodiversity loss

39

Page 47




e Impacts to protected species (notably
Barbastelle bats)

¢ Insufficient buffer to woodland

o Lighting and public access concerns
Recommended mitigation via:

e Legal agreement for Woodland Management
Plan

e Pre-commencement conditions (BNG plan,
lighting strategy, CEMP, LEMP)

e Commitment to 20% BNG, including off-site
compensation

August 2025 Response (Final Addendum
Response)

Objection Withdrawn:

» The ecologist removes their objection following
the applicant's commitment to a Woodland
Management Plan for the adjacent District
Wildlife Site/Priority Habitat.

e The plan is to be developed ensuring long-term
conservation and mitigation of indirect impacts.

o Confirmed that lighting mitigation measures
outlined in the ES Chapter 8 and June 2025
Technical Note will be adhered to

e A detailed lighting strategy must be
conditioned, aligning with:

e |LP & Bat Conservation Trust Guidance
Note 08/23

o Differentiation between match days, non-
match days, and seasonal variations

e Avoidance or justification of light spill into
retained/created vegetation

e These matters to be secured Vvia
conditions/secured through Legal Agreement

CDC Public Art

15/05/25

NO OBJECTION

Public Art Response - This is a major commercial
development that will sit in a key focal area by the
Kidlington Roundabout, also known locally as ‘Rosie’s
Roundabout’ since the addition of the Elephant
Sculpture referencing the historic zoo from the 1930s.
A Public Art contribution is recommended;

40

Page 48




proportionate to the -cultural significance of the
development which can help integrate it into the
evolving sense of place in the area.

The sum of the contribution is calculated either as a
percentage of the overall cost of the development of
between .5% and 1% or based on the gross internal
floor space at a rate of £10 per square metre. This
method of calculation would add together the squared
metre values of each of the 4 floors and multiply by
£10 with an additional 12% for maintenance and
management costs.

1st floor 4670
2nd floor 2754
3rd floor 3388

4th floor 1840 giving a total of 12,652 x £10 = £126,
520.00 + 5% management costs £6326 + 7%
maintenance costs £8856.40 for a total of
£141,702.00. The recommendation is for public art
features both internally on each floor and also on the
exterior grounds, particularly near the pedestrian
access points around the stadium. Exterior artworks
will ideally link to the established public art sculpture
of Rosie and Friends and reference more local history.

CDC Licencing

28/02/2024, 17/12/1024,
16/04/2025, 5/06/25 and
24/06/25

NO OBJECTION

CDC 18/03/2024, 11/9/24, 07/01/2025, | NO OBJECTION subject to conditions. CEMP

Environmental | 12/3/25 required pre-com. Agree with ES Noise chapter

Protection methodology and conclusions, subject to conditions.
Agree with land contamination study and agree with
conclusions & condition recommended. Air Quality -
agree with contents and findings, mitigation to be
included in CEMP. No comment on odour. Light -
hours of operation need to reflect CDC
recommendations & operational phases, lighting
details needs to be agreed by condition.

CDC Building | 14/4/24 and 31/10/24 NO OBJECTION

Control

Building Regulation approval needed.

41

Page 49




CDC
Drainage

Land

19/03/2024, 30/12/2024, 12/3/25,
21/04/2025, 7/6/25 and 24/06/25

NO OBJECTION. It is agreed that the site is not at
material risk of flooding from any source. The surface
water drainage strategy is set out in section 8 of the
revised Flood Risk Assessment. The applicant's
methodology for assessing the maximum allowable
discharge from the site as 11.97 I/s is accepted. The
preferred (and natural) surface water drainage route is
through the 750mm diameter culvert which passes
under Frieze Way which is understood to be the
responsibility and in the ownership of Oxfordshire
County Council as Highway Authority. It is currently
almost wholly silted up and unable to pass any flows.
The applicant has offered to enter into an agreement
with the owner to maintain it twice yearly. In my view
there is no practical alternative to this solution. To be
able to do this the applicant will also need a second
agreement with the owner of the downstream land,
believed to be the Woodland Trust, to access the
culvert and remove the silt that has accumulated and
will accumulate within the culvert. Furthermore, | have
previously advised that the downstream ditch system
must also be cleared and the soft material which has
accumulated within it must be removed to a point
where its hard bed is at least 450mm below the invert
of the culvert. This is to allow the culvert to discharge
freely. The agreement with the Woodland Trust must
also cover this.

The recently submitted Ecology Report is focused
solely on the development site itself. There may be
unavoidable ecological implications within the
Woodland Trust land to the west of the site through
which the surface water drainage from the
development site will pass. Improvements to the
watercourse within the Woodland Trust land will be
needed for the effective drainage of the development
site.

CDC
Design

Urban

22/8/24,15/5/25, 11/6/25

NO OBJECTION

Overall, the design proposals are broadly supported
subject to the following points:

e Review pedestrian permeability  and
movement along the Oxford Road frontage
and southern frontage to avoid pinch points
and stepped access where possible.

42

Page 50




e Review the design appearance of the hotel
element to add interest and reflect wider
context.

e Develop a lighting strategy as an integral
element to the design.

e Provide further details of long-term and short-
term cycle parking provision.

e Consider enhancements to the park and ride
facility as an important gateway to the stadium.

Develop a wayfinding strategy including appropriate
signage to adjacent facilities.

No further comments to Environmental Statement
(ES) addendum.

CDC
Recreation and
Leisure

4/4/24 and 21/07/205

NO OBJECTION

Would welcome further details as to proposed
Stratfield Brake enhancements. Oxford United in the
Community (OUitC) should support the enhancement
of local facilities to ensure local community has
opportunity to participate in football.

The application identifies a contribution towards the
maintenance of Stratfield Brake pitches for 5 years.
Please could you confirm the amount of contribution
towards maintenance costs and whether this is an
annual amount with indexation applied or a 'defined
one off payment'. The planning application states this
contribution towards maintenance will protect clubs
which are under threat of being closed due to lack of
funding into Stratfield Brake, it will free up vital funds
for Kidlington Parish Council (KPC) who currently
manage the site. At present Cherwell District Council
manage the site which is not due to be transferred to
KPC until April 2026. CDC are not aware of any clubs
under threat of being closed due to lack of funding and
would like to understand the source and rationale of
this statement. It is important that any contribution
towards Stratfield Brake addresses the sustainability
of the site long term and not just provide a short-term
solution. The application mentions maintaining
Stratfield Brake will help increase sports participation
and improve their offering - please provide further
details if this is beyond a maintenance sum for the
sports pitches. Are Oxford United in the Community

43

Page 51




programmes looking to be delivered from the stadium,
or are they seeking to deliver the programmes from
other facilities within Kidlington or surrounding area?
Please provide further details.

CDC Retail | 11/9/24 and 03/04/25 NO OBJECTION. On balance the bar, restaurant and

Impact gymnasium facilities proposed at the stadium

Consultant redevelopment site are unlikely to result in any

(Nexus) significant adverse impacts which would otherwise
dictate that planning permission should be refused.
Club shop would sell a range of items linked to OUFC
and would therefore have unique appeal — this should
be controlled by planning condition.

CDC 11/9/24 and 08/05/25 COMMENT

Sustainability

Consultant The design team’s response primarily addresses

(Bioregional)

areas we initially categorised as red or orange
(therefore deemed outside of policy compliance). A
green designation indicates that the category meets
the minimum requirements for policy compliance.

CDC
Landscape
Consultant
(Aspect)

11/09/2024 and March 2025 and
July 2025

COMMENT

The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)
is considered to be compliant with the published
guidance and technical notes but there are a number
of identified weaknesses that should be addressed in
a revised document. The following should be
considered as part of a revised LVIA:

e Revised methodology to include magnitude
thresholds and address issues in relation to
certain terminology and Table A1.10
Magnitude Matrix.

e A standalone landscape opportunities and
constraints plan to underpin and support the
design approach, along with reference to and
examples of the design evolution.

e Further exploration of the landscape sensitivity
of the Site itself with reference to CDC’s
published evidence base - Cherwell
Landscape Sensitivity Study (TEP; 2022).

e ZTV Plan and/or plan demonstrating the visual
envelope of the Site and the likely visual extent
of the proposals.

44

Page 52




Full winter photography which accords with
published guidance in respect to the quality of
the images and presentation.

Exploration of further mitigation measures; and

Provision of a more detailed assessment of the
cumulative effects in line with GLVIAS,
including a plan showing those cumulative
sites relevant to the proposals in landscape
terms. A separate piece of work should be
considered to accompany the planning
application, if this has not already been
prepared, in respect of the Green Belt
components of spatial and visual openness, its
purposes and how these would be affected by
the Proposed Development.

In relation to the ASA, Aspect have commented:

The findings within the updated LVASA and
LVASA addendum are now clearer as a result
of a more robust methodology and the
separation of green belt matters from
landscape and visual considerations. The
findings of these reports are well reasoned and
justified.

Of the alternative sites assessed, and
excluding the existing Kassam Stadium site
(site 27), site 30 appears to be the most
preferable in landscape and visual terms given
that it appears generally well contained both
physically and visually. This site has also been
released from the Green Belt. Arguably a
stadium development on this site would have
the least impact in landscape and visual terms,
noting that such development of this size and
scale on any greenfield land would likely result
in some lasting significant landscape and
visual effects on the site in question and its
localised setting.

The application site (northern extents of site 4)
appears to be the next preferable option in
landscape and visual terms behind site 30
when considering the evidence presented.
Aspect’'s scope does not consider other
relevant factors beyond Green Belt, landscape
or visual matters that may be relevant to the

Page 53

45




site selection process and have to be
considered as part of the broader planning led
process.

The delivery of the stadium development on
the remaining sites concluded as having the
potential to accommodate such development
as per the Stage 2 assessments, including the
Application Site, would likely result in some
harm to the Green Belt as acknowledged
within the LVASA and LVASA addendum.

The LVASA and LVASA addendum reports are
well rounded and provide an adequate
evidence base from which to justify the
application site as a preferable site for the
proposed stadium development in landscape
and visual terms.

Comments on the Updated ES LVIA:

The submitted ES LVIA Chapter is considered
to be based on a comprehensive and
appropriate scope that identifies and assesses
the relevant key landscape receptors/ features
and visual receptors within the localised and
wider landscape context.

The findings suggest that there would initially
be significant adverse landscape effects on the
surrounding landscape in perceptual and
aesthetic terms and on the surrounding
townscape elements, as well as on the
character area in which the site lies at County
and District level. Lasting significant effects are
considered to be limited to cultural/ social as
well as perceptual and aesthetic aspects of the
site as well as on the overall character of the
site including its nighttime character.

In terms of likely significant visual effects, the
ES LVIA identifies such effects on residents of
the properties along Hazel Crescent/ South
Avenue at the construction stage only, as well
as on road users along Oxford Road and
Frieze Way in the immediate setting of the site
at the construction phase and operational
phase Year 1. Lasting significant effects are
predicted on users of PROW 229/4/30 to the

Page 54

46




east and users of several of the permissive
routes within Stratfield Brake to the west.

Regarding cumulative effects with the
identified cumulative sites, it is considered
within the ES LVIA that there would likely be
some localised cumulative significant adverse
effects arising from the  proposed
development, in combination with these sites
including harm to the overall character area.
Regarding cumulative visual effects, the ES
LVIA suggests there may be significant visual
effects on road users along Oxford Road and
Frieze Way and Bicester Road given the
increased amount of built form and associated
with several committed development sites and
the site itself. Significant cumulative effects are
also anticipated on users of Stratfield Brake to
the West.

There would be a degree of localised harm in
the landscape and visual terms as a result of
the proposals. This would likely be the case for
any such proposal of this magnitude on
greenfield land. Effects would likely be limited
to the localised setting and would reduce with
distance from the site albeit noting that given
the height of the proposals, the stadium would
remain visible in certain views from the wider
setting for example from public footpaths in the
open countryside to the east.

Concerns remain over the proximity of the
proposals to the woodland priority habitat by
the southern site boundary and Stratfield
Brake to the West. Development on this parcel
of land would give rise to harm on the green
belt designation. That said, it is noted that the
area is set to undergo significant change given
the surrounding allocations and committed
sites and that the proposals could potentially
form a landmark to the emerging sports and
recreation character of the area on what is
considered to be a somewhat isolated parcel
of land in the context of the surrounding
countryside owing to the local road network.

Aspect broadly agrees with the findings of the
LVIA- and considers the proposed
development could be accommodated on the

Page 55

47




site, providing that the ongoing concerns in
relation to the design are addressed at the
detailed design stage.

CDC Planning
Policy

19/06/25

The proposal does not comprise grey belt land and
constitutes inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. Inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt.

The site falls within the most fragile part of the
Kidlington Gap. Development of the proposed site
would weaken the Kidlington Gap as a whole and
significantly ~weaken the distinction between
Kidlington and Oxford, merging two large built-up
areas into one.

Development would be contrary to Local Plan Policy
ESD 14 ‘Green Belt’ and result in a significant change
that fundamentally undermines the role of the Green
Belt in the plan area.

A case for ‘very special circumstances’ will need to
demonstrate whether the harm to the Green Belt by
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm
resulting from the proposal is clearly outweighed by
other considerations.

CDC
Conservation
Officer

13/5/25

NO OBJECTION. A large development of this kind will
undoubtedly have a visual impact within the landscape
and there will inevitably be wider landscape
implications in views both close to the site and from
the wider countryside. This does not however
necessarily equate to heritage harm or more
specifically mean there is harm to the significance of
the heritage assets as a result of development within
their setting.

CDC Property
and Assets
Manager

N/A

No response received.

Oxford City
Council

16/06/2025 and 17/06/2025

There are no negotiations with the LPA regarding
redeveloping the land that the Kassam Stadium
currently occupies. Itis an allocated housing site in the
current plan and will be in the forthcoming plan and is
deliverable in the event the policy conditions are met,
but no discussion has taken place beyond that.

Oxford City Council has no intention to use its CPO
powers to acquire the Kassam Stadium.

48

Page 56




South Central
Ambulance
Service (SCAS)

19/05/25

No direct response received.

However, a response from the SCAS Chief Executive
(David Eltringham) dated 19 May 2025 received via a
third party, which in summary states:

The new stadium proposals have been discussed at
the SAG [safety advisory group] and we were
reassured that plans would meet the requirements of
the Green Guide for stadiums and give no concerns in
terms of emergency care access. As a result, we do
not believe there is a need for us to submit a specific
response to the planning application.

...we are commissioned by OUFC to provide cover at
the stadium and we attend with a tactical commander
and paramedic during matches. We are confident
therefore that there would be no care gap in the event
of a major incident. As with all stadiums, we have an
active stadium plan which covers access, care gap
risks and major incident scenarios. These plans are
updated annually before the start of each season, and
would be updated for a new stadium.

Health and
Safety
Executive

12/09/2024,
19/12/2024,15/03/2025
26/06/25

and

NO OBJECTION - development does not fall under
the remit of their planning gateway

Oxfordshire
Fire Service

22/4/24 and 05/02/25

COMMENT

Plans currently show limited provisions for fire service
vehicle access around the stadium. Consideration
should be in place for ensuring suitable access to dry
risers, turning facilities and water provisions are in line
with B5 guidance in Approved Document (B) of the
Building Regulations. Where multiple emergency
vehicles are in attendance, this may compromise the
ability to manoeuvre around the site and therefore
should be factored into designs. Consideration should
be undertaken for providing an automatic water
suppression system to the building. It is taken that
these works will be subject to a Building Regulations
application and subsequent statutory consultation with
the fire service, to ensure compliance with the
functional requirements of the Building Regulations
2010.

The Fire Service further commented that a full review
of the fire strategy would be undertaken at the building
control consultation stage between themselves and

49

Page 57




the building control body. The last sentence as set out
above is relevant.

Thames Valley
Police

1/05/24, 15/04/25, 19/05/25 and
30/06/25

NO OBJECTION, subject to conditions to include:

Prior to commencement, details of counter terrorism
measures which have been approved by Register of
Security Engineers and Specialists (RSES), prior to
first use demonstrating Secured by Design
accreditation and Secured Environments
accreditation, use restriction to Class F2, prior to
commencement a full emergency/exceptional
evacuation strategy to be submitted and approved in
consultation with TVP, prior to occupation approval of
an external fan segregation strategy, prior to first use
approval of a CCTV strategy, prior to commencement
approval of a detailed external lighting strategy that
promotes a secure environment and does not cause a
nuisance to local residents, and a restriction on the
use of the public toilets only on match days and
between 0700 and 1800 on non match days.

The additional ecological information submitted has
been reviewed. Previous comments dated 16th May
stand. My only point of concern would be lighting of
the stairs leading to Manor Arch/Oxford Road, which
will be a primary pedestrian route to/from the site. It is
understood that on match days the lighting "design
target will be 20 lux average and 10 lux min which will
be achievable without compromising bat corridor".
There is no objection subject to a suitably worded
condition to secure this commitment.

Stagecoach N/A No response received.
Group PLC

Oxford Bus | 05/06/25 SUPPORT

Company

We trust that the foregoing assists in creating the
confidence that the ambitious sustainable access
strategy for the site is deliverable, especially on match
days.

We have also shown that the site has non-replicable
and quite extraordinary characteristics with respect to
public transport access, which support the highest
possible use by sustainable modes for all the wider
educational, commercial and community activities
proposed by the development, and also vital to the
future of the Football Club.

50

Page 58




We are naturally committed to working closely and
constructively with the applicant and its client team,
the Planning Authority and the wider statutory
consultees to refine the proposals further where
necessary as the application progresses to
determination.

Nature Space

22/04/24

COMMENT

Further information in the form of eDNA surveys on
P2, P3 and P4 to rule out a potential impact on great
crested newts. This is in line with Natural England’s
Standing Advice. If it is determined from these surveys
that the likelihood of great crested newts is very low
then precautionary working in the form of a
Reasonable Avoidance Measures method statement
may be acceptable. This should, however, be
submitted and approved by the LPA prior to
determination. Alternatively, the applicant can enquire
to use the Council’'s District Licence Scheme to
mitigate for any potential impacts on great crested
newts. A full upfront assessment of cost can be
obtained prior to entry into the scheme. More
information can be found at
https://naturespaceuk.com

Oxford Aviation
Services Ltd
(Oxford Airport)

10/10/24

NO OBJECTION with informatives. Lighting pattern -
require developer to provide assessment to
demonstrate that the scheme will not cause hazards
to aviation. Need info re: construction cranes, if to be
used. If solar panels to be fitted, a glint and glare
assessment must be conducted.

Thames Water

06/06/2024, 30/12/2024,
12/03/2025 and 21/07/2025

NO OBJECTION subject to conditions. A
development and infrastructure phasing plan to be
agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with
Thames Water to allow development to be occupied.
Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan
is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in
accordance with the agreed development and
infrastructure phasing plan.

No development shall be occupied until confirmation
has been provided that either:- all foul water network
upgrades required to accommodate the additional
flows from the development have been completed; or
- a development and infrastructure phasing plan has
been agreed with the Local Authority in consultation
with Thames Water to allow development to be
occupied. Where a development and infrastructure

51

Page 59




phasing plan are agreed no occupation shall take
place other than in accordance with the agreed
development and infrastructure phasing plan.

Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil
interceptors be fitted in all car parking/washing/repair
facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of petrol
/ oil interceptors could result in oil-polluted discharges
entering local watercourses.

No development shall be occupied until confirmation
has been provided that either: - all water network
upgrades required to accommodate the additional
demand to serve the development have been
completed; or - a development and infrastructure
phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to
allow development to be occupied. Where a
development and infrastructure phasing plan is
agreed no occupation shall take place other than in
accordance with the agreed development and
infrastructure phasing plan.

No construction shall take place within 5m of the water
main. Information detailing how the developer intends
to divert the asset / align the development, so as to
prevent the potential for damage to subsurface
potable water infrastructure, must be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority in
consultation with Thames Water. Any construction
must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of
the approved information. Unrestricted access must
be available at all times for the maintenance and
repair of the asset during and after the construction
works.

Berks,
and
Oxfordshi
Wildlife
(BBOWT)

Bucks

re
Trust

18/4/24,
03/07/25

29/1/25,

7/5/25,

NO OBJECTION in principle, but concerns regarding
impact on wildlife, which are essentially the same as
those for 23/02276/SCOP (an earlier scoping opinion
for the Environmental Impact Assessment). Though
since the scoping opinion included the woodland to
the south, whereas the application has now put that
outside of the red line boundary, then the references
in the scoping opinion response to the lowland mixed
deciduous woodland being on-site are no longer
relevant, although there is still concern regarding
indirect impact. Remain concerned about loss of
green corridor and undervalue of the existing willow
habitat. Concerned there is not enough room on site

52

Page 60




to achieve on site gain. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
scoring requires further justification and explanation.

We have reviewed the relevant ecology documents
that have been produced for the latest set of
information in May and June 2025. With respect to the
“Ecology Response to the Lighting Technical Note —
June 2025” whilst we welcome the further information
supplied it does not alleviate the concerns set out
previously in the Lighting section of our responses.
With respect to the revised BNG metric it has not
addressed the concerns we raised in our responses
with respect to the BNG metric.

We have reviewed the additional information and note
that whilst the respondent seeks to rebut or reply to
some of the comments made they do not, with respect
to any of the issues that we raised, make any material
changes to the actual proposals, and therefore the
issues we raised remain and we stand by our previous
response in full.

Woodland
Trust

19/04/24,
24/07/2025

15/05/25

and

OBJECTION. Raised concerns around drainage of
Stratfield Brake and how this will be dealt with — ask
that on site attenuation be of a scale and capacity
sufficient to protect Stratfield Brake from additional
run-off and that this is secured by planning condition,
indiscriminate parking on match days — would like an
event day car parking attendant on Stratfield Brake
site, litter, impact on Stratfield Brake — measures
required to be out in place to pick litter around the
stadium and trees surrounding the site — ask that a
canopy cover target be set for the scheme as a whole,
planting is secured by planning condition, important
trees are retained by condition and a minimum 15m
buffer and suitable management plan to the woodland
to the south of the site, complete an Ancient Tree
Inventory (ATI), lighting be directed away from
hedgerows and woodlands.

We have asked Natural England to review the
evidence and consider whether any of the woodland
on site should be considered for designation as
Ancient Woodland. Ancient Woodland is an
irreplaceable habitat and qualifies for protection from
development, under section 193c) of the NPPF, other
than in exceptional circumstances, limited to nationally
significant infrastructure proposals. A football stadium
would not qualify for such an exception.

53

Page 61




We also ask the Council to engage Natural England
on this matter and to take a precautionary approach
so that no planning decision has been made until
Natural England has provided a judgement. If Natural
England does consider the woodland to be ancient
then the Trust would ask that appropriate buffers are
applied and maintained between any area of
development and the adjacent woodland.

On the 24/07/2025, the Woodland Trust advised that
it maintained an objection on the basis of impacts to
their Stratfield Brake site and additionally in respect of
the deterioration of ancient woodland. It noted that
Stratfield Brake was not previously designated as
ancient woodland but (at the time it responded)
acknowledged that Natural England had recently
confirmed its "ancient’ status and would be adding it to
the Ancient Woodland Inventory. The Trust set out the
impacts it was concerned about with respect to the
impact on the woodland, specifically from increased
human activity and traffic emissions, pollution,
hydrological impacts, encroachment onto root
systems and rooting environment, reduction of semi-
natural habitat near to the woodland, the potential for
boundary issues associated with the long-term
retention of trees on the woodland edge and lack of
mitigation measures. Its advice was that steps should
be taken to address the development in the context of
the ancient woodland designation. Comments were
made in respect of the applicant’s technical note —
confirming that Natural England is the only body that
has the appropriate standing to pass judgement on
whether a site should be considered ancient or not
and advice is provided on mitigation measures:

“...as the government’s relevant authority on such
matters, Natural England is the only body that has
appropriate standing to pass judgement on whether a
site should be considered ancient woodland or not....
Neither the Council nor the applicant has the authority
to pass judgement on what is or isn't ancient
woodland. The holders of the Ancient Woodland
Inventory and government agency responsible for
determining whether a woodland is ancient is Natural
England. As such, planning decisions must be made
in the context of their judgement that the woodland is
ancient and that it therefore requires protection in line
with government policy and guidance”.

54
Page 62




It also advised, “If the Council intends to continue in
the planning process further without engaging Natural
England on the applicant’'s comments, then Stratfield
Brake should be afforded protection as ancient
woodland under both local and national planning
policies”.

CPRE Oxford

22/04/2024,
07/02/2025,17/04/2025
30/05/25

and

OBJECTION in relation to loss of Green Belt and Very
Special Circumstances (VSC) having SC not been
addressed, impact on ecology, traffic and other sites
being available.

Comments from 7" Feb — Transport Implications of the
proposals not fully considered. Mayer Brown
commissioned to review the Transport Assessments —
report attached to response. Waste water not
appropriately considered.

Comments 17" April 2025

¢ No evidence that the club have attempted to
buy the stadium.

The importance of the Green Belt around North Oxford
has not been appropriately considered.

Comments 30" May 2025

e Inadequate security and  emergency
evacuation principles

e Site is not Grey Belt
e No VSC demonstrated
¢ Road closure times unrealistic, TAA is flawed

e Unacceptable impact on Ecology and
woodland

e LVIA s flawed

Ramblers N/A No response received.
Association

British  Horse | N/A No response received.
Society

Southern Gas | N/A No response received.

Network

55

Page 63




National Grid N/A No response received.

Open
Society

Spaces | N/A No response received.

7.3 Committee Members will be updated on any further representations or consultations

8.1.

8.2.

received between the publication of this report and the committee meeting through
the written updates. An oral update will be provided to the committee if required.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined
in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

The Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 - Part 1 was formally adopted by Cherwell District
Council on 20th July 2015 and provides the strategic planning policy framework for
the District to 2031. The Council also adopted a Partial Review of the Local Plan in
September 2020 to make Cherwell’s provision for Oxford’s Unmet Housing Need..
The Local Plan 2011-2031 — Part 1 replaced a number of the ‘saved’ policies of the
adopted Cherwell Local Plan 1996 though many of its policies are retained and remain
part of the development plan. The relevant planning policies of Cherwell District’s
statutory Development Plan are set out below.

CHERWELL LOCAL PLAN 2011-2031 PART 1 (CLP 2015)

Policy PSD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy SLE1: Employment Development

Policy SLE2: Securing Dynamic Town Centres

Policy SLE3: Supporting Tourism Growth

Policy SLE4: Improved Transport and Connections

Policy BSC1: District Wide Housing Distribution

Policy BSC2: The Effective and Efficient Use of Land — Brownfield land and Housing
Density

Policy BSC7: Meeting Education Needs

Policy BSC8: Securing Health and Well-Being

Policy BSC9: Public Services and Utilities

Policy BSC10: Open Space, Outdoor Sport and Recreation Provision
Policy BSC11: Local Standards of Provision - Outdoor Recreation
Policy BSC12: Indoor Sport, Recreation and Community Facilities
Policy ESD1: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change

Policy ESD2: Energy Hierarchy and Allowable Solutions

Policy ESD3: Sustainable Construction

Policy ESD4: Decentralised Energy Systems

Policy ESD5: Renewable Energy

Policy ESD6: Sustainable Flood Risk Management

Policy ESD7: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)

Policy ESD8: Water Resources

Policy ESD9: Protection of the Oxford Meadows SAC

Policy ESD10: Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity and the Natural
Environment

Policy ESD11: Conservation Target Areas

Policy ESD12: Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Policy ESD13: Local Landscape Protection and Enhancement

Policy ESD14: Oxford Green Belt

56
Page 64




Policy ESD15: The Character of the Built and Historic Environment
Policy ESD16: The Oxford Canal

Policy ESD17: Green Infrastructure

Policy Kidlington1: Accommodating High Value Employment Needs
Policy Kidlington2: Strengthening Kidlington Village Centre

Policy INF1: Infrastructure

CHERWELL LOCAL PLAN 1996 SAVED POLICIES (CLP 1996)

Policy GB2 — Outdoor Recreation in the Green Belt

Policy TR1 - Transportation funding

Policy TR7 - Development attracting traffic on minor roads

Policy TR8 - Commercial facilities for the motorist

Policy TR10 - Heavy Goods vehicles

Policy TR11 - Oxford Canal

Policy TR22 - Reservation of land for road schemes in the countryside

Policy T5 - Proposals for new hotels, motels, guesthouses and restaurants in the
countryside

Policy C5 - Protection of ecological value and rural character of specified features of
value in the District

Policy C8 — Sporadic Development in the open countryside

Policy C15 — Prevention of coalescence of settlements

Policy C28 — Layout, design and external appearance of new development

Policy C30 — Design control

Policy C32 — Provision of facilities for disabled people

Policy C33 — Protection of important gaps of undeveloped land

Policy ENV1 — Development likely to cause detrimental levels of pollution

CHERWELL LOCAL PLAN 2011 - 2031 (PART1) PARTIAL REVIEW - OXFORD’S
UNMET HOUSING NEED

PR1: Achieving Sustainable Development for Oxford’s Needs

PR3: The Oxford Green Belt

PR4a: Sustainable Transport

PR4b: Kidlington Centre

PR5: Green Infrastructure

PR11: Infrastructure Delivery

Policy PR12b —Sites Not Allocated in the Partial Review

Policy PR13 - Monitoring and Securing Delivery

The Partial Review of the Local Plan allocates land for a number of strategic
development sites (the ‘Partial Review sites’) in the vicinity of the proposed site. A
total of 4,400 homes are planned for but the final, completed number of homes could
be higher or lower than this figure

On 19 December 2024, the Reg 19 Proposed Submission of the Cherwell Local Plan
Review 2042 was published for consultation. The consultation ended on the 25
February 2025. The Plan was approved for submission to the Secretary of State for
Housing, Communities and Local Government for independent examination by
Council on 21 July 2025. Cherwell District Council submitted its Cherwell Local Plan
Review 2042 to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination on 31 July 2025.

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF (2024) states that: Local planning authorities may give
weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: a) the stage of preparation
of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the greater the weight that
may be given); b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may
be given); and c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging

57
Page 65



plan to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in
the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

The weight afforded to different policies is always a matter for the decision maker,
and in the case of the emerging Cherwell Local Plan Review 2042, this weight should
be determined in line with NPPF para 49, as set out above. Policies will generally gain
weight as they progress through the process of consultation and examination,
particularly where they do not attract objections.

Given the relatively early stage of preparation of the Cherwell Local Plan Review, it is
considered that only limited weight may be given to the policies therein. The relevant
policies of the Development Plan are set out below:

Emerging Cherwell Local Plan Review 2042 (CLP 2042)

CP1: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change

CP2: Zero or Low Carbon Energy sources

CP3: The Energy Hierarchy and Efficiency

CP4: Achieving Net Zero Carbon

CP5: Carbon Offsetting

CP6: Renewable Energy

CP7: Sustainable Flood Risk

CP8: Sustainable Drainage Systems (suDs)

CP9: Water Resources

CP10: Protection of the Oxford Meadows SAC

CP11: Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity
CP12: Biodiversity Net Gain

CP13: Conservation Target Areas

CP14: Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services

CP15: Green and Blue Infrastructure

CP16: Air Quality

CP17: Pollution and Noise

CP18: Light Pollution

CP19: Soils, Contaminated Land and Stability

CP21: Sustainable Transport and Connectivity Improvements
CP22: Assessing Transport Impact/ Decide and Provide
CP25: Meeting Business and Employment Needs
CP27: New Employment Development on Unallocated Sites
CP29: Community Employment Plans

CP32: Town Centre Hierarchy and retail

CP43: Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP44: The Oxford Green Belt

CP45: Settlement Gaps

CP46: Achieving Well Designed Places

CP47: Active Travel — Walking and Cycling

CP48: Public Rights of Way

CP50: Creating Healthy Communities

CP51: Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services
CP55: Open Space, Sport and recreation

CP57-59: Historic Environment and Archaeology
CP60: The Oxford Canal

CP76: Kidlington Area Strategy

CP79: Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes in the Kidlington Area
CP80: Kidlington Green and Blue Infrastructure

CP81: Kidlington Areas of Change

CP87: Delivery and Contingency

DP1: Waste Collection and Recycling

Page 66

58



9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

Other Material Planning Considerations

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations 2017 (as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
National Model Design Guide

Cycle Infrastructure Design (LTN 1/20)

Fields in Trust - Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play

EU Habitats Directive

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Circular 06/2005 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation)
Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”)

Equalities Act 2010 (“EA”)

Supplementary Planning Documents
Developer Contributions SPD (Feb 2018) Cherwell Design Guide (2018)

APPRAISAL

The key issues for consideration in this case are:

Principle of development and impact on the Green Belt
Heritage

Trees and Ecology

Landscape and visual impact

Design

Retail impact

Residential amenity

Transport and Highway safety

Noise, Air Quality and Ground Conditions
Lighting

Flooding and Drainage

Sustainability

Environmental Statement

Planning Obligations

Principle of Development and Impact on the Green Belt

Policy Context

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2)
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that applications for planning
permission be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

The Adopted Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Part 1) (CLP 2015), its Partial Review
and the saved policies of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 contain strategic planning
policies for development and the use of land. They form part of the statutory
Development Plan for Cherwell to which regard must be given in the determination of
planning applications. The application site is located wholly within the Oxford Green
Belt. It is not allocated in the 1996, 2015 or 2020 Local Plans for development and
constitutes a Departure from the Development Plan.

59
Page 67



9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

9.7.

9.8.

9.9.

9.10.

Saved Policy C8 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 (CLP 1996) concerns sporadic
development in the open countryside, seeking to resist new development proposals
beyond the built-up limits of settlements, including in areas in the vicinity of motorway
or major road developments, in order to maintain the countryside’s attractive, open,
rural character.

Saved Policy C15 of the CLP 1996 states that the Council will prevent the
coalescence of settlements by resisting development in areas of open land, which are
important in distinguishing them. The supporting text notes that each town or village
has its own separate identity, and it is important that development on areas of open
land between them is restricted to prevent their coalescence.

Policy PSD 1 of the CLP 2015 sets out the plan’s presumption in favour of sustainable
development, stating that when considering development proposals, the Council will
take a proactive approach to reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. The Council will
always work proactively with applicants to jointly find solutions which mean that
proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. The
remainder of the policy reiterates the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable
development (paragraph 11c-d).

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF highlights how to apply the presumption in favour of
sustainable development; for decision taking, the presumption in favour of sustainable
development means c) approving development proposals that accord with an up to
date development plan without delay or d) where there are no relevant development
plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application
are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing
development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing
well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in
combination.

Paragraph 39 relates to decision making and states that LPAs should approach
decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use
the full range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission
in principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Section 13 (paragraphs 142 to 156) of the NPPF sets out the national Green Belt
policy. The NPPF (2024) post-dates the 2015 Cherwell Local Plan and so the NPPF
provides the up-to- date reference point for Green Belt Policy.

In assessing the current proposal several paragraphs of the NPPF are of relevance.
Paragraph 142 states that the Government attaches great importance to Green Belts.
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and
their permanence.

60
Page 68



9.11. The aim and function of the Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
open. An essential characteristic of Green Belt is its ‘openness’. Paragraph 143 sets
out the purposes of the Green Belt:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict
and other urban land

9.12. Paragraph 151 states that once Green Belts have been defined, local planning
authorities should plan positively to enhance their beneficial use, such as looking for
opportunities to provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and
recreation; to retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to
improve damaged and derelict land.

9.13. Policy ESD14 of the CLP 2015 largely echoes the NPPF requirements and states that
the Green Belt will be maintained in order to:

a)

b)

c)
d)

e)

Preserve the special character and landscape setting of Oxford;

Check the growth of Oxford and prevent ribbon development and urban
sprawl;

Prevent the coalescence of settlements;
Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

Assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other
urban land.

9.14. Policy COM 12 of the emerging Cherwell Local Plan Review 2042 states that the
Oxford Green Belt boundaries within Cherwell District will be maintained in order to:

Preserve the special character and landscape setting of Oxford;

Check the growth of Oxford and prevent ribbon development and urban
sprawl;

Prevent the coalescence of settlements;
Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, and

Assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

Development proposals within the Green Belt will be assessed in accordance with
current Government policy and other relevant Development Plan policies.

9.15. Limited weight is to be attributed to this policy, given the stage of preparation of the
emerging Local Plan Review, accepting that the policy aligns with the NPPF to a
significant degree and is a similar approach to the current Local Plan Policy ESD14.

61
Page 69



9.16. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states that when considering any planning application,
local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm
to the Green Belt, including harm to its openness. Inappropriate development is, by
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

9.17.

Paragraph 154 of the NPPF states that development in the Green Belt is inappropriate
unless one of the following exceptions applies:

a)

b)

buildings for agriculture and forestry;

the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of
land or a change of use), including buildings, or outdoor sport, outdoor
recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments; as long as the
facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it;

the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use
and not materially larger than the one it replaces;

limited infilling in villages;

limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out
in the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed land (including a material change of use to residential or mixed
use including residential), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding
temporary buildings), which would not cause substantial harm to the
openness of the Green Belt.

other forms of development provided they preserve its openness and do not
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are:

i mineral extraction;
ii. engineering operations;

iii. local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement
for a Green Belt location;

iv.  the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent
and substantial construction;

v. material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for
outdoor sport or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds);
and

vi.  development, including buildings, brought forward under a
Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development
Order

62
Page 70



9.18.

9.19.

9.20.

9.21.

9.22.

9.23.

9.24.

9.25.

Revisions to the NPPF were issued in December 2024 which introduced a new
concept of Grey Belt land, which aims to identify and use specific areas within the
Green Belt that are suitable for development, while ensuring the broader aims of
Green Belt protection are not compromised.

Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that the development of homes, commercial and
other development in the Green Belt should also not be regarded as inappropriate
where:

a) The development would utilise grey belt land and would not fundamentally
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt
across the area of the plan;

b) There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed

c) The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular
reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework; and

d) Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’
requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157 [of the Framework].

In relation to criterion (a), consideration must be given as to whether the application
site can be properly categorised as Grey Belt land. Grey Belt land is defined as
"previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either case, does not strongly
contribute to any of purposes (a), (b) or (d) in paragraph 143” of the NPPF (see 9.11
above).

The NPPF defines previously developed land as:

Land which has been lawfully developed and is or was occupied by a permanent
structure and any fixed surface infrastructure associated with it, including the curtilage
of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the
curtilage should be developed). It also includes land comprising large areas of fixed
surface infrastructure such as large areas of hardstanding which have been lawfully
developed. Previously developed land excludes: land that is or was last occupied by
agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction
or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through
development management procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential
gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously
developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure
have blended in to the landscape.

It is not considered that any part of the site constitutes previously developed land. The
site has been in agricultural use since at least 1999.

Even though it is not previously developed land, the application site will fall within the
definition of Grey Belt land if it does not ‘strongly contribute’ to any of the purposes in
paragraph 143 (a), (b) or (d) of the NPPF, as set out above.

The Government has provided guidance on assessing the purposes of the Green Belt
in the form of an updated Green Belt section within the Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG). This sets out guidance on what may be considered a ‘strong’ contribution’,
versus a ‘moderate’ or ‘weak’ contribution to each of the above purposes. These are
discussed in the assessment section below.

As set out in para 9.19 above, the site must also, as per the requirements of NPPF,
para 155 (a), ‘not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the

63
Page 71



9.26.

9.27.

9.28.

9.29.

9.30.

9.31.

9.32.

9.33.

remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan’. Those purposes are all of the five
Green Belt purposes in NPPF paragraph 143 set out above.

On reaching a conclusion on the above, an assessment must then also be made
against the further relevant requirements of paragraph 155 which are:

b) There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed and;

¢) The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular reference to
paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework.

NPPF paragraph 155d is not relevant, as it concerns the Golden Rules which only
apply to the provision of housing.

The assessment of the application site against these requirements is discussed in the
assessment section below.

If the application site cannot meet the criteria in paragraph 155 and is considered
inappropriate, then the usual Green Belt restraint applies i.e. that development should
only be approved if “very special circumstances” (VSC) exist, as set out in paragraph
153 of the NPPF.

The VSC case presented by the applicants is discussed and assessed in the relevant
section below.

Assessment

In accordance with Paragraph 155 a) above, the first stage of assessment must be
whether the site constitutes Grey Belt, as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF as:

Grey belt: For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined
as land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land
that, in either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in
paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating
to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong
reason for refusing or restricting development

As part of this assessment, there are two elements to consider:

1. Does the site ‘strongly contribute’ to any of purposes a), b), or d) in paragraph
143.

2. Does the site fall within an NPPF footnote 7 asset or area, where the NPPF
policies would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development.

In respect of the first test, the PPG provides guidance for making judgements as to
whether land is Grey Belt. These are summarised below:

Purpose A - to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas
Green Belt land contributing strongly to Purpose A is likely to:
e be free of existing development;

e lack physical features in reasonable proximity that could restrict and contain
development;

e be adjacent or near to a large built-up area; and

Page 72

64



e if developed, result in an incongruous pattern of development (such as an
extended ‘finger’ of development into the Green Belt).

Green Belt land contributing moderately to Purpose A is likely to be adjacent or near
to a large built-up area, and include one or more features that weaken contribution,
such as (but not limited to):

e having physical feature(s) in reasonable proximity that could restrict and
contain development; and/or

e be partially enclosed by existing development, such that new development
would not result in an incongruous pattern of development;

e contain existing development;
e being subject to other urbanising influences.

Green Belt land contributing weakly to Purpose A is likely to be:
¢ not adjacent to or near to a large built-up area;

e adjacent to or near to a large built-up area, but containing or being largely
enclosed by significant existing development.

Purpose B - to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another
Green Belt land contributing strongly to Purpose B is likely to:
e be free of existing development;
¢ form a substantial part of a gap between towns; and
o if developed, would likely result in the loss of visual separation of towns.
Green Belt land contributing moderately to Purpose B is likely to be located in a gap
between towns, and include one or more features that weaken contribution, such as
(but not limited to):
e forming a small part of a gap between towns; or
o if developed, would not result in the loss of visual separation between towns,
for example due to the close proximity of structures, natural landscape
elements or topography that preserve visual separation.
Green Belt land contributing weakly to Purpose B is likely to:

¢ not form part of a gap between towns; or,

e form only a very small part of a gap between towns, without making a
contribution to visual separation.

Purpose D - to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns
Green Belt land contributing strongly to Purpose D is likely to:

e be free of existing development;

65
Page 73



9.34.

9.35.

o form part of the setting of a historic town; and
¢ make a considerable contribution to the special character of a historic town,
for example, as a result of being within, adjacent to, or of significant visual
importance to the historic aspects of a town.
Green Belt land contributing moderately to Purpose D is likely to form part of the
setting and/or contribute to the special character of a historic town, and include one
or more features that weaken their contribution to this purpose, such as (but not
limited to):

e being separated to some extent from historic aspects of the town by existing
development or topography;

e containing existing development; or

¢ not having an important visual, physical, or experiential relationship to historic
aspects of a town.

Green Belt land contributing weakly to Purpose D is likely to not form part of the
setting of a historic town, with no visual, physical, or experiential connection to the
historic aspects of a town.

A number of Green Belt evidence studies have been prepared to support plan making
in Cherwell since 2015 (Cherwell Local Plans Evidence Base):

o 2015 Oxfordshire Green Belt study
e 2017 Cherwell Geen Belt Study and Addendum
o 2023 Cherwell Green Belt Study additional site assessments

The application site (outlined in yellow in the extract below) is assessed in the 2015
Green Belt Study within parcel KI5.

Figure 3: Extract from Planning Statement Addendum

66
Page 74


https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/info/112/evidence-base

9.36.

9.37.

9.38.

9.39.

The 2015 study concludes that the site performance is ‘High’ against Green Belt
purpose b (preventing neighbouring towns merging into one another), ‘Medium’
against purpose c (safeguarding countryside from encroachment) and ‘Low’ against
purpose d (preserving the setting and special character of historic towns).

In view of the applicant’s Planning Statement Addendum (April 2025) and revised
position on ‘Grey Belt, the Planning Policy Team commissioned Land Use
Consultants (LUC) to review the applicant's Addendum and provide an assessment
of the application site and the Kidlington Gap within the context of the December 2024
NPPF and 2025 PPG.

An up —to-date assessment has therefore been made against the contribution of the
application site against the above-mentioned Green Belt purposes. Taking each
purpose in turn:

Purpose A: to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas
PPG identifies Purpose A as being relevant to locations "adjacent or near" to a large

built-up area. The application site abuts Oxford’s settlement edge, a large built-up
area, immediately to the south and therefore Green Belt Purpose A applies.

67
Page 75



9.40.

9.41.

9.42.

9.43.

9.44.

9.45.

9.46.

9.47.

9.48.

Oxford’s northern boundary, formed by the A34 with existing development
immediately to the south at Oxford Parkway and allocated site PR6b Land West of
the Oxford Road, provides a strong restriction and containment to urban sprawl. The
development proposal would be incongruous with the current urban form of Oxford.
The fact that the site has strong boundary separation from Oxford heightens rather
than diminishes the extent to which development would constitute unrestricted sprawl.

Kidlington Roundabout marks the edge of Kidlington. Development of the site (south
of the roundabout) would be incongruous in relation to the urban form of Kidlington.
Regardless of whether Kidlington is a ‘large built-up area’, development of the site
would strengthen the extent to which Kidlington is perceived as being linked to Oxford
and would make the latter urban sprawl associated with the former. This is considered
a bigger impact than the loss of openness on just the application itself.

The gap between Oxford and Kidlington in this area is fragile but, there is still an open
space gap, with visual separation, in an area that has strong boundary separation
from Oxford. The proposed development would significantly weaken perceived
openness in the weakest part of the settlement gap.

The PPG requires consideration of proximity to a large built-up area, whether the site
is free from development, whether there are features that could restrict and contain
development and whether development would result in an incongruous pattern of
development.

The site is free from development. The strongest boundary feature — the A34 in
combination with the railway — is the current Oxford boundary which would be
breached by this development. Regardless of the strength of the site’s boundaries
there would be a loss of openness that would negate almost all sense of separation
between Oxford and Kidlington in this location, and the relationship between these
settlements (whether or not the latter is termed a ‘town’) is pertinent to perception of
urban sprawl.

The PPG states that ‘villages should not be considered large built up areas’. It is the
applicant’s contention that Kidlington should not therefore be considered a ‘large built
up area’ in the context of Green Belt purpose A.

The applicants state that Kidlington is referenced as a village throughout the Cherwell
Local Plan 2011 and similarly referenced in the Reg 19 Plan as a ‘Local Service
Centre’, defined as “large villages with, or are planned to have, a level of services and
facilities, and local employment opportunities to provide the next best opportunities
for sustainable development outside the Main Towns." The "Main Towns" are
identified as Bicester and Banbury.

It is Officers’ view that Kidlington is a large built up area. Although referred to as a
village in the past and emerging local plans, the Local Plan and recent Settlement
Hierarchy Topic Paper make it clear that Kidlington has a status very different to other
villages in the District, hence its classification as a local service centre. In terms of
population, Kidlington is listed in the ONS 2021 census of having 14,640, which is
well above the lower limit of 7,500 defined in the House of Commons Library’s
research briefing ‘City and Town Classification of Constituencies and Local
Authorities’ (21 June 2018).

An appeal decision’ from January 2024 found that a large village with a population of
circa 10,000 was a large built-up area. The appeal site lay entirely within the green
belt and extended to approximately 11.5ha on the edge of a settlement with a

" Appeal Ref: APP/N1920/W/23/3320599 - Land south of Shenley Road, Radlett, Hertfordshire

68
Page 76



9.49.

9.50.

9.51.

9.52.

9.53.

9.54.

9.55.

9.56.

9.57.

population of approximately 10,060 people. For the purposes of paragraph 143 of the
NPPF, the appellant argued that the proposal did not involve the unrestricted sprawl
of a large built-up area. However, the inspector held that in the context of other
settlements within the borough, the large village did comprise a large built-up area
and the development would involve sprawl, noting that the essential aim of green belt
policy was to keep land open in spatial and visual terms.

In terms of preserving a gap between two settlements, the inspector observed that
this would be reduced from 1.7kms to 1.4kms and in his opinion this was sufficient to
be material. It was important, he opined, to spatially preserve open land between such
settlements if the policy was to continue to be an effective planning tool in a green
belt. In addition, it would fail to protect the countryside from encroachment and these
harms added to the spatial and visual impacts of development.

Kidlington has extensive amenities commensurate with a town (including an airport)
and consists of built-up, urban development over an area much larger than a typical
village.

Kidlington is therefore considered to be a town for the purposes of Grey Belt
assessment.

However, as noted above, regardless of whether Kidlington is a large built-up area,
the site abuts the inset settlement edge of Oxford, a large built-up area, immediately
to the south.

The extent to which it would remove the remaining gap between Oxford and Kidlington
means that, regardless of whether the latter is defined as a ‘large built up area’, it
would strengthen the extent to which Kidlington is perceived as being linked to Oxford
and in that respect, would be significant sprawl.

For the reasons set out above, it is considered that the application site contributes
strongly in respect of Purpose A.

Purpose B - to prevent neighbouring towns from merging

As explained above, Kidlington should be considered a town in the context of
assessing the function of land in containing the spread of urban development. In
addition to Kidlington’s size, its proximity to Oxford and the demand for housing and
employment land associated with this give it a ‘pulling power’ that is more readily
associated with large urban areas than with villages. The fundamental aim of Green
Belts is to prevent urban sprawl and the merging of Kidlington with Oxford would
represent a very significant increase in the size of a single urban area.

The site is located at the narrowest part of the Kidlington Gap. The road links reduce
the perceived gap size, but the strength of separating boundary features helps to
preserve perceived separation. To the west, and to the east of the Water Eaton station
and park and ride, the perception of a gap is stronger but its severing through
development of this site would in turn increase urbanising influence on that adjacent
open land.

The PPG requires consideration as to whether the site is free of existing development,
whether it forms a substantial part of a gap between towns and whether, if developed,
it would likely result in the loss of visual separation between towns. On all three counts
the answer would be yes and the contribution to Purpose B is considered ‘strong’.

Purpose C - to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment

69
Page 77



9.58.

9.59.

9.60.

The PPG provides no guidance on Purpose C but the key factors on whether the site
constitutes part of the countryside are considered to be whether there is urbanising
development within it, whether it is subject to urbanising influence from outside of the
site and whether its development would increase urbanising influence on adjacent
open land.

The site is subject to little influence from urban areas. Roads (and associated lighting
and signage) are not solely urban features. Proximity to road, whilst it may affect
landscape character, does not mean that the site is strongly influenced by the urban
areas of Oxford or Kidlington. Containing roads may limit the impact of development
on adjacent countryside - although the truncating of the gap would increase
containment of open land to the north-east.

The site is in the countryside and is undeveloped. With regard to influences from
outside of the site, the extent of urbanising influence rather than landscape character
(which is a separate non-Green Belt matter) is the key consideration, and the site's
relationship with development in Oxford or in Kidlington is very limited. Given the
height of the proposed stadium there would also be some urbanising impact on open
land beyond the site boundaries. Contribution to Purpose C is considered strong.

Purpose D - to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns

9.61.

9.62.

9.63.

9.64.

9.65.

9.66.

The site could be considered to play a limited role in that it is rural land forming part
of Oxford's setting, as experienced on a main approach route, but it is acknowledged
that contribution to Purpose D would not be significant.

In summary, the site falls within the most fragile part of the Kidlington Gap and
development of the proposed site would weaken the Kidlington Gap as a whole and
significantly weaken the distinction between Kidlington and Oxford, merging two large
built-up areas into one.

The site is therefore not considered to comprise Grey Belt land because the above up
to date assessment, along with Green Belt evidence which has been subject to
Examination, demonstrates that the site contributes ‘strongly’ to Green Belt Purpose
A (to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas) and Purpose B (to prevent
neighbouring towns merging into one another). It is noted that there is also a strong
contribution to Purpose C (to assist in safeguarding the countryside from
encroachment), although this is not relevant to the definition of Grey Belt (as set out
in the NPPF Glossary).

In respect of the second test in the NPPF Glossary definition of Grey Belt (concerning
footnote 7), Grey belt excludes land where the application of the policies relating to
the areas or assets in NPPF footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) ‘would provide a strong
reason for refusing or restricting development’. Footnote 7 designations are:

Habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194 of the NPPF) and/or designated
as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; ..., Local Green Space, a National Landscape,
a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast;
irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of
archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of flooding or
coastal change.

The site is not within, nor is it considered to adversely affect, any of the above
designations.

As to the further parts of NPPF paragraph 155, taking each of these in turn;

70
Page 78



9.67.

9.68.

9.69.

9.70.

9.71.

9.72.

9.73.

9.74.

(a) Would the development fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together)
of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan?

The extent of the Green Belt in the vicinity of the application site is as shown in the
figure below. Site allocations in the adopted Local Plan Partial Review 2020 ‘Oxford’s
Unmet Need’ are overlayed for context. Land within those allocations which are
required to remain undeveloped remain in the Green Belt as shown in the figure
below.

A é/

Cherwell Local Plan

Partial Review 2020

‘Oxford's unmet needs’
Allocated sites n]
Green Belt

Green Belt'Safeguarded Land

Watér Eaton

Land to the East of
Stratfield Brake and

West of Oxford Parkway
24/00539/F

@
Ol

Figure 4: Location of application site in context of Green Belt and Partial Review
site allocations

Oxford

The application site is undeveloped land located in the narrowest part of the Kidlington
Gap. It comprises the only Green Belt parcel left west of the Oxford Road between
Kidlington and the allocated north Oxford site PR6b. Immediately to the east of the
site (east of the Oxford Road), the Kidlington Gap amounts to one single parcel
between Kidlington’s built-up area and allocated North Oxford site PR6b and the
Oxford Parkway. At its narrowest, the gap is approximately 528 metres wide.

For the reasons set out above, the site strongly contributes to Green Belt Purposes
A, B and C.

Development of the application site would effectively merge Kidlington and the North
Oxford site PR6b.

Any further loss of separation between Oxford and Kidlington will increase the extent
to which they in effect form one sprawling urban area. The level of harm caused by
the proposed development against Purpose A is therefore considerable.

The proposed development would significantly weaken visual separation in this key
gap location. Level of harm against Purpose B is considerable.

The site is in the countryside and is undeveloped. The site's relationship with
development in Oxford or in Kidlington is very limited. Given the height of the
proposed stadium there would also be an urbanising impact on open land beyond the
site’s boundaries. Level of harm against Purpose C is considerable.

The development would significantly weaken the distinction between Kidlington and
Oxford. It would be development at the fragile core of the remaining gap, and it would

71
Page 79



merge two large built-up areas into one, such that there would be only a narrow strip
of Green Belt left to contain Kidlington to the north. These are the only two urban
areas contained by the Green Belt in Cherwell. The result would be a significant
change, diminishing the strength of the gap, and fundamentally undermining the
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the Local
Plan.

(b) Is there a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed?

9.75. Whilst there is guidance given for assessing the need for housing development, there
is no specified measure for demonstrating unmet need for non-residential
developments. In the ‘Government response to the proposed reforms to the National
Planning Policy Framework and other changes to the planning system consultation’
which explained the proposed changes to the NPPF, it is noted that ‘the evidence for
need of commercial or other development may differ depending on the development
being proposed, so we are not specifying a particular measure that must be used in
assessments.’

9.76. At the present time, OUFC play at the Kassam Stadium. Evidence has been submitted
to demonstrate that post 30 June 2026, OUFC will have no legal right to use or occupy
the Kassam Stadium and post 14 October 2026 there will be no legal obligation for
the main use of the land to be for football (by any club).

9.77. An Alternative Site Assessment (ASA) has been submitted that seeks to demonstrate
that the application site is the only viable site for a replacement stadium. The
conclusions of the ASA are largely accepted (see assessment of this below for further
detail) and on that basis, it is considered that there is a demonstrable unmet need for
the development proposed.

(c) Is the development in a sustainable location?

9.78. Criterion c) is that ‘the development would be in a sustainable location, with particular
reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework’.

9.79. Paragraph 110 highlights that ‘significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering
a genuine choice of transport modes’.

9.80. Paragraph 115 states:

In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific
applications for development, it should be ensured that:

a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision for the
site, the type of development and its location;

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;

c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content
of associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the
National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost
effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.

9.81. As noted in the Local Highway Authority response, the applicants are adopting a
vision-led approach to their transport strategy which is in line with the National

72
Page 80



9.82.

9.83.

9.84.

9.85.

9.86.

9.87.

9.88.

9.89.

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and is supported by the LHA. This is in order to
achieve the modal shift required. With the sustainable travel options available, as
discussed in the Highways section below, the LHA believe this is achievable.

The LHA also consider that the site access, for vehicular and emergency access is
acceptable. The LHA have requested conditions to require various Travel Plans (e.g.
match day, non-match day and ancillary uses) , which will refine the key principles set
out in the Transport Assessment, notably, crowd and traffic management planning,
managing pedestrian and cycle access to the stadium from Peartree and Oxford
Parkway and into the ground and controlling traffic on the roads around the stadium
and at Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of pedestrians is prioritised.

As such, it is considered that the site is located in a sustainable location and complies
with the criteria set out in paragraphs 110 and 115 of the NPPF.

(d) If applicable, does the development meet the ‘Golden Rules’?

The Golden Rules are not applicable in this case as the development is not housing
development.

Conclusion

NPPF paragraph 155 does not apply to the development, because the development
does not comprise Grey Belt land and the development would undermine the
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan. It
constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Inappropriate development
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt.

It is clear that the proposed stadium and associated development would result in the
physical reduction of the gap between Kidlington and the urbanised area of north
Oxford. The scale and mass of the proposed stadium is significant which would
undoubtedly impact on the openness of the site both visually and spatially, especially
given its public visibility. The size of the building is significant both in terms of its floor
area, height and mass. The associated landscaping works such as the car park, Plaza
and gardens would also impact on the openness of the current site, due to the creation
of manmade features leading to a more engineered environment on land which is
currently undeveloped. The openness experienced along Freize Way would be
significantly reduced due to the scale of the proposed stadium.

The introduction of a significant building and its associated land uses are not
consistent with maintaining the openness of the Green Belt. The development would
conflict with the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy which is to prevent urban sprawl
by keeping land permanently open. It is therefore concluded that the development is
also harmful to Green Belt openness both visually and spatially.

The proposal does not meet any of the exemptions set out in paragraphs 154 and 155
of the NPPF or Policy ESD 14 of the CLP 2015. As such, the development is
considered inappropriate development in the Green Belt. It therefore should not be
approved except in very special circumstances.

Very Special Circumstances

Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential to harm the Green Belt
by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other
considerations.

73
Page 81



9.90.

9.91.

9.92.

9.93.

The Planning Statement submitted with the proposal outlines a number of
components to the applicant’s very special circumstances case and these are set out
below, and will be considered in turn:

e The need to relocate from the Kassam Stadium
e Financial sustainability of owning their (OUFC) own stadium
e Lack of alternative sites
e The importance of keeping OUFC in the local area
o Benefits for fans
o Benefits for women’s football/the club
e Other community benefits including socio-economic benefits
e Sustainable design and operational benefits
e Sustainable transport benefits
e Biodiversity enhancement measures
e Access to the Green Belt
e Precedent appeal decisions
The need to relocate from the Kassam Stadium

OUFC has played football at The Kassam Stadium since 2001, following a move from
The Manor Ground in Headington.

The Planning Statement addendum (May 2025) at para 3.18 states that:

“OUFC currently plays at the Kassam Stadium. However, there is no legal basis to
use the Kassam Stadium after the recent short-term extension agreed with the Firoka
Group that will enable the Club to remain at the Kassam Stadium for a maximum of
two additional seasons. The existing license, which was due to expire in June 2026,
will now run for at least one additional year, with an option to extend for a maximum
of one more year thereafter conditional on planning for the Club’s proposed new
stadium being approved. Following this, no further extensions or new lease
agreements will be possible. This is confirmed in a press release that is attached at
Appendix 4. In short, this confirms that if planning permission for the new stadium is
not forthcoming, OUFC will have no legal right to use the stadium beyond June 2028
at best. There will be no obligation for the main use of the land to be for football (by
any club).”

Several representations have been made that dispute the alleged need to relocate
from the Kassam Stadium, citing the applicant’s either intentional or poor
management decisions as the reason the club can no longer stay at the Kassam
Stadium. Newspaper articles have also been presented which allege that the owner
of the Kassam Stadium is open to Oxford United staying at their existing ground. Third
parties consider that the applicant’'s own actions have led to a need to relocate and
that this cannot therefore be used as very special circumstances to justify
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

74
Page 82



9.94.

9.95.

9.96.

9.97.

9.98.

9.99.

Officers challenged the statements made in the original Planning Statement and
sought further justification and evidence to address the claims made by third party
representations.

The addendum material provided in March 2025 provides more detail in respect of
the negotiations between OUFC and Mr Kassam. It confirms that OUFC under the
ownership of different owners have had a number of disputes with the Stadium
Company regarding the original licence including arbitration in relation to service
charges and more recently Covid-19 as a force majeure event. The Stadium Company
has also imposed restrictions on OUFC’s operations, for example restricting access
on matchdays, not providing services, disagreements over agreements relating to
sponsorship deals and imposing charges. Previous attempts to develop a fourth stand
at the Stadium and offers by former owners to purchase the Kassam Stadium,
including above value offers, were rejected by the Stadium Company.

The agent has advised that the Stadium Company has made it clear both to OUFC
and via a recent public statement that their long-term plans are to re-develop the
stadium and wider stadium site. All previous negotiations by the club to lease the
stadium for the long term or purchase the stadium have failed.

The Adopted Oxford Local Plan 2036 includes a policy (SP14) that the football
stadium should remain “unless it has been replaced elsewhere or in the proximity of
Oxford”. Oxford City Council have confirmed that their intention is for this policy to
also be in their forthcoming Local Plan. However, Officers have also been advised
that the City Council has no intention to use its CPO powers to acquire the Kassam
Stadium.

The submitted planning statement and addendum material states that the reality is
that after June 2028, OUFC will have no legal right to use or occupy the Kassam
Stadium, there is no right of renewal in the licence, and there is no statutory security
of tenure. The assertions in respect of the security of tenure have been scrutinised by
the Council’s Legal Property team and the information provided has been confirmed
as agreed.

Officers acknowledge the arguments put forward by OUFC in respect of the
leasel/licence arrangements and the inability to remain at the Kassam Stadium in the
long term. This is compounded by the significant capital expenditure that would be
required to keep the existing stadium useable (if permitted by the landowner)
combined with the clear prospect of the development of the Kassam Stadium site.

9.100. However, these factors must be weighed against the very clear harm to the

openness and detrimental visual impacts associated with a very significant structure
and associated land uses, within the Oxford Green Belt.

Financial sustainability of owning their (OUFC) own stadium

9.101. The Planning Statement and addendum material outlines that there will be benefits

to the club associated with the financial sustainability of owning their own stadium. It
is argued that a new site that is on a long lease to OUFC, that they are in control of,
gives them a secure future in a number of ways. Firstly, the club are currently limited
by the number of games that they can play at the Kassam Stadium, and moving to a
new stadium will mean that the women’s team can play at the same ground as the
men’s team which the club can generate revenue from. The club would also benefit
from the revenue of additional events and would also be able to improve their revenue
margins and save costs.

75
Page 83



9.102. It is also argued that the proposals would drive important new revenue streams for
the club, by including uses that are fundamental to the non-matchday business plan
to drive the required commercial revenues needed to fund the scheme, such as the
conferencing facility, hotel and commercial units.

9.103. The club has undertaken financial forecasting with its accounting advisors and they
contend that projected revenue streams are sufficient to ensure the financing costs of
the stadium can be managed appropriately by the club, which is backed by the club’s
shareholders. At Officers’ request, further financial information has been provided as
part of the material submitted in late June 2025. The information includes reference
to the accounts of the club which demonstrate a loss of £6,180,529 for the 2023
financial year, £4,126,628 for the 2022 financial year and £3,738,341 for the 2021
financial year. It is the club’s contention that having the vast majority or overall control
of a stadium and the ability to generate revenues is the only way the club can achieve
long term financial sustainability.

9.104. Officers have been provided with a confidential summary of the business case and
feasibility study which shows that in a normal, non-volatile year in the Championship,
the club is expected to generate an operational profit. This suggests sustainable
financial performance. However, Officers have not had sight of any detailed accounts
or business plans to show the substance behind these assumptions and therefore it
is considered that this aspect of the VSC is given little weight.

Lack of alternative sites

9.105. An alternative site assessment (ASA) has been undertaken, to ascertain if there are
any other sites available that could accommodate the club. The search area was
defined by criteria set out by the English Football League (EFL) for relocating clubs,
as OUFC are required to obtain approval from the EFL for any relocation.

9.106. The Planning Statement at para 9.52 states that the EFL have confirmed that the
main aspects to consider in the relocation are:

e The relationship between the locality with which by its name or otherwise the
Club is traditionally associated and that in which such Club proposes to
establish its ground (EFL Regulation 13.6.2); and

e If any proposed location would adversely affect such Club's Officials, players,
supporters, shareholders, sponsors and others having an interest in its
activities (EFL Regulation 13.6.3).

9.107. The Planning Statement at paras 9.53 and 9.54 states that:

The EFL have confirmed that if the Club proposed a site that was not within or within
close proximity to the City of Oxford, they would unlikely give consent for the move.
This would result in a position where the Club would have to be renamed, removed
from the league and would have to start again at the bottom of the football pyramid.
This would not be a viable option for the Club

Under the current regulations, the furthest a club has been provided consent by the
EFL to relocate its stadium was in the case of Bolton. The proposed new stadium was
approximately 7 miles from the old ground site and 5 to 6 miles from the city centre of
Bolton. Whilst the suitability of site from the EFL perspective is more to do with the
relationship and links to Oxford, a search radius of 7 miles from Oxford City Centre
was deemed appropriate in the context of the above as the starting point for the
search.

76
Page 84



9.108. The ASA has been undertaken in accordance with a list of criteria that were obtained
from the Brighton and Hove Albion appeal decision, in which a Planning Inquiry took
place solely on the approach to assessing alternative sites. These criteria are:

1. Is the site acquisition a realistic proposition?

2. Is the site large enough for the stadium and required parking/circulation?

3. Can a stadium be built without incurring unaffordable development costs?

4. Any overriding site specific planning issues?

5. Is the site accessible by sustainable modes of transport?

6. Can a stadium be built without any unacceptable environmental or visual impact?

9.109. Officers consider that in the absence of any specific planning policy or guidance in
relation to the assessment of alternative sites, this framework offers a logical and
robust set of parameters to establish whether there are any practical, realistic and
feasible alternatives to the current proposed application site.

9.110. The methodology of the ASA was as follows:
e 7 mile radius from Oxford City

¢ Minimum of 3.8 hectares (minimum size required in order to construct a UEFA
Category 4 Stadium, which includes the stadium itself and other essential
requirements including external concourse, outside broadcast area and
access and parking requirements)

e Highly accessible and 2km maximum distance from a major sustainable
transport node

¢ Landowner willingness to dispose of the land
9.111. The ASA was conducted in a phased manner as follows:

e Stage 1 - Initial Savills Assessment — this assessment provided an initial
review of sites within the area of search defined by the EFL Requirements.
This assessed a total of 64 sites (42 non-allocated and 22 allocated sites) and
considered the site area, landowner intention, accessibility, viability and any
key constraints. Where sites were considered to be worthy of further
investigation, this was identified.

¢ An initial planning appraisal was then undertaken for all 64 sites, which
reviewed the planning policy context and planning history of each site.

o Stage 2 - Where specific constraints were identified, further assessment work
was undertaken for the 42 non-allocated sites by specialist consultants in
respect of these issues, namely landscape and visual impact, heritage impact
and flood risk. The 22 allocated sites did not form part of the Stage 2
assessment, on the basis that they are allocated for alternative purposes, in
order to meet an identified need.

e Stage 3 - Finally, the assessment work was pulled together with a conclusion
made for the 42 sites, in respect of the six questions identified above. An

77
Page 85



overall conclusion as to the suitability and availability of each site was also
made which also includes a comparison to the application site.

O

Figure 5: Study area plan and sites considered by Savills and Ridge (Fabrik 2023)

9.112. The application site lies within the northern extent of assessment parcel 4 in the

ASA. The Stage 1 ASA conclusion for this parcel is as follows:

The site is located within the Oxford Green Belt to the north of the City and forms part
of the Green Belt separating Oxford and Kidlington. It is the least strongly performing
parcel relevant to this LVASA as identified by the Oxford GBS (2015). Although
subsequent housing allocations within GB parcel K15 and the immediate
surroundings have added pressure to the role of the Green Belt between Oxford and
Kidlington, the woodland within the site is designated under the NERC Act S41 as
Priority Habitat alongside the woodland within Stratfield Brake to the west of Frieze

78
Page 86




Way. Stratfield Brake playing fields provide a recreational; aspect to the landscape.
The site is not within a landscape character area identified as high value. The site is
visually well enclosed and is not currently publicly accessible. It makes a contribution
to the openness of the Green Belt in combination with the surrounding landscape.

9.113. The Stage 2 ASA concludes that:

“Siting the proposed development within either Site 4 or Site 28 is considered by this
LVASA Stage 2 assessment to potentially be at odds with the purposes of the Green
Belt between Oxford and Kidlington. Despite the Cherwell District Green Belt Study
considering sites for residential development, the identified development scenarios
are still considered to be relevant to the potential stadium development. The issues
relevant to the Green Belt are considered to arise from a loss of openness due to the
massing and scale of a stadium proposal for Sites 4 and 28. Additionally for Site 4,
there would be a reduced sense of openness between Oxford and Kidlington and a
potential impact on the Priority Habitat woodland within the Site. Stratfield Brake
Sports Ground to the west of the Site and the emerging proposals for sports pitches
to the east of the Site within the residential allocation are creating an emerging sport
and recreation character to the local landscape. Site 4 is considered to present a key
opportunity for the stadium development to further enhance this character and
become a focal point of a new north Oxford sports hub.”

9.114. In respect of Site 4, the Stage 3 assessment concludes that “Whilst the site is within
the Green Belt, and Very Special Circumstances would need to be demonstrated, this
is the only real planning constraint. The site is within walking distance (2km) of a major
sustainable transport mode and is available for development. Further assessment
undertaken in relation to landscape has highlighted that there is potential for
development in the northern parcel (the Triangle). The southern parcel is unsuitable
from a landscape perspective”.

9.115. In respect of comments specifically on the ASA, Officers requested further
information in letters dated 11th September 2024 and 11th November 2024. This
includes comments made by Aspect on behalf of the Council specifically in respect of
the Landscape and Visual Alternative Sites Assessment and Addendum (Appendix 5
and 6 of the Main ASA) and additional comments made by other stakeholders and
the public in respect of these matters.

9.116. As part of the request for further information in September 2024, five sites (sites 2,
3, 8, 12 and 32) were required to be re-reviewed and full justification provided as to
why there were not considered suitable alternative locations.

9.117. Taking each site in turn;

e Site 2 (Oxford City Sports Park) — The site is owned by Oxford City and is
currently in active use by the applicants as a training facility. Oxford United is
responsible for the operation of the Sports Park and has rights as a tenant
only for the remainder of the agreements until 2043. It is understood that the
agreements do not allow nor permit the site to be used for the development of
a professional sports stadium.

e Site 3 (Land to the north of Horspath Road) — This is not available for
development, as confirmed by a letter from the current user (Oxford
Harlequins RFC) and a number of other sports clubs, which would all need to
be relocated.

e Site 8 (Land south of Thornhill Park and Ride) — The site is currently being
promoted by Prologis for alternative uses and is therefore not available.

79
Page 87



Site 12 (Land to the east of Heyford Hill Lane) — The site is currently being
promoted for residential development and is therefore unavailable.

Site 32 (Land at Oxford Airport) — The site is within close proximity of a
safeguarded aerodrome — the height of the development would preclude
development on this site, as confirmed by Oxford Airport.

9.118. Further information as to the availability of some sites was also requested (sites 27
— Kassam Stadium, 28 — land north of Oxford Parkway, 29 — land near to Marston and
30 — land near to Pear Tree Park and Ride).

Site 27 (Kassam Stadium) — the availability of the Kassam Stadium is detailed
in the ‘Need to relocate from the Kassam Stadium’ section above. In essence,
post 30 June 2026, OUFC will have no legal right to use or occupy the Kassam
Stadium and post 14 October 2026 there will be no obligation for the main use
of the land to be for football (by any club). Whilst it is currently available, it
does not provide the necessary security of tenure required by EFL (as detailed
in the ‘EFL Requirements’ section below).

Site 28 (Land north of Oxford Parkway) - The site contains land which is
safeguarded for East West Rail, as identified by Safeguarding Direction for
East West Rail issued by the Secretary of State. The design proposals for
Oxford Parkway Station (Appendix 7 of ASA Addendum) being consulted on
extend considerably into Site 28, limiting the land available for development.
The land is within the Green Belt. An approach to acquire the land has been
refused by the landowners.

Site 29 (Land near to Marston) - The planning application P22/S4618/0O
identifies the eastern area of Site 29 for ‘A40 improvements to facilitate
access’ and a ‘landscaped gateway’. This end of the Bayswater Brook
development is proposed for significant open space/a linear park and the
development of a stadium will not fit with this ambition. The site is also partially
covered by Flood Zone, would have significant landscape and visual effects
and lies within the Green Belt.

Site 30 (Land near to Pear Tree Park and Ride) — The landowner has
confirmed that the site is being promoted for alternative uses and is therefore
not available. Further evidence was provided by the landowner (Merton
College) in a letter dated 19 December 2024 stating “I can confirm that the
College are currently promoting the site primarily for a mixed-use scheme and
it is envisaged that it would be partly commercial life sciences and partly
residential use. As such a football stadium development would not fit within
our strategy”.

9.119. The applicant’'s Landscape Consultants (Fabrik) also provided a Landscape and
Visual Alternative Site Assessment (LVASA), which considered the Green Belt,
landscape and visual matters in relation to eleven additional sites (2, 3, 5, 9, 10, 11,
21, 22, 23, 29 and 32).

9.120. The ASA and LVASA addendum provided by the applicants in March 2025 sought
to address the comments made by Aspect (Landscape Consultants on behalf of the
Cherwell District Council) and the transparency of the aforementioned site’s
availability. An updated conclusion in respect of all sites assessed was provided and
reviewed by Aspect.

9.121. In relation to the ASA March 2025 Addendum, the stage 3 conclusion in relation to
site 4 remains as follows:

80
Page 88



Whilst the site is within the Green Belt, and Very Special Circumstances would need
to be demonstrated, this is the only real planning constraint. The site is within walking
distance (2km) of a major sustainable transport mode and is available for
development. Further assessment undertaken in relation to landscape has highlighted
that there is potential for development in the northern parcel (the Triangle). The
southern parcel is unsuitable from a landscape perspective.

9.122. The Council’s consultants (Aspect) have reviewed the updated ASA and consider
that the conclusions provided within the staged assessments are well reasoned in
relation to landscape and visual matters.

9.123. Aspect considers that the existing Kassam stadium site (Site 27) is preferable in
landscape and visual terms given there is a precedent for such development on the
site. However, if this site is excluded, based upon the need for a new location for
OUFC, of the alternative sites, Site 30 (land near to Pear Tree Park and Ride) appears
to be the most preferable in landscape and visual terms given that it appears generally
well contained both physically and visually. This site has also been released from the
Green Belt. Arguably, a stadium development on this site would have the least impact
in landscape and visual terms, noting that such development of this size and scale
would likely result in some lasting significant landscape and visual effects on any
greenfield parcel of land and its localised setting. The remaining sites considered
likely to have the potential to accommodate the development as per the Stage 2
assessment, including the application site (Site 4), would likely result in some harm to
the Green Belt as stated within the LVASA and LVASA Addendum. It is considered
that Site 4 would likely be the next preferred option behind Site 30 when considering
the evidence presented.

9.124. Several representations have questioned the site search area, in that the initial
search area (~6.07ha) conducted by Savills in 2022 is at odds with the site area
subsequently used (3.8ha). Concern has been expressed that this may have excluded
many other potentially suitable sites, on the basis they were deemed to fall below the
6.07ha requirement, which then fell to 3.8ha in the 2023 ASA.

9.125. The site area is explained within the November 2023 Savills report (Appendix 1 of
the ASA), which confirms that the initial site search exercise was based on a brief
from OUFC which was broadly based on the Club’s existing facilities at Kassam
Stadium, and an aspiration for the new Stadium to be located in an accessible
location. Additional advice was later sought from the Club’s design team and in order
to ensure a more robust assessment, the site selection criteria were expanded. Savills
initial site search exercise was amended to reflect the expansion of the site selection
criteria.

9.126. In any case, the initial 2022 report undertaken by Savills included a number of sites
which fell below the 15 acre (6.07ha) threshold identified, for example Sandy Lane
Sports Ground (5.49ha), Land to the east of Heyford Hill Lane (5.46ha), Grandpoint
Recreational Outdoor Basketball Court (4.84ha), Seacourt Park and Ride
(2.72ha), and Greyhound Stadium (3.48 ha). As such, smaller sites have not been
excluded from the assessment. The 2022 assessment prepared by Savills concluded
that the aforementioned sites were too small in line with the criteria at the
time. However, in the 2023 submitted report, those above 3.8ha were no longer
identified as too small by Savills, and therefore more sites were identified as suitable
by Savills. Either way, all of the sites formed part of the wider assessment undertaken
in Stages 1, 2 and 3 of the ASA. In essence, it broadened the assessment and
therefore robustness of the ASA.

Conclusion in respect of ASA

81
Page 89



9.127. The applicant has carried out an extensive site search across the surrounding area
to identify whether sequentially preferable sites were available, in accordance with a
logical and robust set of parameters. This process examined and evaluated 42 sites
against a range of relevant criteria and the application site (site 4) was identified as
the most suitable. The ASA effectively demonstrates that there are no suitable sites
available that could deliver the applicant’s requirements.

9.128. Where the staged assessment identifies that ‘landowner intentions are unknown’,
this has not been the single overriding factor to rule out the site.

9.129. Officers have taken a proportionate approach to the assessment of the ASA,
requiring further justification to be provided on sites where it was considered they
could represent a realistic alternative (i.e. there were no other overriding planning
constraints to prevent development such as flood zone 3, significant impact to
heritage assets or land availability etc).

9.130. In landscape and visual terms, it is considered that the application site would likely
be the next preferred option behind Site 30 when considering the evidence presented.

9.131. Officers are therefore satisfied that the ASA demonstrates that there are no other
feasible, practical and realistic alternatives to accommodate a proposed stadium
development within the area of search identified through discussions with the EFL.
This aspect of the VSC should therefore be given substantial weight.

The importance of keeping OUFC in the local area

9.132. The applicant’s Planning Statement at para 9.62 asserts that there are substantial
social and community benefits associated with retaining OUFC Through the Club’s
charity (OUitC), the Club runs various programmes focused on participation, health
and wellbeing, social inclusion, education and employability . It goes on at para 9.68
to state that the ‘proposed development will enable the continuing expansion of the
community programme at ‘their own home’ but significantly, losing the Club would
result in this stopping’.

9.133. The 2022-24 EFL national report ‘Measuring the Impact of EFL Clubs in the
Community’ measured the scale of EFL Clubs’ investments and activities in
communities across England and Wales and the social value of impacts Clubs are
delivering for individuals, communities and broader society. It shows that if EFL Clubs
did not exist, the impact on communities across England and Wales would be
profound.

9.134. The report outlines that economically, millions of pounds of expenditure and tens of
thousands of jobs would disappear from communities often already struggling, while
essential services and support would be removed from the more than one million
people who engage with EFL services directly.

9.135. The report concludes by stating, “Overall, the scale, significance and importance of
EFL in communities across the country is vast. In 2023/24, EFL Clubs delivered
unprecedented economic impacts for their communities while simultaneously
generating more revenue and resources for community investments, delivering more
community support, engaging more participants, delivering more positive impacts and
creating more social value. This underlines the vital importance of the multiple roles
Clubs play in their communities and their collective desire and ability to provide
support wherever it is needed.

9.136. It is considered that this is an important component of the VSC argument, and that
there are social and community benefits associated with retaining the club in

82
Page 90



Oxfordshire. Retaining the club in the local area and in the absence of alternative,
achievable sites, will arguably secure the sense of identity for the community,
alongside the economic benefits that align with this. It is considered that this aspect
of the VSC be given substantial weight.

Benefits for fans

9.137. At para 9.73, the Planning Statement outlines the inclusive design features of the
proposed stadium, including a sensory room, multi- faith spaces, wheelchair stands
and changing rooms designed to meet the standards required for women’s and youth
games. The improvements to accessibility and inclusivity for fans are a positive aspect
of the VSC and should be given limited weight.

Benefits for women’s football/the club

9.138. The Club are currently limited by the number of games they can play at the Kassam
Stadium, so moving to a new stadium means the women’s team can play at the same
ground as the men’s team. The women'’s league and cup fixtures are also to be played
in the proposed stadium.

9.139. Whilst it is acknowledged that these benefits could be achieved at a new ground
elsewhere in Oxfordshire, the demonstrable lack of alternative sites shows that they
can only reasonably be achieved by the proposed development.

9.140. This aspect of the proposal aligns with Government in its independent report into
the future of women's football called ‘Raising the Bar - Reframing the Opportunity in
Women's Football’ to play more women’s matches in main stadia to grow attendance
and exposure. It also aligns with para 98 of the NPPF, which provides: ‘to provide the
social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning
policies and decisions should: a) plan positively for the provision and use of shared
spaces, community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues,
open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local
services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments’.
It is considered that this aspect of the VSC should be given moderate weight.

Other community benefits including socio-economic benefits
9.141. The Planning Statement lists the community benefits at para 9.82 as follows:

o Boosts to local businesses from an increase in visitors to shops, bars and
cafes.

¢ New jobs at the stadium which are not limited to match days but year-round at
the hotel and other uses, supporting local resident employment and training
opportunities.

e Year-round access to the stadium’s inclusive community facilities which can
be used by local sports groups and the wider community including a health
and wellbeing centre and a gym and fitness centre, restaurant, and flexible
community meeting spaces for work, education and leisure.

e Improving safe cycling and walking by improving connectivity for existing
residents between Kidlington and the stadium and surrounding developments.
The proposed development will lead to an increase in accessible open space
and public realm in the local area and aims to connect the stadium with the
wider countryside, woodlands, canal walks and nearby towns. As well as more

83
Page 91



bus services serving Kidlington and the stadium plus improved pedestrian
access to Oxford Parkway station.

9.142. In addition, the Economic Benefits statement that accompanied the planning
application summarises the economic benefits as follows:

Construction Impacts

£113 million investment in construction
420 direct construction jobs supported on and off-site (210 per annum)
£17.8 million GVA impact

Provision of apprenticeships as well as local recruitment and employment
support

Operational and Fiscal Impacts

320 direct full time equivalent jobs supported and retained (of which 285 are
net jobs)

160 indirect and induced full time equivalent jobs supported and retained

£28.7m gross value added per annum direct and indirect impact (including
retained)

£5.8 million per annum off site football supporter spending
95 full time equivalent jobs supported by off-site football supporter spending
£280k per annum in business rates revenue

And section 106 contributions (to be agreed)

9.143. The report also details how OUFC will work in partnership with local organisations
to deliver:

Local resident employment and training opportunities
Local business supply chain opportunities
Improvements to local community sports facilities
Prioritising accessibility and active travel options

Improvements in local well-being through Oxford United in the Community
(OUitC)

9.144. The Planning Statement at para 2.13 explains that OUitC is an independent charity
delivering various OUFC community programmes. The charity’s most recent accounts
(2021) show a turnover of over £340,000, which funds its seven staff, plus fifteen part-
time coaches, enabling work based at the Club’s training ground and at partner sites
across Oxfordshire. OUitC engages with over 10,000 people per year on non-
matchdays, with over 3,000 participating directly in its programmes.

84
Page 92



9.145. OUitC’s new strategy “Oxfordshire — A Community United” includes a goal to be
operationally present in ten towns across Oxfordshire as well as Oxford. Work is
ongoing to identify a further six town spokes, which will include Kidlington.

9.146. The Economic Benefits Statement also sets out the Applicant’'s commitments in
relation to improvements to local community sports facilities. The report sets out that
OUFC under the ‘Oxford United Community Pledge’ will:

Provide community facilities within the stadium that will include flexible
community spaces. These could be used, for example, for arts, drama, adult
education, work and meetings. Community facilities could be made available
for use by local residents on a preferential basis.

Improve and maintain the sports playing pitches at Stratfield Brake at our cost
(thereby freeing up parish funds for other purposes). The Stratfield Brake site,
near Kidlington, is home to a number of community sports teams including
Kidlington Cricket Club, the Gosford All Blacks rugby team and youth football
sides.

Make the stadium and community facilities accessible to a wide range of
groups. The stadium will be the home of the OUFC women’s team. The
community finals will also be held at the stadium.

Ensure that the Training Ground will remain at Horspath Road. Many of
OUFCs community programmes will continue to be run from there, especially
those for east Oxford.

Further develop OUFCs partnerships with other key organisations within the
village. This will help to develop plans and help source potential funding for a
pitch and sports facilities strategy for future generations.

9.147. Inrespect of the second bullet point above, Officers do not consider that the payment
of contribution to maintain Stratfield Brake is compliant with regulation 122 of the
Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010. It is at the applicant’s discretion if they
wish to give a contribution to the Parish Council, however, this is not something the
LPA can request as a CIL compliant contribution. For this reason, it is not a matter
which can be given any weight in the planning balance and members should not have
regard to it in their decision.

9.148. The applicants have provided a further supplementary statement (May 2025)
outlining more specific commitments to the local community. These include:

Stadium and pitch to host Oxfordshire FA annual county finals day (no use will
be possible during the season to protect the playing surface)

150 hours per annum of free of rental charge use of the Sensory Room for
schools, registered charities and community groups (subject to advance
booking)

150 hours per annum of free of rental charge use of Executive Box for schools,
registered charities and community groups

Discounted use of conference & events spaces for schools, registered
charities and community groups

85
Page 93



e Oxford United and Oxford United in the Community will host/deliver quarterly
community events (examples include mental health and wellbeing sessions,
CV writing classes, nutrition workshops, fitness classes, etc.)

¢ Media gantry, media suite and media theatre have been designed to allow for
delivery of education and training classes (discussions to take place with
Oxford Brookes University)

9.149. The supplementary statement concludes by stating without a new stadium, it is likely
OUFC will cease to exist and consequently, OUitC would lose their status with the
EFL and Premier League and no longer have access to funding to deliver
programmes across Oxfordshire.

9.150. The applicants have agreed to enshrine the principles of these community uses in a
S106 legal agreement, which would provide measures to enforce the various
commitments by OUFC.

9.151. In light of the above, the community and socio-economic benefits should be given
substantial weight in the VSC case presented.

Sustainable design and operational benefits

9.152. The proposed development aims to achieve at least BREEAM ‘very good’, which
includes measures such as solar PV panels, air source heat pumps and zero plastic
with minimal waste and packaging.

9.153. Whilst Bioregional have not commented on the applicant’s response to their most
recent formal comments, it is considered that these aspects of sustainable design are
positive aspects of the scheme which carry moderate weight given the contribution
the measures proposed would make to national/ local climate objectives and
achieving policy compliance.

Sustainable transport benefits

9.154. The Club has an aim that 90% of fans will travel to the Stadium by sustainable
modes of travel. The Transport Strategy submitted with the application is discussed
in the Transport and Highways section of the report below.

9.155. The encouragement for modal shift away from private car use is a positive aspect
of the proposal, but this will need to be demonstrated through travel plan monitoring
and management once operational. However, the evidence presented demonstrates
a likely reduction in car use, with contributions towards improved public transport
infrastructure, support for low carbon transport thorough the provision of cycle parking
and EV charging points. These gains carry moderate to substantial weight in the
overall VSC balance.

Biodiversity enhancement measures

9.156. The proposal seeks to achieve a minimum of 20% Biodiversity Net Gain, exceeding
the statutory minimum and creating high value habitats secured through a 30 year
management plan, which ordinarily would attract significant weight in the planning
balance. However, the proposal would result in a net loss on the site itself, which
(slightly undermines the benefit of exceeding the minimum 10% threshold.
Nevertheless, the delivery of 20% BNG exceeds national and local policy and carries
moderate weight in the VSC planning. The level of 20% would be secured via the
required s106 for the site.

86
Page 94



Access to the Green Belt

9.157. The Planning Statement at para 9.98 states that the siting of the stadium in the south
of the site combined with the proposed blue and green infrastructure provides
opportunities to improve public access to the Green Belt. It goes on to state that the
proposed connections across Frieze Way and Oxford Road generates a stronger
connection to the wider countryside either side of the development, linking existing
and committed residential development, including community sports provision as part
of the PR sites.

9.158. Whilst these aspects will secure and improve access to land within the Green Belt
and wider areas, it is not a requirement of this proposal insofar as it is not a
development involving housing and therefore the Golden Rules under para 156 c) do
not apply. This aspect carries limited weight in the overall VSC balance.

Precedent appeal decisions

9.159. The Planning statement cites three appeal decisions that demonstrate the approach
taken by the Secretary of State and Planning Inspectorate in relation to some other
clubs’ proposals for new stadia.

9.160. The first is Newcastle Falcons?, where planning permission was granted by the then
Secretary of State for Transport for a new sports stadium and rugby academy in the
Green Belt for Newcastle Falcons Rugby Club and Northumbria University.

9.161. The Planning Inspector identified the key issues as being the impact of the proposal
on the green belt, the amenity of nearby residents and the capacity of the surrounding
road network. It was concluded that this was the only site available, a fact that was
critically important in the context of the very special circumstances issue. There was
a strong need case for the proposal, both from the viewpoint of the partners in the
scheme and the economic and sporting health of the region. The inspector concluded
that there were strong countervailing planning benefits which comprehensively
outweighed any harm that had been identified, and the Secretary of State concurred.

9.162. The key difference between this proposal and the Newcastle site was that a key
component of the proposal concerned the reconfiguration and expansion of existing
open playing fields and as such, much of the application site would retain an open,
recreational character. The new development was largely confined to an area covered
by an existing stadium, so some 89% of the site remained open pitches and club
grounds. Furthermore, intervisibility between the development and nearby settlement
was not possible due to dense woodland surrounding it.

9.163. The second case is that of Brighton and Hove Albion Football Club®. The very
significant difference between this case and the current proposal is that the site was
not within the Green Belt, albeit that it provided a useful set of criteria for assessment
of alternative sites.

9.164. The third case cited is that of Southend United*, where the then Secretary of State
was minded to grant planning permission for a replacement football club for Southend
United together with a wide range of other facilities after concluding that the new
stadium was of high quality and the retail development was necessary to enable the
development to proceed. The proposal involved a 22,000 seater football stadium

2 Appeal Reference: GONE/P/M4510/220/01/2 (March 2002)

3 APP/QI445N/02/1097287, APP/PI425/V/02/1099113, APP/QI445/V/03/1124634 and
APP/PI425/\V//03/1124635 (July 2007)

4 D1590/V/07/1201353 and B1550/V/07/12301356 (June 2008)

Page 95

87



including a 114 bedroom hotel, conference floorspace, bars and food and drink
facilities together with 16,400m? of retail floorspace, a health club and 67 flats.

9.165. A key difference between this and the current proposal is that only a very small
proportion of the site lay within the Green Belt (some 12%) and following the changes
made by the Local Plan at the time, it was not intended that this piece of land should
remain as Green Belt being designated as a ‘Priority Urban Area’ (PUA). The principle
of development on this piece of land was therefore materially different, as the Borough
Council had accepted that the principle of development on this land, by virtue of its
allocation as a PUA, could be acceptable.

9.166. The analysis above indicates the importance of assessing each case on its particular
merits. There is clearly an important balancing exercise which applies entirely on a
project specific basis.

English Football League (EFL) Requirements

9.167. The EFL have provided clarification in relation to their Regulations and the
requirement for football clubs to have minimum security of tenure.

9.168. In its recently published EFL Regulations for 2025/26, Regulation 13.8 requires that
from the commencement of the 2025/26 season, Clubs are required to demonstrate
security of tenure for at least 10 years, from the start of each football season. Where
any Club allows a lease to expire without having been renewed or replaced then the
EFL may propose a resolution to expel the Club from membership of the League.

9.169. It goes on to state that the EFL have the power to disapply the application of the
above new Regulation if it can be demonstrated that:

a) A Club has plans to relocate to another ground;
b) The other ground meets with the approval of the League; and

¢) The Club can demonstrate that it will relocate to the new ground prior to the
expiry of the contracted period of occupation at its current ground.

9.170. The agent has confirmed that the landowners of the proposed site (Oxfordshire
County Council) have offered a 250 year lease (subject to planning permission). The
lease option provides for full and adequate operation of the stadium. The club will be
in full control of the operation of the stadium without the financial restrictions that they
currently experience.

9.171. This factor, combined with the imminent change to the EFL’s Regulations, adds
significant weight to the argument for relocation, particularly in light of the inability to
negotiate a lease extension at the Kassam Stadium for the required 10 years.

Conclusion
9.172. Whether very special circumstances exist to justify this inappropriate development
in the Green Belt are considered at the end of the report when all the key issues have

been assessed and determined and it has been identified whether there is any other
harm, as a result of the proposed development.

Heritage

Legislative and policy context

88
Page 96



9.173. Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
(as amended) states that in carrying out its functions as the Local Planning Authority
in respect of development in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

9.174. Section 66 of the same Act states that: in considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority ... shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which
it possesses. Therefore significant weight must be given to these matters in the
assessment of this planning application.

9.175. Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings are designated heritage assets, and
paragraph 212 of the NPPF states that: when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should
be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater
the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Policy
ESD15 of the CLP 2015 echoes this policy.

9.176. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further advice and expands on the
guidance and policy outlined in the NPPF. The value of heritage assets and its
importance in decision taking is explored in Paragraph 009 of the PPG which states
that heritage assets may be affected by direct physical change or by change in their
setting. Being able to properly assess the nature, extent and value of a heritage asset,
and the contribution of its setting, is very important to understanding the potential
impact and acceptability of development proposals.

Assessment

9.177. There are no designated heritage assets within the application site. There is a Grade
Il listed farmhouse (Stratfield Farmhouse) located ~300m to the north west of the site,
Grade |l listed Frieze Farm, located ~500m to the south west of the site and the Oxford
Canal Conservation Area which follows the canal and is located ~600m to the west of
the site.

9.178. The Grade II* listed St Friedeswides Farmhouse is located ~950m south east of the
site, which is associated with a Grade Il listed wall ~10m to its northeast.

9.179. The Grade Il Listed Oxford Canal Kidlington Green Lock is located ~850m north-
west of the site.

9.180. The Archaeological Desk Based Assessment (ADBA) identifies that there is the
potential for archaeological features located within the site to be disturbed or removed
during construction groundworks, which are potential non-designated heritage assets.
These comprise: ridge and furrow earthworks, historic landscape character and
potential buried archaeological remains.

9.181. Ridge and furrow earthworks occur in the southern part of the site. They comprise a
heritage asset of Low value. The Historic Landscape Character of the site is defined
as ‘reorganised enclosure’. The historic landscape type occurs widely across the local
area, and accounts for over 25% of Oxfordshire as a county.

9.182. There is the potential for currently unrecorded archaeological remains to occur
within the site. Specifically, there is the potential for prehistoric and Romano-British
remains to occur, similar to those recorded elsewhere within the Study Area (as set
out in the ADBA).

89
Page 97



9.183. The closest heritage asset to the site is Stratfield Farmhouse (Grade II). This building
is located on the southern edge of Kidlington and the existing notable road network
separates it from the application site. Furthermore, Stratfield Farm sits within an
existing allocated site for housing development. Once implemented, the built form
would surround the Listed Building changing its immediate setting and reducing the
open nature of the space between Stratfield Farm and the proposed stadium site. As
a result of this situation, it is ultimately considered that the stadium development will
have little or no effect on how Stratfield farmhouse is experienced in its setting. This
has been taken into consideration when assessing the potential impact on Stratfield
Farmhouse.

9.184. Overall it is considered that although the proposal will result in a notable change to
the wider landscape it will not result in further harm to the significance of Stratfield
Farmhouse or alter how it is appreciated. The other heritage assets identified within
the vicinity are two Listed Buildings, Frieze Farm (Grade Il) and St Frideswides Farm
(Grade II*) and the Oxford Canal Conservation Area. These heritage assets are all
also located some distance from the site and have varying forms of existing or
allocated development between them and the proposed development resulting in no
harm to significance.

9.185. The County Archaeologist has noted that the submitted ADBA concludes that if
further Mesolithic remains are recorded on the site they could be of regional
significance. If granted permission, the development of a stadium is likely to have
extensive impacts on any surviving below ground remains which are designated
heritage assets. Whilst this would be a harmful impact, a staged programme of
archaeological investigation should be implemented to be sought via a planning
condition and this would therefore result in less than substantial harm. For this reason
the OCC Archaeologist raises no objections. The additional investigation would
enable the investigation, recording, analysis and archiving of heritage assets before
they are lost and to advance the understanding of the heritage assets in their wider
context through publication and dissemination of the evidence. Nevertheless, the less
than substantial harm identified needs to be weight against the public benefits of the
proposal.

Conclusion

9.186. A large development of this kind will undoubtedly have a visual impact within the
landscape and there will inevitably be wider landscape implications in views both
close to the site and from the wider countryside. This does not however necessarily
equate to heritage harm or more specifically mean there is harm to the significance of
the heritage assets as a result of development within their setting. The suggested
conditions would address and safeguard any potential below ground remains.

9.187. The NPPF requires (paragraph 215) that where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a heritage asset (in this case below
ground archaeology), this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. This balance
will be undertaken in the overall planning balance later in this report.

Trees and Ecology

Legislative context

9.188. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 consolidate the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 with subsequent
amendments. The Regulations transpose European Council Directive 92/43/EEC, on
the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (EC Habitats

90
Page 98



Directive), into national law. They also transpose elements of the EU Wild Birds
Directive in England and Wales. The Regulations provide for the designation and
protection of 'European sites', the protection of 'European protected species', and the
adaptation of planning and other controls for the protection of European Sites.

9.189. Under the Regulations, competent authorities i.e. any Minister, government
department, public body, or person holding public office, have a general duty, in the
exercise of any of their functions, to have regard to the EC Habitats Directive and Wild
Birds Directive.

9.190. The Regulations provide for the control of potentially damaging operations, whereby
consent from the country agency may only be granted once it has been shown through
appropriate assessment that the proposed operation will not adversely affect the
integrity of the site. In instances where damage could occur, the appropriate Minister
may, if necessary, make special nature conservation orders, prohibiting any person
from carrying out the operation. However, an operation may proceed where it is or
forms part of a plan or project with no alternative solutions, which must be carried out
for reasons of overriding public interest.

9.191. The Regulations make it an offence (subject to exceptions) to deliberately capture,
kill, disturb, or trade in the animals listed in Schedule 2, or pick, collect, cut, uproot,
destroy, or trade in the plants listed in Schedule 4. However, these actions can be
made lawful through the granting of licenses by the appropriate authorities by meeting
the requirements of the 3 strict legal derogation tests:

1) Is the development needed to preserve public health or public safety or other
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the
environment?

2) That there is no satisfactory alternative.

3) That the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in
their natural range.

9.192. The Regulations require competent authorities to consider or review planning
permission, applied for or granted, affecting a European site, and, subject to certain
exceptions, restrict or revoke permission where the integrity of the site would be
adversely affected. Equivalent consideration and review provisions are made with
respects to highways and roads, electricity, pipe-lines, transport and works, and
environmental controls (including discharge consents under water pollution
legislation).

9.193. Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule
14 of the Environment Act 2021) established a legal requirement for Biodiversity Net
Gain (BNG) in England, mandating that all new developments, except for a few
exemptions, must deliver at least a 10% net gain in biodiversity. This requirement
applies to all major planning applications received from 12 February 2024 and all
small sites from 2 April 2024.

Policy Context

9.194. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst others): a)
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value
and soils; and d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity,

91
Page 99


https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&sca_esv=c854581b49ad8972&rlz=1C1GCEA_enGB1031GB1031&cs=0&q=Biodiversity+Net+Gain&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwihu9uKiOyNAxVnW0EAHRNTHlwQxccNegQIAhAB&mstk=AUtExfDESC1340feDOWgejjhVc8XYC4yIux7fYRIhw_7PD17ESMCFsuPwMsD2kCbb2vnQLTAeou9iA61L1_T-Kkn1FxgDJwJmO1AssNv5Rsf011iu8dGl2hzwcAzizc3sWHJMEM&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&sca_esv=c854581b49ad8972&rlz=1C1GCEA_enGB1031GB1031&cs=0&q=Biodiversity+Net+Gain&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwihu9uKiOyNAxVnW0EAHRNTHlwQxccNegQIAhAB&mstk=AUtExfDESC1340feDOWgejjhVc8XYC4yIux7fYRIhw_7PD17ESMCFsuPwMsD2kCbb2vnQLTAeou9iA61L1_T-Kkn1FxgDJwJmO1AssNv5Rsf011iu8dGl2hzwcAzizc3sWHJMEM&csui=3

including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to
current and future pressures and incorporating features which support priority or
threatened species such as swifts, bats and hedgehogs.

9.195. Paragraph 193 states that when determining planning applications, local planning
authorities should apply the following principles: a) if significant harm to biodiversity
resulting from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; d) development
whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported;
while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around
developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable
net gains for biodiversity.

9.196. Paragraph 198 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should also ensure that
new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts
that could arise from the development. In doing so they should (amongst others) limit
the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark
landscapes and nature conservation.

9.197. Policy ESD9 is concerned with the protection of Oxford Meadows SAC and requires
developers to demonstrate that:

¢ During construction of the development there will be no adverse effects on the
water quality or quantity of any adjacent or nearby watercourse

e During operation of the development any run-off of water into adjacent or
surrounding watercourses will meet Environmental Quality Standards (and
where necessary oil interceptors, silt traps and Sustainable Drainage Systems
will be included)

e New development will not significantly alter groundwater flows and that the
hydrological regime of the Oxford Meadows SAC is maintained in terms of
water quantity and quality

e Run-off rates of surface water from the development will be maintained at
greenfield rates

9.198. Policy ESD10 of the CLP 2015 lists measures to ensure the protection and
enhancement of biodiversity and the natural environment, including a requirement for
relevant habitat and species surveys and associated reports to accompany planning
applications which may affect a site, habitat or species of known ecological value. The
protection of trees will be encouraged, with an aim to increase the number of trees in
the District.

9.199. Policy ESD11 of the CLP 2015 is concerned with Conservation Target Areas (CTAS)
and requires all development proposals within or adjacent CTAs to be accompanied
by a biodiversity survey and a report identifying constraints and opportunities for
biodiversity enhancement. Policy ESD13 relates to Local Landscape Protection and
Enhancement and states that opportunities will be sought to secure the enhancement
of the character and appearance of the landscape, particularly in urban fringe
locations, through the restoration, management or enhancement of existing
landscapes, features or habitats and where appropriate the creation of new ones,
including the planting of woodlands, trees and hedgerows. Policy ESD17 relates to
the maintenance and enhancement of the District’'s Green Infrastructure.

92
Page 100



9.200. The emerging CLP 2042 contains policies of relevance to nature conservation.
Policy CSD10 is concerned with the protection of Oxford Meadows SAC, whilst policy
CSD11 aims to protect and enhance biodiversity. Policy CSD12 sets out the
requirements for all new developments to achieve a minimum 10% biodiversity net
gain. Policy CSD13 is concerned with achieving the aims of the Conservation Target
Areas whilst Policy CSD14 is concerned with protecting areas with high value natural
capital assets, and Policy CSD15 is concerned with the protection and enhancement
of sites which form part of the green and blue infrastructure network.

9.201. These polices are both supported by national policy in the NPPF and also, under
Regulation 43 of the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, it is a
criminal offence to damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place, unless a
licence is in place.

9.202. The Planning Practice Guidance dated 2014 post-dates the previous Government
Circular on Biodiversity and Geological Conservation (ODPM Circular 06/2005),
although this remains extant. The PPG states that Local Planning Authorities should
only require ecological surveys where clearly justified, for example if there is a
reasonable likelihood of a protected species being present and affected by
development. Assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of
development proposed and the likely impact on biodiversity.

Assessment

9.203. There are no statutory designated sites of nature conservation value located within
or immediately adjacent to the site. The closest statutory site is the Oxford Meadows
SAC, which includes its constituent SSSIs Pixey and Yarnton Meads SSSI,
Wolvercote Meadows SSSI and Port Meadow with Wolvercote Common & Green
SSSI and is located approximately 1.9km southwest of the site at its closest point.
The SAC and constituent SSSIs are well separated from the site by major and minor
roads, a canal and large bodies of water, as well as open countryside.

9.204. The woodland located just off-site adjacent to the southern boundary, is listed on
the MAGIC database as a Priority Deciduous Woodland which also forms part of the
Stratfield Brake Cherwell District Wildlife Site (DWS). Whilst there have been
suggestions through the application process that the woodland to the south is
‘ancient’, Natural England confirmed on 24 July 2025 that they had withdrawn their
support for the woodland to be classified as ancient based on further evidence
submitted, as set out and discussed further below. It is noted it does not form part of
the Stratfield Brake Woodland Trust Reserve (which is also designated as part of the
DWS) located to the west of the Site (it is isolated from the Reserve by the Frieze
Way A4620 road). Stratfield Brake DWS is designated for its range of habitats
including woodland, grassland, ponds and scrub. Subject to the implementation of
safeguarding measures set out within the Environmental Assessment, such as the
submission and approval of detailed lighting strategies, the production of a bespoke
‘Orchid and Notable Plant Species Transplantation Strategy’ and retained habitats to
be fenced off and safeguarded from construction activities, it is not considered that
any potential impacts would arise as a result of the proposed development that would
adversely impact any European, statutory, or non-statutory designated sites.

9.205. With regard to water quality, the development will not have a direct or indirect impact
on Oxford Meadows SAC and its constituent SSSIs or any other statutory or non-
statutory designated sites of nature conservation interest. In relation to the impact of
surface water run-off from the Site, the EIA assesses the impact of the proposed
drainage strategy on receptors within a 1km radius and concludes that there will be
no change to the greenfield runoff rates from the Site, there will be a Negligible
significance of effect to the impact zone of the Pixey and Yarnton Meads SSSI, the

93
Page 101



wildlife area adjacent to the Oxford Canal and Stratfield Brake woodland during the
construction period.

9.206. In regard to pollution control on the Stratfield Brake DWS and the woodland to the
south of the site (also part of the DWS), it is not considered that the development will
have a direct or indirect impact (subject to mitigation) on this non-statutory site or any
other non-statutory designated sites of nature conservation interest.

9.207. The development would not affect the integrity of the Oxford Meadows SAC either
alone or in combination with other plans or projects and thus meets the test of the
Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended). Based on the mitigation measures
proposed it is also considered that the proposals would not result in any other adverse
effects on any other statutory or non-statutory site designated for its nature
conservation interest.

9.208. There are no anticipated significant effects from air quality impacts, recreational
impacts on any statutory or non-statutory designated sites arising from the
development.

9.209. A suite of Protected Species surveys has been undertaken throughout the Site
including badger, bats, breeding birds and reptiles. Further bird surveys were
undertaken throughout the 23/24 winter season and during late summer 2024. Further
survey work was undertaken in relation to Great Crested Newts and invertebrates.
Further consideration for invertebrates was carried out in response to consultee
concerns. Specifically, the results provided by an independent ecologist (a public
representation received during the consultation process, not the Council’'s Ecologist)
within their invertebrate survey report was further analysed utilising the Pantheon
database which is a tool developed collaboratively by Natural England and the Centre
for Ecology & Hydrology to serve as a robust platform for analysing invertebrate
sample data.

9.210. Bat activity surveys were carried out by the applicant’s ecologists across the
development site and these were found to be sufficient by the Council’'s Ecologist.
Trees on site that are proposed to be removed and trees within the southern woodland
have been checked for roosting features and none have been identified. A diverse
number of species of bats are using the site for foraging and commuting including
rarer species, including at the woodland edge. Queries have been raised as to
whether bat population sizes should have been assessed — the surveys undertaken
conclude that there is a large assemblage of bats including rarer species and how
these use the site. This element has been reflected in the assessment of the impacts
upon bats. Assessments of foraging and flight routes around the site have been
determined through activity surveys and the Council’'s Ecologist has not deemed it
necessary to assess bat flight paths off site.

9.211. A botanical survey was undertaken by the applicants in July 2024. The survey was
undertaken to address concerns regarding the importance of these habitats as there
were differences between the assessment carried out by Ecology Solutions and by
an independent ecologist, Dr Judith A Webb (a public representation received during
the consultation process, not the Council’'s Ecologist). In order to update survey
information and address concerns raised, further bat survey work was also carried
out. Specifically, additional static monitoring surveys were conducted between August
and October 2024 and a ground-level tree assessment (GLTA) was conducted on the
trees observed to have roosting potential in July 2024.

9.212. As part of the updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AlA), a total of 101
individual trees, 11 groups, three hedgerows, one coppice group and one woodland
were assessed within the survey schedule including 21 category ‘A’ trees and

94
Page 102



woodland (High quality), 44 category ‘B’ trees and groups, (Moderate quality), 37
category ‘C’ trees and groups (Low quality) and 15 ‘U’ category trees and groups in
accordance with British Standards 5837 (2012) ‘“Trees in relation to design, demolition
and construction’.

9.213. There are seven Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) on the Site boundary (five
Lombardy Poplar on the northern boundary and two English Oak on the eastern
boundary). Part of the woodland immediately south of the Site is identified as a NERC
Act S41 priority habitat and District Wildlife Site.

9.214. The proposal will result in the total loss of 8 trees, 5 groups, 2 hedgerows (outgrown)
and the partial loss of 3 groups including the loss of x2 trees subject to a Tree
Preservation Order. This includes 1 ‘A’ category tree (high), 2 ‘B’ category trees and
1 group (moderate), 2 C category trees, 7 groups and 2 hedgerows (low) and 3‘'U’
category trees.

9.215. In relation to the impact of the proposal on trees, the Council’s Arboricultural Officer
has stated that T85 and T86 are the Oak trees subject to a TPO. It is acknowledged
that these trees demonstrate a degree of physiological decline, and as such, category
B as awarded; the proposal to remove and replace these trees from an arboricultural
perspective is therefore acceptable. T87 (English Oak) is category A, and whilst an
unfortunate loss, it is acknowledged there is no means to retain this feature within the
current sites proposed layout. The AIA report correctly highlights the potential for
adverse impact to ill placed tree retention, making removal and replacement of these
three features acceptable.

9.216. Provision is made within the proposed development for soft landscaping including
direct replacement of the two trees subject to a Tree Preservation Order,
approximately 158 new trees, approximately 2000m? of scrub planting and 350 linear
metres of native hedges.

9.217. Retained trees located within the site and off-site can be adequately protected in
accordance with BS 5837 (2012). Preliminary Tree Protection is provided within the
Tree Removal & Arboricultural Impact Assessment Plan [TF1241-FAB-00-XX-DR-G-
8301] at Appendix C of the updated AlA. This plan identifies precautionary areas and
demonstrates that tree protection measures can be successfully implemented within
the proposed development.

Protected Species

9.218. As detailed above, the application is supported by a detailed protected species
survey which concluded that overall, the proposals will safeguard retained habitats of
greater ecological value and protect species present within and adjacent to the Site
during construction. Subject to conditions to require updated walkover surveys (and
further surveys if deemed necessary) should there be a delay of more than two years
from current surveys being undertaken, as well as a pre-commencement requirement
for a construction environmental management plan for ecology, then it is concluded
that the development could be undertaken without compromising protected species.

9.219. The impact of lighting and its impact upon protected species will be considered
below.

Woodland to the south — Stratfield Brake

9.220. Consideration has been given to whether the woodland to the south of the
application site is ‘Ancient Woodland'. The definition of Ancient Woodland, taken from
the NPPF is ‘an area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600AD. It

95
Page 103



includes semi natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites (PAWS)'.
The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2024 also defines
ancient woodland as ‘...an area in England which has been continuously wooded
since at least the end of the year 1600 AD’. On the 6" July 2025, Natural England
advised the LPA that based upon evidence presented to them and considering
together the historic map (1887) and ecological/ arboricultural/ archaeological field
evidence support that Stratfield Brake is ancient woodland. However, on the 24" July
2025, Natural England, in a reasoned decision, advised the LPA that as a result of
further review, including mapping dated from 1823 and 1831, that Natural England
withdrew their support for Stratfield Brake as ancient woodland because the available
evidence demonstrates that Stratfield Brake has not been continuously wooded since
1600 and therefore does not meet the definition of ancient woodland.

9.221. The Woodland Trust’'s website advises that Ancient Woodland status should be
based on an assessment of the available evidence. This includes checking the ancient
woodland inventory, examining old maps, documentary evidence and remnant man-
made features and assessing the species which occur on site. Indeed, the Woodland
Trust response to this planning application states that ‘Natural England is the only
body that has appropriate standing to pass judgement should be considered ancient
woodland or not’. Nevertheless, it is clear from the definition of what ancient woodland
consists of, that consideration of historical mapping is a key part of the consideration
of whether woodland is ancient.

9.222. Whilst further representations have been made to the LPA on this matter, officers
consider that Natural England’s conclusion in respect of Stratfield Brake is cogent,
supported by the evidence, and not undermined by the further representations from
others, and officers do not consider there is any basis to take a different view to that
of Natural England in this case.

9.223. Nevertheless, the Council’s Ecologist has identified potential for impacts upon the
woodland to the south of the site which has been shown to be of relatively high
ecological value including supporting bats (including the rarer Annex Il species
Barbastelle). Direct impacts to the woodland would be limited to the cutting back of
trees and vegetation to avoid shading the Southern ditch. However indirect impacts
would be likely and would cause some deterioration. This includes through increased
levels of noise both during and after construction, car parking in close proximity,
increased lighting levels, loss of adjacent foraging and dispersal habitats and semi
natural buffer and potential for damage through public access.

9.224. The Council’s Ecologist considers that an insufficient buffer has been allowed for to
mitigate indirect impacts to the District Wildlife site/ Priority Habitat when the scale of
the development and nature of the woodland is taken into account. It is recommended
that should the application be approved, a funded woodland management plan for the
off-site woodland, to ensure its long term condition is improved and indirect impacts
minimised for the life time of the development, should be secured by legal obligation.

9.225. Natural England advice sets out that for ancient woodlands, the proposal should
have a buffer of at least 15m from the boundary of the woodland to avoid root damage.
The woodland in this case is not ancient but it is still relevant to consider if a sufficient
buffer has been provided, noting the applicant’s case that the woodland will remain
untouched and will not be affected by the development, and whether the impacts can
be mitigated.

9.226. In this case, whilst the stadium sits approximately 12m from the edge of the
woodland at its closest point, development including car parking, drainage features
and hard landscaping including walkways and stepped accesses would be located
closer to the woodland. The landscape plans demonstrate a native hedge with

96
Page 104



standard tree planting and eco tone edge planting, providing an almost continuous
edge between the woodland and the built development on the site.

9.227. In the view of Officers, the risk in relation to potential for damage through public
access would be limited given the proposed native hedge mix would create an
effective natural barrier between the site and the woodland edge.

9.228. The impact of lighting on the woodland (and elsewhere related to ecology) is set out
below but with respect to noise, during the construction period, controls would be in
place through a construction environment management plan and a construction
environment management plan for ecology. This would ensure best practice
construction techniques to avoid impacts to ecology and upon the woodland, as far
as possible. Operational noise has been assessed relating to road traffic noise, car
park noise, matchday noise and mechanical plant associated with the stadium.
Although not specifically assessed with regard to impacts on the woodland, the
section of this report later deals with noise impacts and concludes that the proposals
are not considered to cause materially detrimental levels of noise when each type of
operational noise is assessed against the baseline, particularly noting that noise from
use of the stadium would be occasional (noting the EIA has been based upon 43
football matches per annum at 16,000 capacity as well as other events such as
conferences, corporate events etc). The noise mitigation proposals will also limit the
impact upon the adjacent woodland.

9.229. The loss of vegetation adjacent to the woodland and the change to an urban habitat
to facilitate the proposals is as a direct result of the proposed development. The
impact of this loss from a biodiversity net gain perspective can be understood and this
will need to be mitigated for in terms of the biodiversity improvements required to
secure net gain. However, there may be indirect impacts on protected species by way
of this loss of foraging habitat, therefore it is important to secure appropriate
mitigation.

9.230. Officers accept that there are likely to be indirect impacts to the woodland to the
south and that sufficient mitigation measures can be secured to limit such impacts.
The Council’s Ecologist has suggested that a Woodland Management Plan should be
sought via a legal obligation and that this would overcome their concerns in this
regard.

9.231. Some concern has been raised regarding impacts upon the hydrology of the
woodland including that managed by the Woodland Trust, partly caused by clearance
of the ditches/ blocked culvert and due to the surface water drainage from the
development site will pass that route so that the site can be drained appropriately.
The submitted information demonstrates that the hydrology of the woodland would
remain unaffected. The Woodland Trust have raised some concern in this regard,
commenting that on site attenuation be of a scale and capacity sufficient to protect
Stratfield Brake from additional run-off and it is requested that this is secured by
planning condition. A condition seeking full details of the surface water drainage
scheme is recommended, albeit that it is accepted that the proposed drainage
strategy submitted with the application concludes that there will be no change to
greenfield run off rates from the site.

Lighting proposals from an ecological perspective

9.232. Lighting details have been provided and additional information has been received
through the course of considering the application. The impact of the lighting scheme
upon Barbastelle bats and their use of the woodland to the south has raised some
concern with the Council’s Ecologist as there would be loss of habitat by loss of
foraging areas (i.e. the willow plantation, grassland and wet areas). The lighting

97
Page 105



scheme however includes measures such as switching off lights at dusk and dawn
and for bollards and backplates which it is considered will lead to 100% of the
woodland edge being subject to less than 0.2 lux of artificial light.

9.233. The impact of lighting more broadly will require consideration as the other site
boundaries would have a role in ensuring that nocturnal wildlife can move around and
commute across the site. Whilst the most recent lighting technical note confirms this
as being a final proposal, there do remain some questions — particularly in ensuring
that the lighting levels proposed are required at all times (not just dusk and dawn) and
given that the documentation states that the proposals are subject to final detailed
lighting design. It is relevant to note that the lighting proposals from an ecology
perspective need to be balanced against other roles that the lighting will play —
particularly in respect of the safety and security considerations and highway safety. It
is recommended that a planning condition be imposed to secure a final lighting
scheme for the whole site. This will refer to the maximum lighting levels relating to the
bat corridor but it will also secure details of the whole site to ensure that bat commuting
corridors are respected and is required to ensure ecological mitigation and to ensure
the creation of a safe environment for users of the development.

9.234. The proposals would involve some additional street lighting on Frieze Way in the
area immediately adjacent to the access to the site and the proposed toucan crossing
on Frieze Way. There is also a requirement for a new 3m off carriageway shared
footway/ cycleway on Frieze Way required in order for fans to safely access the site
from Peartree P&R.

Biodiversity Net Gain

9.235. The submitted metric demonstrates a net loss for biodiversity on site and there are
queries in the metric regarding the baseline and post development habitat
classifications which will need to be updated later via a metric required to discharge
the statutory condition. The development is statutorily obligated to achieve a 10% net
gain but in this case the proposal seeks to deliver a 20% net gain. The achievement
of this higher standard is proposed as a combination of on-site habitat creation and
the purchase of off-site credits to enhance biodiversity. This would be secured via a
legal agreement and/or planning conditions accompanying any planning permission.
The achievement of BNG will be. The provision of an updated Habitat Management
and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) will be required and a monitoring fee for habitat reports
to be submitted for a minimum of 30 years given the complexity of the habitats to be
created.

9.236. It is noted that the proposals would result in the loss of a very high distinctiveness
habitat and that the remainder of this habitat is to be increased in condition. This is a
highly threatened, internationally scarce habitat and some concerns are raised
regarding the feasibility of enhancing the value of the remaining habitat. This
enhancement will need to be included within the final HMMP.

9.237. The impact upon off-site trees (for example if they would cause overshading of the
ditch) will also need to be accounted for in determining the final BNG result (by being
included within the metric). Any negative impact that can not compensated for within
the vicinity of the proposed development would necessitate the purchase of further
off-site credits.

Conclusion

9.238. In order for the local planning authority to discharge its legal duty under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 when considering a planning
application where protected species are likely or found to be present at the site or

08
Page 106



surrounding area, local planning authorities must firstly assess whether an offence
under the Regulations is likely to be committed. If so, the local planning authority
should then consider whether Natural England would be likely to grant a licence for
the development. In so doing the authority has to consider itself whether the
development meets the 3 derogation tests listed above (para. 9.191).

9.239. In respect of planning applications and the Council discharging its legal duties, case
law has explained that if it is clear/ very likely that Natural England will not grant a
licence then the Council should refuse planning permission. If it is likely or unclear
whether Natural England will grant the licence then the Council may grant planning
permission.

9.240. As detailed above, the application is supported by a detailed protected species
survey which concluded that overall, the proposals will safeguard retained habitats of
greater ecological value and protect species present within and adjacent to the Site
during construction. Furthermore, the proposals will include mitigation measures to
reduce impacts upon protected species and habitats of importance which will be
secured via planning condition.

9.241. Officers are satisfied, on the basis of the advice from the Council’s Ecologist and the
absence of any objection from Natural England, and subject to conditions and legal
agreement, that the welfare of any European Protected Species found to be present
at the site and surrounding land will continue and be safeguarded notwithstanding the
proposed development and that the Council's statutory obligations in relation to
protected species and habitats under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017, have been met and discharged.

9.242. In relation to BNG, a net loss is predicted on-site via the BNG metric now used.
However, the applicant seeks to commit to the provision of 20% BNG which is above
the statutorily required level, would meet policy compliance and is proposed to be
secured via legal agreement and/or conditions. This is predominantly proposed to be
delivered via off-site credits which reduces its benefit somewhat although securing a
20% gain even in those circumstances is appropriate.

9.243. Following mitigation and enhancement measures, overall impacts are considered to
be positive and acceptable at the local level and will ensure no net loss in biodiversity
terms. The proposals in the first instance avoid where possible, and thereafter mitigate
for any biodiversity loss in line with paragraph 186 of the NPPF.

Landscape and visual impact

Policy context

9.244. Chapter 15 of the NPPF concerns conserving and enhancing the natural
environment. Paragraph 187 sets out that planning decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural environment by: a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes,
sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with
their statutory status or identified quality in the development plan); b) recognising the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural
capital and ecosystem services — including the economic and other benefits of the
best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland; c) maintaining
the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to it where
appropriate; d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity,
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to
current and future pressures and incorporating features which support priority or
threatened species such as swifts, bats and hedgehogs; e) preventing new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or

99
Page 107



being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution
or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local
environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant
information such as river basin management plans; and f) remediating and mitigating
despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate.

9.245. Policy C8 of the CLP 1996 states that sporadic development in the open countryside
including developments in the vicinity of motorway or major road junctions will
generally be resisted. Policy C15 adds that the council will prevent the coalescence
of settlements by resisting development in areas of open land, which are important in
distinguishing them. Policy C33 concerns the protection of important gaps of
undeveloped land, stating that the council will seek to retain any undeveloped gap of
land which is important in preserving the character of a loose-knit settlement structure
or in maintaining the proper setting for a listed building or in preserving a view or
feature of recognised amenity or historical value.

9.246. Policy ESD13 of the CLP 2015 requires landscape protection and enhancement
opportunities to secure the enhancement of the character and appearance of the
landscape, particularly in urban fringe locations, through restoration, management
and enhancement of existing landscapes, features or habitats or where appropriate
the creation of new ones, including the planting of woodland, trees and hedgerows.
Development will be expected to respect and enhance local landscape character,
securing appropriate mitigation where damage to local landscape character cannot
be avoided. Proposals will not be permitted if they would cause visual intrusion into
the open countryside; cause undue harm to important natural landscape features and
topography; be inconsistent with local character; impact on areas judged to have a
high level of tranquillity.

9.247. Policy ESD 15 concerns the character of the built and historic environment, it sets
out that, successful design is founded upon an understanding and respect for an
area’s unique built, natural and cultural context. New development will be expected to
complement and enhance the character of its context through sensitive siting, layout
and high-quality design. All new development will be required to meet high design
standards. Where development is in the vicinity of any of the district’s distinctive
natural or historic assets, delivering high quality design that complements the asset
will be essential.

9.248. Policy COM 10 of the CLP 2042 requires that development proposals preserve the
character and appearance of the landscape through the restoration, management and
enhancement of existing areas, features or habitats and where appropriate the
creation of new ones, including the planting of woodlands, trees and hedgerows.
Development will be expected to respect and enhance local landscape character,
securing appropriate mitigation where damage to local landscape character cannot
be avoided. Proposals will not be permitted if they would: i. Cause an unacceptable
visual intrusion into the open countryside; ii. Be inconsistent with local character; iii.
Introduce disturbances to areas with a high level of tranquillity; iv. Cause coalescence
between settlements; v. Harm the setting of natural, built and historic landmark
features, or vi. Reduce the historic significance of the landscapes.

9.249. Policy COM 11 concerns proposed Cherwell Local Landscape Designations
(LDD’s). Development proposals within or affecting a designated local landscape will
be assessed based on its specific landscape and visual impact on the valued
characteristics of the designated landscape.

Assessment

100
Page 108



9.250. As highlighted above saved Policies C15 and C33 from the Development Plan are
material considerations, these policies despite their age are considered up to date as
they are in general conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework. These
policies are also relevant to the principles of good design and settlement
characteristics that are highlighted in Policies ESD13 and ESD15 of the CLP 2015
and saved policy C28 of the CLP 1996.

9.251. The application is supported by an LVIA, which has been reviewed by the Council’s
consultants. The Council's consultants (Aspect) considered the first iteration of the
LVIA to be compliant with the published guidance and technical notes but there were
a number of identified weaknesses that were requested to be addressed in a revised
document, as part of the Regulation 25 letter issued by the Council. These
weaknesses mainly concerned the under and over reporting of the magnitude of
change likely to be experienced by identified receptors. The applicants were asked to
provide more justification as to how the assessor arrived at the stated effects.

9.252. Nevertheless, Aspect agrees with the majority of the effects on identified landscape
and visual receptors.

9.253. Interms of the contextual landscape (perceptual and aesthetic), the LVIA addendum
accepts that susceptibility to the proposed change is considered to be high due to the
potential to alter the overall integrity of the receptor within the Site. It is noted that
significant effects are anticipated on LCA F: Peartree Hill during the construction
phase and Year 1, which relates to a wider area.

9.254. In terms of visual effects:

Residential receptors: As per the submitted methodology, it is considered that the
visual value of residential receptors would be ‘Medium’ at most rather than ‘High’ as
stated. The size/scale of change on several residential properties that face towards
the Site, for example nos. 2a-8 South Avenue, would likely be ‘Modest’ while most
views from residential properties along these roads would have no view of the stadium
due to the orientation of these properties and would therefore remain unaffected. It is
agreed, however, that even for the limited number of residential properties with direct
views of the Site from the southern Kidlington development edge, effects would likely
be non-significant at the post construction phase.

Transient from Transport corridors: It is considered that significant effects would
continue at Year 1 on receptors along the A4165/A4260 Oxford Road given that the
landscape proposals would not have matured. Regarding views from along the A4260
Frieze Way north and south of the Site, construction of the built form would likely be
a prominent component of localised views and despite the low sensitivity of the
receptor would likely lead to significant adverse visual effects during the construction
phase and likely remain at Year 1, reducing to non-significant effects as the landscape
proposals establish.

Transient from Public Rights of Way: It is considered that the stated effects on users
of PRoW Bridleways 229/5/40 and 229/9/10-30 to the east of the Site have been over-
reported at the construction phase. Given the distance involved, the intervening
vegetation structure and existing detracting visual built form components, effects
would likely be Minor and therefore non-significant during all assessment stages.

Receptors using Visitor Attractions and Areas of Open Space — Stratfield Brake to the
west: Aspect agree with likely significant adverse effects from certain locations within
this recreational and wildlife area.

101
Page 109



9.255. The LVIA Addendum sought to address some of the comments raised by Aspect as
part of their initial review. Aspect reviewed the LVIA addendum and provided
comments; some queries remain in relation to the baseline, contents and findings of
the assessment, which weakens the assessment.

9.256. However, other aspects have now been addressed, including the provision of an
opportunities and constraints plan, ZTV plan and additional Visually Verified
Montages (VMMs). Nevertheless though, Aspect have provided a summary of their
findings in respect of the landscape and visual appraisal which has helped to inform
the Officer conclusion below.

9.257. A Landscape Character Assessment for Cherwell District was prepared by LUC in
September 2024 this is part of the Evidence Base for the Council’s Emerging Local
Plan to 2042; this now represents the most up-to-date published landscape character
assessment for the District and this has been assessed as part of the revised
landscape impact assessment table.

Conclusion

9.258. The proposal would introduce an additional building of large scale and mass into the
landscape between Oxford and Kidlington. The maximum height of the proposed
stadium building is 24.6m above ground level. The height, scale and massing of the
building results in some unavoidable visual impacts.

9.259. The Council’s Landscape consultants have confirmed that the submitted LVIA is
considered to be based on a comprehensive and appropriate scope that identifies and
assesses the relevant key landscape receptors / features and visual receptors within
the localised and wider landscape context.

9.260. The findings suggest that there would initially be significant adverse landscape
effects on the surrounding landscape in perceptual and aesthetic terms and on the
surrounding townscape elements, as well as on the character area in which the Site
lies (LCA F: Peartree Hill; noting that an updated landscape character assessment
has since been published which identifies the site in Character Area 3: Lower Cherwell
Floodplain). It is also considered that features of the Site would likely undergo
temporary significant effects, namely: geology and soils, landform and drainage and
vegetation cover. Lasting significant effects are considered to be limited to cultural /
social as well as perceptual and aesthetic aspects of the Site, as well as on the overall
character of the Site, including its night-time character.

9.261. In terms of likely significant visual effects, the LVIA identifies such effects on
residents of properties along Hazel Crescent / South Avenue at the construction stage
only, as well as on road users along Oxford Road and Frieze Way in the immediate
setting of the Site at the construction phase and operational phase Year 1. Lasting
significant effects are predicted on users of PRoW 229/4/30 to the east and users of
several of the permissive routes within Stratfield Brake to the west.

9.262. Regarding cumulative effects with the identified cumulative sites, it is considered
within the LVIA that there would likely be some localised cumulative significant
adverse effects arising from the proposed development in combination with these
sites, including harm to the overall character area (LCA F: Peartree Hill) as well as to
LCA D: Yarnton to the west. Regarding cumulative visual effects, the LVIA suggests
there may be significant visual effects on road users along Oxford Road, Frieze Way
and Bicester Road given the increased amount of built form associated with several
committed development sites and the Site itself. Significant cumulative effects are
also stated on users of Stratfield Brake to the west.

102
Page 110



9.263. The Council’'s Landscape consultant broadly agrees with the findings of the
submitted LVIA, albeit noting that stated temporary significant effects on several
receptors i.e. the 'Perceptual and Aesthetic' element of the contextual landscape and
'Geology and Soils' on-site may actually result in permanent significant effects. It is
agreed that there would be a degree of localised harm in landscape and visual terms
as a result of the proposals. It is noted that this would be likely for any such proposals
on greenfield land, especially given the size and scale of the proposals. Effects would
likely be limited to the localised setting and would reduce with distance from the Site
albeit noting that given the height of the proposals, the stadium would likely be visible
in certain views from the wider setting for example from public footpaths in the open
countryside to the east.

9.264. The Council’s Landscape Consultant notes some concerns over the proximity of the
proposals to the woodland priority habitat and that some harm to the Green Belt would
arise. However the changing context in this area is acknowledged. Impacts upon the
woodland and green belt and are assessed elsewhere in this report.

9.265. Overall, it is considered that the development would not contribute to enhancing the
built environment but would result in a significant and adverse impact on the local and
wider landscape beyond. The proposal therefore conflicts with Policies ESD13,
ESD15 of the CLP 2015 and Government guidance in the NPPF. This weighs
significantly against the development.

Design
Policy context

9.266. Paragraph 131 of the NPPF notes that the creation of high quality, beautiful and
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities.

9.267. Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015 requires new development to complement and
enhance the character of its context through sensitive siting, layout and high-quality
design. It goes onto state that all new development will be required to meet high
design standards.

Assessment

9.268. The application is supported by a Design and Access statement, which explains the
design process and evolution of the project. The proposals went through a Design
Review Panel as part of the pre-application process.

9.269. One of the key design aspects of the project was to provide Oxford United with a
360 degree seating bowl, something they have been without since their move to the
Kassam Stadium. The Design and Access statement notes that due to conditions in
the land ownership, the scheme must be one singular building, consolidating the
match day and non-match day accommodation into one. The hotel and other
commercial components of the project are integrated in the north and northwest of
the development. The larger mass of the structure faces Frieze Way, while the shorter
corner of the building engages with Oxford Road, the primary pedestrian route to the
site.

9.270. The most prominent aspect of the building on-site is at the northwest corner. This
corner will serve as the public face of the complex for those traveling along Frieze
Way.

103
Page 111



9.271. The ground floor is made up predominantly of commercial space to the north,
players’ and officials’ space to the west and concourses wrapping round almost 360
degrees. The first floor contains the conferencing facilities and match day hospitality
areas. The second floor contains the hotel and the third floor contains lounges and
boxes for match day hospitality. The fourth floor contains the remainer of the hotel
rooms, the stadium control room as well as the TV studio and media gantry.

9.272. The roof contains separate elements, owing to its stepped nature. The roof structure
contains a mixture of bio-diverse green roof, terrace, plant and solar PVs (circa
3000sgm).

9.273. The entire development is set on a precast buff stone, with glazed curtain walling to
the north and west and solid precast panels to the south and east. Above the plinth,
the fagade is clad in a blue/grey metal composite panel. The fenestration is set in
vertical slots. Where the facade is highest the development branded signage will be
placed.

West Elevation

9.274. The north elevation contains the commercial elements of the proposal. The last third
of the building sets back, exposing the metal stadium structure behind. Semi-
translucent polycarbonate panels clad the rear of the stadium structure from plinth
level to just short of the roof leaving a ventilation gap. This arrangement allows the
roof to float above the body of the building.

ice v b o il!llll WL AN, Ilmﬂl- e L e,

North elevation

9.275. The east elevation comprises larger buff pre-cast panels, with the spectator ingress
and exit gates in dark grey metal panelling. This elevation is dominated by the metal
Y shaped frames and semi translucent panels. The eastern end of the four-storey
hotel block is proposed to contain a green wall.

ml—l—lIII‘I—i m-ﬂllﬁnimrll—t'll" " _ w6

East elevation

104
Page 112



9.276. The south elevation is again comprised of larger buff pre-cast panels, dominated by
the metal Y shaped frames.

Context south elevation

9.277. Following the Council’'s Urban Design Officer comments, the elevations have been
amended to break up the massing of the structure. Measures include introducing
regular framing elements, which align to the building’s structural grid, breaking up the
facade every 7.4m and smaller metal fins, located at regular intervals, but with
differing lengths, to introduce a more organic architectural aesthetic to the main
facade.

9.278. The site landscape design was also amended to address comments provided in the
Regulation 25 request and comments from the Council’'s Urban Design Officer. The
changes include:

e Access and Vegetation Retention: The reduction of access and egress points
along Freize Way has allowed for the preservation of additional vegetation on
the southern edge of the development.

e Expanded Cycle Parking: On-site cycle parking facilities have been
significantly increased from 150 to 446 spaces, encouraging sustainable
transport options.

e Additional Biodiversity Features: New green roofs and vertical meadow panels
have been incorporated into the cycle hubs.

¢ Plaza Compartmentalisation: The Plaza design has been refined to better
accommodate multiple uses, with designated seating areas and improved
functionality. Rain gardens have been repositioned for optimised drainage and
integration.

o Revised Willow Arches: The willow arches have been set back and
incorporated more cohesively into the gardens, with clear construction details
ensuring improved sightlines for visibility and safety.

e Parking surface Adjustments: Modifications to the parking areas include
measures to soften their visual impact and improve ecological integration. A
grasscrete no-dig construction zone has been introduced near the woodland
edge, minimising tree root disruption while maintaining practical functionality.

Conclusion

9.279. The arrangement of land uses is logical and makes good use of the site. The
‘garden’ to the north would provide an attractive setting to the stadium and a marginal
visual break from the wider built-up area of Kidlington. The plaza and tree lined
pedestrian avenue would establish a visual and physical link with the open space and
recreation facilities east of Oxford Road and west of Frieze Way. Pedestrian access
and vehicular/ servicing access is legible and clearly defined to the east and west of
the stadium. The eastern side of the proposed stadium addresses Oxford Road with

105
Page 113



the majority of general admission turnstiles located along this frontage. This would
provide direct access for those arriving on foot from the station or park and ride. To
the west, access for limited car parking and servicing is from Frieze Way.

9.280. In summary the proposed layout and massing responds positively to the site and its
existing and emerging context. The overall scale and massing would form a legible
gateway to the adjacent north-south movement corridors. The structure and layout
would establish a unifying focal point between the proposed and existing open space
and recreation land uses to the east and west.

9.281. The proposal therefore complies with the design requirements of the NPPF and
those set out in Policy ESD 15 of the CLP 2015.

Retail impact
Policy context

9.282. Chapter 7 of the NPPF sets out how planning policies and decisions should support
the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive
approach to their growth, management and adaptation.

9.283. Key to consideration of this proposal, the NPPF includes a definition of ‘main town
centre uses’ at Annex 2 which would include the hotel, retail and food and drink offers
forming part of this application. Paragraphs 91-94 of the NPPF consider the sequential
test for proposals which are located outside an existing centre, as well as the impact
of proposals which are outside existing centres and not in accordance with an up-to-
date development plan.

9.284. Policy SLE 2 (‘Securing Dynamic Town Centres’) seeks to enforce a ‘town centres
first approach to the delivery of retail and other main town centre uses. It also
introduces a local impact threshold requiring impact assessment over 2,000 sgqm
gross for sites in Banbury, 1,500 sgm gross in Bicester, and 350 sqm gross for sites
elsewhere in the District.

9.285. It further explains that evidence in the Council’s Retail Study will also be considered
when determining applications if information is not provided by the applicant which is
considered to supersede this evidence. The latest published Council Retail Study was
produced by Nexus Planning and GCW in September 2021.

Assessment

9.286. The submitted Retail Impact Sequential Assessment (RISA) acknowledges the site’s
out-of-centre location, being more than 300m from the edge of Kidlington Village
Centre. In line with local and national policy, the availability of sequentially preferable
sites in, or on the edge of, all centres within a defined catchment area must therefore
be considered.

9.287. The RISA explains at section 4.7 that ‘demand analysis’ has determined that an
optimum stadium size of 16,000 capacity has been identified and that a business case

and associated financial appraisal has determined the need to provide the following
‘main town centre uses:

e 180 bed hotel; and
e 264 sgm club shop and ticket office
e 178 sgm sports bar

106
Page 114



o 320 sgm restaurant
e 677 sgm gym
e 813 sgm health and wellbeing clinic

9.288. The applicants’ case is a) that relevant case law supports the consideration of sites
which are only capable of supporting the development as an aggregated whole (i.e.
the stadium and the proposed main town centre uses, plus other associated
development), and b) that there is a clear locationally specific need to locate the
proposed development in close proximity to Oxford.

9.289. The Council’'s consultants (Nexus) have reviewed the applicant’s retail impact
assessment and have concluded that the applicant has correctly interpreted relevant
case law in terms of disaggregation and has employed reasonable flexibility in terms
of arriving at the search parameters for site size and area of search (in line with NPPF
guidance).

9.290. In terms of the impact assessment, the total floorspace of main town centre uses
exceeds the locally set threshold of 350 sgm (discussed above) and therefore the
applicants have submitted a retail impact assessment.

9.291. The assessment notes that in order to retain economic viability, the retail and leisure
floorspace will likely operate at their peak on stadium event days, primarily match
days, where up to 16,000 spectators could be accommodated. There will also be year-
round use of the conference space and it is anticipated that there will be 580 events
per year. The site will be in use 24 hours a day, including the hotel, though the leisure
and retail uses will likely operate between 0600 and 0000 hours.

9.292. Whilst the club shop would have a significant turnover (£1.45m, RISA 6.37), this is
noted as having negligible impact due to its unique customer base and the Council’s
consultants are content with this assessment, subject to a suitably worded condition
to secure this.

9.293. Similarly, the Council’s consultants are on balance, content that the bar, restaurant
and gym facilities proposed at the stadium redevelopment site are unlikely to result in
any significant adverse impacts which would otherwise dictate that planning
permission should be refused.

Conclusion

9.294. The proposals are therefore considered to meet the requirements of paragraph 94
of the NPPF as well as policy SLE 2 of the development plan.

Residential amenity

Policy context

9.295. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by, (amongst other
considerations) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability.

9.296. Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015 seeks to protect existing residential occupiers from

inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development

107
Page 115



proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light,
overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and noise and disturbance.

9.297. Policy ENV 1 of the CLP 1996 states that the Council will seek to ensure that the
amenities of the environment, and in particular the amenities of residential properties,
are not unduly affected by development proposals which may cause environmental
pollution, including that caused by traffic generation.

Assessment

9.298. The nearest residential dwellings to the application site are those located in south
Kidlington. Additional residential areas have been identified in north Summertown.
Representative groups of receptors have been identified for assessment of noise and
vibration and are described below and assessment locations are illustrated in Figure
A.1, Appendix 11.1 of the submitted Noise and Vibration Assessment:

e Existing residential receptors located West of Oxford Road and on South
Avenue (located approx. 265 m north of the Proposed Development);

e Existing Stratfield Farm House south west of South Avenue approx. 370 m
north west of the Proposed Development; and

o Existing residential receptors located on Croxford Gardens (located approx.
510 m northwest of the Proposed Development).

9.299. Regard must also be had to the PR7a and PR7b sites, which secured a resolution
to grant planning permission (5th October 2023 Planning Committee meeting) for 370
and 118 dwellings, respectively. Reserved matters permission for the 370 dwellings
on the PR7a south site have also now been granted. The southern part of this site is
proposed to be playing fields which would be on the eastern side of Oxford Road
adjacent to the Site. The nearest residences within this development would be approx.
290 m northwest of the proposed site boundary and separated from it by Oxford Road.
The nearest potentially affected residences on the proposed new development at
Stratfield Farm, will be approximately 210 m north of the site boundary and separated
by the A4260.

9.300. Concern has been raised through third party representations regarding the noise
impact that may arise from the development, affecting nearby residents.

9.301. The application has been submitted with a noise and vibration assessment (NVA).
The NVA assesses the potential impacts associated with the construction and
operation of the Proposed Development.

9.302. For construction noise and vibration, a qualitative assessment has been undertaken
which provides recommendations for minimising impacts at the closest noise sensitive
receptors. It is determined that the overall impact is not significant during the
construction or operational phases.

9.303. The NVA concludes the following:

o The potential noise effects of construction traffic are considered Negligible.
Fixed plant associated with the Proposed Development will be designed such
that no noise effects are experienced at the nearest existing or future noise
sensitive receptors. Road traffic noise during operation has been assessed to
have no significant effect at any noise sensitive receptors although noticeable
noise level increases may occur on Banbury Road for an hour before and after

108
Page 116



weekday matches. This will however be relatively infrequent being once every
two weeks on average.

¢ A high-level assessment of the noise generated by patrons of the stadium has
been conducted. The level of noise will be below the threshold of significant
impact, and occasional, expected to occur once every two weeks on average,
which has led to the conclusion that the impact would not be significant. The
stadium PAVA system will be designed such that it has no noise effect at the
nearest noise sensitive receptors.

9.304. The Council’'s Environmental Protection Officer has reviewed the submitted NVA
assessment and agrees with the conclusions, stating that whilst noise may be heard
from the stadium on occasion it will not be of a level, frequency or duration to cause
a significant impact. He similarly agrees with the conclusions in respect of air quality
and light, subject to a condition that the mitigation set out within these assessments
are included in the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). As such,
the proposed development would not impact the amenity of these nearby residential
receptors.

9.305. Given the distances involved, it is not considered that the proposal would adversely
affect residential amenity by way of loss of light, overshadowing or overdominance.

Conclusion

9.306. It is considered that the proposed development would not result in harm to the
amenity and living standards of any nearby residential properties, in accordance with
Policy ESD 15 of the CLP 2015 and Policy ENV1 of the CLP 1996.

Transport and Highway safety

Policy context

9.307. Policy SLE4 seeks to support proposals in the movement strategies and the Local
Transport Plan to deliver key connections, to support modal shift and to support more
sustainable locations for employment and housing growth. It identifies that new
development in the district will be required to provide financial and/ or in-kind
contributions to mitigate the transport impacts of the development. The Policy also
identifies that new development should facilitate the use of sustainable modes of
transport to make the fullest use of public transport, walking and cycling. The policy
reflects the NPPF in that it advises that development which is not suitable for the
roads that serve the development, and which have a severe traffic impact will not be
supported.

9.308. The NPPF also sets out at Paragraph 109 that transport issues should be
considered from the earliest stages of plan-making and development proposals, using
a vision-led approach to identify transport solutions that deliver well-designed,
sustainable and popular places. This should involve: a) making transport
considerations an important part of early engagement with local communities; b)
ensuring patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations
are integral to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places;
¢) understanding and addressing the potential impacts of development on transport
networks; d) realising opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure,
and changing transport technology and usage — for example in relation to the scale,
location or density of development that can be accommodated; €e) identifying and
pursuing opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use; and f)
identifying, assessing and taking into account the environmental impacts of traffic and

109
Page 117



transport infrastructure — including appropriate opportunities for avoiding and
mitigating any adverse effects, and for net environmental gains.

9.309. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that in assessing sites that may be allocated for
development in plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured
that a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision of the
site, the type of development and its location b) safe and suitable access to the site
can be achieved for all users; c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport
elements and the content of associated standards reflects current national guidance,
including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and d) any
significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to
an acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.

9.310. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF also stipulates that development should only be
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following
mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios.

9.311. Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states that within this context, applications for
development should: a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both
within the scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second — so far as possible — to
facilitating access to high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the
catchment area for bus or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities
that encourage public transport use; b) address the needs of people with disabilities
and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of transport; c) create places that are
safe, secure and attractive — which minimise the scope for conflicts between
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to
local character and design standards; d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and
access by service and emergency vehicles; and e) be designed to enable charging of
plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient
locations.

9.312. Paragraph 118 states all developments that will generate significant amounts of
movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be
supported by a vision-led transport statement or transport assessment so that the
likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed and monitored.

Assessment

Existing Highway conditions

9.313. The site is located in the triangle of land directly south of Kidlington Roundabout,
between the A4165 Oxford Road and the A4260 Frieze Way, and the Oxford to Oxford
Parkway railway. Oxford Road is a 30mph road which connects Kidlington to Oxford
via Kidlington and Cutteslowe Roundabouts, it also connects to Oxford Parkway train
station and park & ride.

9.314. Frieze Way is a national speed limit dual carriageway which connects Kidlington
Roundabout to Loop Farm Roundabout, this then connects the Local Highway
Network (LHN) to the A44 traveling north-west and Peartree and Wolvercote
Roundabouts via the A44 south-east. Peartree Roundabout forms part of the Strategic
Road Network (SRN) as it connects to the A34 which is maintained by National
Highways (NH).

9.315. Wolvercote Roundabout connects to the A40 west towards Witney and Carterton.
To the east it connects to the Cutteslowe Roundabout which takes you back to Oxford

110
Page 118



Road to the north or carries on east to east Oxford and then further to Wheatley, High
Wycombe and London. North-east of the Kidlington Roundabout is Bicester Road
which again connects the site to the A34.

9.316. There are a number of strategic development sites which are coming forward in the
area which will significantly increase housing numbers and employment areas and
will deliver significant pieces of infrastructure to help mitigate the impact of their
developments and improve active and public transport in the area. Although there are
some smaller sites also coming forward, Oxford North and the Cherwell Local Plan
Partial Review sites (PR6a, PR6b, PR7a, PR7b, PR8 & PR9) will be constructing over
5000 new dwellings along with significant employment areas.

9.317. The recent Kidlington Roundabout Improvement Scheme has improved provision
for active travel considerably, by signalising the roundabout and installing parallel
crossings on the Bicester Road, Frieze Way and Oxford Road arms. There are
existing shared paths along either side of Oxford Road for the majority of the length
of the corridor, however, these are not in line with LTN 1/20 standards and are in
relatively poor condition. Along with the new parallel crossings at Kidlington
Roundabout there is also a toucan crossing adjacent to the existing ramp down to
Oxford Parkway.

9.318. The A44 Corridor Scheme has also improved active travel in the area by providing
a new 4.5m shared path on the western side of the road along with additional
crossings and public transport improvements. Similarly the Peartree Roundabout
scheme and improvements brought forward by Oxford North (a development site
within the City Council area) have improved the environment for active travel users
and buses by creating bus lanes and shared paths between Peartree and Wolvercote
Roundabout and creating/improving crossings in the area. Particularly relevant for this
application are new toucan crossings on the A44 (east) and A34 (south) arms of
Peartree Roundabout.

9.319. The existing active travel and public transport infrastructure through Kidlington is of
relatively high quality with shared paths and southbound bus lanes for different parts
of the corridor. The intention is to improve sustainable travel through Kidlington in the
future with additional bus and cycle lanes, however, designs are at an early stage.

9.320. In addition to the above, the Partial Review (PR) sites and Oxford North are also
required to deliver/contribute towards the following infrastructure which would benefit
the stadium:

e New Cycle Superhighway between Kidlington and Cutteslowe Roundabouts
(2.5m cycle lanes and 2m footways either side of Oxford Road)

e New 2.5m cycle path through Cutteslowe Park connecting to the A40
overbridge.

e Pedestrian/cycle improvements to Cutteslowe Roundabout.

¢ New southbound bus lane on Bicester Road.

¢ New 1000 space mobility hub (park & ride) on the A44.

e Multiple new active travel crossings on Bicester Road and Oxford Road.

¢ New footbridge across the canal and improvements to the canal towpath.

111
Page 119



e New LTN 1/20 compliant bridge from PR6b (currently North Oxford Golf Club)
to Peartree P&R (subject to planning permission for PR6b and Peartree).

e Exploring the possibility of a station at Begbroke Science Park

¢ New southbound bus lane on A44 from Langford Lane to Cassington Road
roundabout (bus lane already in place from Cassington Rd to Loop Farm)

e New shared paths from Bladon Roundabout to tie in with A44 Corridor
Scheme.

9.321. The above information not only describes the transport improvements coming
forward within this part of the network but also demonstrates the change of character
in the area, that is, becoming more urbanised in character around the periphery of the
site, which will lead to driver behaviour change, slow vehicle speeds, encourage
walking and cycling and make the highway network safer for all users.

Proposals

9.322. The proposed stadium will have a maximum capacity of 16,000 people. The Stadium
is likely to hold 28 first team football matches per annum, including home league
games, and pre-season and cup games.

9.323. In addition to this, Women’s league and cup fixtures are proposed to be held at the
Stadium of which it is anticipated that there will be 13 home league games and cup
fixtures per annum. It is also projected that there will be 2 Stadium hire events per
year, for sporting events such as junior international matches, community, or
university sport events. Proposals also include flexible commercial and community
facilities for conferences, exhibitions, education, and other events. This facility will
have a maximum capacity of 1,000 people. Over the course of a year, it is anticipated
that around 580 events will be hosted. These will be of differing scales, with the
majority being smaller events with an average attendance of 10 or 30 people. The
Stadium has capacity to host events for up to 1,000 attendees and initial projections
anticipate that there will be approximately 85 events with an average of 150 people,
and 68 large events with an average number of 700 people, including Christmas
parties. The large events will be a mix of daytime events, multiple day events and
evening events.

9.324. The other facilities that will support the stadium include a club shop, public
restaurant, café/bar, health and wellbeing facility/clinic, gym, and a 180-bed hotel.

9.325. The Transport Strategy has been underpinned by a detailed understanding of the
origins of the OUFC supporters, including travel surveys at Kassam Stadium carried
out in 2022 and an assessment of the travel demands of the home supporters, away
supporters, teams, staff, supporting operators and users of the associated facilities.
The various stages of assessment and results are outlined in the Transport
Assessment (TA) and subsequent Transport Assessment Addendums.

Public Transport

9.326. The proposed site is well served by public transport with 13 buses per hour in each
direction (26 total) with additional buses in the peak hours which will serve the
proposed ancillary uses. These services connect the site with the city centre, Banbury,
Bicester and Witney along with Marston and Headington via the 700 service which is
due to be upgraded as part of the ‘Eastern Arc’ route. This will also improve
connections to Cowley and Littlemore which will better serve fans from those areas.

112
Page 120



9.327. In addition to these services the club also run matchday services, which are listed
in table 5.3.5 of the TA Addendum and cover areas such as Didcot, Abingdon, Thame,
Wheatley, Bicester, Witney and Carterton. These services will be monitored and
improved if required, for example, as the stadium is moving north and there are not
as many public transport services from the south of the county it could be beneficial
to run an additional service or shuttle from the south. However, the LHA agrees with
the approach of monitoring and surveying how fans travel and then providing any
additional service at that point. This will be monitored and communicated via the
Match Day Steering Group and Match Day Travel Plan.

9.328. For fans that wish to drive to games (parking at park and ride sites), the proposed
strategy is to provide shuttle buses from the park and rides. The club has confirmed
that this includes Peartree and Thornhill as there was some uncertainty in the previous
wording. This is in addition to shuttles from Eynsham, Redbridge and Seacourt. The
same will apply for any future mobility hubs that come forward, such as those
proposed on the A44 near the Oxford Airport and the A4074 near Grenoble Road.

9.329. The club has indicated the number of shuttles which would be running from each
P&R and the LHA is initially content with this number, however, this would need to be
monitored as mentioned above, and shuttles can be reassigned between games if
required.

9.330. Oxfordshire County Council are currently drafting an ambitious rail strategy which
includes enabling new services, increased capacity and improved frequency. There
are currently 2 trains per hour that go through Oxford Parkway on the Oxford-
Marylebone line (stopping at Bicester Village, Thame and High Wycombe). East West
Rail (EWR) which is coming forward in 2033 and will connect Oxford Parkway with
Bletchley, Milton Keynes, Bedford and Cambridge, will increase this number by at
least an additional 2 trains per hour.

9.331. Furthermore, the County Council are working with Network Rail to bring the Cowley
Branch Line back into operation as a passenger service by 2030. This will connect
the site with Cowley and Littlemore and would offer fans from those areas along with
the city centre an attractive option. As housing in east Oxford comes forward this adds
greater importance for this route as it is known that a large number of fans live in these
areas.

9.332. There are plans in the future to increase frequency of the Oxford/Marylebone service
(which the Cowley Branch Line will form part of) to 3 trains per hour, as well as
potentially running at least 1 of the EWR trains to Didcot which could greatly help fans
from the south of the county travel to the stadium. Additionally, there is also the
potential for the new Bristol-Oxford service stopping at Oxford and then traveling onto
Parkway before turning around.

9.333. This would bring the total number of trains travelling to Parkway up to 6 per hour
which would offer home and away fans frequent, fast and attractive travel options from
a number of locations around within and outside the county. An important point which
needs to be emphasised is the desire of football fans to use rail as their primary travel
choice; the Campaign for Better Transport’s Door to Turnstile report states that home
fans are fairly evenly split between car and rail use, over half of away fans use train
for at least some games and 36% of fans said they would like to use rail more. When
considering that this takes into account all fans, including those of clubs where the
stadium is not located close to a train station, it would suggest that train is likely to be
a key mode of travel to the stadium for both home and away fans. The forecasted
numbers in the planning submission are for 3,155 home and 749 away fans for an
average Oxford United home fixture.

113
Page 121



9.334. Discussions through the application process have involved Chiltern Railways and
Network Rail in order to understand whether sufficient capacity is available on their
infrastructure (including their rolling stock) as early indications were that currently
there was insufficient capacity. Rail travel is a key part of the transport strategy of this
scheme. Chiltern Railways have now confirmed that they have the additional capacity
to support future Oxford United fixtures.

9.335. It is anticipated that Chiltern Rail and Network Rail will make s106 requests to
improve Oxford Parkway for users. Those formal requests are awaited.

9.336. It should also be noted that PR8 (Begbroke Science Park) are currently exploring a
new rail halt which would enable connections (via sustainable mode) to Parkway and
then continue to Oxford City and the Cowley Branch Line. This again would be
beneficial to the club and the County Council are supporting this by including it within
the emerging rail strategy, however, this is still at an early stage, as is the proposed
station at Grove which could help fans from south/west of the county travel to the
stadium sustainably.

9.337. The LHA welcomes the proposal to include public transport tickets with season and
match day tickets and would work with the club and public transport operators to help
facilitate this. The County Council have recently introduced a multi-operator bus ticket
covering most bus routes in Oxfordshire "MyBus Oxfordshire" - although this only
covers bus, the arrangements behind it may be of use for the proposed season/match
public transport tickets.

9.338. The LHA also welcome the proposal to include a public transport information system
to inform supporters of travel news or delays — a condition is recommended to secure
this.

9.339. New bus stops on Oxford Road are proposed for the use of the stadium and its
ancillary uses. These are welcome and would need to be equipped with real time
passenger information - a S106 contribution will be required for this. The cost of a
real time information sign is £14,893 per stop, therefore a contribution of £14,893 x 2
= £29,786 (Baxter April 2025) is required.

9.340. The Applicants are adopting a vision-led approach to their transport strategy which
is in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and is supported by
the LHA. This is required in order to achieve the modal shift required but with the
sustainable travel options available, as discussed previously, the LHA believe this is
achievable.

9.341. The strategy sets out key principles which will determine how fans travel and help
to promote the use of active and sustainable travel, this is in line with Decide & Provide
principles. Whilst some details will need to be finalised at condition stage through the
Match Day Travel Plan, these key principles are:

o Delivering and contributing towards active travel infrastructure to ensure
walking and cycling is an attractive and primary option for fans.

e Prioritising public transport infrastructure (delivering, contributing towards and
ensuring good access) and working with public transport operators to ensure
public transport is appealing for fans.

e Providing a clear communication strategy, including VMS signs (conditioned)
which directs vehicles away from the stadium and Oxford Parkway and to their
closest P&R. Operating free shuttle services from these P&R’s to the stadium
to make it a faster and cheaper option.

114
Page 122



e Crowd and traffic management planning, using trained marshals. Managing
pedestrian and cycle access to the stadium from Peartree and Oxford Parkway
and into the ground. Controlling traffic on the roads around the stadium and at
Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of fans is prioritised.

¢ Implementation of a diversion on Oxford Road (except for emergency vehicles
and buses) and parking measures at Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of
pedestrians and cyclists is prioritised and buses can operate effectively
without being held up in queues for private vehicles. This will be discussed
further in the following section.

e Implementation of a Match Day Steering Group with all relevant local
stakeholders to help feedback any issues or changes that need to be made
week to week.

9.342. This approach is in line with national and local policy, including Local Transport and
Connectivity Plan (LTCP) policies 1, 10, 15, 18, 31, 33 & 35. The applicant’s strategy,
combined with the sustainable transport options proposed, enables opportunity for a
significant shift in the way fans travel to games. This approach is to encourage a
reduction in vehicular trips on the network and help to meet the targets within the
LTCP.

9.343. The strategy increases use significantly on the Park & Rides which is in line with
Oxfordshire County Council policy. There is expected to be a 6% increase in the use
of the P&R’s once the traffic filters are implemented. The LHA have undertaken an
exercise adding these numbers to the surveys undertaken by OUFC to understand if
the P&R’s have capacity.

9.344. The only Park & Ride that does not have sufficient capacity on a Saturday is
Peartree, however, this calculation is based on no vehicles driving to Parkway and is
only 34 spaces short. The LHA does not believe this is realistic even with the
measures in place which will be discussed in the following section so capacity is not
considered to be a material issue, particularly once the new P&R at Oxford Airport is
operational (subject to planning permission), which would further free up capacity at
Peartree and Parkway sites. All Park & Ride sites have considerable capacity on
weekdays.

9.345. Throughout the application process there have been multiple representations on the
capacity at the Park & Rides noting that spaces should be reserved for city centre use
and Oxfordshire residents. However, there is no policy wording that states the P&R'’s
are solely for city centre use and it is worth noting that the majority of fans attending
an Oxford United match will be Oxfordshire residents. The P&R’s are intended to
reduce impact on the highway network and promote sustainable modes which is what
would be achieved by implementing the clubs transport strategy. Therefore, the use
of these sites is considered acceptable.

Oxford Road and Oxford Parkway

9.346. Pedestrian modelling has been undertaken, by the Applicant, for fans entering and
exiting the stadium. Images of this modelling are shown in the TA and TA Addendums.
This modelling indicates, particularly post-match, that the number of fans walking
between the stadium and Oxford Parkway requires a large amount of carriageway
space in addition to the footways. Thames Valley Police (TVP) are concerned with
risk or conflict between vehicles and pedestrians and the risk of terrorist hostile vehicle
attacks and have therefore stated that the road would need to be closed before and
after matches, and Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) installed. This to ensure clear
and safe movement of large volumes of fans.

115
Page 123



9.347. The LHA have been working with TVP and OUFC, along with a number of other
stakeholders (British Transport Police, Stagecoach, Oxford Bus Company, Chiltern
Railways, Network Rail etc) throughout the consultation stage. Whilst understanding
the need for the route diversion, the LHA have been concerned about the original
proposal to close the road to all vehicles and have required buses to be allowed
through the diversion. This is vital for the transport strategy of the stadium and to allow
the public transport network, including the Park & Ride, to be reliable and to continue
to operate through diversion periods.

9.348. The club has now found an acceptable (to OCC, TVP and public transport operators)
method of accommodating buses during the diversion, which involves installing
hostile vehicle mitigation (HVM) either side of the temporary closure (at Kidlington
Roundabout and north of the Oxford Parkway junction) and this includes an ‘airlock’
system which allows buses to enter an area where their authorisation can be checked
and they can be held before being guided through the road closure by trained
motorcycle escorts in a shuttle running system (up to 3 at a time). Marshals would be
stationed throughout the closure to ensure fans are aware of buses and cleared from
the route to ensure the safety of all users. This was discussed at a workshop with the
bus operators who confirmed they were happy with the approach and the impact on
their services. A number of financial contributions have been requested which will
improve public transport journey time on the network as a whole, which will also
mitigate the impact on public transport journey times.

9.349. The club have updated the pedestrian modelling to include the bus access; this
shows that a 35-minute diversion would be needed for a full stadium. The transport
modelling includes a 45-minute diversion allowing for set up and some contingency,
which is considered sufficient to test the impact on the network, which will be
discussed in the following section.

9.350. Throughout the consultation stage, several questions have been raised around the
method of the pedestrian modelling. LHA Officers have therefore sought advice from
external third parties to ensure it is appropriate and sound. The Applicants have used
VisWalk as the software and followed the Fruin method. The Head of Travel Demand
Management for the Olympic Delivery Authority for London 2012 who also worked for
Tottenham and Arsenal on their new stadiums has confirmed that this is the same
methodology used for those and is therefore considered appropriate.

9.351. It is worth noting that a large number of stadiums around the country have road
closures before and after matches of varying lengths and forms, often including
suspension of parking bays or holding of vehicles to allow priority for pedestrians and
public transport. For example, Tottenham have a 65,000-seat stadium which includes
agreement by Transport for London (TfL) to close the A1010 High Road (along with
some minor roads) for up to an hour after matches. The A1010 is an important
transport corridor in north London which is heavily used by buses and most fans would
need to use to access the tube stations and bus stops. Despite the size of the stadium
and the agreement in place, on average the road closure is only needed for 30
minutes.

9.352. Although the LHA are satisfied in the use of the pedestrian modelling for assessing
pedestrian flows before and after matches, it has not been demonstrated how
pedestrians would exit the stadium during evacuation procedures. The applicant will
require a certificate from the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) before they can bring the
stadium into use, the SAG will need to see evacuation procedures along with all other
safety protocols. The applicant has stated that this information is not currently
available but that they are confident evacuation protocols are acceptable. As the SAG
certificate is provided post-planning, leaving this to that stage is at the applicant’s risk
as without the certificate they will not be able to hold events. However, Oxfordshire

116
Page 124



County Council and Thames Valley Police would like to see the details of this prior to
commencement of development, which would be required by condition.

9.353. Interms of Oxford Parkway, it is important for the County Council’s transport strategy
that the site stays open as it is a key mobility hub with access for residents to both
buses and trains. Oxford Road would be closed for a maximum of 35 minutes before
and after matches, during which time residents and other users are able to access
Oxford Parkway via the diversion route along Frieze Way, the A44 and A40. Before
and after the diversion residents and users can access Parkway as usual.

9.354. The matter of fans potentially using Oxford Parkway as a car park for the proposed
stadium has been considered. Measures are proposed to mitigate the opportunity for
fans to use Parkway as a car park for the stadium (as they do at the current stadium).
This is to support the transport strategies of both the club and the County Council,
and to lessen the impact on the local highway network; certain measures would be
implemented to discourage parking around match times as follows:

9.355. The club would include information on their website around how to get to the ground:
Oxford Parkway would not be included in this or in the information sent when fans
purchase tickets. The Variable Messaging System (VMS) signs on local and strategic
highway networks would also be directing fans to their closest P&R'’s rather than
Parkway. Additionally, for fans travelling from the north or west, once the temporary
closure is in place fans would need to follow the diversion which would add time to
their journey and pass other P&R’s where they could get a free shuttle bus to the
ground which would likely be an incentive with the other measures the County Council
and Chiltern will be implementing.

9.356. It has been agreed in principle between the County Council’s network management
team that manage Oxford Parkway (P&R) and Chiltern Railways that parking charges
would be increased on match days in the car parks run by both organisations. The
price and the timing is still to be determined which would need to go through a
separate process post-planning but would be likely to increase from 2-3 hours before
kick-off.

9.357. This should help mitigate the impact of the stadium whilst also allowing residents to
still access the P&R for other uses (bus and train journeys). The County Council have
assessed the data using a permanent traffic count on the access road to Oxford
Parkway and in 2023 67% of the total cars in for the day are already parked by 1pm
(2 hours before 3pm kick-off). The percentage is lower for early kick offs but is still
33% by 10:30am (2 hours before 12:30 kick-off). For weekday evening games that
percentage rises to 95% by 6pm.

9.358. Lastly, it has been agreed in principle that cars would be held in Parkway for 45
minutes after games (although this will be monitored and is subject to change). This
not only discourages fans from driving and parking at Parkway but also creates a safer
environment for fans and prioritises bus movements, such that they do not get held
up in queues.

9.359. In terms of how that would impact other users, only 7% of vehicles using Parkway
on Saturdays (based on 2023 data) exit between 14:30-15:30 (hour after early kick-
off games finish). For standard 3pm kick offs the percentage rises to 13% during the
hour after the full-time whistle (17:00-18:00). These figures suggest that the proposed
measures would have minimal impact on other users. However, it is important that
adequate signage is provided to ensure other users are aware of the measures and
when matches are taking place. As such, Communication Strategy and Signage
Strategy conditions have been included. With Peartree P&R and the proposed P&R
on the A44 nearby it is important to note that users also have other options available.

117
Page 125



9.360. Other measures proposed at Parkway include Chiltern Railways upgrading facilities
at the station and reallocating parking bays on match days to ensure there is adequate
space for queuing systems etc. Chiltern Railways have submitted their own response
outlining these proposals, which the county council fully support. The club will be
providing new steps down to the station from Oxford Road which is supported and will
be included in the S278 agreement, however, land is required to be dedicated for this
and as such Chiltern Railways will need to be party to any S106 agreement.

9.361. Approximately 150 spaces would be lost on the eastern side of Parkway which will
become a new transport depot for Oxfordshire County Council’s Supported Transport
fleet. This has been included in the Applicant’s assessment, along with the loss of up
to 457 further spaces which the club has requested to reserve for match day officials
etc (although the number of spaces is still to be agreed). There is sufficient capacity
remaining for the existing users plus the expected increase in the future as a result of
the Traffic Filters.

Traffic Generation

9.362. To understand the impact of the development on the Local Highway and Strategic
Road Networks (SRN), the Applicants have used the North Oxford VISSIM Model on
advice from the LHA. This model was produced by a consortium including all of the
PR sites and was used to demonstrate their impact as part of their planning
applications. The use of the model has been accepted at planning committee several
times and been signed off previously by the Local Highway Authority and National
Highways.

9.363. Whilst the club has been predominantly able to use the same base model for the
ancillary uses, such as the conference centre, for weekdays, they have been required
to develop evening and weekend scenarios to understand the impact of matches on
the network.

9.364. Oxfordshire County Council has commissioned Pell Frischmann to assist in the
development and assessment of the model as they were also used to audit the original
model developed by the PR sites. Pell Frischmann were involved in meetings with the
club and National Highways on the scope of the model, which is standard practice for
any strategic site where a third-party auditor is being used; this allows any issues or
changes required to be raised at the earliest opportunity. Pell Frischmann have also
audited every stage of the modelling process and have provided reports to the County
Council on the Local Model Validation Report (LMVR), base model, future year
scenarios and further amendments. These reports are included in Appendix 3 of this
report (Appendices A-C of the Local Highway Authority response).

9.365. Following each audit and report produced by Pell Frischmann, meetings have taken
place between the club, Pell Frischmann and the County Council to address the
comments and understand any changes that need to be made in order for the model
to be approved as a tool to assess the impact on the highway network. There are
some outstanding issues which have not been addressed which can be found on
Page 15 of Appendix C, these will be addressed below.

9.366. The LHA is satisfied that the methodology used to assess the impact of the proposed
development is appropriate to provide a reasonable prediction of the traffic impact of
the development.

9.367. The LHA requested the following scenarios to be modelled:

e Weekday AM peak to understand impact of ancillary uses

118
Page 126



o Weekday PM peak to understand impact before and after matches
e Saturday PM (to understand impact before and after standard 3pm matches)

9.368. As 12:30 kick-offs are now more common there was a discussion around whether
or not this should also be a modelled scenario. However, having looked at the traffic
data, although average flows are higher which would be expected, the increase is not
significant enough to warrant an entire additional scenario. An example of the flow
increase is the permanent traffic counter Oxfordshire County Council have on Oxford
Road (00000174) adjacent to the proposed site. The County Council have assessed
the data for 2022, 2023 & 2024, removing the months of June and July which are
outside of the football season, in the half hour preceding matches (i.e. when the
diversion would be in place) there is only a 0.7% increase in vehicle numbers at the
earlier time.

9.369. It was therefore considered unnecessary to request this in addition to the scenarios
mentioned above. However, this has been an issue which has been raised several
times through the process by third parties and Councillors. Therefore, to help
demonstrate that the impact on the network at the earlier time is not significantly
higher, the LHA requested that the club undertake a sensitivity test using a factoring
exercise based on the traffic data collected. This demonstrates that although there
would be a slight increase in traffic and worsening of performance across the network
(159.98 second delay for 11:30am-12:30pm compared to 145.61 second delay at
14:00pm-15:00pm) this is not considered significant or severe in highway terms.

9.370. The Applicants have used Decide and Provide (D&P) Scenario 3 to model their
impact plus the additional scenario modelling trips to Parkway as requested. It is
important to stress that although the County Council are content with this scenario,
this is only acceptable on the basis of the required mitigation listed earlier in the
document being provided. Only with this mitigation in place do the County Council feel
that the vehicular trip rates would be lower enough to be in line with the mode split for
Scenario 3.

9.371. The traffic modelling has assumed a 10-15% reduction in background traffic and this
is considered acceptable on the basis of evidence from other sporting venues.

9.372. The LHA asked the Applicants to look into reductions in background traffic and the
impact of VMS which would be implemented across the Local Highway Network and
Strategic Road Network should permission be granted. The club provided some
information in the original TA regarding impact of VMS signs and reduction in
background traffic but to try and understand this in more detail the LHA have liaised
with Officers within the County Council Highways department who have previously
worked on other stadia and events.

9.373. Tottenham and Arsenal did not undertake traffic modelling for their stadiums as it
was agreed that there would be a neutral effect on traffic and the highway network,
although Tottenham did confirm that they have met their target of reducing car trips
to the stadium from 60% in 2003 (old 36,000 capacity stadium) to 23% at the new
65,000 capacity stadium mainly due to traffic management and the communication
strategy. However, London Olympics did put a lot of effort into reducing background
traffic and developed a high-quality communication strategy to make residents and
commuters aware of events so they could change their behaviour.

9.374. The Applicants have also provided traffic data for the A33 outside Reading Football
Club’s stadium (24,000 capacity). The traffic flows on weekend and weekday matches
are very similar and in some cases are lower when matches are on. This indicates

119
Page 127



that there is a significant reduction in background traffic caused by behavioural
change to accommodate matches, assisted by the communication strategy in place.

9.375. The Applicants have provided further information on the impact of VMS in Section 3
of the TA Addendum (April 25). 3.4.2 states “The evidence provided above indicates
that the level of diversion/reduction could be in the region of 30%, with the
implementation of VMS assuming a number of variable message signs are installed,
VMS information is corroborated by additional sources (for example advance
messages on previous days, SAT-NAV and website/text alerts).”

9.376. Pell Frischmann have raised that the core scenario should have been with 0%
reduction in background traffic, however, with the proposed mitigation and alternative
routes available in addition to the findings presented in the TA Addendum and above,
the LHA feel that the 10-15% reduction is robust. The LHA are therefore content with
this approach.

9.377. Other outstanding points raised by Pell Frischmann (within page 15 of Appendix C
of the Local Highway Authority response, appended to this report in Appendix 3) which
need addressing are:

e Vehicles driving through the temporary closure past the cut-off time — this has
been discussed with Pell Frischmann who have explained this is not a
significant amount of vehicles which would not severely impact network and is
likely to just be a quirk of the model.

e Pedestrian demand from crossings on Frieze Way and Oxford Road are low
despite significant increase in pedestrians. Crossing cycle time operates at
120s which is top end of what might be expected — this has been discussed
with the club and due to marshals being present to help crowd and traffic
management on match days this is considered realistic. Outside of match days
there will not be significant numbers of users so again this is acceptable.
Oxford Road crossings can be amended and do not impact the model, Frieze
Way crossing will only be used heavily for 30 minutes so unlikely to have
severe impact on the network. It would have been useful to demonstrate the
impact at a shorter cycle time as this would likely have an impact, however, it
is not deemed fundamental to the operation of the highway network.

¢ Remaining points raised are reporting issues that although should have been
amended do not impact operation of model.

9.378. In the ‘Without Parkway’ scenarios, the modelling results show a worse impact in
the weekday evenings than the weekends which is to be expected when taking into
account the traffic flows of the PM peak hours in the week compared to weekend
flows. Overall the weekday evenings show a 116 second delay in the hour 19:00-
20:00 across the modelled area compared to the reference case (without OUFC). The
biggest impact is on Route 3 (A4144 Woodstock Road to A44 Woodstock Road) which
shows a 389 second (42%) increase in journey time in the first hour (6pm-7pm) and
an 889 second (128%) delay in the second hour (7pm to 8pm).

9.379. This route is approximately 9 kilometres long so at its worst time (19:00 or 20:00)
the delay equates to a 98.7 second (1.6 minute) delay per kilometre. However, this is
with only a 10% reduction in background traffic, if background traffic reduces further
which is likely based on evidence, then this delay will also reduce.

9.380. On weekends the largest impact is on Route 5 (A34 Islip turn to Loop Farm
Roundabout) which sees a 116 second (43%) increase in journey time in the first hour
and a 643 second (241%) increased journey time in the second hour. Similarly to

120
Page 128



above when split per kilometre (approximately 4.5km) this equates to a 143 second
delay per kilometre. There are impacts on bus journey times in the weekday scenarios
(weekends are negligible), particularly to the 2 and 2A which is a concern, however,
this is mainly due to the shuttle working during the temporary closure. Bus operators
were content with this at the workshops and therefore the delays are considered
acceptable.

9.381. The additional modelling undertaken for the scenario including vehicles driving to
Parkway again shows an impact on the highway network but with the worst hour being
20:00-21:00 in the weekday evenings, this is likely due to the model now including
more vehicles travelling on Oxford Road which is affected by the diversion which
creates a latent impact on the network, whilst this worsens the network in general the
impact is at a time where less essential trips are occurring. This show the delay is
154.47 seconds for all vehicles across the modelled network.

9.382. On a Saturday the worst delay across the network for all vehicles is 41.1 seconds
between 12:30 and 13:30. Delays in the other modelled hours are not significant.
Route 5 (A34 SB to A4260 Frieze Way) is particularly impacted between 12:30-13:30
where there is a 262% increase in journey time from the reference case. This again
shows the need for the mitigation requested which would reduce vehicles from the
network by helping to provide sustainable travel choices.

9.383. The weekday AM modelling for ancillary uses (primarily conference centre) does not
show a significant impact on the network. National Highways have stated that their
primary concern is the weekday impact, however, have confirmed that queuing does
not extend onto the A34 off-slips and that MOVA and UTC takeover, which are already
in place but not included in the model, will further help control build-up of traffic.

9.384. The proposed mobility hub (P&R) on the A44 will directly impact Route 3 and Route
5 by reducing the number of vehicles on those corridors which should reduce delays
and the impact of the development. As such financial contributions have been
requested.

9.385. The modelling generally shows bigger impacts in terms of journey time delays before
matches due to the level of background traffic. The impact of matchday traffic after
matches is significantly less with the network performing worse in the first hour and
then dropping significantly in the second hour. This aligns with traffic data for
Littlemore Roundabout, Heyford Hill Roundabout and on the Southern-By-Pass
(which is discussed in more detail as part of the LHA consultation response, relating
to match day traffic at the existing Kassam Stadium), which shows higher traffic flows
before matches than after, although comparable to non-match days (on Saturdays)
and shows that on Tuesdays there is a spike in traffic for the first 30 minutes after
games before dropping back to base line levels.

9.386. The Applicants have noted in Paragraph 7.5.4 of the TA Addendum how further
improvements could be made to the model, this includes adding MOVA to Peartree,
Cutteslowe and Wolvercote Roundabouts which would improve the performance and
better reflect existing operation of the junctions (MOVA is already in place which
makes green time more efficient between arms). It should also be added that the
requested financial contributions to the new mobility hub on the A44, Average Speed
Cameras on the ring road, and contributions towards the Cowley Branch Line,
amongst others, would help reduce background traffic whilst also further improving
the sustainability of the area.

9.387. Overall, in the opinion of the Local Highway Authority, whilst there is a traffic impact
from the development, it could not be considered severe in NPPF para. 116 terms; in
part because it is largely outside of network peak hours when more essential trips are

121
Page 129



taking place and the impact it does show, is for a relatively short period of time and
only 28 times on average across a season. Therefore, Oxfordshire County Council do
not object to the proposal on highway impact grounds.

Cycle Parking

9.388. 446 new cycle parking bays would be provided at the stadium which could be used
by fans and users of the ancillary uses. An additional 75 spaces would also be
provided at Oxford Parkway which could be used by fans on match days but would
also benefit the station on non-match days. This is particularly important for when the
new rail services are operational.

9.389. There are currently 150 cycle spaces at Parkway with utilisation being on average
under 50%. This leaves at least 75 spaces available in addition to the new cycle
parking provision mentioned above. This brings the total provision to 596 which is in
line with Oxfordshire County Council standards.

9.390. Although the LHA would prefer all spaces to be provided at the stadium, there are
benefits to providing some at Parkway and if cycling to the ground from the south it
may be easier to walk from Parkway once the road is closed and there are higher
numbers of pedestrians. Therefore, the LHA accepts the level of cycle provision
proposed. A condition can be added to agree the details of the provision which will
need to be covered, secure and accessible for all users and bikes.

Car Parking

9.391. 161 car parking bays are proposed at the stadium including 80 accessible bays (on
match days, outside of match days there would be 10) and 41 EV bays. There would
need to be passive EV provision for the remaining bays and this will be conditioned.

9.392. Fans will be advised there is no match day parking at the stadium or Oxford Parkway
when purchasing tickets and through VMS signs and will be directed to their closest
P&R’s. On-site parking would be monitored through Automatic Number Plate
Recognition (ANPR) cameras; the county council would need to see details of this
and therefore have included a condition.

9.393. A match day Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) will be required for a 2km (approximate)
distance from the site, similar to the existing matchday CPZs around the current
stadium which are managed effectively by the County Council. Contributions have
been requested for the design, consultation and implementation of this along with
costs towards additional enforcement. Residents within this zone would need to apply
to the County Council for permits, although these are lower than standard residential
permits (currently £20 annually in the existing matchday CPZs but subject to review).
It is at the Applicant’s discretion if they wish to pay for residents permits within this
zone for a set time, however, this is not something the LPA can request as a CIL
compliant contribution.

9.394. The Applicants are proposing to reserve up to 457 spaces at Oxford Parkway. Whilst
this has been agreed in principle with the LHA, the number of spaces is still to be
agreed, and it would need to go through a separate process post-planning similar to
the temporary closure and other measures at Parkway. Any spaces reserved would
be charged the higher matchday fee and are expected to be filled before the modelled
period and diversion.

Site Access

122
Page 130



9.395. Any access works or works to be carried out on the public highway would require a
Section 278 Agreement and require technical approval. This is a separate process
post-planning and would require additional road safety audits and further work
alongside Oxfordshire County Council’s Highway Agreements team. However, an
engineer has assessed the proposed works and is satisfied they are feasible and can
progress to detailed design. The following comments will need to be taken into
account at detailed design stage:

e The paths along Frieze Way will need to tie-in with existing arrangements at
Kidlington Roundabout.

o Need to carefully consider the interaction of cycle lanes at bus stops to avoid
any potential conflict.

e The proposed crossings and the shared path on the western side of Frieze
Way will require street lighting. This will need to be factored into the design.

e The speed limit on Frieze Way should be reduced to 40mph, this will require
a variation of the Traffic Regulation Order which can be done before the S278
works are signed off. Although this process is separate to planning permission.

e The tight radius of the vehicles access from Frieze Way is beneficial to the
slowing of vehicles entering the site. However, this does appear to be tight for
larger vehicles, this may need to be varied at detailed design stage.

e The shared path along Frieze Way should have priority over any farm
accesses, however, this can be discussed further at detailed design stage.

e Hostile Vehicle Mitigation needs to be considered carefully. This will need to
be agreed between the LHA, the Applicants and Thames Valley Police prior
to the Section 278 agreement being completed. Commuted sums will be
applied to any apparatus on the highway that needs to be maintained by the
County Council.

Travel Plans

9.396. Travel Plans will play an important part in ensuring the operation of the site is in line
with the strategy as set out above. The travel plans for the individual elements will be
conditioned and monitored as is standard practice. Oxfordshire County Council have
seen sufficient detail of the match day operations to feel confident in the acceptability
and deliverability of the Matchday Travel Plan and are content with this being
progressed to condition stage.

9.397. The Applicant has submitted a framework travel plan with this application, and this
plan is acceptable for this stage of the application, however it would need to be
updated to a full travel plan prior to the first occupation of this site. This travel plan
would need to provide baseline travel information, modal shift targets and a detailed
action plan and budget for the delivery of these targets.

9.398. Each of the land uses over the threshold set out in the OCC guidance document
would require a supplemental travel plan or travel plan statement, these plans should
outline how they will contribute to achieving the overall targets in the framework travel
plan. Conditions are recommended for each of the travel plans.

Conclusion

123
Page 131



9.399. This section summarises and analyses the transport issues, predicted impacts and
proposed mitigation related to the application. Reference should be made to the full
Local Highway Authority response in Appendix 3, which contains more detailed
technical information on all relevant aspects of transport and movement modelling.

9.400. This conclusion reflects detailed discussions between Officers, Thames Valley
Police, Oxford Bus Company, Stagecoach, Chiltern Railways, Network Rail, British
Transport Police and National Highways and careful consideration of the issues raised
in representations received during the consultation process, as well as negotiations
and discussions with the Applicant and its consultants in order to ensure that the travel
predictions are robust and that the proposed transport mitigation measures will be
fully effective in achieving the stated travel plan objectives, including acceptable
transport outcomes.

9.401. Having carefully considered all transport aspects of the proposal; Officers consider
that the proposed development is acceptable in highway terms.

Noise and Air Quality

Policy context

9.402. The NPPF, at paragraph 196, states that planning policies and decisions should
ensure that: a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground
conditions and any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes
risks arising from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, and any
proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential impacts on
the natural environment arising from that remediation); b) after remediation, as a
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land
under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and c) adequate site
investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is available to inform
these assessments. Paragraph 197 sets out that where a site is affected by
contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development
rests with the developer and/or landowner.

9.403. Paragraph 198 states that planning policies and decisions should also ensure that
new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts
that could arise from the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce
to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development
— and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality
of life; b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this
reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity,
intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

9.404. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF advises that planning policies and decisions should
sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national
objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management
Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local
areas. Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified,
such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and
enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be considered at the
plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be
reconsidered when determining individual applications. Planning decisions should
ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air
Zones is consistent with the local air quality action plan.

124
Page 132



9.405. Policy ENV1 of the CLP 1996 and Policy ESD10 of the CLP 2015 echoes these
requirements.

Assessment

9.406. In relation to noise, a baseline noise survey was conducted between 30th
September to 4th October 2023. Assessments to determine the potential impacts of
noise and vibration associated with construction activities, construction traffic, road
traffic noise during match days and match day noise on sensitive receptors have been
undertaken; these are all considered to be negligible and therefore not significant.

9.407. Noise criteria has been set for fixed mechanical plant associated with the operation
of the proposal, with the expectation that no significant noise effects will result from
these sources, assuming these criteria are met through careful design and
established mitigation measures, which would be secured by condition. An
assessment of vehicle noise in car parks has also been conducted, with the impact of
car park noise not considered to be significant.

9.408. An assessment of matchday noise, including the noise generated by patrons of the
stadium and the public address system within the stadium, which is expected
approximately twice monthly during the season, has been conducted. The
assessment determines that this impact would be negligible and therefore not
significant.

9.409. Concerns have been raised in relation to the potential for noise from other events,
such as concerts. However, the Planning Statement submitted with the application
specifies that the proposed use specifically excludes use of the stadium for concerts,
which would also be controlled by conditions to restrict the use of the stadium.

9.410. The proposals are therefore not considered to cause materially detrimental levels of
noise and are therefore in accordance with development plan policy.

9.411. In relation to air quality, the air quality assessment undertaken considers both
construction and operational effects, identifying any necessary mitigation measures
to reduce the effects from construction activities and identifying the worst case
sensitive receptors, (i.e. those receptors likely to experience the largest changes or
the highest emissions) from changes in traffic.

9.412. The qualitative assessment of construction dust effects undertaken for the proposal,
using the most up to date dust guidance, found that there is likely to be a ‘minor’ risk
of dust creating nuisance and/or loss of amenity and ‘minor’ risk of particulate matter
(PM10) leading to adverse health effects (without mitigation). Despite the predicted
‘minor’ risk identified, appropriate mitigation specific to the proposal have been
presented. Following the appropriate implementation of the mitigation measures,
effects are predicted to be negligible and not significant.

9.413. The assessment also concludes that the proposal is not predicted to cause any
exceedances of the annual mean NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 objectives at any of the
modelled receptors during construction and operation. The assessment has also
demonstrated that the short-term objectives for NO2 and PM10 are not expected to
be exceeded at modelled receptors. The change in local air quality caused by the
proposal is predicted to be of ‘Negligible’ significance.

9.414. Similarly, the assessment concludes that the change in nitrogen deposition with
ammonia is less than 0.4 kg N/ha/yr at all ecological receptors during construction
and all but two points during operation of the proposal. In accordance with DMRB LA
105, this change of greater than 0.4 kg N/ha/yr predicted at these two locations, has

125
Page 133



been reviewed by the Competent expert for Biodiversity and it is concluded to be not
significant.

9.415. In terms of inter-project effects (i.e. with other developments), no significant residual
effects have been identified, meaning that as the assessment which was undertaken
was inherently cumulative (because it included traffic flows associated with other
committed developments) that no significant inter-project cumulative air quality effects
have been identified.

9.416. The proposal is therefore not considered to conflict with any development plan
policies relating to the control of air quality.

9.417. Based on the information provided, there are not anticipated to be impacts arising
from land contamination, however a condition which sets out what to do should
unexpected contamination be found, is considered to be suitable.

Conclusion

9.418. Taking account of the third party comments, no objections offered by consultees
including the Environment Agency, Natural England and the Council’s Environmental
Protection Officer, the proposals are considered to be acceptable, subject to
conditions and in accordance with Development Plan policy and national planning
policy guidance.

Lighting
Policy context

9.419. The NPPF at paragraph 198 requires planning decisions to ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effect
including cumulative effects. It requires planning decisions to limit the impact of light
pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature
conservation.

9.420. Policy ESD 15 requires the provision of appropriate lighting and minimisation of light
pollution based on appropriate technical assessment.

Assessment

9.421. The application is accompanied by a lighting assessment (as set out in chapter 13
of the ES) which has been carried out to assess the potential effects that lighting from
the Proposed Development is likely to have on the identified receptors within the
surrounding area.

9.422. The assessment is based on the latest available design information, including the
external lighting design and the design of the stadium field of play. Limits are set on
the levels of obtrusive light that are acceptable for each identified receptor, with
mitigation being embedded into the design to ensure these limits are maintained. The
assessment finds that the residual effects of obtrusive light from the proposed
development are minor adverse, and not significant.

9.423. The Council’'s Environmental Protection Officer (EPO) has reviewed the Lighting
Assessment and agrees with the conclusions. The EPO is satisfied with the contents
and findings of the report however, the final lighting design and light levels should be
submitted to and approved by the LPA once they have been finalised and the
mitigation laid out in this Lighting Assessment has been implemented in the design of
the lighting.

126
Page 134



9.424. Several third-party representations have raised concerns regarding the impact of
the proposed lighting on bats and the woodland edge. The Lighting Assessment (and
separately an ecology response to lighting) confirms that the strategy has utilised the
ILP and Bat Conservation Trust Guidance Note 08/23 to inform the design process in
respect to lighting impacts on bats. Specific measures have been implemented, as
per recommended guidance, that will reduce effects including:

¢ Installation of back light shields / external light louvres or shields that reduce
light spill onto boundary features and woodland buffer zone;

e Horizontal illuminance levels at the southern edge of the site to be less than
0.2 lux which is the recommended lux level acceptable for commuting and
foraging bats and switching lights off at dusk and dawn

e External lighting for the stadium will be dimmed by <50% after 23:00 and once
spectators have vacated the Site during match days;

e Luminaires will have zero tilt and an Upward Light Ratio (ULR) of 0% which
will avoid light being emitted directly into the sky;

o Correlated colour temperatures of <3000k will be utilised;
¢ Reduction of blue light spectrum

o Warmer white colour temperature lights which have lower attractiveness to
some invertebrate species (resulting in greater number of insects in dark
areas); and,

e Selection of warmer colour temperatures with peak wavelengths greater than
550 nanometres to avoid the component of light most disturbing to bats.

9.425. The Lighting Assessment explains that projects in the earlier stages of design often
do not have fixed lighting designs for all elements of the proposal; this is the case with
the Proposed Development, with no detail of locations, orientations, mounting angles,
photometry etc. available for illuminated signage (including advertising), external
building lighting (facade), field of play lighting, internal building lighting, projectors, car
park lighting, road lighting, pedestrian walkway lighting, loading bay lighting, and
wayfinding lighting.

9.426. Where a detailed lighting design is not available, a qualitative assessment of the
likely effects has been provided based upon professional judgement and experience,
along with a framework of limitations and mitigation measures to set the basis for all
future lighting design for the Proposed Development which can be subject to planning
conditions. It further explains that the qualitative assessment of lighting impacts
assumes that the achieved levels of lighting for each lighting application would be
slightly beyond the minimum required levels (i.e. a worst case scenario).

9.427. Third party representations have raised concerns about the lack of lighting
assessment on the proposed Section 278 works to make changes to Frieze Way and
Oxford Road to support the Proposed Development and the consequential impact this
may have on ecology.

9.428. However, the lighting assessment assumes a worst case scenario for the extent of
lighting proposed along Freize Way, to facilitate the S278 works. The lighting is based
upon the Design Manual For Roads and bridges (DMRB) guidance documents CD
109:2020 and TD 501:2020. TD 501:2020 requires that, ‘there shall not be an unlit
gap less than four times the safe stopping distance between lit sections’. As the likely

127
Page 135



extents of lighting between lit areas are less than this it is assumed that the lighting
will extend to Loop Farm roundabout.

9.429. The field of play lighting will be mounted on the underside of the stadium roof with
the mounting arrangement following the edges on both the east and west stands. This
will allow the field of play lighting to be focused directly onto the pitch and will allow
the stadium to act as a shield preventing the spread of light. Due to this mounting
arrangement and the shielding effect of the stadium stands, there will not be increases
in light intrusion compared to the non-match days

Conclusion

9.430. Detailed lighting design will follow the criteria set out in the Lighting Assessment in
order to mitigate the proposed development. Through embedding all reasonable and
practical mitigation into the lighting design which will be secured by planning condition,
it is considered that the proposal meets the requirements of paragraph 198 of the
NPPF, Policy ESD 15 of the CLP 2015 and Policy ENV 1 of the CLP 1996.

Flooding and Drainage

Policy context

9.431. Section 14 of the NPPF considers the issue of meeting the challenge of climate
change, flooding and coastal change. Paragraph 172 states that when determining
any applications, local planning authorities should ensure that ‘flood risk is not
increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site
specific flood-risk assessment’.

9.432. Policy ESD6 of the CLP 2015 essentially replicates national policy contained in the
NPPF with respect to assessing and managing flood risk and resists development
where it would increase the risk of flooding and seeks to guide vulnerable
developments towards areas at lower risk of flooding.

9.433. Policy ESD7 of the CLP 2015, relates to sustainable drainage systems and advises
that all development will be required to use sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) for
the management of surface water run-off. Where site specific Flood Risk
Assessments are required in association with development proposals, they should be
used to determine how SuDS can be used on particular sites and to design
appropriate systems. In considering SuDS solutions, the need to protect ground water
quality must be taken into account, especially where infiltration techniques are
proposed. Where possible, SuDS should seek to reduce flood risk, reduce pollution
and provide landscape and wildlife benefits. SuDS will require the approval of
Oxfordshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). Proposals must
also include an agreement on the future management, maintenance and replacement
of the SuDS features.

Assessment

9.434. The application is supported by a Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy. The comments
of the LLFA, EA, Thames Water and CDC Land Drainage Officers are noted.

9.435. The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 (low probability) and as such, the
development itself is at a low (less than 1 in 1000 year) risk of flooding from rivers or
the sea but is more than 1 hectare in size and therefore a detailed Flood Risk
Assessment is required. The application was therefore accompanied by a Flood Risk
Assessment accordingly.

128
Page 136



9.436. Surface water flooding is a description for excessive overland flows that have yet to
enter a natural or manmade receptor (e.g. aquifer, watercourse or sewer). Surface
water flooding also occurs when the amount of runoff exceeds the capacity of the
collecting system and spills onto overland flow routes. Surface water flooding is
usually the result of very intense, short lived rainfall events, but can also occur during
milder, longer lived rainfall events, when collecting systems are at capacity or the
ground is saturated. It often results in the inundation of low points in the terrain. In
accordance with the EA’s Long Term Flood Risk Information, the mapping indicates
an area of high-risk surface water flooding shown at the west of the site, which
correlates with an area of low topography. Further small areas are indicated at risk of
flooding that follow the known locations of the drainage ditches to the southwest and
south (beyond Stratfield Brake), ranging from high to low risk.

9.437. Drainage ditches invert levels indicate that they convey surface water runoff toward
the existing culvert located southwest that discharges under and beyond Frieze Way.
A site walkover completed by the applicant’s drainage engineers in July 2023
confirmed that the existing culvert is approximately 825mm in diameter and mostly
blocked (approx. 85%) with silt, likely restricting flows during large storm events and
causing localised flooding particularly in areas of low topography. All remaining areas
of the site are considered very low risk of flooding from surface water.

9.438. However, the site levels will be raised to circa 64.800m AOD (FFL) and proposed
surfaces will be positively drained, therefore alleviating the issue of standing water.
The proposed method of discharging is to utilise the existing culvert whilst restricting
proposed surface water flows to greenfield runoff rates with the use of a Hydrobrake.
Not only will this minimise the offsite flows in accordance with policy requirements it
also mitigates the risk of flooding to both the development and its surroundings. In
order to achieve this, provisions of sustainable drainage features (SuDS) to attenuate
flows are required, which are provided as ponds and geo cellular crates that total an
approximate volume of 3,715m?3. Hydraulic modelling has confirmed that there is no
flooding in the 1 in 30-year storm event and flooding of less than 8m? during the 1 in
100 year + 40% CC storm event.

9.439. Other SuDS features like rain gardens, swales and filter drains will also provide
some attenuation. During an exceedance or any flooding caused by blockages, any
surface water arising will be contained onsite and due to surfacing designed to fall
away from the building, will be held within the car park area until the network is able
to drain down.

9.440. It will be necessary to provide a suitably designed storm water drainage system to
collect, convey and attenuate the additional runoff generated by the development of
this site. The net result should be that there is no increase in flood risk to either
downstream properties or assets as a result of the development. This will be
demonstrated by the developing drainage strategy of the site. This strategy should
also include measures to improve run-off quality whilst maximising biodiversity and
amenity to provide a sustainable drainage system as noted in Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG).

9.441. The updated Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy confirms that a connection to the 6
inch water main at the roundabout has been discussed with Thames Water, which will
supply the potable water and fire hydrant supply. Thames Water is to confirm that the
potable water supply in the area has suitable capacity; discussions with Thames
Water are ongoing (see para 9.443 below). The Thames Water foul network has
capacity at the moment to accommodate 12I/s from the development. The foul
network will need to be upgraded to accommodate the flow rate required by the
Proposed Development which Thames Water is obligated to provide. Attenuation
storage for foul flows is to be provided on site.

129
Page 137



9.442. The EIA assesses the impact of the proposed drainage strategy on receptors within
a 1km radius and concludes that will be no change to the greenfield runoff rates from
the Site, there will be a Negligible significance of effect to the impact zone of the Pixey
and Yarnton Meads SSSI, the wildlife area adjacent to the Oxford Canal and Stratfield
Brake woodland during the construction period (Low sensitivity, Negligible
magnitude).

9.443. Thames Water have raised no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions
requiring network upgrades to be completed to foul, sewage and water network or a
development phasing plan to be agreed, prior to occupation. The Environment
Agency similarly do not object, subject to a pre commencement condition requiring
the approval of a detailed scheme to dispose of foul drainage.

Conclusion

9.444. The comments and concerns raised by third parties and consultees have been
carefully considered. Considering the application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and
the applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, the proposals are
considered to be acceptable, subject to conditions and in accordance with
Development Plan policy and national planning policy guidance.

Sustainability

Policy context

9.445. Section 14 of the NPPF addresses the issue of meeting the challenge of climate
change, flooding and coastal change. Policies ESD1-5 of the CLP 2015 similarly deal
with these matters.

9.446. Policy ESD1 of the CLP 2015 deals with the issue of Mitigating and Adapting to
climate change and includes criteria under which applications for new development
will be considered, such as the requirement that development will incorporate suitable
adaptation measures to ensure that development is more resilient to climate change
impacts by proposing sustainable drainage methods and increased green
infrastructure provision.

9.447. Policy ESD2 considers Energy Hierarchy and Allowable Solutions and seeks to
achieve carbon emissions reductions where the council will promote an ‘energy
hierarchy’ as follows: reducing energy use, in particular by the use of sustainable
design and construction measures; supplying energy efficiently and giving priority to
decentralised energy supply; making use of renewable energy and making use of
allowable solutions. Any new development will be expected to consider these and
address the energy needs of the development.

9.448. Policy ESD3 considers Sustainable Construction and states that ‘all new non-
residential development will be expected to meet at least BREEAM ‘Very Good’ with
immediate effect, subject to review over the plan period to ensure the target remains
relevant. The demonstration of the achievement of this standard should be set out in
the Energy Statement’. Cherwell is also in an area of water stress and therefore
requires all new development to achieve a limit of 110 litres/person/day.

9.449. Policy ESD4 considers the use of decentralised energy systems and requires a
feasibility assessment to be submitted with a relevant application which includes non-
domestic developments above 1000sgm floorspace. Policy ESD5 considers
renewable energy and requires that all non-residential developments of above
1000sgm of floorspace are accompanied by a feasibility assessment of the potential

130
Page 138



for significant on-site renewable energy provision, above that required to meet
national building standards.

Assessment

9.450. The application is supported by a Sustainability and Energy Statement which seeks
to demonstrate compliance with the above-mentioned policy requirements. The
statement outlines that compliance would be achieved by adopting a ‘360 framework’
that sets out target ambition levels across a range of sustainability themes.

9.451. The statement addresses GHG (Greenhouse Gas) emissions and mitigation
measures such as setting out a Construction Environmental Management Plan to
minimise construction emissions and to reduce energy usage during construction.
The effects from matchday travel are predicted to be positive as the new stadium has
a target to achieve more sustainable travel modes compared to the existing stadium.
During operation, mitigation measures include introducing low carbon technologies
such as air source heat pumps and solar panels, resulting in no significant effects
after mitigation.

9.452. With regards to climate resilience, risks can be managed and reduced by
considering future climate conditions within the detailed landscaping design, and also
by monitoring and managing the operation and use of the proposal through its lifetime,
including through planning for heatwaves and other extreme weather events to reduce
heat-related risks to fans and players.

9.453. The BREEAM pre-assessment notes that the Proposed Development is targeting a
‘Very Good'’ rating, with an expected total score of 74.23%. Additionally, a feasibility
study of the Low and zero carbon technologies has been undertaken. Heating and
cooling will be provided in the form of air source heat pumps to provide space heating
and cooling. In addition, PV panels are also proposed as an onsite electricity
generation system, further reducing the energy consumption of the building.

9.454. In relation to water use, the Statement outlines measures to conserve water, with
the primary aim to reduce potable water consumption as much as possible. To ensure
the building users can record and analyse their consumption data, a submeter will be
provided on the mains water supply, and any areas consuming more than 10% of the
annual water consumption will also be metered. Additionally, to reduce wastage due
to water leaks, a permanent, automated water leak detection system will be installed
to detect major water leaks. This is to be activated when the flow of water passing
through the meter is at a flow rate above a pre-set maximum for a pre-set period of
time. Flow control devices will be provided to regulate water supply to each WC area
or sanitary facility, also to minimise undetected wastage and leaks.

9.455. Whilst it is not specified within the Statement, a suitably worded condition can be
imposed to ensure that the development achieves a limit of 110 litres/person/day, in
accordance with Policy ESD3.

9.456. The Sustainability and Energy Statement has been reviewed by the Council’s
consultant (Bioregional). Whilst comments on the latest submission have not been
received these aspects of sustainable design are positive aspects of the scheme and
would make a valuable contribution to national/ local climate objectives and achieving
policy compliance.

9.457. Third party representations have referred to the absence of the environmental cost
of disposing of the existing stadium, and that this should be included in the energy,
carbon and waste account of the new stadium. The applicants have responded to

131
Page 139



these concerns and are committed to conducting a detailed embodied carbon
assessment post planning.

Conclusion

9.458. Subject to appropriate conditions, the proposal is considered to comply with the
requirements of Policies ESD 1 to 5 of the CLP 2015.

Environmental Statement

9.459. The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES). undertaken
in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended). The ES covers the application site and
contains information describing the project, aspects of the environment likely to be
significantly affected by the development and measures to prevent or mitigate any
identified impacts. Where an ES has been submitted with an application the Local
Planning Authority must have regard to it in determining the application and can only
approve the application if they are satisfied that the ES provides adequate information.

9.460. A formal scoping opinion was issued by the LPA on 29 September 2023. The
structure and the topics in scope within the Environmental Statement align with the
Scoping Opinion. The EIA has sought to identify good practice measures to mitigate
likely significant adverse environmental effects that might arise as a consequence of
constructing and operating the Proposed Development. The assessment process has
also sought to determine the residual environmental effects that will remain after
mitigation has been incorporated.

9.461. The ES for each chapter considers the impacts and the significance as well as the
cumulative effects. It is not possible within this report to set out all of the impacts
identified, but below is a summary of the areas covered. The full reports, technical
notes and non-technical summary can be viewed via the Council’s website. The
originally submitted ES was amended by the applicant following the result of
consultation responses and third party representations.

9.462. The topic areas covered within the ES are as follows:

e Introductory Chapters, prepared by Ridge and Partners;

e Landscape and Visual Impact, prepared by Fabrik

¢ Ecology and Nature Conservation, prepared by Ecology Solutions

¢ Cultural Heritage and Archaeology, prepared by Cotswold Archaeology
e Transport and Access, prepared by Ridge

¢ Noise and Vibration, prepared by Mott Macdonald

e Air Quality, prepared by Mott Macdonald

e Lighting, prepared by Mott Macdonald

¢ Flood Risk and Drainage, prepared by Mott Macdonald

e Socio-Economics, prepared by Ekosgen

¢ Climate Change, prepared by Mott Macdonald

132
Page 140



o Waste, prepared by Mott Macdonald
e Major Accidents and Disasters, prepared by LUC
e Cumulative Effects, prepared by Ridge and Partners

9.463. The overall conclusions of the ES are that during construction, there will be some
adverse significant effects associated with the proposed works, primarily in relation to
the effects on site landscape, contextual landscape, visual effects from residential
properties, Stratfield Brake and users of some local roads and PRoWs. The majority
of these effects will be temporary and mitigated as far as practicable through
implementation and adherence to measures set out within the CEMP. Once the
development is operational, there will be significant adverse effects on contextual
landscape and site landscape by the very nature of the site being developed. There
will also be significant visual effects on users of Oxford Road and Frieze Way, users
of the PRoW Footpath 229/4/30 to the east of the Site and users of Stratfield Brake.
There will be significant beneficial effects in terms of the creation of natural and semi-
natural habitats, plant and habitat for bats and invertebrates. In terms of highways,
there will be significant beneficial effects in terms of pedestrian delay and non-
motorised user delay on both Oxford Road and Frieze Way, although there will be
significant effects on driver delay on 4 local road links on match-days, albeit this will
be for a temporary period and irregular in nature. There will be significant beneficial
effects in terms of labour market. No residual significant effects are anticipated in
respect of all other topics.

9.464. Officers consider that the information provided in the ES and subsequent
addendums accords with the EIA Regulations in terms of what is required for inclusion
within an ES and the environmental information before the Council (which includes
relevant representations from statutory and non-statutory consultees as well as the
public representations) and is considered to be sufficient to enable the planning
application to be determined in accordance with the EIA regulations.

Planning Obligations

9.465. Paragraph 56 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should consider
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the
use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used
where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.

9.466. Paragraph 58 continues by stating that planning obligations must only be sought
where they meet all of the following tests®:

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

9.467. Policy INF1 of the CLP 2015 covers the issue of infrastructure and requires
proposals to demonstrate that infrastructure requirements can be met including the
provision of transport, education, health, social and community facilities.

9.468. The Council also has a Developer Contributions SPD in place which was adopted

in February 2018. It should, however, be noted that this is a general guide and
development proposals will continue to be assessed on a case-by-case basis with the

5 Set out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010

Page 141

133



individual circumstances of each site being taken into consideration when identifying
infrastructure requirements.

9.469. Draft Heads of Terms have been prepared and is in the process of being negotiated

with the applicants and which are based on the application documents and the
Officers’ negotiations with the Applicants since the application was submitted. The
following items are likely to be included:

e An obligation to secure apprenticeship and training requirements, as set out
in the Council’s Adopted Developer Contributions SPD (2018)

e Payment of a contribution towards Public Art proportionate to the cultural
significance of the development which can help integrate it into the evolving
sense of place in the area.

e Contributions and obligations to secure improvements to the highway network.
These are set out in Appendix 2 of this report, within the Local Highway
Authority response.

¢ Payment of contributions towards Chiltern Railway improvements, as set out
in Appendix 2 of this report.

o Woodland Management Plan

o Community Use Agreement obligations to provide measures to enforce the
various community use commitments by OUFC

e Biodiversity Net Gain (on site monitoring)

e Payment of the Council’s Monitoring Costs

9.470. It is considered that in the event that the Planning Committee resolve to approve

10.

10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

this application, this would be subject to the completion of a S106 agreement. As
such, it is considered that the proposed development will comply with Policy INF1 of
the CLP 2015 as well as guidance outlined in paragraph 56 of the NPPF. Details of
the S106 contributions/obligations can be seen in Appendix 2 of this report.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

As detailed in Section 8 of this Report, Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act requires that development proposals be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Section 13 (paragraphs 142 to 156) of the NPPF sets out national Green Belt policy.
The NPPF (2024) post-dates the Cherwell Local Plan and so provides up-to-date
Green Belt Policy.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF highlights how to apply the presumption in favour of
sustainable development. For decision taking, the presumption in favour of
sustainable development means approving development proposals that accord with
an up to date development plan without delay or where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining
the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

134
Page 142



10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

10.7.

10.8.

10.9.

e the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development
proposed;

e any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework
taken as a whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing
development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing
well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in
combination.

The proposed development is considered to be inappropriate development within the
Green Belt by definition, as it does not fall within any of the exceptions set out by
paragraph 154 of the NPPF; it comprises the provision of a stadium with associated
commercial facilities and hard/soft landscaping which do not preserve the openness
of the Green Belt. The proposed stadium, owing to its height, bulk, mass and
materiality causes substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt.

Whilst the December 2024 NPPF introduced the concept of ‘Grey Belt', this site has
been assessed not to comprise Grey Belt land.

Paragraph 153 of the NPPF requires the decision maker to give substantial weight to
any harm to the Green Belt, including harm to its openness. Inappropriate
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved
except in very special circumstances. Very special circumstances will not exist unless
the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other
harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

The applicant has made a case that there are very special circumstances applicable
to this case. In terms of what constitutes very special circumstances, this depends on
the weight of each of the factors put forward and the degree of weight to be accorded
to each is a matter for the decision taker, in this case the Planning Committee, acting
within the “Wednesbury Principles®”. This stage will often be divided into two steps.
The first is to determine whether any individual factor taken by itself outweighs the
harm and the second is to determine whether some or all of the factors in combination,
outweigh the harm. There is case law that says that a number of factors, none of them
“very special” when considered in isolation, may when combined together amount to
very special circumstances and goes on to say that “there is no reason why a number
or factors ordinary in themselves cannot combine to create something very special™’.

The factors considered in section 9 above and summarised below, individually do not
represent very special circumstances and the question for the decision taker is
whether collectively those factors combine with sufficient weight to represent the very
special circumstances that would overcome the harm to the Green Belt. To assist in
the decision making process the following tables have been produced:

Very Special Circumstance Weight to be attached *

6 The ‘Wednesbury Principle’ is a legal doctrine. It states that a decision made by a public

authority can be quashed through judicial review if it is so unreasonable that no reasonable

authority could have made it.

7 Redhill Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2014] EWCA
Civ 1386

135
Page 143


https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=b370b14e70f4a82fcde0766e419f8da0d1d84a98dd6f7904c010d671c479d141JmltdHM9MTc1NDI2NTYwMA&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=4&fclid=11bf41af-f1d7-6f65-1f5e-53f9f5d769d8&psq=the+wednesbury+principle&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly90ZXN0Ym9vay5jb20vaWFzLXByZXBhcmF0aW9uL2RvY3RyaW5lLW9mLXByb3BvcnRpb25hbGl0eQ&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=b370b14e70f4a82fcde0766e419f8da0d1d84a98dd6f7904c010d671c479d141JmltdHM9MTc1NDI2NTYwMA&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=4&fclid=11bf41af-f1d7-6f65-1f5e-53f9f5d769d8&psq=the+wednesbury+principle&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly90ZXN0Ym9vay5jb20vaWFzLXByZXBhcmF0aW9uL2RvY3RyaW5lLW9mLXByb3BvcnRpb25hbGl0eQ&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=b370b14e70f4a82fcde0766e419f8da0d1d84a98dd6f7904c010d671c479d141JmltdHM9MTc1NDI2NTYwMA&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=4&fclid=11bf41af-f1d7-6f65-1f5e-53f9f5d769d8&psq=the+wednesbury+principle&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly90ZXN0Ym9vay5jb20vaWFzLXByZXBhcmF0aW9uL2RvY3RyaW5lLW9mLXByb3BvcnRpb25hbGl0eQ&ntb=1

The need to locate from the Kassam
Stadium

Substantial weight

Financial sustainability of owning their
(OUFC) own stadium

Limited Weight

Lack of alternative sites

Substantial Weight

The importance of keeping OUFC in the
local area

Substantial weight

Benefits for fans

Limited Weight

Benefits for women’s football/ the club

Moderate Weight

Other community benefits including socio-
economic benefits

Substantial Weight

Sustainable design and operational
benefits

Moderate Weight

Sustainable transport benefits

Substantial Weight

Biodiversity enhancement measures

Moderate Weight

Access to the Green Belt

Limited Weight

Precedent Appeal decisions

No weight applicable

English Football League (EFL)
requirements

Substantial Weight

*

Scale of weight is as follows: Substantial; Moderate; Limited.

10.10. The relocation of OUFC is rooted in the need to find an alternative site in the

absence of any other feasible, practical or realistic alternatives to accommodate a
proposed stadium and in order to improve its viability as a business operation and
maintain its socio-economic contribution to the area. In addition, to secure the long
term prospects of OUFC, the club is in need of financial self sufficiency, that the
existing location does not and will not provide.

10.11. There is no general requirement in the NPPF or development plan for a developer

to undertake an alternative or sequential site assessment. This approach was recently
corroborated in an appeal decision for development within the Green Belt for a Battery
Energy Storage Facility®. The Inspector noted that:

The Courts have held, that the task of a decision maker is to consider the planning
merits any particular planning application and as such planning law does not require
the decision maker to consider whether the proposed development would be more
appropriately located at an alternative site. That said, the Courts have held that there
may be exceptional circumstances such that a potential alternative is a material
consideration which the decision maker either must have regard to, or may have

8 Appeal Ref: APP/\V4630/W/24/3347424 Land off Chapel Lane, Great Barr, Walsall

136
Page 144



regard to, in the exercise of planning judgment. Although the site is within Green
Belt, this location is not, on its own or cumulatively, a bar to development. However,
whilst the location of the site does not represent an exceptional circumstance, an
ASA has been submitted and it is a material consideration that attracts significant
weight.

10.12. The applicants have undertaken a robust assessment of alternatives and have
concluded that there are no alternative sites suitable for this proposal. The
assumptions made in respect of site availability, landscape and visual harm have
been challenged and scrutinised by Officers and independent consultants and there
is no reason to disagree with the conclusions therein. This site, when considered
against other sites is the third most preferential (behind the Kassam Stadium, where
it is accepted that OUFC cannot remain and behind site 30 which has been confirmed
as being unavailable).

10.13. The proposed stadium represents a significant upgrade to the existing facilities at
the Kassam Stadium, which provides greater opportunities for women’s and youth
games. The alleged community benefits, including year-round access to the stadium’s
inclusive community facilities, which could be used by local sports groups and the
wider community, support for local sporting facilities, limited free access to facilities
by local schools, hosting of local community events and the potential for education
provision on site, must be tempered by the fact that the club is a private entity and
public use is not automatic or legally required.

10.14. Several community benefits are not dependent on the development of this specific
site. For example, the OUitC programmes, whilst beneficial and which provide a
valuable contribution to the development of sport in under-represented areas, are not
location specific and can continue to make these contributions regardless of where
the team plays. However, should the Club cease to exist without a new home stadium,
these community benefits may also cease. Similarly, the proposed conference
facilities are primarily commercial in nature and not demonstrably community
amenities.

10.15. The very special circumstances factors are compelling. However, as set out at
paragraph 153, very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

10.16. In terms of “other harm”, as per paragraph 153 of the NPPF, the development would
clearly impact openness given the scale of the development in a part of the green belt
which is fragile and where development would significantly weaken the distinction
between Kidlington and Oxford. The land makes a significant contribution to the Green
Belt and its purposes in this location. The development would cause significant
landscape and visual harm at a localised level and there would be some impacts to
ecology which would need to be carefully mitigated and compensated for.

10.17. To avoid and minimise additional harm beyond the ‘by definition’ harm of allowing
inappropriate development in the Green Belt (which attracts substantial weight),
mitigation has been secured to achieve a neutral impact on a number of factors. This
includes: improvements to the surrounding transport network and the inclusion of
measures to encourage the use of public transport and active mode travel; measures
to reduce and enhance ecological impact, notably through a requirement to achieve
biodiversity net gain; inclusion of a package of works and planning obligations to
reinforce supporting infrastructure capacity; and discipline specific measures to
protect residential amenity, notably in relation to noise, air quality and lighting.

137
Page 145



10.18. Account has been taken of the impacts of the development, including the landscape
and visual impacts, change to the existing setting of nearby receptors and the impact
to the openness of and the direct loss of Green Belt land, which has been considered
and weighed in the planning balance.

10.19. Taking into consideration the assessment of impacts and resulting harm from the
development as presented in this report, the residual effects and the weight to be
attributed to them can be summarised as follows:

Material planning | Summary of | Overall impact*
consideration assessment
Heritage Neutral impact on setting | NEUTRAL

of heritage assets and
archaeological features

Trees and Ecology Negative impact on local | MODERATE POSITIVE
populations for bats and
nesting birds and
invertebrates, negative
impact on loss of TPO
trees; significant positive
for overall Biodiversity
Net Gain (20%) although
the overall benefit is
tempered by this needing
to be achieved primarily
off site.

Landscape and visual | Temporary negative | SIGNIFICANT NEGATIVE
impact impact during
construction; residual
impact on the openness
of the Green Belt; positive
impact on increased site

vegetation; negative
impact on landscape,
townscape; negative
visual impact on

residential, road network
and open spaces.

Design Positive impact on | MODERATE POSITIVE
improved inclusive
facilities enabling wider
participation

Retail impact Neutral impact on | NEUTRAL

Kidlington village centre

138
Page 146



Residential amenity

Temporary negative
impact during
construction, neutral

impact operationally

NEUTRAL

Transport and Highway
safety

Temporary negative
impact during
construction; neutral
impact on the highway
network and highway

safety; significant positive
impact on pedestrian and
cycling movement, rail
infrastructure facilities
and bus services; neutral
impact on match/events
days on the highway
network  and public
transport; neutral impact
on parking.

MODERATE POSITIVE

Noise and air quality Temporary negative | NEUTRAL
impact during
construction, neutral
impact operationally
Lighting Neutral impact | NEUTRAL
operationally
Flooding and drainage Positive impact on | MODERATE POSITIVE
surface water drainage,
neutral impact on
groundwater

Sustainability

Positive impact on energy

MODERATE POSITIVE

reduction, fabric
performance and
renewable technology
integration potential
negative  impact on
embodied carbon
Social infrastructure Significant positive | SIGNIFICANT POSITIVE

impact on employment

Public and community
benefit

OouitC

SIGNIFICANT POSITIVE

*Scale of impact is as follows: Significant positive;

Moderate negative; Significant negative

Page 147

Moderate positive; Neutral;

139




10.20. This table indicates that there would be positive social, economic and environmental
aspects to the development. The area of greatest harm is to the landscape and visual
receptors at a localised level. There is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.

10.21. As per paragraph 215 of the NPPF, it is also necessary, due to the identification of
the potential for less than substantial harm to heritage assets (i.e. below ground
archaeology), to weigh this harm against the public benefits of the proposal, including
where appropriate, securing its optimal viable use. In this case and for the reasons
set out throughout this conclusion which represent significant public benefits, it is
considered that those benefits outweigh the harm to designated heritage assets. This
also acknowledges the required planning conditions sought by the OCC Archaeology
team which has led to their response of no objection.

10.22. The weight to be attributed to the Club’s very special circumstances is set out in the
tables above. Although regard needs to be had to the full weighting of benefits and
harms set out above, it is considered that the pressing need to find OUFC, an
important social and community institution, a new home and in sufficient proximity to
comply with EFL rules, the absence of alternatives, and the benefits that the scheme
delivers outweigh that harm in this case, notwithstanding the significance of some of
those harms.

10.23. Whilst Officers recognise that there would be an inevitable degree of adverse
impact from the level of activity associated with the maximum of 43 home match days
a year and up to 580 other events per year (of varying scales, anticipated as being
minor events of around 10-30 people up to approximately 68 events with an average
of 700 people), this impact would be controlled and mitigated to an acceptable level
in accordance with the various plans that will manage activities at the site and
surrounding area, in particular the Travel Plans, the Crowd & Traffic Management
strategy and Evacuation Strategy which will contain specific mitigation measures
relating to such events. Officers consider that in relation to the community uses of the
Stadium there would be positive impacts from the proposal, as detailed earlier in this
report by reference to the VSC. For example, by making the Stadium and its
associated facilities more accessible and inclusive, both through design and free use
of some of the spaces in a more sustainable location within the community.

10.24. All of these impacts are considered likely to be very positive for the health and
wellbeing for the communities of Kidlington, Oxford and Oxfordshire as a whole and
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt caused by the construction of the stadium and
the associated home match day and other activities that will be generated at the
stadium and other associated uses. As detailed in the consultation response section
above, the current proposal has not received any objection from any other statutory
consultees, including the Local Highway Authority, Lead Local Flood Authority,
Environment Agency, Natural England or National Highways.

10.25. After very careful consideration and detailed negotiations with the applicants in
relation to the design and content of the proposed development, as well as the
stringent requirements of the recommended planning conditions and obligations,
Officers have concluded that very special circumstances to justify this proposed
development have been demonstrated, on the basis that the harm to the Green Belt
by reason of inappropriateness, and the other harm from the proposal, is clearly
outweighed by the other considerations listed above.

10.26. Referral to the Secretary of State: Given that the application comprises a major
development which is a departure from the Development Plan due to the development
comprising inappropriate development in the Green Belt, if members are minded to
approve the application it will need to be referred to the Secretary of State. The

140
Page 148



Secretary of State will then determine whether she wants to ‘call in’ the application for
determination or whether this can be determined at the local level.

141
Page 149



RECOMMENDATION

DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT TO GRANT PERMISSION, SUBJECT TO

()
(i)
(iii)

FURTHER RECOMMENDATION: THE STATUTORY DETERMINATION PERIOD
FOR THIS APPLICATION EXPIRES ON 15 AUGUST 2025. IF THE SECTION 106
AGREEMENT/UNDERTAKING IS NOT COMPLETED AND THE PERMISSION IS
NOT ABLE TO BE ISSUED BY THIS DATE AND NO EXTENSION OF TIME HAS
BEEN AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES, IT IS FURTHER RECOMMENDED
THAT THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT IS
GIVEN DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION FOR THE
FOLLOWING REASON:

1.

In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking or any other form
of Section 106 legal agreement the Local Planning Authority is not
satisfied that the proposed development provides for:

a)

b)

REFERRAL TO SECRETARY OF STATE AS THE APPLICATION IS A
DEPARTURE FROM THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

THE CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW (AND ANY AMENDMENTS TO
THOSE CONDITIONS AS DEEMED NECESSARY), AND

THE COMPLETION OF A PLANNING OBLIGATION UNDER SECTION
106 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990, TO
SECURE THE MITIGATION SET OUT IN APPENDIX 2 (AND ANY
AMENDMENTS TO THOSE OBLIGATIONS AS DEEMED
NECESSARY)

Transport - The proposed development fails to provide a mechanism
(via a Section 106 legal agreement) to ensure the provision of
necessary transport and highway works to satisfactorily mitigate its
impacts or meet the travel demand created by the development.
Without a section 106 agreement the necessary highway works
could not be secured to ensure safe access to and egress from the
site or the promotion of use of sustainable modes of transport
including walking, cycling or the provision of a public route through
the site. In addition, there would not be a mechanism to ensure the
proposed highway works are carried out in a timely way or are safely
designed. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies SLE4 and
INF1 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031, guidance within the
Council’s Developer Contributions SPD (February 2018) and
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.
Apprenticeship and Training - The proposal fails to provide a
mechanism (via a Section 106 legal agreement) to secure an
Employment and Training Strategy specifying how the developer or
their main contractors will provide opportunities for local people to
gain employment or training on the construction phase of the
proposed development contrary to Policy INF1 of the Cherwell
Local Plan 2011-2031, guidance within the Council’s Developer
Contributions SPD (February 2018) and guidance within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Public Art - The proposal fails to provide a mechanism (via a Section
106 legal agreement) to secure delivery towards the provision of a
public art, proportionate to the cultural significance of the
development, contrary to Policy INF1 of the Cherwell Local Plan
2011-2031, guidance within the Council’s Developer Contributions

142
Page 150



SPD (February 2018) and guidance within the National Planning
Policy Framework.

d) Railway Improvements — The proposal fails to provide a mechanism
(via a Section 106 legal agreement) to secure financial contributions
towards Chiltern Railway improvements, without which, adequate
rail capacity to serve the new stadium could not be delivered. This
would prevent the effective implementation of the travel plan
strategies and undermine the assumptions within the Transport
Assessment, to the detriment of highway safety, contrary to Policy
SLE4 and INF1 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031, guidance
within the Council’s Developer Contributions SPD (February 2018)
and guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework..

e) Woodland Management Plan — The proposal fails to provide a
mechanism (via a Section 106 legal agreement) to secure necessary
improvements to the Stratfield Brake woodland to the south of the
site to ensure the long term resilience of the woodland by
safeguarding against direct and indirect harm, contrary to policy
ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 and guidance within the
National Planning Policy Framework.

f) Community Use Agreement - The proposal fails to provide a
mechanism (via a Section 106 legal agreement) to secure measures
to enforce the various community use commitments made by the
applicants, to provide direct socio-economic benefits to the
community, contrary to Policies BSC12 and INF1 of the Cherwell
Local Plan 2011-2031, guidance within the Council’s Developer
Contributions SPD (February 2018) and guidance within the
National Planning Policy Framework..

g) Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) - The proposal fails to provide a
mechanism (via a Section 106 legal agreement) to secure and
maintain on site, long term habitat enhancement commitments,
contrary to policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 and
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Monitoring - The proposal fails to provide a mechanism (via a Section 106

legal agreement) to secure a financial contribution to ensure timely

monitoring of the s106 agreement and ensure effective implementation
of relevant Development Plan policies contrary to Policy INF1 of the

Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031, guidance within the Council’s Developer

Contributions SPD (February 2018) and guidance within the National

Planning Policy Framework.

DRAFT CONDITIONS

Time limit
1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun not later than

the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

Compliance with Plans
2. Except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission, the

development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the following approved
plans and documents:

143
Page 151



Site Location Plan - OUFC AFL ZZ 00 DR A 000001 - P09

Site Masterplan OUFC AFL ZZ 00 DR A 001000 - P08

Proposed Site Elevations OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 002001 - 05

Existing Site Sections  OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 003000 - P03

Proposed Site Sections OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 003001 - P05

Elevations West And North Stand OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 202001 - P17
Elevations East And South Stand OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 202002 - P17
Main Sections OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 203000 - P13

Access General Arrangement Part 1 5018932 RDG XX XX DR H PL001 - P04
Access General Arrangement Part 2 5018932 RDG XX XX DR H PL002 - P04
Access General Arrangement Part 3 5018932 RDG XX XX DR H PL003 - P04
Access Vehicle Access And Egress 5018932 RDG XX XX DR H PL0OO05 - P04
Car Parking And Delivery 5018932 RDG XX XX DR H PL012 - P04

Existing Site Elevations OUFC AFL ZZ ZZ DR A 00200 - P04

Level 00 GA Floor Plan OUFC AFL 00 00 DR A 201000 - P25

Level 01 GA Floor Plan OUFC AFL 00 01 DR A 201010 - P24

Level 02 GA Floor Plan OUFC AFL 00 02 DR A 201020 - P23

Level 03 GA Floor Plan OUFC AFL 00 03 DR A 201030 - P24

Level 04 GA Floor Plan OUFC AFL 00 04 DR A 201040 - P23

Level 05 Hotel Roof Plan OUFC AFL 00 05 DR A 201050 - 13

Level 06 Roof Plan OUFC AFL 00 06 DR A 201060 - P13

Landscape General Arrangement plan OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 1001 - P21
Landscape Section A-AA OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8000 - PL0O3

Landscape Sections B-BB, D-DDOUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8001 - PL0O3

Landscape Section C-CC OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8002 - PLO3

Landscape Section E-EE OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8003 - PLO3

Landscape Sections F-FF, G-GG, H-HH OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8004 - PL03
Landscape Sections J-JJ, K-KK OUFC FAB 00 XX DR L 8005 - PLO3

lllustrative Landscape Masterplan OUFC FAB 00 XX DT L 1000 - P21

Typical Planting Details- Soil Profile planOUFC FAB XX XX DR L 8700 - P01
Typical Planting Details-Tree Pitts 1 OUFC FAB XX XX DR L 8701 - PO1
Typical Planting Details - Tree Pits 2 OUFC FAB XX XX DR L 8702 - PO1

Hard Landscaping Legend OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2000 - PLO1

Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 1 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2001 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 2 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2002 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 3 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2003 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 4 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2004 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 5 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2005 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 6 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2006 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 7 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2007 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 8 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2008 PLO1
Hard Landscaping Gen Arrangement 9 of 9 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-2009 PLO1
Detailed Planting plan 1 of 12 ~ OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3001 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 2 of 12~ OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3002 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 3 0of 12  OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3003 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 4 of 12 ~ OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3004 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 50f 12  OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3005 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 6 of 12 ~ OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3006 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 7 of 12  OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3007 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 8 of 12  OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3008 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 9 of 12  OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3009 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 10 of 12 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3010 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 11 of 12 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3011 - PLO1

Detailed Planting plan 12 of 12 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-3012 - PLO1

Landscape Details - Furniture 1 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8100 - PLO1
Landscape Details - Furniture 2 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8101 - PLO1

144
Page 152



Landscape Details - Furniture 3 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8102 - PLO1
Landscape Details - Furniture 4 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8103 - PLO1
Landscape Details - Furniture 5 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8104 - PLO1
Landscape Details - Furniture 6 of 6 OUFC-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-8105 - PLO1

Environmental Statement dated February 2024
Environmental Statement Addendum dated December 2024

Biodiversity Net Gain dated May 2025

Arboricultural Impact Assessment dated June 2025

Transport Assessment Addendum dated March 2025

Retail Impact Assessment Addendum dated November 2024
Utilities Statement V4 dated November 2024

Geotechnical and Geo-Environmental Desk Study December 2023
OuitC Community Benefits dated June 2025

Reason — For the avoidance of doubt, to ensure that the development is carried out
only as approved by the Local Planning Authority and comply with Government
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Materials
Sample materials

3. Full details of the development, including samples of all materials to be used for
the external surfaces shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority before any development is commenced. Samples shall include
sample panels, glazing and a roofing material sample combined with a schedule
of the exact product references.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area in accordance
with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy
C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and government guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Sample boards

4. All approved materials shall be erected in the form of a samples board to be
retained on site throughout the works period concerned and the relevant parts of
the works shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area in accordance
with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy
C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and government guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Energy

BREEAM

145
Page 153



5. Development shall take place in accordance with the approved details
(Sustainability and Energy Statement Feb 2024 and subsequent amendments) of
on-site renewable energy provision and it shall be occupied until the approved on-
site renewable energy provision is operational and shall be retained as such
thereafter. The development shall deliver, as a minimum, a BREEAM ‘Very Good’
standard.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring that major development takes all reasonable
opportunities to operate more sustainably in accordance with the requirements of
Policy ESD5 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1.

Security
Counter-terrorism measures

6. Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, details of counter-
terrorism measures for the stadium building, concourse and fan zone, Oxford
Road, Oxford Parkway Park and Ride and Frieze Way, which have been reviewed
and approved by a Register of Security Engineers and Specialists registered
engineer, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in
writing, in consultation with Thames Valley Police. Approved measures shall
thereafter be implemented prior to the first use of the stadium and maintained
permanently thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of security and the prevention of crime. In
accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96
(b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
Part 1.

Note: The counter terrorism measures must include;

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation Measures, locations and specifications
Blast mitigation measures

Specification of walling and laminated glazing of the stadium building
Specification/design of public litter bins and street furniture

Secured by Design

7. Prior to first occupation or use of the development, Secured by Design
accreditation shall be achieved for the development hereby approved. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Secured by
Design principles.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of security and the prevention of crime. In
accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96
(b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
Part 1.

Secured Environments
8. Prior to first occupation or use of the development, Secured by Design “Secured
Environments” shall be achieved for the development hereby approved. The

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of security and the prevention of crime. In

146
Page 154



Restriction of Use

9.

10.

11.

Evacuation Strategy

12.

Segregation Strategy

13.

accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96
(b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
Part 1.

The stadium bowl and pitch area hereby permitted shall be limited to Use Class
F2 for outdoor sports only, and shall not be used for the purposes of
accommodating an amplified music concert.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety and to ensure the development does
not harm the amenities of the occupiers of surrounding properties and users of
the open spaces surrounding the stadium and to be consistent with the
assessment and other environmental information provided under the EIA process
in accordance with Policies ENV1 and ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
and Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96 (b); Section 12 paragraph
135 (f) of the NPPF.

No more than 43 professional or semi-professional football games shall be played
at the stadium in each calendar year.

Reason: To ensure that the development accords with the principles and
parameters that have been assessed in the EIA process and the transport
assessment relating to this application in accordance with policies ENV1 and
ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

The club shop hereby permitted shall be used for the sale and display of non-food
goods relating to Oxford United Football Club and for no other goods whatsoever.

Reason: To enable the local planning authority to retain planning control over the
development of this site in order to safeguard the amenities of the area and to
sustain the vitality and viability of Kidlington village centre, in accordance with
Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy C28 of
the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and government guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Prior to commencement of development above slab level, a full
emergency/exceptional evacuation strategy shall be submitted to the local
planning authority and approved in writing in consultation with Thames Valley
Police and the Local Highway Authority. The strategy shall demonstrate that
emergency vehicle access into the site is maintained during such events. The
development shall not be brought into use until the Evacuation Strategy has
been agreed. Thereafter and for the life of the development, the Evacuation
Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of highway safety, security and the prevention
of crime. In accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12
paragraph 96 (b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell
Local Plan 2011 Part 1

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved, an

147
Page 155



external fan segregation strategy shall be submitted to the local planning authority
and approved in writing, in consultation with Thames Valley Police. The strategy
shall demonstrate safe and effective fan segregation on match days. The strategy
should include, as a minimum, details of how Home and Away fans will be
separated during the ingress and egress phase.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of security and the prevention of crime. In
accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96
(b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
Part 1.

CCTV strategy

14. Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved, a CCTV

strategy shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing,
in consultation with Thames Valley Police. The strategy shall demonstrate
effective CCTV coverage of the stadium site.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development and in the interests of security and the prevention of crime. In
accordance with NPPF 2024, Section 8, paragraph 102; Section 12 paragraph 96
(b); Section 12 paragraph 135 (f), Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011
Part 1.

External Lighting scheme

15. Prior to the commencement of the development above slab level, details of a

proposed external lighting scheme, which shall provide details of lighting levels
on match days, non match days and any other events, provide details of timing
and seasonal differences and which shall adhere to the recommendations within
the ILP and Bat Conservation Trust Guidance Note 08/23 Bats and Artificial
Lighting in the UK, Bats and the Built Environment Series (Bat Conservation Trust
and ILP 2023) shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in
writing. The scheme shall also set out the steps that will be taken to ensure that
external lighting promotes a secure environment that supports effective CCTV
operations and does not cause a nuisance to local residents and shall
demonstrate that external lighting to be positioned to the south of the site as set
out in document titled ‘Ecology Response to Lighting Technical Note’ — June 2025
prepared by Ecology Solutions shall not exceed 0.2 lux horizontal illuminance and
0.4 lux vertical illuminance and that the pedestrian access points on the Eastern
boundary shall be lit by not more than 1-2.5 lux above the baseline. The external
lighting shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and shall
be retained and operated in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the public safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development, in the interests of security and the prevention of crime and to
mitigate for the potential impacts of artificial lighting on protected species,
specifically bats. In accordance with Policies ESD10 and ESD15 of the Cherwell
Local Plan 2011-2031 and in accordance with the guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Ecology (additional conditions at the end)

16. No development shall commence unless and until an Arboricultural Method

Statement (AMS), undertaken in accordance with BS:5837:2012 and all
subsequent amendments and revisions has been submitted to and approved in

148
Page 156



writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, all works on site shall be
carried out in strict accordance with the approved AMS.

Reason — To ensure the continued health of retained trees/hedges and to ensure
that they are not adversely affected by the construction works, in the interests of
the visual amenity of the area, to ensure the integration of the development into
the existing landscape and to comply with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local
Plan 2011 — 2031 Part 1, Saved Policy C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Landscape
Landscaping and Boundary Treatment

17. No development shall take place until a Landscape Management Plan (which
includes a Boundary Treatment Plan and Planting Schedule), and details of
implementation and maintenance, shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with National Highways). Planting
shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed plan and maintained as such
thereafter.

Reason: To mitigate any adverse impact from the development on the A34 and
to ensure that the A34 continues to be an effective part of the national system of
routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980
and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

Public Toilets — hours of use

18. The pubilic toilets hereby permitted shall only be open for use of match days during
operational hours, and between the hours of 0700 and 1800 on non-match days.
Out of these hours, the public toilets shall be closed and locked.
Reason: To mitigate any adverse impact from the development on the A34 and
to ensure that the A34 continues to be an effective part of the national system of
routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980
and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

Drainage

Drainage Scheme — EA

19. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a
scheme to dispose of foul drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. This will include confirmation from the sewerage
undertaker that the receiving Sewage Treatment Works has the capacity to accept
flows from this development. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter
maintained as approved.

Reason: The Thames River Basin Management Plan requires the restoration and
enhancement of water bodies to prevent deterioration and promote recovery of
water bodies. Without this condition, the impact could cause deterioration of a
quality element to a lower status class and/or prevent the recovery of Thames
(Evenlode to Thame) and/or Northfield Brook water body.

Drainage Details

20. No development hereby permitted shall take place until full details of new drainage

149
Page 157



and its location shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority (in consultation with National Highways). The development shall
thereafter be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved details prior to
the first occupation of the development and retained in accordance with the
agreed specification. No surface water shall be permitted to run off from the
development onto the Strategic Road Network or into any drainage system
connected to the Strategic Road Network. No drainage connections from any part
of development may be made to any Strategic Road Network drainage systems.

Reason: To ensure that the A34 continues to be an effective part of the national
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways
Act 1980 and paragraph 59 of DfT Circular 01/2022.

Foul Water Upgrades

21. The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been provided that
either:-

1. All foul water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows
from the development have been completed; or-

2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local
Authority in consultation with Thames Water to allow development to be occupied.

Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation
shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed development and
infrastructure phasing plan.

Reason - In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of
development. Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to
accommodate the proposed development to ensure that sufficient capacity is
made available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new
development, in accordance with Government guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework.

All Water Upgrades

22. No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided
that either:-

¢ all water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to
serve the development have been completed; or

e a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames
Water to allow development to be occupied. Where a development and
infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in
accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan.

Reason - The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network
reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient
capacity is made available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from
the new development, in accordance with Government guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework.

No development within 5m of the water main
23. No construction shall take place within 5m of the water main. Information detailing

how the developer intends to divert the asset / align the development, so as to
prevent the potential for damage to subsurface potable water infrastructure, must

150
Page 158



be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in
consultation with Thames Water. Any construction must be undertaken in
accordance with the terms of the approved information. Unrestricted access must
be available at all times for the maintenance and repair of the asset during and
after the construction works.

Reason: In order to protect water quality, prevent pollution and secure sustainable
development having regard to paragraphs 7/8 and 180 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Surface Water Drainage

24. Construction shall not begin until; a detailed surface water drainage scheme for
the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall include:

e A compliance report to demonstrate how the scheme
complies with the “Local Standards and Guidance for
Surface Water Drainage on Major Development in
Oxfordshire”;

e Full drainage calculations for all events up to and
including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change;

¢ A Flood Exceedance Conveyance Plan;

o Detailed design drainage layout drawings of the SuDS
proposals including cross-section details;

¢ Detailed maintenance management plan in accordance
with Section 32 of CIRIA C753 including maintenance
schedules for each drainage element, and;

e Details of how water quality will be managed during
construction and post development in perpetuity;

e Confirmation of any outfall details.

o Consent for any connections into third party drainage
systems

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated
into this proposal.

SuDS A
Built and Maintenance Details

25.  Prior to first occupation, a record of the installed SuDS and site wide drainage
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority for deposit with the Lead Local Flood Authority Asset Register. The
details shall include:

(a) As built plans in both .pdf and .shp file format;

(b) Photographs to document each key stage of the drainage system when
installed on site;

(c) Photographs to document the completed installation of the drainage structures
on site;

(d) The name and contact details of any appointed management company
information.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated
into this proposal.

151
Page 159




206.

Highways

Construction Environment Management Plan

No development shall commence until a Construction Environment Management
Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority (in consultation with National Highways).

The CEMP shall include, but not be limited to the following:

* Construction programme for the site;

» the proposed construction traffic routes to the site, to be identified on a plan;

* Construction Traffic Management Plan (to include the co-ordination of deliveries
and plant and materials and the disposing of waste resulting from by vegetation
clearance, ground works, demolition and/or construction to avoid undue
interference

with the operation of the public highway, particularly during the Monday-Friday
AM

Peak (0800-0900) and PM Peak (1700-1800) periods);

* an estimate of the daily construction vehicles, number and type profiled for each
construction phase, identifying the peak level of vehicle movements for each day
+ Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;

* management and hours of construction work and deliveries;

« area(s) for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

« area(s) for the loading and unloading of plant and materials;

« area(s) for the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;

« details of effective silt and pollution mitigation measures;

. siting and details of wheel washing facilities;

» the mitigation measures in respect of noise and disturbance during the
construction

phase including vibration and noise limits, monitoring methodology, screening, a
detailed specification of plant and equipment to be used and construction traffic
routes;

+ a scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction activities on the
site. The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development;

+ details of waste management arrangements;

* Details of any proposed strategic road temporary traffic management measures
on

the SRN;

» the storage and dispensing of fuels, chemicals, oils and any hazardous materials
(including hazardous soils);

* measures to avoid impacts on the non-statutory designated sites and retained
habitats;

« details of drainage arrangements during the construction phase identifying how
surface water run-off will be dealt with so as not to increase the risk of flooding to
downstream areas because of the construction programme;

* protection measures for hedgerows and grasslands;

» contact details of personnel responsible for the construction works; and

* s0il movement, methods of tracking soil movement and details for demonstrating
soil will be suitable for use.

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented in full throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To mitigate any adverse impact from the development on the A34, to
ensure that the A34 continues to be an effective part of the national system of

152
Page 160



routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980,
and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)

27. A Construction Traffic Management Plan should be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority and agreed prior to commencement of works. This should
identify;

e The CTMP must be appropriately titled, include the site and planning
permission number.
* Routing of construction traffic and delivery vehicles is required to be shown
and signed appropriately to the necessary standards/requirements. This
includes means of access into the site.
» Details of and approval of any road closures needed during construction.
* Details of and approval of any traffic management needed during
construction.
» Details of wheel cleaning/wash facilities — to prevent mud etc, in vehicle
tyres/wheels, from migrating onto adjacent highway.
* Details of appropriate signing, to accord with the necessary
standards/requirements, for pedestrians during construction works, including
any footpath diversions.
* The erection and maintenance of security hoarding / scaffolding if
required.
* A regime to inspect and maintain all signing, barriers etc.
» Contact details of the Project Manager and Site Supervisor responsible for
on-site works to be provided.
» The use of appropriately trained, qualified and certificated banksmen for
guiding vehicles/unloading etc.
* No unnecessary parking of site related vehicles (worker transport etc) in
the vicinity — details of where these will be parked and occupiers transported
to/from site to be submitted for consideration and approval. Areas to be
shown on a plan not less than 1:500.
+ Layout plan of the site that shows structures, roads, site storage,
compound, pedestrian routes etc.
* A before-work commencement highway condition survey and agreement
with a representative of the Highways Depot — contact 0845 310 1111. Final
correspondence is required to be submitted.
» Local residents to be kept informed of significant deliveries and liaised with
through the project. Contact details for person to whom issues should be
raised with in first instance to be provided and a record kept of these and
subsequent resolution.
* Any temporary access arrangements to be agreed with and approved by
Highways Depot.
» Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must
be outside network peak and school peak hours.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of
construction vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure
and local residents, particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic time.

Travel Plan

28. Prior to the first occupation of the site an updated, comprehensive, framework travel
plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority,
together with a supplementary travel plan or travel plan statement for each of the
ancillary land uses within 3 months of first occupation.

153
Page 161



32.

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport.
Public Transport Information System

29. Prior to commencement of development details of the Public Transport
Information System should be provided and agreed by the Local Planning
Authority. The development should not be brought into use until the Public
Transport Information System has been provided within the site in accordance
with the approved details. Thereafter and for the life of the development, the
applicant must ensure retention and adequate maintenance of the Public
Transport Information System.

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport.
Signage Strategy

30. Prior to commencement of development the Signage Strategy shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out all signage
on the Local Highway Network, Strategic Road Network, including Variable
Messaging Signs as well as signage at Oxford Parkway, Peartree Park & Ride
and within the site. The development shall not be brought into use until the
approved signage has been installed.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Communication Strategy

31. Prior to commencement of development the Communication Strategy shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out
the measures to be provided to make residents aware in advance of when
matches will be taking place and of any route diversions. The development shall
not be brought into use until the Communication Strategy has been provided in
accordance with the approved details. Thereafter the Communication Strategy
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety
Car Park Management Plan

Prior to commencement of development the Car Park Management Plan shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out how
car parking will be controlled, monitored and enforced on site for the different uses.
Thereafter and for the life of the development, the Car Park Management Plan shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety
Crowd & Traffic Management Strategy

33. Prior to commencement of development the Crowd & Traffic Strategy shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out
the different forms of crowd and traffic management, the enforcement, monitoring
and reporting methods and location of marshals. The development shall not be
brought into use until the Crowd & Traffic Management Strategy has been agreed.
Thereafter and for the life of the development, the Crowd and Traffic Management
Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

154
Page 162



Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Cycle Parking

34. Before the development permitted is commenced details of the cycle parking
areas, including dimensions and means of enclosure, shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not
be brought into use until the cycle parking areas and means of enclosure have
been provided within the site in accordance with the approved details and
thereafter the areas shall be retained and maintained solely for the purpose of the
parking of cycles.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport.
Framework Event Management Plan

35.No events shall take place until a Framework Event Management Plan for
managing all fixtures and large events associated with the use of the site (stadium
and conference facility) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority (in consultation with National Highways). Thereafter all events
will be carried out in full accordance with approved details.

Reason: To mitigate any adverse impact from the development on the A34, to
ensure that the A34 continues to be an effective part of the national system of
routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980
and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

Geotechnical submissions

36. No development (for avoidance of doubt this includes excavation works, and/ or
landscaping works), shall commence until geotechnical submissions (in
accordance with Design Manual for Roads and Bridges Standard CD622) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in
consultation with National Highways). The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, convenience of highway users and to
ensure that the A34 Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act
1980 and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

A34 Water Eaton Bridge

37. Prior to the commencement of any improvement works to the A34 Water Eaton
Bridge, full details of the design, materials, and construction methods shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in
consultation with National Highways. The design must fully comply with the
standards outlined in the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, including CG300
and CD622. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, convenience of highway users and to
ensure that the A34 Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the
Highways Act 1980 and to satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

155
Page 163



Archaeology

Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation,

38. Prior to any demolition and the commencement of the development a professional
archaeological organisation acceptable to the Local Planning Authority shall
prepare an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation, relating to the
application site area, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To safeguard the recording of archaeological matters within the site in
accordance with the NPPF (2024).

Staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation

39. Following the approval of the Written Scheme of Investigation referred to in
condition 38, and prior to any demolition on the site and the commencement of
the development (other than in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of
Investigation), a staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation
shall be carried out by the commissioned archaeological organisation in
accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The programme
of work shall include all processing, research and analysis necessary to produce
an accessible and useable archive and a full report for publication which shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority within two years of the completion of
the archaeological fieldwork.

Reason — To safeguard the identification, recording, analysis and archiving of
heritage assets before they are lost and to advance understanding of the heritage
assets in their wider context through publication and dissemination of the evidence in
accordance with the NPPF (2024).

Environmental Protection
Unexpected Contaminated Land at a later date

40. Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the approved
development that was not previously identified shall be reported immediately to the
local planning authority. Development on the part of the site affected shall be
suspended and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. Where unacceptable risks are found
remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. These approved schemes shall be carried out before
the development [or relevant phase of development] is resumed or continued.

Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and
adequately addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the environment
and to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use, to comply with Saved Policy
ENV12 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Section 15 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Noise
41. All plant, machinery and equipment to be used by reason of the granting of this

permission shall be so installed, maintained and operated so as to ensure that the
rating noise level from the equipment shall be:

o Daytime (07:00-23:00) of 49 dB

156
Page 164



« Night time (23:00-07:00) of 39 dB

when measured at site boundary. Measurements and rating of noise for the purpose
of this conditions shall be in accordance with BS 4142:2014:+A1:2019 Method for
Rating and Assessing Industrial and Commercial Sound (or subsequent updates).

Reason: To protect nearby properties from unacceptable noise pollution and vibration
and to comply with policy PSD1 of the Cherwell Local Plan and guidance contained
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Waste

42. Prior to the first occupation of any building on the site (excluding temporary,
service buildings e.g., substation, or buildings used for security purposes) details
of the waste management strategy (i.e. storage of bins and collection) for that
building shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details
so approved at all times thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of
development and to accord with Policy ESD1 and with Government advice in the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Additional Ecology conditions (to be reviewed alongside S106
requirements)

43. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a Landscape
and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) detailing all species specific provisions
on site, their location, type and their on-going management shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall
not be carried out other than in full accordance with the approved LEMP including
any/all timescales set out therein.

Reason: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from any
loss or damage in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan
2011-2031 Part 1 and government guidance contained within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

44. No development shall commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan (HMMP), prepared in accordance with an approved Biodiversity Gain Plan,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The HMMP shall include:

e a non-technical summary

¢ the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering
the HMMP

¢ the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve
habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan

o the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the
approved completion date of the development

¢ the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or
enhanced habitat

Notice in writing shall be given to the local planning authority when the:
e HMMP has been implemented

157
Page 165



45.

46. If the development hereby approved does not commence within two years from

e habitat creation and enhancement work as set out in the HMMP have been
completed.

The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP or such
amendments as agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Monitoring reports shall be submitted to the local planning authority in writing for
approval in accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the
approved HMMP.

Reason: To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

No development shall commence (including demolition, ground works, vegetation
clearance) unless and until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The CEMP: Biodiversity shall include as a minimum:

o Risk assessment and mitigation of potentially damaging construction
activities

¢ Identification of ‘Biodiversity Protection Zones’

e Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be
provided as a set of method statements)

e The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features

e The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works

¢ Responsible persons and lines of communication

e The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW)
or similarly competent person

e Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs

e Details of the surveys of trees which showed roosting potential and which
will be removed as well as details of any mitigation plan and the licence
which shall be in place should this be required.

The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented
throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from any
loss or damage in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan
2011-2031 Part 1 and government guidance contained within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

the date of the current surveys. A walkover survey shall be undertaken prior to
the commencement of the development to establish changes in the presence,
abundance and impact on all currently surveyed habitats and species. The
survey results, together with any necessary changes to the mitigation plan or
method statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in full
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause harm to any protected

158
Page 166



species or their habitats in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local
Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and government guidance contained within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

47. Prior to the commencement of the development a site-wide Biodiversity Net
Gain (BNG) strategy (incorporating a calculation) for the development shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. It shall be
accompanied by a BNG compliant statement setting out how the development
will contribute to achieving a site-wide BNG target of no less than 20%.

The proposed biodiversity enhancement measures shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details and shall be managed and maintained for
a minimum period of 30 years.

Reason: To ensure that the proposals deliver appropriate an amount and variety
of habitats and support the biodiversity net gain opportunities in accordance with
the submitted Environmental Statement to comply with Policy ESD10 of the
Cherwell Local Plan Part 1 2011-2031 and Government guidance contained
within the National Planning Policy Framework. This information is required prior
to the commencement of the development as it is fundamental to the
acceptability of the scheme because biodiversity net gain is a crucial
requirement and a strategy to understand how this will be achieved must be
understood from the outset.

Informatives
Environmental Statement

1. In accordance with Regulations 3 and 9 of The Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended), Cherwell
District Council as Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the environmental
information already before it remains adequate to assess the environmental
effects of the development and has taken that information into consideration in
determining this application.

East West Rail

2. Land within the application site is proposed for the construction and operation of
the East West Railway, a nationally significant infrastructure project. The Council
strongly advises the Applicant to liaise closely with EWR Co over the timing and
detailed implementation of the application proposals and the EWR project, to seek
to agree a detailed approach that avoids or reduces conflicts between the two
development proposals, and that seeks to mitigate any impacts arising”

National Highways
3. Framework Event Management Plan

The Framework Event Management Plan shall but not limited to the following:
¢ Anticipated fixture and event -related information (i.e. dates, times and estimated

attendances);
. Timings on the day, including: the activation of control points or road closures;
. arrival and departure times for staff, stewards, players/performers, and
spectators;
. briefings and final pre-event safety checks; and
. debriefings;
. Generic Traffic Management Plan, including: road closures and traffic diversions,

parking arrangements, traffic control measures, signage and traffic and pedestrian

159
Page 167



marshalling;

. signage (including local and strategic VMS messaging and timing strategies); and
. travel advice proposals;

. Communication Plan, including website, advertisements/articles, information to
local radio stations, and text alerts;

. Post-event procedures, including inspections, debriefings and completion of the
Event Record;

. Chain of command, including the names, roles and location of all key members of

the event management team more particularly those responsible for traffic management;
and

. Highways Authority and Police engagement protocols, procedures and processes
in the case of each qualifying fixture or event.

Landscape Boundary treatment plan

2. For avoidance of doubt the boundary treatment plan will include but not limited to
the following:
a) details concerning works locations, materials types, construction methods and
maintenance;
b) details concerning the management of existing boundary planting to include an
Arboricultural Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan with a Method Statement for any
works required to address the removal, retention and management of trees along this
boundary. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed plan and
maintained as such thereafter.

A34 Water Eaton Bridge

3. This development involves work to the public highway (strategic road network and
local road network) that can only be undertaken within the scope of a legal Agreement or
Agreements between the applicant and National Highways (as the strategic highway
company appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport) and, as necessary and
appropriate, the Local Highway Authority. Planning permission in itself does not permit
these works.

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to
the public highway, any necessary Agreements under the Highways Act 1980 are also
obtained (and at no cost to National Highways). Works to the highway will normally
require an agreement or agreements, under Section 278 of the Highways Act, with
National Highways and the Local Highway Authority.

OCC Highways

4. Please note If works are required to be carried out within the public highway, the
applicant shall not commence such work before formal approval has been granted by
Oxfordshire County Council by way of legal agreement between the applicant and
Oxfordshire County Council. This is separate from any planning permission that may be
granted and will be dealt with through S106 and S278 agreement as noted above. Works
delivered via S278 agreement will need to also consider Oxfordshire County Council’s
Tree and Street Lighting policies along with the Oxfordshire Flood Toolkit.

Signage to be placed on the public highway can be installed as part of the Section 278
agreement, however, signage to be installed on the SRN or on private land (Peartree &
Parkway) will need a separate agree
The following items will require a separate legal (Traffic Regulation Order) process,
which includes public consultation, and which will require sign off by the cabinet
member for highways:

160
Page 168



Oxford Road diversion route.

Parking measures at Oxford Parkway.

Matchday Controlled Parking Zone.

Speed limit reduction on Frieze Way.

Parking restrictions on Bicester Road, Oxford Road and Frieze Way.
New cycle paths and signalised crossings.

5. The access steps from Oxford Parkway to Oxford Road and the cycle parking at
Oxford Parkway are not fully within public highway land. As such the land outside of the
public highway will need to be dedicated along with land either side for maintenance and
illumination. As such Chiltern Railways will need to be party to the S106 agreement.

6. A mechanism will also be required in the S106 agreement to monitor and review
the effectiveness or otherwise of matchday shuttles/bus services. This should set out the
stakeholders within the Matchday Steering Group, the frequency the group will meet and
should provide a baseline level of service (in line with the planning application) that must
be provided/achieved as a minimum and all in accordance with the travel plan and
transport assessment.

7. Oxford Airport is a legally safeguarded aerodrome, as listed in ODPM/DfT Circular
01/2003 ‘Safeguarding of Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Explosives Storage
Areas Direction’ and as such, it is a requirement that development do not introduce safety
hazards to aviation. There is insufficient information provided for Oxford Airport to assess
whether there are any glare or lighting patterns that may cause confusion to pilots
operating to/from or in the vicinity of Oxford Airport. The developer should provide an
assessment to demonstrate that the proposed lighting scheme will not cause any safety
hazards to aviation.

8. No information has been provided on the cranes that will be used during the
construction of the development. The developer is reminded of their responsibility to notify
aerodromes within 6km of their intent to use cranes. A Crane Permit should be requested
from Oxford Airport via email to safeguarding@londonoxfordairport.com where an
appropriate level of assessment will be conducted at the cost of the developer.

161
Page 169




APPENDIX 1 — SUMMARY OF
REPRESENTATIONS

All third party responses have been carefully considered and, where appropriate, concerns
have been addressed either though the supply of further information or through the planning
conditions and obligations. Summary details of third party responses are included in this
Appendix. Full details of all comments received are available via the Council’s website.

A variety of organisations, resident associations and forums also submitted comments, and
these are also considered below.

Committee Members will be updated on other consultation responses received between
writing this report and the committee meeting.

A letter has been received from a Law Firm on behalf of a local interested group who raise the
following key points:

o Deep concern about the application and wish to register strong objections. The
application has numerous errors and procedural failings and, if approved, will cause
irreversible damage to a site which has high local ecological significance and value.
Key objections are:

o Protected Species: bats:
Despite the known presence of bats on the site and in the locality, including
rare and priority species such as Barbastelle, the applicant has failed to follow
Natural England’s standing advice. It has not:
= Assessed bat population sizes
= |dentified important flight routes and foraging areas used by bats close
to the proposed development
= Taken into account the conflicts with Oxfordshire County Council’s and
Thames Valley Police’s requirements such as lighting on both the
woodland to the south of the site and on Frieze Way.

It is also raised that Natural England has high level principles that it applies
when it is assessing licensing applications. One principle is whether there is a
satisfactory alternative to delivering and meeting the need in the way proposed.
If the Council considers that a licence is likely to be needed from Natural
England in relation to any protected species, it should therefore consider
whether there is an adequate alternative site.

o Traffic and Transport:

= Local Plan SLE4 requires the LPA to assess whether the development
is ‘suitable for the roads that serve the development’ and whether
‘cumulative impacts... would be severe’.

= The NPPF requires the LPA to assess ‘likely’ and ‘reasonable’ traffic
scenarios.

= The following deficiencies mean that the LPA does not have the
necessary information to address these requirements. The LHA has:

e Ignored the primary recommendation of its own independent
auditor, Pell Frishmann, to model worst case scenarios by
having a base traffic modelling scenario which assumes zero
traffic reduction due to mitigating measures.

Page 170



e Failed to consider the impact of the road closure set up and take
down times on the overall length of the road closure including
failing to notice that the Applicant has allowed no set up or take
down time for the erection and dismantling of barriers and cones
along the length of Oxford Road it proposes to close.

e Failed to consider the reasonable scenario in which the Oxford
Road must be closed for the duration of a match in order to
function safely as an emergency evacuation muster point.

e Allowed only best case scenario road closure times to be
modelled.

o Green Belt:

The Planning Policy Team has concluded that the Site is Green Belt
and as such ‘Very Special Circumstances’ must therefore be
evidenced.

Very Special Circumstances have not been evidenced:

e The Applicant could remain at the current stadium; it simply
chooses not to.

e There is no evidence that the Applicant has ever approached
the owner, Firoz Kassam, to negotiate a new long-term lease,
or of a recent offer to purchase the current stadium

e There is no evidence that the Applicant has approached Oxford
City Council to discuss whether the Council could use its powers
to compulsorily purchase the Kassam Stadium (whether itself,
or as a facilitator).

e Claims that a new stadium would make the Applicant financially
sustainable and ensure its survival are not supported by the
evidence provided.

The Applicant overstates the claimed benefits and understates the
claimed harms of the development.

The Applicant’s ‘evidence’ that it cannot remain at the current Kassam
Stadium is its own press release which includes unverified quotes from
the owner, Firoz Kassam.

The Council must be satisfied that the development would be in a
sustainable location.

o Ancient Woodland:

The status of the possibly ancient woodland is of fundamental
importance to this planning application because the plans do not allow
for a 15m buffer zone.

The current plans would therefore lead to loss and deterioration of the
woodland.

The Council, as LPA is responsible for determining whether the
woodland is ancient and Natural England’s most recent decision is not
definitive.

Natural England’s determination that this is not ancient woodland based
on its absence on maps from 1823 to 1831 is incorrect as new evidence
shows that it is obviously present and well establish on the OS 1833
map of the area, and indeed, with the same outline as it has today.
The Council should hold a statutory re-consultation on the Applicant’s
18 July report in order to make a considered decision on this important
matter.

Page 171



o The letter provides an assessment of the benefits and harms of the proposed
development.

Comments made in Objection

Green belt

Proposal is inappropriate development in the green belt.

Proposal would have an unacceptable impact on openness and the green belt.
Proposals would result in unacceptable built development and hardstanding.
There are not adequate very special circumstances to justify the development.
Site search and selection process submitted is inadequate

Development of this parcel will lead to coalescence with Oxford

Lack of justification to leave the Kassam site

The ASA contradicts OUFC original site area requirement of 7.17ha

No evidence that OUFC is financially stable

Officer Comment: It is acknowledged that the application proposes ‘inappropriate
development’ in the green belt, represents a departure from green belt policy and that
the proposal would impact adversely on openness. However, as explained in this
report it is considered that the very substantial overall planning and public benefits of
the proposed development, combined with the other material considerations identified
in this report, as controlled and mitigated by the conditions and planning obligations
recommended would, represent ‘very special circumstances’ which on balance
outweigh the harm caused by the proposals to the green belt and the conflict with
green belt policy. The site selection process carried out in respect of the green belt is
considered to be acceptable for a development of the nature proposed. An evaluation
of the proposal in respect of the green belt is carried out in greater detail in sections 9
and 10 of this report.

Transport, traffic, access, and parking

Proposal would exacerbate the already unacceptable levels of traffic, congestion and
parking in the area and also hamper the movement of emergency service vehicles.
Site is detached from major transport hub of Oxford Parkway and as such, the site is
not in a sustainable location

Proposal would provide inadequate numbers of parking spaces.

Inadequate account taken of existing passenger usage and the impacts of service
closures in respect of public transport.

Transport Assessment submitted contains inaccuracies and does not adequately
assess the development proposed.

Transport and Pedestrian modelling is inadequate/inappropriate

Proposal would be detrimental to highway and pedestrian safety.

The transport mitigation measures proposed are inadequate and the applicant has
made no guarantees in terms of those put forward.

Do not want a Controlled Parking Zone in the area

Private roads in the area will suffer parking problems.

A bridge ought to have been provided over the Oxford Road to negate the need to
close the road

Further engagement with Peartree Park and Ride is needed

Insufficient emergency evacuation information provided

HMV and counter terrorism assessments should be made prior to determination

Page 172



e Unacceptable impact on emergency services capacity, including ambulance and fire
services

e S106 obligation should be imposed to require Club to explore alternative pedestrian
connectivity strategies to and from the stadium

Officer Comment: Transport and Highway matters, including parking, are discussed
in section 9 of this report, where the above issues are addressed. The proposal would
result in certain highway impacts associated with the inevitable peaks in travel activity
immediately before and after matches, but the TA and detailed traffic modelling work
conclude, and Officers concur, that the traffic impacts would not result in an
unacceptable level of traffic congestion. The application includes a shuttle bus service
that would provide links to the Park and Ride services, including Peartree and
Thornhill. A network of coach services is also currently provided which will be
monitored and improved (if required) and will help encourage non-car travel.

Alternative pedestrian connections were explored with the applicants as part of a
confidential pre-application submission. The alternatives included the provision of a
footbridge over the Oxford Road. The current application does not include the provision
of a bridge, as it is not required as direct highway mitigation to the stadium proposal.
Furthermore, it is likely that a bridge would still require traffic management (i.e. road
closures) on match days, as it is not clear how large volumes of pedestrians would
safely access the stadium, unless the bridge was of a substantial width (greater than
10 metres). A narrower bridge would result in queuing, impact on travel time and could
encourage people to cross the road in an un-safe manner. As such, all bridge options
would likely need to be closed on match days. In addition, Thames Valley Police have
confirmed that they would not be supportive of a bridge or underpass crossing under
the Oxford Road, stating that a bridge/underpass would prove a significant challenge
in terms of maintaining safety and responding to incidents of disorder.

Crowd and traffic management measures will be implemented, managed, and
monitored by condition, controlling traffic on the roads around the stadium and at
Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of fans is prioritised. The applicant will require a
certificate from the County Council, via Trading Standards, in consultation with the
Safety Advisory Group® (SAG) before they can bring the stadium into use. The safety
certification process requires evidence of satisfactory evacuation procedures along
with all other safety protocols.

Thames Valley Police has requested conditions, including those to require an
exceptional evacuation strategy, prior to development above slab level. These details
will also form part of the safety certification process. Under the latter, the emergency
exit capacity will state the number of people (that is, spectators and all other people
present) that can safely exit from the sports ground, or section within it, under
emergency conditions to a place of safety within a set time. The determination of that
set time is based on an assessment of the levels of fire risk present throughout the exit
route.

Itis important to note that the system of safety certification lies with the County Council.
Under the Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975, any authorised persons from the
certifying (local) authority, police, fire and rescue authority and the building authority
may enter and make inspections of the sports ground at any reasonable time. The Act
also makes provision for the certifying authority to issue a notice prohibiting or

1 The SAG is an advisory body. It does not make decisions nor issue enforcement actions. Rather, it
exists to assist a local authority in discharging its legal responsibilities.

Page 173



restricting the entry of spectators to all or part of a sports ground where, in its opinion,
there is a serious risk to their safety.

The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (also known as the Green Guide) provides
detailed guidance on the building, planning and management of safety at sports
grounds. The Green Guide has no statutory force but many of its recommendations
will be made statutory at individual grounds where reference is made within safety
certificates.

Under the Guide to Safety Certification?, it is confirmed that responsibility for safety at
a sports ground lies at all times with ground management. However, at certain sports
grounds and/or for certain matches or events the presence of the police may be
required to maintain public order and prevent the commission of offences. The local
authority has no responsibility for operational policing either inside or outside the sports
ground. All operational issues concerning the deployment of police officers within a
sports ground are for the police themselves.

In this regard, no objections have been offered by Thames Valley Police or the Local
Highway Authority.

A match day Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) will be required for a 2km (approximate)
distance from the site, similar to the existing matchday CPZs around the current
stadium which are managed effectively by the County Council. Contributions have
been requested for the design, consultation, and implementation of this along with
costs towards additional enforcement. Residents within this zone would need to apply
to the county council for permits, although these are lower than standard residential
permits (currently £20 annually in the existing matchday CPZs but subject to review).
It is at the club’s discretion if they wish to pay for residents permits within this zone for
a set time, however, this is not something the LPA can request as a CIL compliant
contribution.

The Applicant has submitted a framework travel plan with this application, which is
acceptable for this stage of the application and is to the satisfaction of the Local
Highway Authority. Full travel plans for each land use will be required by condition.

The application does not seek consent for the erection of a bridge. The Local Highway
Authority have confirmed that a bridge is not required as direct mitigation to the
stadium.

The site has been tracked for emergency vehicles around the entire site and notably,
the perimeter of the building. There is 100% coverage. The fire strategy report contains
the performance requirements for fire vehicle access and dry riser provision, hydrants
etc which Oxfordshire Fire Service have not objected to.

In relation to the Ambulance service, as noted in the consultation responses above,
the SCAS have stated they are confident there would be no care gap in the event of a
major incident. They have an active stadium plan which covers access, care gap risks
and major incident scenarios. These plans are updated annually before the start of
each season and would be updated for a new stadium.

It is noted that the development will also need to meet the requirements of other
legislation, for example licensing and Building Regulations, and it is not considered
appropriate to duplicate the requirements of other legislative regimes.

2 https://sgsa.org.uk/document/guide-to-safety-certification/

Page 174



Careful scrutiny of the TA and other key transport parts of the submission has taken
place, including by specialist Transport Consultants, on behalf of and in addition to
Local Highway Authority Officers. On balance Officers consider that the assessment
is robust and the proposed scheme acceptable on highway safety, transport, and
parking grounds.

Loss of and adverse impacts on amenity

Proposal would result in unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance.

Proposal would result in unacceptable levels of crime and litter.

Proposal would cause unacceptable levels of pollution.

Additional vehicle movements, traffic, congestion, and parking generated by proposal
would harm amenity.

The proposed uses would harm amenities on match days and at other (non-match day)
times and be of no benefit to the area.

Mitigation proposed in respect of protecting amenities is inadequate and will not
achieve the suggested outcomes.

Officer Comment: Officers conclude, in light of all the environmental information that
has been submitted in the EIA process (including consultees’ representations), that,
as controlled by the mitigation provided by the conditions and planning obligations
recommended, the development proposed would be acceptable in terms of its impacts
on the amenities (in all regards) of existing and prospective neighbouring properties.
An evaluation of the proposal in respect of the different aspects of amenities is carried
out in greater detail in section 9 of this report.

Design, appearance and sustainability credentials are unacceptable

Design of proposal is unacceptable, would cause a loss of visual amenity, harms the
character of the site and wider area and constitutes over-development

Proposal fails to achieve the policy requirement of high quality design.

Proposal is not clear or sufficiently detailed on aspects of the development

Proposal would have unacceptable lighting impacts.

Proposal would impact adversely on energy usage.

Questionable carbon reduction pledges

Economic benefits are limited

Officer Comment: The design of the proposed development is considered to be
acceptable, appropriate and have appropriately addressed the relevant design related
policies in the development plan. It is not considered that the proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on the character, appearance or visual amenities of the area
having regard to the ES and the relevant proposed mitigation measures. As regards
energy policy, it is noted that the proposal is likely to achieve a “very good” rating under
the BREEAM assessment methodology, in accordance with Policy ESD 3. The details
provided with the application are deemed to be sufficient for its proper assessment and
the design approach put forward is appropriate.

Unacceptable impacts on existing habitats, trees, and protected species

Proposal results in loss of TPO’d trees
The woodland to the south is ancient woodland and is being considered for designation
by Natural England

Page 175



Existing site habitats are unique and have been undervalued

Evidence of rare flora and fauna that has not been properly assessed

Inadequate mitigation measures for protected species, particularly bats

Concern raised regarding the mapping information provided directly to Natural England
and their response relating to the status of the woodland based upon that. A delay is
sought to enable further consideration by Natural England.

Officer Comment: The woodland to the south is not considered to be Ancient
Woodland, as set out in the main body of this report. Natural England have not objected
to the proposal.

Subject to conditions/legal agreement impact on bats is considered acceptable as
detailed in the ecology section in the main report

Following mitigation and enhancement measures, overall impacts are considered to
be positive at the local level and will ensure no net loss in biodiversity terms. The
proposals therefore in the first instance avoid where possible and thereafter mitigate
for any biodiversity loss.

The EIA assesses the impact of the proposed drainage strategy on receptors within a
1km radius and concludes that will be no change to the greenfield runoff rates from the
Site, there will be a Negligible significance of effect to the impact zone of the Pixey and
Yarnton Meads SSSI, the wildlife area adjacent to the Oxford Canal and Stratfield
Brake woodland during the construction period.

The LPA are satisfied that the woodland is not ancient woodland as set out in the
appraisal and in this context, there is no need for a further delay as there has been
clear consideration by Natural England.

Flooding and Drainage

Adverse impact on flooding and drainage of Oxford to Kidlington roads
Sewage and waste capacity concerns

Officer Comment: Greenfield run off rates from the site will be maintained. The
drainage strategy includes measures to clear the existing culvert, which will alleviate
existing surface water flooding issues. Thames Water has a statutory obligation to
provide foul drainage and water supply. The EA and Thames Water raise no objection
to the proposals, subject to conditions to secure an infrastructure phasing plan.

Comments Made in Support

Economic and Community benefits

Benefits for young people and women’s football

Economic benefits for Kidlington, as facilities would encourage tourism
Aligned with central Government growth agenda

Would secure long term future of the Club

Would provide an accessible green space

Freeing Kassam site would provide much needed housing

Football important for community cohesion and mental wellbeing

The development strongly aligns with CDC’s and OCC'’s strategic priorities
Would allow for continued charity work by Oxford United in the Community
Reduction in anti-social behaviour through provision of leisure facilities for young
people

Page 176



Green Belt and VSC

Perfect example of grey belt designation

Roads provide barrier from Kidlington. Gap will be maintained
Existential threat to OUFC clearly VFC

Site search and selection process submitted is robust

Traffic and Transport

Sustainably located

Would improve public transport infrastructure

Mitigation measures appropriate

More accessible to cyclists

OUFC’s Wembley match (May 2024) demonstrates that Oxford Parkway has capacity

Design

Well considered design and low carbon development
Improved site accessibility and inclusion

Noise/light pollution mitigated by design

Improved drainage at Stratfield Brake

All electric stadium

Biodiversity and drainage

Will increase and enhance biodiversity
Improved drainage/flood protection at Stratfield Break

Officer comment: Impacts of the proposal on community use, the community more

widely, the green belt and design and landscaping matters are addressed in main
report above.

Page 177



APPENDIX 2 — Draft Heads of Terms for Section
106 Agreement/Undertaking

e An obligation to secure apprenticeship and training requirements, as set
out in the Council’'s Adopted Developer Contributions SPD (2018)

e Payment of a contribution towards Public Art proportionate to the cultural
significance of the development which can help integrate it into the
evolving sense of place in the area.

e Contributions and obligations to secure improvements to the highway
network. These are set out in Appendix 3 of this report, within the Local
Highway Authority response.

e Payment of contributions towards Chiltern Railway improvements, to
include;

2 new access gates and associated ticket readers

2 additional customer waiting shelters

Improve toilet provision at Oxford Parkway

Improvement to wayfinding and signage

Contribution towards provision of operational management centre
at Oxford Parkway

o O O O O

e Woodland Management Plan to secure necessary improvements to the
Stratfield Brake woodland to the south of the site to ensure the long term
resilience of the woodland by safeguarding against direct and indirect
harm.

e Community Use Agreement obligations to provide measures to enforce
the various community use commitments by OUFC

e Biodiversity Net Gain (on site monitoring) and to achieve a 20% net gain
(unless to be dealt with by a planning condition)

e Payment of the Council’s Monitoring Costs

Page 178



APPENDIX 3 - Oxfordshire County Council Single
Response (response and appendices A-D)

Page 179



COUNTY COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON THE
FOLLOWING DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL

District: Cherwell

Application no: 24/00539/F

Proposal: Erection of a stadium (Use Class F2) with flexible commercial and
community facilities and uses including for conferences, exhibitions, education, and
other events, club shop, public restaurant, bar, health and wellbeing facility/clinic,
and gym (Use Class E/Sui Generis), hotel (Use Class C1), external concourse/fan-
zone, car and cycle parking, access and highway works, utilities, public realm,
landscaping and all associated and ancillary works and structures

Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway
Railway Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington

Response Date: 30th May 2025

This report sets out the officer views of Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) on the
above proposal. These are set out by individual service area/technical discipline and
include details of any planning conditions or Informatives that should be attached in
the event that permission is granted and any obligations to be secured by way of a
S106 agreement. Where considered appropriate, an overarching strategic
commentary is also included. If the local County Council member has provided
comments on the application these are provided as a separate attachment.

Assessment Criteria
Proposal overview and mix /population generation

OCC'’s response is based on a development as set out in the table below. The
development is taken from the application form.

F2 16,306
C1 6,616
Other 2,313
E (a) 315

Page 180



Application no: 24/00539/F
Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway
Railway Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington

General Information and Advice

Recommendations for approval contrary to OCC objection:

If within this response an OCC officer has raised an objection, but the Local Planning
Authority are still minded recommending approval, OCC would be grateful for
notification (via planningconsultations@oxfordshire.gov.uk) as to why material
consideration outweighs OCC'’s objections, and to be given an opportunity to make
further representations.

Outline applications and contributions

The anticipated number and type of dwellings and/or the floor space may be set by
the developer at the time of application which is used to assess necessary mitigation.
If not stated in the application, a policy compliant mix will be used. The number and
type of dwellings used when assessing S106 planning obligations is set out on the first
page of this response.

In the case of outline applications, once the unit mix/floor space is confirmed by
reserved matters approval/discharge of condition a matrix (if appropriate) will be
applied to establish any increase in contributions payable. A further increase in
contributions may result if there is a reserved matters approval changing the unit
mix/floor space.

Where a S106/Planning Obligation is required:

e Index Linked — in order to maintain the real value of S106 contributions,
contributions will be index linked. Base values and the index to be applied are
set out in the Schedules to this response.

¢ Administration and Monitoring Fee

A fee to cover the cost of monitoring and administration associated with the S106
agreement will be secured in the S106 agreement. The fees for the period 15t April
2025 to 315t March 2026 are set out below. The fees are revised annually and
approved by Cabinet.

Aggregate of | Upto Up to £25,001 | £50,001 £150,001 | £500,001 | £1,000,001 - | Over £2m

contributions | £10K £25K - £50K -£150K | - £500K -£1m £2m

secured in

S106

Admin and £158 £390 £765 £2,310 £5,680 £7,675 0.945%o0f £18,900 +

Monitoring aggregate of | 0.1% of any

Fee contribution amount over
amount £2m

Page 181




e OCC Legal Fees The applicant will be required to pay OCC’s legal fees in
relation to legal agreements. Please note the fees apply whether a S106
agreement is completed or not.

Security of payment for deferred contributions - Applicants should be aware that
an approved bond will be required to secure a payment where a S106 contribution is
to be paid post implementation and
e the contribution amounts to 25% or more (including anticipated indexation) of
the cost of the project it is towards and that project cost £7.5m or more
e the developer is direct delivering an item of infrastructure costing £7.5m or more
e where aggregate contributions towards bus services exceeds £1m (including
anticipated indexation).

A bond will also be required where a developer is direct delivering an item of
infrastructure.

The County Infrastructure Funding Team can provide the full policy and advice, on
request.

Page 182



Application no: 24/00539/F
Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway
Railway Station Oxford Road Kidlington

Transport Development Control

Recommendation:

No objection subject to conditions

Key issues:

This response is from Oxfordshire County Council acting as the Local
Highway Authority (LHA) and relates solely to the highway elements of the
planning application with Cherwell District Council (CDC). This is independent
from the property team who are responsible for Oxfordshire County Council’s
interest as the landowner.

Throughout the planning process productive discussions have taken place
with stakeholders including Thames Valley Police, National Highways, Oxford
Bus Company, Stagecoach, Chiltern Railways, Network Rail, British Transport
Police and multiple internal teams amongst others to ensure the planning
application is acceptable.

The site is in a highly sustainable location with good access to public transport
with further public transport and active travel improvements coming forward in
the future, to be delivered by Oxfordshire County Council and surrounding
development sites.

The club and their consultant team have developed a transport strategy which
utilises the sustainable transport options available and further improves the
infrastructure for sustainable transport in the area. This approach is welcomed
and is in line with national and local policy which favours sustainable
development that promotes modal shift.

At the request of Oxfordshire County Council, the club has undertaken micro-
simulation transport modelling to demonstrate the impact of the proposal on
the Local Highway Network and Strategic Road Network (A34). Whilst this
modelling does show delays on some routes, the network operates
adequately. Network impact is for relatively short periods with an average of
28 occurrences per year. As such, the impact is not considered severe in the
context of NPPF para. 116.

On the advice of Thames Valley Police, Oxford Road will require a diversion
35 minutes before and after matches with high ticket sales (quantum subject
to agreement by Safety Advisory Group) with Hostile Vehicle Mitigation
installed on the carriageway. Emergency vehicles and buses will be able to
gain access with the latter operating in shuttle running arrangement which has
been agreed by the county council and bus operators. This is in line with
Oxfordshire County Council’s user hierarchy and further helps achieve the
modal shift required. Oxfordshire County Council and Chiltern Railways have
agreed additional measures at Oxford Parkway to further discourage match
day car use and promote sustainable transport. This, supported by the club’s

Page 183



traffic and crowd management company and Variable Messaging Signs
across the network.

Financial Contributions Required via Section 106 Agreement

Contribution Amount £ | Price base | Index Towards (details)
Oxford Parkway £587,778 April 2025 | Baxter | Active Travel
Junction Improvements at or
in the vicinity of the
junction with Oxford
Parkway and Oxford
Road.

Traffic £260,550 April 2025 | Baxter | Variable Messaging

Management Signs

Speed £260,550 April 2025 | Baxter | Average Speed

Management Cameras

Public Transport £722,264 April 2025 | RPIX Public Transport

Services Services in the
vicinity of the site

Public Transport £932,519 April 2025 | Baxter | Cowley Branch Line

Infrastructure (1) Passenger Line
Stations

Public Transport £1,838,959 | April 2025 | Baxter | New Mobility Hub at

Infrastructure (2) Oxford Airport

Public Transport £29,786 April 2025 | Baxter | 2 real time

Infrastructure (3) information boards
for new bus stops
on Oxford Road

Height Barriers £20,224 April 2025 | Baxter | Replacement height
barriers at Oxford
Parkway.

Ticket Machines £28,313 April 2025 | Baxter | Replacement ticket
machines at Oxford
Parkway

Parking £10,112 April 2025 | Baxter | ‘Clearway’ on Frieze

Restrictions (1) Way

Parking £20,224 April 2025 | Baxter | Double Yellow Lines

Restrictions (2) on Oxford Road and
Bicester Road.

Parking £184,120 April 2025 | RPIX Additional

Enforcement enforcement officers

Matchday £102,160 April 2025 | Baxter | Matchday Controlled

Controlled Parking Zone within

Parking Zone approximately 2km
of site

Additional £51,080 April 2025 | Baxter | Additional

Matchday Controlled Parking

Controlled Zone up to

Parking Zone

Page 184




approximately 3km
from site if required.
Framework Travel | £3,347 April 2025 RPIX Travel Plan
Plan Monitoring
Matchday Travel | £2,035 April 2025 | RPIX Travel Plan
Plan Monitoring
Non Matchday £2,035 April 2025 | RPIX Travel Plan
conference & Monitoring
Exhibition use
Travel Plan
Public £2,035 April 2025 | RPIX Travel Plan
Restaurant/Bar Monitoring
Travel Plan
Health and £2,035 April 2025 | RPIX Travel Plan
wellbeing Monitoring
facility/clinic, and
gym Travel Plan
Hotel Travel Plan | £2,035 April 2025 RPIX Travel Plan
Monitoring
Total £5,062,161

Works Required via Section 278 Agreement

New at-grade signalised ped/cycle crossing on Frieze Way.

2 new at-grade signalised crossings on Oxford Road.

New at-grade signalised crossing on A44 adjacent to Loop Farm roundabout.

Access works and works at site frontages, incorporating ‘Cycle Superhighway’

on Oxford Road.

Creation of bus lay-bys on Frieze Way.

e New 3m off-carriageway shared footway/cycleway on Frieze Way with
additional 500mm buffer (minimum, depending on speed reduction).

e Implementation of reduced speed limit on Frieze Way to 40mph

¢ Installation of Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) on Oxford Road.

¢ New signage on the Local Highway Network (as agreed by Signage Strategy
condition).

e 2 new bus stops with shelters on Oxford Road.

¢ New steps between Oxford Road and Oxford Parkway including signage and

lighting.

Notes:

This is to be secured by means of S106 restrictive obligation not to implement
development (or occasionally other trigger point) until S278 agreement has been
entered into.

The trigger by which time S278 works are to be completed shall also be included in
the S106 agreement.

Identification of areas required to be dedicated as public highway and agreement of
all relevant landowners will be necessary in order to enter into the S278 agreements.

Page 185



S278 agreements include certain payments, including commuted sums, that apply to
all S278 agreements however the S278 agreement may also include an additional
payment(s) relating to specific works.

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) will require detailed maintenance, emergency
response and replacement agreement which will be built into the S278 agreement
together with the commuted sum.

Conditions:

Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)
A Construction Traffic Management Plan should be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and agreed prior to commencement of works. This should identify;

The CTMP must be appropriately titled, include the site and planning
permission number.

Routing of construction traffic and delivery vehicles is required to be shown and
signed appropriately to the necessary standards/requirements. This includes
means of access into the site.

Details of and approval of any road closures needed during construction.
Details of and approval of any traffic management needed during construction.
Details of wheel cleaning/wash facilities — to prevent mud etc, in vehicle
tyres/wheels, from migrating onto adjacent highway.

Details of appropriate signing, to accord with the necessary
standards/requirements, for pedestrians during construction works, including
any footpath diversions.

The erection and maintenance of security hoarding / scaffolding if required.

A regime to inspect and maintain all signing, barriers etc.

Contact details of the Project Manager and Site Supervisor responsible for on-
site works to be provided.

The use of appropriately trained, qualified and certificated banksmen for guiding
vehicles/unloading etc.

No unnecessary parking of site related vehicles (worker transport etc) in the
vicinity — details of where these will be parked and occupiers transported
to/from site to be submitted for consideration and approval. Areas to be shown
on a plan not less than 1:500.

Layout plan of the site that shows structures, roads, site storage, compound,
pedestrian routes etc.

A before-work commencement highway condition survey and agreement with
a representative of the Highways Depot — contact 0845 310 1111. Final
correspondence is required to be submitted.

Local residents to be kept informed of significant deliveries and liaised with
through the project. Contact details for person to whom issues should be raised
with in first instance to be provided and a record kept of these and subsequent
resolution.

Any temporary access arrangements to be agreed with and approved by
Highways Depot.

Page 186



e Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must be
outside network peak and school peak hours.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of construction
vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure and local residents,
particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times.

Travel Plan

Prior to the first occupation of the site an updated, comprehensive, framework travel
plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority,
together with a supplementary travel plan or travel plan statement for each of the
ancillary

land uses within 3 months of first occupation.

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport.

Public Transport Information System

Prior to commencement of development details of the Public Transport Information
System should be provided and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The
development should not be brought into use until the Public Transport Information
System has been provided within the site in accordance with the approved details.
Thereafter and for the life of the development, the applicant must ensure retention
and adequate maintenance of the Public Transport Information System.

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport.

Signage Strategy

Prior to commencement of development the Signage Strategy shall be submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out all signage on the
Local Highway Network, Strategic Road Network, including Variable Messaging
Signs as well as signage at Oxford Parkway, Peartree Park & Ride and within the
site. The development shall not be brought into use until the approved signage has
been installed.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Communication Strategy

Prior to commencement of development the Communication Strategy shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out the
measures to be provided to make residents aware in advance of when matches will
be taking place and of any route diversions. The development shall not be brought
into use until the Communication Strategy has been provided in accordance with the
approved details. Thereafter the Communication Strategy shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Car Park Management Plan

Prior to commencement of development the Car Park Management Plan shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out how

Page 187



car parking will be controlled, monitored and enforced on site for the different uses.
Thereafter and for the life of the development, the Car Park Management Plan shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Crowd & Traffic Management Strategy

Prior to commencement of development the Crowd & Traffic Strategy shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This should set out the
different forms of crowd and traffic management, the enforcement, monitoring and
reporting methods and location of marshals. The development shall not be brought
into use until the Crowd & Traffic Management Strategy has been agreed.
Thereafter and for the life of the development, the Crowd and Traffic Management
Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Evacuation Strategy

Prior to commencement of development the Evacuation Strategy shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be
brought into use until the Evacuation Strategy has been agreed. Thereafter and for
the life of the development, the Evacuation Strategy shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Cycle Parking

Before the development permitted is commenced details of the cycle parking areas,
including dimensions and means of enclosure, shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be brought into
use until the cycle parking areas and means of enclosure have been provided within
the site in accordance with the approved details and thereafter the areas shall be
retained and maintained solely for the purpose of the parking of cycles.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport.
Informatives:

Please note If works are required to be carried out within the public highway, the
applicant shall not commence such work before formal approval has been granted
by Oxfordshire County Council by way of legal agreement between the applicant and
Oxfordshire County Council. This is separate from any planning permission that may
be granted and will be dealt with through S106 and S278 agreement as noted above.
Works delivered via S278 agreement will need to also consider Oxfordshire County
Council’s Tree and Street Lighting policies along with the Oxfordshire Flood Toolkit.

Signage to be placed on the public highway can be installed as part of the Section
278 agreement, however, signage to be installed on the SRN or on private land
(Peartree & Parkway) will need a separate agreement.

Page 188


https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/energy-and-climate-change/tree-policy-oxfordshire
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s62482/CA_OCT1822R11%20Annex%20A%20Street%20Lighting%20Policy_2022%20Clean%20Version%20250522.pdf
https://www.oxfordshirefloodtoolkit.com/

The following items will require a separate legal (Traffic Regulation Order) process,
which includes public consultation, and which will require sign off by the cabinet
member for highways:

Oxford Road diversion route.

Parking measures at Oxford Parkway.

Matchday Controlled Parking Zone.

Speed limit reduction on Frieze Way.

Parking restrictions on Bicester Road, Oxford Road and Frieze Way.
New cycle paths and signalised crossings.

The access steps from Oxford Parkway to Oxford Road and the cycle parking at
Oxford Parkway are not fully within public highway land. As such the land outside of
the public highway will need to be dedicated along with land either side for
maintenance and illumination. As such Chiltern Railways will need to be party to the
S106 agreement.

A mechanism will also be required in the S106 agreement to monitor and review the
effectiveness or otherwise of matchday shuttles/bus services. This should set out the
stakeholders within the Matchday Steering Group, the frequency the group will meet
and should provide a baseline level of service (in line with the planning application)
that must be provided/achieved as a minimum and all in accordance with the travel
plan and transport assessment.

Detailed Comments:
Site Location

The site is located in the triangle of land directly south of Kidlington Roundabout,
between the A4165 Oxford Road and the A4260 Frieze Way, and the Oxford to
Oxford Parkway railway. Oxford Road is a 30mph road which connects Kidlington to
Oxford via Kidlington and Cutteslowe Roundabouts, it also connects to Oxford
Parkway train station and park & ride.

Frieze Way is a national speed limit dual carriageway which connects Kidlington
Roundabout to Loop Farm Roundabout, this then connects the Local Highway
Network (LHN) to the A44 traveling north-west and Peartree and Wolvercote
Roundabouts via the A44 south-east. Peartree Roundabout forms part of the
Strategic Road Network (SRN) as it connects to the A34 which is maintained by
National Highways (NH).

Wolvercote Roundabout connects to the A40 west towards Witney and Carterton. To
the east it connects to the Cutteslowe Roundabout which takes you back to Oxford
Road to the north or carries on east to east Oxford and then further to Wheatley,
High Wycombe and London. North-east of the Kidlington Roundabout is Bicester
Road which again connects the site to the A34.

There are a number of allocated strategic development sites which are coming
forward in the area which will significantly increase housing numbers and
employment areas. These sites will deliver significant pieces of infrastructure to help

Page 189



mitigate the impact of their developments and improve active travel and public
transport in the area. Although there are some smaller sites also coming forward,
Oxford North and the Cherwell Local Plan Partial Review sites (PR6a, PR6b, PR7a,
PR7b, PR8 & PR9) will be constructing over 5000 new dwellings along with
significant employment areas.

The recent Kidlington Roundabout Improvement Scheme has improved provision for
active travel considerably, by signalizing the roundabout and installing parallel
crossings on the Bicester Road, Frieze Way and Oxford Road arms. There are
existing shared paths along either side of Oxford Road for the majority of the length
of the corridor, however, these are not in line with LTN 1/20 standards and are in
relatively poor condition. Along with the new parallel crossings at Kidlington
Roundabout there is also a toucan crossing adjacent to the existing ramp down to
Oxford Parkway.

The A44 Corridor Scheme has also improved active travel in the area by providing a
new 4.5m shared path on the western side of the road along with additional
crossings and public transport improvements. Similarly the Peartree Roundabout
scheme and improvements brought forward by Oxford North have improved the
environment for active travel users and buses by creating bus lanes and shared
paths between Peartree and Wolvercote Roundabout and creating/improving
crossings in the area. Particularly relevant for this application are new toucan
crossings on the A44 (east) and A34 (south) arms of Peartree Roundabout.

The existing active travel and public transport infrastructure through Kidlington is of
relatively high quality with shared paths and southbound bus lanes for different parts
of the corridor. The intention is to improve sustainable travel through Kidlington in the
future with additional bus and cycle lanes, however, designs are at an early stage.

In addition to the above, the Partial Review (PR) sites and Oxford North are also
required to deliver/contribute towards the following infrastructure which would benefit
the stadium:

e New Cycle Superhighway between Kidlington and Cutteslowe Roundabouts
(2.5m cycle lanes and 2m footways either side of Oxford Road)

e New 2.5m cycle path through Cutteslowe Park connecting to the A40

overbridge.

Pedestrian/cycle improvements to Cutteslowe Roundabout.

New southbound bus lane on Bicester Road.

New 1000 space mobility hub (park & ride) on the A44.

Multiple new active travel crossings on Bicester Road and Oxford Road.

New footbridge across the canal and improvements to the canal towpath.

New LTN 1/20 compliant bridge from PR6b (currently North Oxford Golf Club)

to Peartree P&R (subject to planning permission for PR6b and Peartree).

Exploring the possibility of a station at Begbroke Science Park

¢ New southbound bus lane on A44 from Langford Lane to Cassington Road
roundabout (bus lane already in place from Cassington Rd to Loop Farm)

e New shared paths from Bladon Roundabout to tie in with A44 Corridor
Scheme.

Page 190



The above information not only describes the transport improvements coming
forward within this part of the network but also demonstrates the change of character
in the area. Once Oxford North and the PR sites, along with the infrastructure
improvements come forward, this will no longer be a rural/inter-urban location as it is
now but will have urbanised characteristics, particularly in the emerging transport
infrastructure. This will encourage driver behaviour change, slower vehicle speeds,
encourage walking and cycling and contribute to making the highway network safer
for all users.

Taking all of the above into consideration, | consider the proposed location to be
highly sustainable in transport terms and an appropriate location for development
which can make use of the high quality active travel routes which are in place and
coming forward and the high public transport availability which will be discussed
further in the next section and multiple routes vehicles have available (including
access to the SRN).

Public Transport

The proposed site is well served by public transport with 13 buses per hour in each
direction (26 total) with additional buses in the peak hours which will serve the
proposed ancillary uses. These services connect the site with the city centre,
Banbury, Bicester and Witney along with Marston and Headington via the 700
service which is due to be upgraded as part of the ‘Eastern Arc’ route. This will also
improve connections to Cowley and Littlemore which will better serve fans from
those areas.

In addition to these services the club also run matchday services, which are listed in
table 5.3.5 of the TA Addendum and cover areas such as Didcot, Abingdon, Thame,
Wheatley, Bicester, Witney and Carterton. These services will be monitored and
improved if required, for example, as the stadium is moving north and there are not
as many public transport services from the south of the county it could be beneficial
to run an additional service or shuttle from the south.

However, the county council agrees with the approach of monitoring and surveying
how fans travel and then providing any additional services at that point. This will be
monitored and communicated via the Match Day Steering Group and Match Day
Travel Plan, which will cover all matches not just those at capacity. The county
council would like to see Kidlington Parish Council as well as fan groups such as
OxVox and the Oxford United Supporters Panel included in the Steering Group to
feedback any issues with match day operations.

For fans that wish to drive to games (parking at park and ride sites), the proposed
strategy is to provide shuttle buses from the park and rides. The club has confirmed
that this includes Peartree and Thornhill sites. This is in addition to shuttles from
Eynsham, Redbridge and Seacourt. The same will apply for any future mobility hubs
that come forward, such as those proposed on the A44 near the Oxford Airport and
the A4074 near Grenoble Road.

Page 191



The club has indicated the number of shuttles which would be running from each
P&R and OCC is initially content with this number, however, this would need to be
monitored as mentioned above, and shuttles can be reassigned between games if
required.

Oxfordshire County Council are currently drafting an ambitious rail strategy which
includes enabling new services, increased capacity and improved frequency. There
are currently 2 trains per hour that go through Oxford Parkway on the Oxford-
Marylebone line (stopping at Bicester Village, Thame and High Wycombe). East
West Rail (EWR) which is coming forward in 2033 and will connect Oxford Parkway
with Bletchley, Milton Keynes, Bedford and Cambridge, will increase this number by
at least an additional 2 trains per hour.

Furthermore, the county council are working with Network Rail to bring the Cowley
Branch Line back into operation as a passenger service by 2030. Whilst not
confirmed, this would connect the site with Cowley and Littlemore and would offer
fans from those areas along with the city centre an attractive option. As housing in
east oxford comes forward this adds greater importance for this route as we already
know a large number of fans live in these areas.

There are plans in the future to increase frequency of the Oxford/Marylebone service
(which the Cowley Branch Line would form part of) to 3 trains per hour, as well as
potentially running at least 1 of the EWR trains to Didcot which could greatly help
fans from the south of the county travel to the stadium. Additionally, there is also the
potential for the new Bristol-Oxford service stopping at Oxford and then traveling
onto Parkway before turning around.

In total, this would bring the total number of trains travelling to Parkway up to 6 per
hour which would offer home and away fans frequent, fast and attractive travel
options from a number of locations around within and outside the county. An
important point which needs to be emphasised is the desire of football fans to use
rail as their primary travel choice; the Campaign for Better Transports Door to
Turnstile report states that home fans are fairly evenly split between car and rail use,
over half of away fans use train for at least some games and 36% of fans said they
would like to use rail more. When considering that this takes into account all fans,
including those of clubs where the stadium is not located close to a train station, it
would suggest that train is likely to be a key mode of travel to the stadium for both
home and away fans.

It should also be noted that PR8 (Begbroke Science Park) are currently exploring a
new rail halt which would connect to Parkway and then continue to Oxford City and
the Cowley Branch Line. This again would be beneficial to the club and the county
council are supporting this by including within the emerging rail strategy, however,
this is still at an early stage, as is the proposed station at Grove which could help
fans from south/west of the county travel to the stadium sustainably. It should be
noted that travel and transport planning for the stadium are not dependant upon
these longer term measures.

Chiltern Railways have provided information on the requirements at the station and
the queuing system. Pedestrian flows have been modelled in and out of the station

Page 192



and are deemed acceptable. Additionally, when Oxford United played at Wembley in
May 2024 all trains to Wembley went from Oxford Parkway; this transported
significantly higher numbers of rail users than predicted for a standard matchday at
the proposed stadium and operated successfully. The county council are therefore
confident in the arrangements and support Chiltern Railways requests to further
improve Oxford Parkway for all users.

Oxfordshire County Council welcomes the proposal to include public transport tickets
with season and match day tickets and would work with the club and public transport
operators to help facilitate this. The county council have recently introduced a multi-
operator bus ticket covering most bus routes in Oxfordshire "MyBus Oxfordshire" -
although this only covers bus, the arrangements behind it may be of use for the
proposed season/match public transport tickets.

The county council also welcome the proposal to include a public transport
information system to inform supporters of travel news or delays — a condition is
recommended to secure this.

New bus stops on Oxford Road are proposed for the use of the stadium and its
ancillary uses. These are welcome and would need to be equipped with real time
passenger information - a S106 contribution will be required for this. The cost of a
real time information sign is £14,893 per stop, therefore a contribution of £14,893 x 2
= £29,786 (Baxter April 2025) is required.

Current Stadium

The existing Oxford United stadium is located on Grenoble Road in south Oxford,
adjacent to the areas of Greater Leys and Littlemore. The primary flow of traffic for
fans accessing the stadium is from the A4074 although it can also be accessed from
the B480 to the west and Brick Kiln Lane which allows access to Sandford-on-
Thames. Grenoble Road is generally a single carriageway, 40mph road although the
section between the A4074 and the first science park roundabout has 2 lanes either
side. Despite the 40mph speed limit, speeds are often in excess of 50mph.

There are 8 large roundabouts in the 3.5km between the B480 and A4074 and 6
priority junctions, none of which have pedestrian/cycle priority. There are no
signalised crossings for active travel users and little in the way of cycle infrastructure.
There is a 2m footway on the northern side of Grenoble Road, although there are
sections of this (around the old Priory pub which is not public highway and can
therefore not be enforced) which get cars parked on them on matchdays. The wider
cycle network is also generally poor in the area with very few formal cycle paths or
priority for cyclists/pedestrians.

There is very little cycle parking at the ground (approximately 160 spaces). The
provision is not well used despite the number being well below the modern standard
required. This is likely due to the form and location. The cycle parking is located in
an area which is not well overlooked or has surveillance, it is not covered and it is in
the form of wheel racks which can be difficult to use and incompatible with some
bikes.

Page 193



The public transport options are also some of the poorest in the city with only 2 non-
matchday services stopping at the stadium. The 3A which goes from the city centre
twice an hour and takes approximately 30 minutes although does not go from the
train station so is difficult to use for away fans, and the recently added 600 which
forms part of the ‘Eastern Arc’ route and travels from Redbridge P&R to Thornhill
P&R and goes through areas of Littlemore, Cowley and Headington. Fans who know
the area are more likely to use the Blackbird Leys services which are more frequent
and then walk to the stadium.

There are 1,942 free car parking spaces at the existing stadium. This includes 1095
in the main car park, 648 in the over-flow car park and 199 on Grenoble Road (which
further adds the potential for conflict and worsens the environment for cyclists). With
such high parking numbers and as a result traffic generation before and particularly
after games it puts significant pressure on the Heyford Hill and Littlemore
Roundabouts along with the Cowley Interchange.

Oxfordshire County Council’s traffic data at the Littlemore and Heyford Hill
Roundabouts and on the Southern By-Pass between Heyford Hill and Kennington
Roundabouts (survey location numbers 00000280, 00000131, 00007210 &
00000514) shows that on Saturdays there is generally no increase in vehicle
numbers before or after matches and in some cases the traffic flows on match days
are lower than non-match days. On Tuesday evening games there is generally a
small increase in traffic between 18:30pm and 19:00pm and a more noticeable
increase between 21:30pm and 22:30pm on match days with all other time periods
comparable.

Given the poor quality of active travel provision and public transport availability,
combined with the large number of free parking spaces, it is clear why such a high
percentage of fans travel by car (85%) to the existing stadium, although this figure is
not representative of a match day.

Despite it not being the subject of this planning application, it should be recognised
that relocating the stadium offers an opportunity to reduce a significant number of
vehicular trips on the network, particularly around the junctions mentioned previously
which would not only benefit residents in that area but also the wider highway
network.

Site Strategy

Oxford United are adopting a vision-led approach to their transport strategy which is
in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and is supported by the
county council. This is required in order to achieve the modal shift required. With the
sustainable travel options available, as discussed elsewhere, the county council
believe this is achievable.

The strategy sets out key principles which will determine how fans travel and help to
promote the use of active and sustainable travel, this is in line with Decide & Provide
principles. Whilst some details will need to be finalised at condition and planning
obligation stage through the Match Day Travel Plan, these key principles are:

Page 194



e Delivering and contributing towards active travel infrastructure to ensure high-
quality walking and cycling is an attractive and primary option for fans.

e Prioritising public transport infrastructure (delivering, contributing towards and
ensuring good access) and working with public transport operators to ensure
public transport is appealing and highly visible to fans.

e Providing a clear communication strategy, including VMS signs (conditioned)
which directs vehicles away from the stadium and Oxford Parkway and to
their closest P&R. Operating free shuttle services from these P&Rs to the
stadium to make it a faster and cheaper option.

e Crowd and traffic management planning, using trained marshals. Managing
pedestrian and cycle access to the stadium from Peartree and Oxford
Parkway and into the ground. Controlling traffic on the roads around the
stadium and at Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of fans is prioritised.

e Implementation of a diversion on Oxford Road (except for emergency vehicles
and buses) and parking measures at Oxford Parkway to ensure the safety of
pedestrians and cyclists is prioritised and buses can operate effectively
without being held up in queues for private vehicles. This will be discussed
further in the following section.

e Implementation of a Match Day Steering Group with all relevant local
stakeholders to help feedback any issues or changes that need to be made
week to week.

This approach is in line with national and local policy, including Local Transport and
Connectivity Plan (LTCP) policies 1, 10, 15, 18, 31, 33 & 35. The applicant’s
strategy, combined with the sustainable transport options proposed, enables
opportunity for a significant shift in the way fans travel to games. This approach
encouraging a reduction in vehicular trips on the network and helping to meet the
targets within the LTCP.

The strategy increases use significantly on the Park & Rides which is in line with
Oxfordshire County Council policy. There is expected to be a 6% increase in the use
of the P&R’s once the traffic filters are implemented. The county council have
undertaken an exercise adding these numbers to the surveys undertaken by OUFC
to understand if the P&R’s have capacity.

The only Park & Ride that does not have sufficient capacity (34 spaces short) on a
Saturday is Peartree, however, this calculation is based on no vehicles driving to
Parkway. The county council does not believe this is a realistic scenario even with
the measures in place which will be discussed in the following section, so capacity is
not considered to be a material issue. It is also considered that future development
of additional park and ride sites will provide significant additional capacity. All
existing Park & Ride sites have spare capacity on weekdays.

Throughout the application process there have been multiple comments on the
capacity at the Park & Rides noting that spaces should be reserved for city centre
use and Oxfordshire residents. However, there is no policy wording that states the
P&Rs are solely for city centre use and it is worth noting that the majority of fans
attending an Oxford United match will be Oxfordshire residents. The P&Rs are
intended to reduce impact on the highway network and promote sustainable modes

Page 195



which is what would be achieved by implementing the club’s transport strategy.
Therefore, the use of these sites is considered acceptable.

Oxford Road & Oxford Parkway

Pedestrian modelling has been undertaken, by the applicant, for fans entering and
exiting the stadium. Images of this modelling are shown in the TA and TA
Addendums. This modelling indicates, particularly post-match, that the number of
fans walking between the stadium and Oxford Parkway requires a large amount of
carriageway space in addition to the footways. Thames Valey Police (TVP) are
concerned with risk or conflict between vehicles and pedestrians and the risk of
terrorist hostile vehicle attacks and have therefore stated that the road would need to
be closed before and after matches, and Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) installed.
This to ensure clear and safe movement of large volume of fans.

The county council have been working with TVP and OUFC, along with a number of
other stakeholders (British Transport Police, Stagecoach, Oxford Bus Company,
Chiltern Railways, Network Rail etc) throughout the consultation stage. Whilst
understanding the need for the route diversion, the county council have been
concerned about the original proposal to close the road to all vehicles and have
required buses to be allowed through the diversion. This is vital for the transport
strategy of the stadium and to allow the public transport network, including the Park
& Ride, to be reliable and to continue to operate through diversion periods.

The club has now found an acceptable (to OCC, TVP and public transport operators)
method of accommodating buses during the diversion, which involves installing
hostile vehicle mitigation (HVM) either side of the temporary closure (at Kidlington
Roundabout and north of the Oxford Parkway junction) and this includes an ‘airlock’
system which allows buses to enter an area where their authorisation can be
checked and they can be held before being guided through the road closure by
trained motorcycle escorts in a shuttle running system (up to 3 at a time). Marshals
would be stationed throughout the closure to ensure fans are aware of buses and
cleared from the route to ensure the safety of all users. This was discussed at a
workshop with the bus operators who confirmed they were happy with the approach
and the impact on their services. A number of financial contributions have been
requested which will improve public transport journey time on the network as a
whole, which will also mitigate the impact on public transport journey times.

The club have updated the pedestrian modelling to include the bus access; this
shows that a 35-minute diversion would be needed for a full stadium. The transport
modelling includes a 45-minute diversion allowing for set up and some contingency,
which is considered sufficient to test the impact on the network, which will be
discussed in the following section.

Throughout the consultation stage, several questions have been raised around the
method of the pedestrian modelling. Officers have therefore sought advice from
external third parties to ensure it is appropriate and sound. The club have used
VisWalk as the software and followed the Fruin method; The Head of Travel Demand
Management for the Olympic Delivery Authority for London 2012 who also worked

Page 196



for Tottenham and Arsenal on their new stadiums, has confirmed that this is the
same methodology used for those and is therefore considered appropriate.

It is worth noting that a large number of stadiums around the country have road
closures before and after matches of varying lengths and forms, often including
suspension of parking bays or holding of vehicles to allow priority for pedestrians and
public transport. For example, Tottenham have a 65,000-seat stadium which
includes agreement by Transport for London (TfL) to close the A1010 High Road
(along with some minor roads) for up to an hour after matches. The A1010 is an
important transport corridor in north London which is heavily used by buses and
most fans would need to use to access the tube stations and bus stops. Despite the
size of the stadium and the agreement in place, on average the road closure is only
needed for 30 minutes.

Although the county council are satisfied in the use of the pedestrian modelling for
assessing pedestrian flows before and after matches, it has not been demonstrated
how pedestrians would exit the stadium during evacuation procedures. The applicant
will require a certificate from the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) before they can bring
the stadium into use, the SAG will need to see evacuation procedures along with all
other safety protocols. The applicant has stated that this information is not currently
available but that they are confident evacuation protocols are acceptable. As the
SAG certificate is provided post-planning, leaving this to that stage is at the
applicant’s risk as without the certificate they will not be able to hold events.
However, Oxfordshire County Council and Thames Valley Police would like to see
the details of this prior to commencement of development and as such a condition
has been included.

In terms of Oxford Parkway, it is important for the county council’s transport strategy
that the site stays open as it is a key mobility hub with access for residents to both
buses and trains. Oxford Road would be closed for a maximum of 35 minutes before
and after matches, during which time residents and other users are able to access
Oxford Parkway via the diversion route along Frieze Way, the A44 and A40. Before
and after the diversion residents and users can access Parkway as usual.

The matter of fans potentially using Oxford Parkway as a car park for the proposed
stadium has been considered. Measures are proposed to mitigate the opportunity for
fans to use Parkway as a car park for the stadium (as they do at the current
stadium). This is to support the transport strategies of both the club and the County
Council, and to lessen the impact on the local highway network; certain measures
would be implemented to discourage parking around match times as follows

The club will include information on their website around how to get to the ground:
Oxford Parkway would not be included in this or in the information sent when fans
purchase tickets. The Variable Messaging System (VMS) signs on local and
strategic highway networks would also be directing fans to their closest P&R’s rather
than Parkway. Additionally, for fans travelling from the north or west, once the
temporary closure is in place fans would need to follow the diversion which would
add time to their journey and pass other P&R’s where they could get a free shuttle
bus to the ground which would likely be an incentive with the other measures the
county council and Chiltern will be implementing.

Page 197



It has been agreed in principle between the county council’s network management
team that manage Oxford Parkway (P&R) and Chiltern Railways that parking
charges would be increased on match days in the car parks run by both
organisations. The price and the timing is still to be determined which would need to
go through a separate process post-planning but would be likely to increase from 2-3
hours before kick-off.

This should help mitigate the impact of the stadium whilst also allowing residents to
still access the P&R for other uses (bus and train journeys). The county council have
assessed the data using a permanent traffic count on the access road to Oxford
Parkway and in 2023 67% of the total cars in for the day are already parking by 1pm
(2 hours before 3pm kick-off). The percentage is lower for early kick offs but is still
33% by 10:30 (2 hours before 12:30 kick-off). For weekday evening games that
percentage rises to 95% by 6pm.

Lastly, it has been agreed in principle that cars would be held in Parkway for 45
minutes after games (although this will be monitored and is subject to change). This
not only discourages fans from driving and parking at Parkway but also creates a
safer environment for fans and prioritises bus movements, such that they do not get
held up in queues.

In terms of how that would impact other users, 7% of vehicles using Parkway on
Saturdays (based on 2023 data) exit between 14:30-15:30 (hour after early kick-off
games finish). For standard 3pm kick offs the percentage rises to 13% during the
hour after the full-time whistle (17:00-18:00). These figures suggest that the
proposed measures would have limited impact on other Parkway users. However, it
is important that adequate signage and parking management is provided to ensure
other users are aware of the measures and when matches are taking place. As such,
Communication Strategy and Signage Strategy conditions have been included. With
Peartree P&R and the proposed P&R on the A44 nearby it is important to note that
users also have other options available.

Other measures proposed at Parkway include Chiltern Railways upgrading facilities
at the station and reallocating parking bays on match days to ensure there is
adequate space for queuing systems etc. Chiltern Railways have submitted their
own response outlining these proposals, which the county council fully support. The
club will be providing new steps down to the station from Oxford Road which is
supported and will be included in the S278 agreement, however, land is required to
be dedicated for this and as such Chiltern Railways will need to be party to any S106
agreement.

OUFC are aware of OCC proposals to develop a new transport depot at this site,
which if implemented would lead to approximately 150 spaces being removed. This
space reduction has been included in the club’s transport assessment, along with the
loss of up to 457 further spaces which the club has requested to reserve for match
day officials etc (although the number of spaces is still to be agreed with the
Council). There is sufficient capacity remaining for the existing users plus the
expected increase in the future as a result of the Traffic Filters.

Page 198



Traffic Generation

To understand the impact of the development on the Local Highway and Strategic
Road Networks (SRN), the club has used the North Oxford VISSIM Model on advice
from the county council. This model was produced by a consortium including all of
the PR sites and was used to demonstrate their impact as part of their planning
applications. The use of the model has been accepted at planning committee (for
other developments) several times and been signed off previously by the Local
Highway Authority and National Highways.

Whilst the club has been predominantly able to use the same base model for the
ancillary uses, such as the conference centre, for weekdays, they have been
required to develop evening and weekend scenarios to understand the impact of
matches on the network.

Oxfordshire County Council has commissioned Pell Frischmann to assist in the
development and assessment of the model as they were also used to audit the
original model developed by the PR sites. Pell Frischmann were involved in
meetings with the club and National Highways on the scope of the model, which is
standard practise for any strategic site where a third-party auditor is being used; this
allows any issues or changes required to be raised at the earliest opportunity. Pell
Frischmann have also audited every stage of the modelling process and have
provided reports to the county council on the Local Model Validation Report (LMVR),
base model, future year scenarios and further amendments. These reports are
included in Appendices A-C of this report.

Following each audit and report produced by Pell Frischmann, meetings have taken
place between the club, Pell Frischmann and the county council to address the
comments and understand any changes that need to be made in order for the model
to be approved as a tool to assess the impact on the highway network. There are
some outstanding issues which have not been addressed which can be found on
Page 15 of Appendix C, these will be addressed below.

The Local Highway Authority is satisfied that the methodology used to assess the
impact of the proposed development is appropriate to provide a reasonable
prediction of the traffic impact of the development.

Oxfordshire County Council requested the following scenarios to be modelled:

e Weekday AM peak to understand impact of ancillary uses
e Weekday PM peak to understand impact before and after matches
e Saturday PM (to understand impact before and after standard 3pm matches)

As 12:30 kick-offs are now more common there was a discussion around whether or
not this should also be a modelled scenario. However, having looked at the traffic
data, although average flows are higher which would be expected, the increase is
not significant enough to warrant an entire additional scenario. An example of the
flow increase is the permanent traffic counter Oxfordshire County Council have on
Oxford Road (00000174) adjacent to the proposed site. The county council have
assessed the data for 2022, 2023 & 2024, removing the months of June and July

Page 199



which are outside of the football season, in the half hour preceding matches (i.e.
when the diversion would be in place) there is only a 0.7% increase in vehicle
numbers at the earlier time.

It was therefore considered unnecessary to request this in addition to the scenarios
mentioned above. However, this has been an issue which has been raised several
times through the process by stakeholder groups and councillors. Therefore, to help
demonstrate that the impact on the network at the earlier time is not significantly
higher, the county council requested that the club undertake a sensitivity test using a
factoring exercise based on the traffic data collected. This demonstrates that
although there would be a slight increase in traffic and worsening of performance
across the network (159.98 second delay for 11:30am-12:30pm compared to 145.61
second delay at 14:00pm-15:00pm) this is not considered significant or severe in
highway terms.

The club has used Decide and Provide (D&P) Scenario 3 to model their impact plus
the additional scenario modelling trips to Parkway as requested. It is important to
stress that although the county council are content with this scenario, this is only
acceptable on the basis of the required mitigation listed earlier in the document being
provided. Only with this mitigation in place do the county council feel that the
vehicular trip rates would lower enough to be in line with the mode split for Scenario
3.

The traffic modelling has assumed a 10-15% reduction in background traffic and this
is considered acceptable on the basis of evidence from other sporting venues.

The county council asked the club to look into reductions in background traffic and
the impact of VMS which would be implemented across the Local Highway Network
and Strategic Road Network should permission be granted. The club provided some
information in the original TA regarding impact of VMS signs and reduction in
background traffic but to try and understand this in more detail the county council
spoke to officers who had previously worked on other stadia and events as
discussed previously.

Tottenham and Arsenal did not undertake traffic modelling for their stadiums as it
was agreed that there would be a neutral effect on traffic and the highway network,
although Tottenham did confirm that they have met their target of reducing car trips
to the stadium from 60% in 2003 (old 36,000 capacity stadium) to 23% at the new
65,000 capacity stadium mainly due to traffic management and the communication
strategy. However, London Olympics did put a lot of effort into reducing background
traffic and developed a high-quality communication strategy to make residents and
commuters aware of events so they could change their behaviour. The following is
an extract from the monitoring report with further information provided within the
‘Olympic Legacy Monitoring: Personal Travel Behaviour during the Games’ report:

Page 200



The club has also provided traffic data for the A33 outside Reading Football Club’s
stadium (24,000 capacity). The traffic flows on weekend and weekday matches are
very similar and in some cases are lower when matches are on. This indicates that
there is a significant reduction in background traffic caused by behavioural change to
accommodate matches, assisted by the communication strategy in place.

The club has provided further information on the impact of VMS in Section 3 of the
TA Addendum (April 25). 3.4.2 states “The evidence provided above indicates that
the level of diversion/reduction could be in the region of 30%, with the
implementation of VMS assuming a number of variable message signs are installed,
VMS information is corroborated by additional sources (for example advance
messages on previous days, SAT-NAV and website/text alerts).”

Pell Frischmann have raised that the core scenario should have been with 0%
reduction in background traffic, however, with the proposed mitigation and alternative
routes available in addition to the findings presented in the TA Addendum and
above, the county council feel that the 10-15% reduction is robust. The LHA are
therefore content with this approach.

Other outstanding points raised by Pell Frischmann on Page 15 of Appendix C which
need addressing are:

Vehicles driving through the temporary closure past the cut-off time — this has
been discussed with Pell Frischmann who have explained this not a
significant amount of vehicles which would not severely impact network and is
likely to just be a quirk of the model.

Pedestrian demand from crossings on Frieze Way and Oxford Road are low
despite significant increase in pedestrians. Crossing cycle time operates at
120s which is top end of what might be expected — this has been discussed
with the club and due to marshals being present to help crowd and traffic
management on match days this is considered realistic. Outside of match
days there will not be significant numbers of users so again this is acceptable.
Oxford Road crossings can be amended and do not impact model, Frieze
Way crossing will only be used heavily for 30 minutes so unlikely to have
severe impact on the network. It would have been useful to demonstrate the
impact at a shorter cycle time as this would likely have an impact, however, it
is not deemed fundamental to the operation of the highway network.
Remaining points raised are reporting issues that although should have been
amended do not impact operation of model.

Page 201



In the ‘Without Parkway’ scenarios, the modelling results show a worse impact in the
weekday evenings than the weekends which is to be expected when taking into
account the traffic flows of the PM peak hours in the week compared to weekend
flows. Overall, the weekday evenings show a 116 second delay in the hour 19:00-
20:00 across the modelled area compared to the reference case (without OUFC).
The biggest impact is on Route 3 (A4144 Woodstock Road to A44 Woodstock Road)
which shows a 389 second (42%) increase in journey time in the first hour (6pm-
7pm) and an 889 second (128%) delay in the second hour (7pm to 8pm).

This route is approximately 9 kilometres long so at its worst time (19:00 or 20:00) the
delay equates to a 98.7 second (1.6 minute) delay per kilometre. However, this is
with only a 10% reduction in background traffic, if background traffic reduces further
which is likely based on evidence, then this delay will also reduce.

On weekends the largest impact is on Route 5 (A34 Kidlington turn to Loop Farm
Roundabout) which sees a 116 second (43%) increase in journey time in the first
hour and a 643 second (241%) increased journey time in the second hour. Similarly
to above when split per kilometre (approximately 4.5km) this equates to a 143
second delay per kilometre. There are impacts on bus journey times in the weekday
scenarios (weekends are negligible), particularly to the 2 and 2A which is a concern,
however, this is mainly due to the shuttle working during the temporary closure. Bus
operators were content with this at the workshops and therefore the delays are
considered acceptable.

The additional modelling undertaken for the scenario including vehicles driving to
Parkway again shows an impact on the highway network but with the worst hour
being 20:00-21:00 in the weekday evenings, this is likely due to the model now
including more vehicles travelling on Oxford Road which is affected by the diversion
which creates a latent impact on the network, whilst this worsens the network in
general the impact is at a time where less essential trips are occurring. This show
the delay is 154.47 seconds for all vehicles across the modelled network.

On a Saturday the worst delay across the network for all vehicles is 41.1 seconds
between 12:30 and 13:30. Delays in the other modelled hours are not significant.
Route 5 (A34 SB to A4260 Frieze Way) is particularly impacted between 12:30-13:30
where there is a 262% increase in journey time from the reference case. This again
shows the need for the mitigation requested which would reduce vehicles from the
network by helping to provide sustainable travel choices.

The weekday AM modelling for ancillary uses (primarily conference centre) does not
show a significant impact on the network. National Highways have stated that their
primary concern is the weekday impact, however, have confirmed that queuing does
not extend onto the A34 off-slips and that MOVA and UTC takeover, which are
already in place but not included in the model, will further help control build up of
traffic.

The proposed mobility hub (P&R) on the A44 will directly impact Route 3 and Route

5 by reducing the number of vehicles on those corridors which should reduce delays
and the impact of the development. As such contributions have been requested.

Page 202



The modelling generally shows bigger impacts in terms of journey time delays before
matches due to the level of background traffic. The impact of matchday traffic after
matches is significantly less with the network performing worse in the first hour and
then dropping significantly in the second hour. This aligns with traffic data for
Littlemore Roundabout, Heyford Hill Roundabout and on the Southern-By-Pass
which was discussed previously which shows higher traffic flows before matches
than after, although comparable to non-match days (on Saturdays) and shows that
on Tuesdays there is a spike in traffic for the first 30 minutes after games before
dropping back to base line levels.

The club have noted in Paragraph 7.5.4 of the TA Addendum how further
improvements could be made to the model, this includes adding MOVA to Peartree,
Cutteslowe and Wolvercote Roundabouts which would improve the performance and
better reflect existing operation of the junctions (MOVA is already in place which
makes green time more efficient between arms). It should also be added that the
requested financial contributions to the new mobility hub on the A44, Average Speed
Cameras on the ring road, and contributions towards the Cowley Branch Line,
amongst others, would help reduce background traffic whilst also further improving
the sustainability of the area.

Overall, in the opinion of the Local Highway Authority, whilst there is a traffic impact
from the development, it could not be considered severe in NPPF para. 116 terms; in
part because it is largely outside of network peak hours when more essential trips
are taking place and the impact it does show it is for a relatively short period of time
and only 28 times on average across a season. Therefore, Oxfordshire County
Council do not object to the proposal on highway impact grounds.

Cycle Parking

446 new cycle parking bays would be provided at the stadium which could be used
by fans and users of the ancillary uses. An additional 75 spaces would also be
provided at Oxford Parkway which could be used by fans on match days but would
also benefit the station on non-match days. This is particularly important for when the
new rail services are operational.

There are currently 150 cycle spaces at Parkway with utilisation being on average
under 50%. This leaves at least 75 spaces available in addition to the new cycle
parking provision mentioned above. This brings the total provision to 596 which is in
line with Oxfordshire County Council standards. Additionally, further cycle parking
improvements at Oxford Parkway will be coming forward through East West Rail.

Although the county council would prefer all spaces to be provided at the stadium,
there are benefits to providing some at Parkway and if cycling to the ground from the
south it may be easier to walk from Parkway once the road is closed and there are
higher numbers of pedestrians. Therefore, the county council accepts the level of
cycle provision proposed. A condition has been added to agree the details of the
provision which will need to be covered, secure and accessible for all users and
bikes.

Page 203



Car Parking

161 car parking bays are proposed at the stadium including 80 accessible bays (on
match days, outside of match days there would be 10) and 41 EV bays. There would
need to be passive EV provision for the remaining bays and this will be conditioned.

Fans will be advised there is no match day parking at the stadium or Oxford Parkway
(to be agreed with Chiltern Railways through the Signage Strategy Condition) when
purchasing tickets and through VMS signs and will be directed to their closest P&R’s.
On-site parking would be monitored through Automatic Number Plate Recognition
(ANPR) cameras; the county council would need to see details of this and therefore
have included a condition.

A match day Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) will be required for a 2km (approximate)
distance from the site, similar to the existing matchday CPZs around the current
stadium which are managed effectively by the county council. Contributions have
been requested for the design, consultation and implementation of this along with
costs towards additional enforcement. Residents within this zone would need to
apply to the county council for permits, although these are lower than standard
residential permits (currently £20 annually in the existing matchday CPZs but subject
to review). It is at the clubs discretion if they wish to pay for residents permits within
this zone for a set time, however, this is not something the county council can
request through the planning process. It should be noted that the PR sites are
coming forward with CPZ’s built in but will need to also cover matchday timings,
should planning permission be granted.

Parking will be monitored through the S106 agreement and should it be required a
further CPZ for an additional kilometre will be implemented. There are a number of
privately managed car parks in the area such as the Cutteslowe Park car park on
Harbord Road and Sainsburys in Kidlington which could be used by supporters.
However, these will need to be managed by the operators as the Local Highway
Authority do not have powers to enforce private land. The club will need to help
manage car parking at Stratfield Brake through the Crowd & Traffic Management
Strategy.

The club would also be requesting to reserve up to 457 spaces at Oxford Parkway.
Whilst this has been agreed in principle the number of spaces is still to be agreed
and it would need to go through a separate process post-planning similar to the
temporary closure and other measures at Parkway. Any spaces reserved would be
charged the higher matchday fee and are expected to be filled before the modelled
period and diversion.

Site Access

Any access works or works to be carried out on the public highway would require a
Section 278 Agreement and require technical approval. This is a separate process
post-planning and would require additional road safety audits and further work
alongside Oxfordshire County Council’s Highway Agreements team. However, an
engineer has assessed the proposed works and is satisfied they are feasible and

Page 204



can progress to detailed design. The following comments will need to be taken into
account at detailed design stage.

Vehicle tracking for both the primary access off Frieze Way and the
emergency access off Oxford Road has been assessed and is considered
acceptable. This allows emergency access from both directions as emergency
vehicles will be permitted from Oxford Road at any time. The tracking also
shows emergency vehicles can also safely manoeuvre around the perimeter
of the stadium.

The paths along Frieze Way will need to tie-in with existing arrangements at
Kidlington Roundabout.

Need to carefully consider the interaction of cycle lanes at bus stops to avoid
any potential conflict.

The proposed crossings and the shared path on the western side of Frieze
Way will require street lighting. The main carriageway does not require
lighting other than in areas of potential conflict. Lighting specifically for the
shared path can use shorter columns to assist with ecological protection. A
full street lighting design will be required at technical approval stage.

High friction surfacing will be required on approach to proposed crossings.
The break in the Vehicle Restraint System (VRS) on the central reserve on
Frieze Way will need to be shown and must show how the VRS terminals are
to be accommodated.

The speed limit on Frieze Way should be reduced to 40mph, this will require a
variation of the Traffic Regulation Order which can be done before the S278
works are signed off. Although this process is separate to planning
permission.

The shared path along Frieze Way should have priority over any farm
accesses, however, this can be discussed further at detailed design stage.
Hostile Vehicle Mitigation needs to be considered carefully. This will need to
be agreed between the county council, the club and Thames Valley Police
prior to the Section 278 agreement being completed. Commuted sums will be
applied to any apparatus on the highway that needs to be maintained by the
county council.

As the steps between Oxford Parkway and Oxford Road are not solely within
public highway land, Chiltern Railways who own the land will need to be party
to the S106 agreement and dedicate the land to Oxfordshire County Council
to maintain. The principle of this has been agreed with Chiltern Railways. The
steps will require illumination and will be subject to agreement from the county
council’s Structures team.

Travel Plans

Travel Plans will play an important part in ensuring the operation of the site is in line
with the strategy as set out above. The travel plans for the individual elements will be
conditioned and monitored as is standard practise. Oxfordshire County Council have
seen sufficient detail of the match day operations to feel confident in the acceptability
and deliverability of the Matchday Travel Plan and are content with this being
progressed to condition stage.

Page 205



The Applicant has submitted a framework travel plan with this application, this plan is
acceptable for this stage of the application however it would need to be updated to a
full travel plan prior to the first occupation of this site. Details of the information
required in the full travel plan can be obtained from the Oxfordshire County Council
guidance document; Transport for new developments, Transport Assessments and
Travel Plans (March 2014). This travel plan would need to provide baseline travel
information, modal shift targets and a detailed action plan and budget for the delivery
of these targets.

Each of the land uses over the threshold set out in the OCC guidance document
would require a supplemental travel plan or travel plan statement, these plans should
outline how they will contribute to archiving the overall targets in the framework travel
plan. Conditions are recommended for each of the travel plans.

Summary

The application site is in a highly sustainable location in highway and connectivity
terms, as discussed throughout the report, and in transport terms meets all the
criteria to be considered acceptable. The benefits of the site include:

e Availability of public transport services, both in terms of bus and rail, with
further services coming forward over the next few years.

e Proximity to multiple Park and Rides which can intercept fans travelling by car
to the site.

e High quality active travel infrastructure coming forward which would make
walking and cycling to site easy and attractive.

¢ A highway network which has good access to the Strategic Road Network and
multiple routes to the site.

e Adjacent to large residential developments which may mean a higher number
of fans living within walking and cycling distance.

In terms of impacts, whilst the temporary closure of Oxford Road is beneficial for
pedestrians it does impact the highway network which is demonstrated by the micro-
simulation modelling.

Whilst the modelling does show delays, it also shows that these delays do not last
for a significant amount of time are largely outside of peak times and on average
take place 28 times per year (total split between Saturday’s and weekday evenings).
This corresponds with the impact of the existing stadium which despite having a
smaller capacity, due to the sustainability of the proposed site and the measures to
be implemented to prevent car use, generates a higher number of trips than
predicted at the proposed stadium. The impact will be further reduced by the
mitigation requested, such as the Cowley Branch Line and proposed A44 mobility
hub which will further reduce vehicular trips on the highway network.

The impact demonstrated is considered acceptable in highway terms, as is the

impact on Oxford Parkway. The club has a clear vision-led approach to the transport
strategy which the Local Highway Authority supports. This promotes active and

Page 206



sustainable transport modes and in partnership with local stakeholders prioritises the
safety of fans.

The sustainable location, combined with the proposed transport strategy for the site
is in line with national and local transport policy. This offers fans and Oxfordshire
residents the opportunity to travel sustainably to a site situated in an area of growth
with an already high-quality integrated transport network which will only improve in
the future.

As such, Oxfordshire County Council as the Local Highway Authority do not object to
the proposal on highway grounds.

Officer’'s Name: Will Madgwick

Officer’s Title: Technical Lead

Date: 23/05/2025

Appendix A: Pell Frischmann Base Model Audit

Appendix B: Pell Frischmann Base & Forecast Model Audit
Appendix C: Pell Frischmann Model Addendum Audit

Appendix D: Draft Heads of Terms Table — Highways

Page 207



Application no: 24/00539/F
Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway Railway
Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington

Lead Local Flood Authority

Recommendation:

No Objection Subiject to conditions (see OCC’s LLFA comments in OCC’s responses
dated 09/04/24 and 07/03/25).

Comments:

In our previous responses we requested planning conditions requiring the approval of a
drainage strategy and detailed drainage design prior to the commencement of
development. The comments in the responses from Cherwell District Council’s
drainage officer dated 19/03/24 and Thames Water dated 12/03/2025 must be taken
into consideration when applying to discharge these conditions.

Officer’s Name: Shada Hasan

Officer’s Title: Technical Lead — SUDs drainage engineer
Date: 03/04/2025

Page 208



Application no: 24/00539/F
Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway Railway
Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington

Archaeology

Recommendation:
No objection subject to conditions
Detailed comments:

Thank you for reconsulting us on this application. The newly submitted documents do
not alter our previous advice.

Officer’s Name: Oxfordshire County Archaeological Service

Officer’s Title: Planning Archaeologist
Date: 19/03/2025

Page 209



RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON THE FOLLOWING DEVELOPMENT
PROPOSAL

District: Cherwell

Application No: 24/00539/F

Proposal: Erection of a stadium (Use Class F2) with flexible commercial and community
facilities and uses including for conferences, exhibitions, education, and other events,
club shop, public restaurant, bar, health and wellbeing facility/clinic, and gym (Use Class
E/Sui Generis), hotel (Use Class C1), external concourse/fan-zone, car and cycle parking,
access and highway works, utilities, public realm, landscaping and all associated and
ancillary works and structures

Location: Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway Railway Station,
Oxford Road, Kidlinc_;ton

LOCAL MEMBER VIEWS

Clir: lan Middleton Division: Kidlington East

Comments:

Response to ALTERNATIVE SITE ASSESSMENT ADDENDUM March 2025

lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division

The Alternative Site Assessment Addendum (ASA Addendum) for Oxford United
Football Club's proposed stadium development raises significant concerns regarding the
adequacy of evidence supporting the consideration of alternative sites and the
justification for development on a Green Belt site. Namely :

1. Insufficient Evidence of Availability:

The ASA Addendum repeatedly states that certain sites are unavailable based on
limited or anecdotal evidence, such as landowner intentions being "unknown" or
"understood" to be unwilling to sell. For example, Site 28 (Land north of Oxford
Parkway Station) is discounted based on an alleged refusal by the landowner,
but no formal documentation or detailed negotiations are provided to substantiate
this claim.

Similarly, Site 30 (Land near Pear Tree Park and Ride) is dismissed based on an
email from Merton College stating the site is not available for a stadium. The

Page 210



Council has requested further evidence, such as whether market value was
offered, which has not been provided.

. Inconsistent Methodology:

The report lacks consistency in its methodology for assessing sites. | would
agree with Cherwell District Council’s criticism of the RAG system that has been
used for being unclear and not well-reasoned. This undermines the robustness of
the site selection process.

The Green Belt analysis is grouped with landscape and visual considerations,
which conflates spatial planning issues with qualitative assessments. This
approach fails to provide a nuanced understanding of each site's suitability.

. Exclusion of Potentially Suitable Sites:

The ASA Addendum excludes certain sites without sufficient justification. For
instance, Site 24 is not assessed for landscape impacts because the Heritage
Assessment deemed it unsuitable. However, this exclusion prevents a
comprehensive evaluation of all potential sites.

The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) has questioned the exclusion of
brownfield sites, such as the Unipart site in Oxford, which could potentially meet
the club's needs without encroaching on the Green Belt.

. Limited Engagement with Landowners:

The Addendum does not demonstrate proactive engagement with landowners to
explore the availability of sites. CDC has requested more comprehensive
evidence regarding the availability of Site 27 (Kassam Stadium), but the ASA
Addendum fails to address public claims that the landowner may be willing to
allow continued use of the stadium.

| have had previous contact with Firoz Kassam about the club’s relationship with
him and the stadium company (see annex 1). He has confirmed that no
approaches have been made to him or his company with regard to re-negotiating
the lease or licence on the stadium for the club to remain beyond 2026. This
contradicts the club’s claim that they have tried to negotiate an extension of the
licence but the Mr Kassam has refused.

I's also notable that the club is currently in negotiations with the Stadium
Company to remain at the Kassam for at least another 2 years whilst the new
stadium was built (assuming it received planning consent). All this appears to fly
in the face of the club’s claims that they have no choice but to leave.

Page 211



There is also clear documented evidence that OUFC put themselves in the
position of losing their right to renew their existing licence when they enacted the
Force Majure clause in their previous licence which contained a right to renew for
a further 20 years (see annex 2). By doing so, they gave the stadium company
the opportunity to cancel their licence and so essentially made themselves
homeless leading to the necessity to sign another licence with no renewal clause
and more onerous conditions.

Recent messaging from the club appears to pivot away from claims that they
could not re-negotiate their remaining at the Kassam Stadium and instead cites
problems with the terms of their current licence which they say prevent them from
gaining supplementary income from merchandising and food concessions at the
stadium. That may well be the case, but financial restrictions on the club are a
commercial matter that they agreed to when signing their current licence. Lack of
commercial advantage is not a valid special circumstance by which to justify
development on Green Belt.

Lack of Justification for Green Belt Development

1. Failure to Demonstrate Very Special Circumstances:

The ASA Addendum does not adequately justify why the proposed development
on a Green Belt site is necessary. While it acknowledges the Green Belt
designation as a constraint, it does not provide compelling evidence that no other
feasible alternatives exist.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires "very special
circumstances" to justify Green Belt development. The ASA Addendum's
reliance on the site's availability and proximity to sustainable transport modes
does not meet this high threshold.

2. Environmental and Visual Impacts:

The ASA Addendum acknowledges that the proposed site would lead to harm to
the Green Belt and landscape. The Landscape and Visual Alternative Sites
Assessment (LVASA) highlights significant adverse effects on the site's
openness and visual character, which contradicts the claim that the site is
suitable for development.

3. Inadequate Mitigation Strategies:

The ASA Addendum does not provide sufficient detail on how the environmental
and visual impacts of the development would be mitigated. For example, the
southern parcel of the site is deemed unsuitable due to landscape constraints,
yet the northern parcel is proposed for development without addressing the
broader impacts on the Green Belt.

Page 212



While the Alternative Site Assessment (ASA) and its Addendum provide a
detailed evaluation of potential sites for the proposed stadium, there are several
areas where the argument that all alternative sites have been properly
considered can be challenged. These include the methodology, transparency,
and exclusion of certain sites that may warrant further investigation.

Methodology and Scope

The methodology used in the ASA relies heavily on predefined criteria, such as
proximity to sustainable transport nodes, availability, and planning constraints.
However:

. Exclusion of Sites Based on Proximity to Transport Nodes:

The ASA prioritizes sites within 2km of a sustainable transport node, but this
criterion may unnecessarily exclude sites that could be made accessible through
infrastructure improvements. For example, the Campaign to Protect Rural
England (CPRE) has questioned the exclusion of brownfield sites like the Unipart
site in Oxford, which may be viable despite not meeting this criterion.

. Green Belt Considerations:

While the ASA acknowledges the Green Belt designation as a constraint, it does
not fully explore whether "Very Special Circumstances" could be demonstrated
for certain sites. This is particularly relevant given the precedent of Green Belt
releases for significant developments in other areas.

Transparency of Availability

The ASA discounts several sites based on availability, but the evidence provided
is inconsistent and insufficient in some cases:

Land near Pear Tree Park and Ride (Site 30): The ASA relies on an email from
Merton College stating the site is unavailable, but it does not clarify whether
market value was offered or whether negotiations were pursued to overcome this
objection.

Kassam Stadium (Site 27): The ASA states the landowner is unwilling to allow
continued use or sell the site, but public statements from the landowner suggest
otherwise. This inconsistency undermines the credibility of the availability
argument.

Sites with Unknown Landowner Intentions: Several sites are discounted with
the justification that "landowner intentions are unknown." This lack of proactive
engagement with landowners raises questions about whether all reasonable
efforts were made to confirm availability.

Page 213



8. Exclusion of Sites

The ASA does not provide sufficient justification for excluding certain sites from
the assessment:

e Unipart Site in Oxford: This brownfield site was mentioned by CPRE as a
potentially suitable location but was excluded from the ASA. The rationale for its
exclusion is unclear, as proximity to transport nodes may not be an overriding
constraint if infrastructure improvements are considered. Further investigation
could reveal its feasibility.

« Other Brownfield Sites: The ASA does not appear to have comprehensively
assessed all brownfield sites within the search radius, which could align with
national planning policy favouring brownfield development over Green Belt
releases.

o Sites Outside the 7-Mile Radius: The ASA limits its search to a 7-mile radius
based on discussions with the EFL, but this constraint may exclude sites that
could be viable with improved transport links or other mitigation measures.

9. Lack of Detailed Investigation

For some sites, the ASA relies on high-level assessments without conducting
detailed investigations:

¢ Landscape and Visual Impacts: While the ASA includes landscape
assessments, it does not always provide sufficient evidence to justify the
exclusion of sites based on visual impacts. For example, sites like Land south of
Thornhill Park & Ride (Site 8) are deemed unsuitable due to landscape harm, but
mitigation measures such as screening or design adjustments are not fully
explored.

¢ Flood Risk: Sites in Flood Zone 3 are excluded without considering whether
flood mitigation measures could make them viable.

10. Public and Stakeholder Concerns

The ASA does not adequately address concerns raised by stakeholders and the
public:

¢ Public Comments: A significant number of public comments have questioned
the exclusion of certain sites, including the Kassam Stadium and other brownfield
locations. These concerns suggest that the ASA may not have fully considered
all reasonable alternatives.

Page 214



Stakeholder Feedback: CPRE and other organizations have raised valid points
about the methodology and site exclusions, which have not been sufficiently
addressed in the ASA Addendum.

11. Sites Excluded Due to Planning Constraints

Sites in Flood Zone 3:

Sites such as Seacourt Park and Ride (Site 35) and Land adjacent to Binsey
Lane (Site 38) were excluded due to significant flood risk constraints without
exploring potential mitigation measures. However this is a concern that the
applicants have addressed on the site under application.

Sites with Green Belt Designation:

Many sites were excluded due to their location in the Green Belt, including Site
24 (Land West of Oxford Airport) and Site 29 (Land near Marston). While the
ASA acknowledges the need for "Very Special Circumstances," it does not fully
explore whether these could be demonstrated for certain sites. It's notable that
the site under application is also located within Green Belt but this has not
deterred the applicant from pursuing it. The question then is why have they not
followed a similar rationale and excluded this site?

Comments on specific sites considered unsuitable

1.

Site 2: Oxford City Sports Park

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as it is currently used as Oxford
United's training facility and provides community sports facilities. It is also in the
Green Belt, and development would lead to harm to its openness.

All these concerns could also apply to the site under consideration. It’s
arguable that if this site is already being used by OUFC for training
purposes, it would be even more suitable as a site for a potential stadium.
Site 3: Land to the North of Horspath Road

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as it is in active use by sports
clubs, including Oxford Quins RFC. It is in the Green Belt, and development

would lead to harm to the openness and landscape.

However there is no evidence that this site has been properly considered or
that the landowners have been approached.

Page 215



. Site 5: Land West of Marston

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as part of it is allocated for
residential development, and another part is let to an occupier with a life interest.
Itis in the Green Belt and adjacent to Old Marston Conservation Area, with
potential harm to heritage assets.

No evidence has been provided that the landowners have been approached

. Site 8: Land South of Thornhill Park & Ride

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as it is being promoted for
alternative uses (biomedical research campus). It is in the Green Belt, with
significant landscape and heritage constraints.

No evidence has been provided that the landowners have been approached
. Site 12: Land to the East of Heyford Hill Lane

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as it is actively being promoted
for residential development. Itis in the Green Belt, with significant visual impacts
and proximity to sensitive ecological areas.

No evidence has been provided that the landowners have been
approached. The description says that the landowners intentions are
unknown. The restrictions due to ecological sensitivity and visual impacts
could also be applied to the site under application. No consideration
appears to have been given to mitigation options.

. Site 27: Kassam Stadium

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as the landowner has
confirmed they are unwilling to sell or allow continued use of the stadium. ltis
allocated for residential development in the local plan.

No evidence that the landowners have been approached. In fact there is
evidence that they haven’t been approached in any meaningful way (see
appendix 1)

. Site 28: Land North of Oxford Parkway Station

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as the landowner is unwilling to

sell, and the majority of the land is safeguarded for East-West Rail development.
It is also in the Green Belt.

Page 216



No evidence that the landowners have been approached. Again, green belt
designation also applies to the site under application.

8. Site 29: Land Near to Marston

Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as part of it is allocated for
access improvements and public open space for the Bayswater Brook
development. Itis in the Green Belt, with significant landscape and visual
constraints.

Further engagement with the landowner does not appear to have been
pursued. Again the same restrictions with regard to green belt designation
and visual constraints could be applied to the site under application

9. Site 30: Land Near to Pear Tree Park and Ride
Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as Merton College has
confirmed it is being promoted for mixed-use development. It is no longer in the
Green Belt but is allocated for residential use.
No evidence is provided confirming the position with Merton.

10.Site 32: Land at Oxford Airport
Reason for Discounting: The site is unavailable as the landowner is pursuing
alternative development. It is in the Green Belt and within an airport
safeguarding zone, where height restrictions and lighting constraints make

stadium development unfeasible.

No evidence that the landowners have been approached or that such
restrictions apply.

Key Themes in Discounting Sites

« Availability: Many sites were deemed unavailable due to active use, landowner
unwillingness, or promotion for alternative uses. However in most case no
evidence is provided to confirm this.

« Green Belt Constraints: Several sites were discounted due to their location in
the Green Belt, where development would harm openness and require "very
special circumstances®. Similar restrictions apply to the site under application but
this has not stopped the applicant from pursuing it.

« Planning and Environmental Constraints: Sites were discounted due to flood

risk, proximity to heritage assets, ecological sensitivity, or visual impacts. Yet
again some of these issues also apply to the site under application, particularly

Page 217



the ecological sensitivity and visual impacts. This has not prevented the
applicant from pursuing it.

1. Availability

Kassam Stadium (Site 27):

The applicant continues to claim that the landowner has confirmed they are not
willing to allow continued use or sell the site. They also claim that additionally,
the restrictive covenant requiring football use expires in October 2026, and the
site is allocated for residential development.

The covenant could easily be extended and the site is not ‘allocated’ for
residential development. The City Council local plan has simply stated that,
should the stadium site become available, it could be suitable for residential
development. That is a very different position to that being claimed.

Appendix 1 (below) also suggests that no formal approaches have been made
to the landowner to allow the club to stay at this location.

2. Planning Constraints

Green Belt Designation: This also applies to the site under consideration

Flood Risk: This also applies to the site under consideration.

3. Environmental and Visual Impacts

Landscape Sensitivity: Sites such as Land south of Thornhill Park & Ride (Site
8) and Land near Marston (Site 29) were deemed to have significant landscape
and visual impacts, including harm to the openness of the Green Belt and views
from surrounding areas. Although this could also apply to the site under
consideration.

Proximity to Protected Areas: Some sites are near sensitive ecological
designations, such as Port Meadow SAC and SSSI, which further restrict
development potential. But again the site under consideration is adjacent to a
Woodland Trust site and has significant biodiversity value in itself.

4. Suitability

Size and Shape: Some sites, such as Oxford Greyhound Stadium (Site 25), do
not meet the minimum size requirements for a stadium and associated facilities.
But it should be noted that the site under consideration does also not meet the
size requirements originally stipulated in the applicants site assessment. This has
led to the exclusion of a number of sites of similar size whilst this one remains

Page 218



the favouirite.

o Accessibility: Claims that site like the Land off Henley Road (Site 11) and Land
near Marston (Site 29) are not within walking distance (2km) of a major
sustainable transport node, make them less accessible by sustainable modes of
transport. This may be the case, but the site under consideration is also limited in
access to sustainable transport because of the requirement for road closures
between it and Parkway Station in order to access the rail network.

All alternative sites have not been properly considered

The report claims to be a comprehensive assessment of available sites. However this is
questionable because of issues with methodology, transparency, and the exclusion of
certain sites:

1. Methodology Concerns

« Limited Search Radius: The ASA restricts its search to a 7-mile radius based
on discussions with the EFL. This arbitrary boundary may exclude potentially
viable sites outside this radius, especially if transport infrastructure improvements
could make them accessible. The applicant has provided no evidence or
precedent to prove that the 7 mile radius is an EFL requirement. It also seems to
be entirely based on an arbitrary naming principle whereby the club claim that
they could no longer call themselves Oxford United if they exceed the 7 mile limit.
Even if this was true (an no evidence has been provided to support this), it would
seem fairly expedient to simply change the name of the club to Oxford County to
enable it to cast a much wider net in its search for available sites. This would not
be the first time a club has made such a change. Even the current name of
OUFC is not their original designation.

« Proximity to Transport Nodes: The ASA prioritizes sites within 2km of a
sustainable transport node, potentially excluding sites that could be made
accessible through infrastructure upgrades. For example, brownfield sites like
the Unipart site in Oxford.

o Green Belt Analysis: The ASA groups Green Belt considerations with
landscape and visual impacts, rather than assessing them separately. This
approach may overlook opportunities to demonstrate "Very Special
Circumstances" for Green Belt release, as required by national policy.

2. Transparency Issues

« Availability of Sites: The report discounts several sites based on availability
without providing sufficient evidence:

Page 219



Site 30 (Land near Pear Tree Park and Ride): The ASA relies on an email from
Merton College stating the site is unavailable but does not clarify whether market
value was offered or whether negotiations were pursued.

Site 27 (Kassam Stadium): The ASA states the landowner is unwilling to allow
continued use or sell the site, but public statements from the landowner suggest
conflicting information.

Sites with Unknown Landowner Intentions: Several sites are excluded with
the justification that "landowner intentions are unknown," raising questions about
whether proactive engagement with landowners was undertaken.

Exclusion of Sites: The ASA does not provide sufficient justification for
excluding certain sites, especially those identified as a potentially suitable
brownfield locations.

3. Exclusion of Viable Sites

Brownfield Sites: The ASA does not appear to have comprehensively assessed
all brownfield sites within the search radius, which could align with national
planning policy favouring brownfield development over Green Belt releases.

Flood Risk Sites: Sites in Flood Zone 3, such as Seacourt Park and Ride (Site
35), are excluded without exploring whether flood mitigation measures could
make them viable.

Sites Outside the 7-Mile Radius: The exclusion of sites outside the 7-mile
radius may overlook locations that could be made viable with improved transport
links.

4. Lack of Detailed Investigation

High-Level Assessments: For some sites, the ASA relies on high-level
assessments without conducting detailed investigations into constraints such as
flood risk, landscape impacts, or heritage concerns. For example:

Site 8 (Land south of Thornhill Park & Ride): Excluded due to landscape
harm, but mitigation measures such as screening or design adjustments are not
fully explored.

Flood Risk: Sites in Flood Zone 3 are excluded without considering whether
flood mitigation measures could make them viable.

Page 220



5. Stakeholder and Public Concerns

Public Comments: A significant number of public comments have questioned
the exclusion of certain sites, including the Kassam Stadium and other brownfield
locations. These concerns suggest that the ASA may not have fully considered
all reasonable alternatives.

Stakeholder Feedback: CPRE and other organizations have raised valid points
about the methodology and site exclusions, which have not been sufficiently
addressed in the ASA Addendum.

6. Inconsistencies in Evidence

Conflicting Statements: The ASA's conclusions about site availability
sometimes conflict with publicly available information. For example, the Kassam
Stadium's exclusion is based on the landowner's unwillingness to sell, but public
statements suggest otherwise (see Appendix

Insufficient Evidence: The ASA does not provide detailed evidence to support
claims of site unavailability, particularly for sites like Site 30 (Land near Pear Tree
Park and Ride) and Site 28 (Land north of Oxford Parkway Station).

7. Limited Exploration of Mitigation Measures

Flood Risk Mitigation: Sites excluded due to flood risk constraints, such as
Seacourt Park and Ride (Site 35), are not assessed for potential flood mitigation
measures.

Landscape and Visual Impacts: Sites excluded due to landscape harm, such
as Site 8 (Land south of Thornhill Park & Ride), are not assessed for potential
mitigation strategies like screening or design adjustments.

Exclusion of other sites

1. Unipart Site in Oxford

Reason for Exclusion: CPRE raised concerns that the Unipart site, a brownfield
location, was excluded despite its potential suitability. The ASA does not provide
a clear rationale for its exclusion, other than proximity to transport nodes not
being an EFL requirement.

Potential Viability: As a brownfield site, it aligns with national planning policy
favouring redevelopment over Green Belt releases. Infrastructure improvements
could address accessibility concerns.

Page 221



2. Sites Outside the 7-Mile Radius

e The report states that the 7-mile radius was adopted based on discussions with
the English Football League (EFL). It mentions that this radius aligns with the
EFL's expectations for accessibility and proximity to Oxford United Football
Club's fan base. No detailed documentation or correspondence from the EFL is
included in the report to substantiate this requirement. The justification appears
to be based on informal discussions rather than formal criteria.

e As aresult the ASA limits its search to a 7-mile radius. This arbitrary boundary
excludes sites that may be viable with improved transport links. The report
provides limited evidence to justify the 7-mile radius as a real consideration for
the site search. Expanding the search radius could identify sites with fewer
planning constraints, such as those outside the Green Belt or flood zones.

e The report emphasizes the importance of accessibility for fans, particularly by
sustainable transport modes. It suggests that sites within 7 miles of Oxford are
more likely to meet these criteria. The report does not provide specific data or
analysis to demonstrate why sites beyond 7 miles would be unsuitable or
inaccessible, nor does it explore whether transport infrastructure improvements
could make more distant sites viable.

« The report explicitly excludes sites outside the 7-mile radius without assessing
their potential suitability or accessibility. This exclusion is presented as a fixed
boundary without further exploration. No detailed analysis is provided to explain
why the 7-mile radius is critical or whether it is based on fan travel patterns,
transport studies, or other objective criteria.

« CPRE (Campaign to Protect Rural England) questioned the exclusion of sites
beyond the 7-mile radius, particularly brownfield sites. The report does not
address these concerns in detail.

e The report does not provide a response to CPRE's critique or justify why the 7-
mile radius is a reasonable limitation.

e The evidence provided to support the 7-mile radius as a real consideration is
minimal and largely anecdotal. The report does not include formal documentation
from the EFL specifying the 7-mile radius as a requirement or data analysis
demonstrating why sites beyond 7 miles would be unsuitable. There is also no
exploration of whether transport infrastructure improvements could make more
distant sites viable.

This lack of evidence undermines the validity of the 7-mile radius as a strict

boundary for the site search. Expanding the search radius and providing detailed
justification for its limitations would strengthen the report's conclusions.

Page 222



3. Other Brownfield Sites

Reason for Exclusion: The ASA does not appear to have comprehensively
assessed all brownfield sites within the search radius. Brownfield sites are often
preferred for development under national planning policy.

Potential Viability: Brownfield sites may offer fewer environmental and planning
constraints compared to Green Belt locations.

4. Sites with Unknown Landowner Intentions

Examples: Sites such as Site 29 (Land near Marston) and Site 28 (Land north of
Oxford Parkway Station) were excluded due to "unknown landowner intentions."

Potential Viability: Proactive engagement with landowners could clarify
availability and potentially unlock these sites for consideration.

5. Sites Excluded Due to Green Belt Designation

Sites such as Site 24 (Land West of Oxford Airport) and Site 8 (Land south of
Thornhill Park & Ride) were excluded due to Green Belt constraints.

The ASA does not fully explore whether "Very Special Circumstances" could
justify Green Belt release, as required by national policy. However the applicant
is pursuing such an argument over the site under application. This raises
questions as to why they are focusing on this one site to exclusion of those
others if green belt designation was a justifiable reason for exclusion.

6. Sites Excluded Due to Flood Risk

Examples: Sites such as Seacourt Park and Ride (Site 35) and Land adjacent to
Binsey Lane (Site 38) were excluded due to flood risk constraints.

Potential Viability: The ASA does not explore whether flood mitigation
measures could make these sites viable.

7. Kassam Stadium

The ASA excludes the Kassam Stadium based on the landowner's unwillingness
to sell, but public statements and communications from the site owners suggest
conflicting information. Further engagement with the landowner could clarify
whether the site could remain a viable option for OUFC.

8. Sites with Existing Recreational Use

Sites such as Burgess Field (Site 16) and Stratfield Brake (Site 40) were excluded due

Page 223



to their current use for recreation or sports. The ASA does not explore whether
alternative arrangements or compensatory measures could make these sites available.

Conclusions

The ASA Addendum fails to provide robust evidence that alternative sites have been
seriously considered or that the proposed development on a Green Belt site is justified.

The lack of evidence of comprehensive engagement with landowners, inconsistent
methodology, and insufficient justification for Green Belt development undermine the
credibility of the site selection process. Without addressing these deficiencies, the
proposal to build on designated green belt land is inadequately supported by evidence.

The ASA excluded several sites based on availability, planning constraints, or high-level
reviews. However, the exclusion of some sites, such as the Unipart site and others with
unknown landowner intentions, raises questions about whether all reasonable efforts
were made to confirm their feasibility. Additionally, the exclusion of sites due to
constraints like flood risk or Green Belt designation may warrant further investigation to
explore mitigation measures or "Very Special Circumstances."

The argument that all alternative sites have been properly considered is not fully
substantiated. The ASA's methodology, transparency, and scope leave significant room
for doubt about whether all viable options have been explored.

The report excludes several sites that could have been considered, either due to
methodological limitations, insufficient exploration, or lack of proactive engagement with
landowners.

The report's claim to be a comprehensive assessment of available sites is undermined
by methodological limitations, transparency issues, and the exclusion of potentially
viable sites. To strengthen its credibility, the ASA should:

1. Reassess excluded sites, including brownfield locations and those outside the 7-
mile radius that may be acceptable to the EFL either as is or with minor changes
to the local designation of the club such as the inclusion of ‘County’ in the club’s
name.

2. Provide clearer evidence of landowner engagement and availability.

3. Explore mitigation measures for sites with constraints such as flood risk or
landscape impacts.

4. Address public and stakeholder concerns more comprehensively.

Without these steps, the report's conclusions remain open to challenge.

Clir lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division
08/05/2025

Page 224



APPENDIX 1

Evidence that OUFC triggered the Force Majeure clause in their licence which

eventually lead to their licence being terminated “In the current arbitration you have
contended that a Force Majeure event for the purposes of clause 6.1 of the

licence commenced...” (my emphasis). This is clear evidence that the club made
themselves homeless by an ill-advised use of this clause.

APPENDIX 2

Email forwarded to me by Mr Kassam concerning the lack of contact from OUFC with
regard to the sale of the stadium to the club or the extension of their licence. He clearly

Page 225



states he has not been approached to negotiate either a sale of the stadium or an
extension or renewal of the club’s current licence. There is likely to still be an option to
explore either of these options if the club were open to negotiation. In any event it
should be incumbent on the applicants to show that they have explored all possible
avenues with Firoka which is currently not the case.

Page 226



Response to OXFORD UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB — NEW STADIUM
DEVELOPMENT 24/00539/F

ADDENDUM TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT - OPTION AND SENSITIVITY TESTS

20th March 2025

The document outlines the transport strategy and modelling for Oxford United Football
Club's proposed new stadium development. While it provides a comprehensive plan,
several negative impacts on the local transport system can be identified:

1. Increased Traffic Congestion

o Match Day Traffic
The stadium's capacity of 16,000 and the projected 28 first-team matches per year
will significantly increase traffic volumes, particularly on match days. The sensitivity
tests show delays of up to 3 minutes 51 seconds on key routes during peak times,
which could exacerbate congestion on already busy roads like Frieze Way, A44
Woodstock Road, and the A40.

e Queue Build-Up
Queues at critical junctions, such as Peartree and Wolvercote roundabouts, are
expected to increase, with some queues reaching up to 214 meters. This could lead
to spillover effects on the A34 mainline and other surrounding roads.

« Shuttle buses
the report doesn’t take into account the potential for traffic to back up along Frieze
way as shuttle buses queue to get into the site and on to adjacent bus stops. It would
only take 2 or 3 buses to back up and completely block the Kidlington roundabout
which would mean traffic would have nowhere to go other than down the Oxford
Road towards Kidlington centre. This would be a recipe for total gridlock in the area.

2. Impact on Public Transport

e Bus Delays
Public transport journey times are projected to increase by up to 12 minutes for
northbound buses during peak match times. This could disrupt regular bus services
and inconvenience non-match-day commuters.

« Rail Capacity Issues

Chiltern Rail currently lacks sufficient capacity to handle the predicted number of

Page 227



supporters traveling via Oxford Parkway. The reliance on future rail upgrades leaves
a gap in the short-term, potentially leading to overcrowding and delays. There are no
guarantees that increased capacity will happen in the medium to long-term.

. Parking Challenges
Oxford Parkway Parking

The sensitivity test assumes up to 738 spaces at Oxford Parkway could be used by
supporters, but this could displace regular users and lead to parking shortages. High
parking charges and restricted egress for 45 minutes post-match may deter usage
but could also create frustration among more regular and local users.

Figure 2.4 includes the legend “Oxford Parkway — No match day parking”

Chiltern Rail are on record as saying they will have no way of distinguishing between
vehicles being driven by football fans and other users of the car park. So this claim is
meaningless. The reality is that car drivers will likely attempt to park in the station car
park which could lead to long queues both before and after matches. This would not
only create further traffic issues outside the station on the Oxford Road but it would
deter travellers who are not attending matches from using the station and the car
park.

Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs)

The implementation of CPZs up to 2km from the stadium may inconvenience local
residents and require active enforcement, adding administrative burdens.

Controlled Parking Zones

There is still little or no detail on how these will be implemented and operated and
who would be responsible for enforcing them. The report gives the vague explanation
that “It is expected that the Controlled Park Zones will be actively enforced [..] funded
either by the OUFC or the PR sites” That is far too ill-defined to give any confidence
that CPZs would be actively enforced. The expectation that developers on the PR
sites would fund these is highly speculative. Not only is it likely to be a number of
years before these site will be fully developed, it's unlikely that the developers would
commit to a long term enforcement of parking restrictions that would not benefit the
new residents and would arguably greatly inconvenience them. Why would they
commit to such an expense to support a football stadium that they have no
commercial interest in? If CPZs are going to be relied on by OUFC, they should
commit unequivocally to operating and enforcing them along with full funding.

Page 228



4. Pedestrian and Crowd Management Risks
« Road Closures

The need for 35-minute pre- and post-match road closures on Oxford Road to
accommodate pedestrian movements will disrupt local traffic flow and access for
residents and businesses.

o Safety Concerns

The reliance on marshals and temporary systems for pedestrian management may
not be sufficient to ensure safety during high-density events.

¢ Bus ‘air-locks’

This is again a highly presumptive proposal which would involve bus companies
committing to a vague an undefined operating procedure which the report says is “to
be agreed’. It further assumes that the provision of Police Accredited Traffic Officers
on motorcycles to escort buses through these ‘air-locks’ at a safe speed whilst
closing off the road to fans who will be trying to cross the road. This will involve the
closure and movement of barriers to prevent pedestrians entering the road. All this is
likely to require a high degree of co-ordination during which time pedestrians will be
unable to access the road crossing. Not only would this create a potential crowd
management issue, it would also generate additional delays in getting fans across
the road into the stadium which in turn would mean that the road would need to stay
closed for longer. The report claims that this process is used at “many major events
and stadia elsewhere in England” but omits to provide any details of where these
stadia are or the circumstances in which these procedures are used.

5. Environmental Impact

e Increased Vehicle Emissions
The additional traffic and delays will contribute to higher greenhouse gas emissions,
particularly during peak match times. The reliance on private vehicles (with an
average car occupancy of 2.7) further exacerbates this issue.

o Limited Active Travel Options
While new pedestrian and cycle routes are proposed, their effectiveness depends on

timely implementation and user adoption. The reliance on shuttle buses for less
mobile supporters may limit the shift toward sustainable travel modes.

Page 229



6. Reliance on Future Infrastructure
e Rail Upgrades

The strategy heavily depends on future rail improvements, such as East-West Rail
and the reopening of the Cowley branch line, which are not expected until 2028 or
later. This leaves a gap in the transport network's ability to handle increased demand
in the interim.

o Variable Message Signs (VMS)

These are proposed as being the answer to the potential traffic chaos that road
closures around the stadium will create. Whilst VMS systems are effective in some
circumstances, the effectiveness of VMS in reducing background traffic is uncertain,
with research indicating compliance rates as low as 11% in some cases. They are
also not a long term solution to repeated road closures and diversions. This would
be especially the case in the area concerned as there are few alternatives to those
using the roads in that are to get to where they want to be. They would not be able to
avoid the area if they wanted to access Parkway Station for example or if residents in
Kidlington wanted to drive towards Oxford. There are simply too few alternative
routes for a VMS system to be of much practical use beyond telling local motorists to
not travel at all on match days.

7. Disruption to Local Communities
« Noise and Congestion

Increased traffic, road closures, and crowd movements will disrupt the daily lives of
residents in Kidlington, Gosford, and Water Eaton.

« Economic Impact

Businesses near the stadium may face reduced accessibility during match days,
potentially affecting their operations.

8. Operational Challenges
o Traffic Management
The reliance on active traffic management, including marshals and temporary
signage, may not be sustainable for frequent events. The document acknowledges

the need for improvements in signal coordination and MOVA operation, which are
not yet implemented.

Page 230



o Coordination with Stakeholders

The success of the strategy depends on effective collaboration with multiple
stakeholders, including Chiltern Rail, Oxfordshire County Council, and local bus
operators. Any delays or disagreements could hinder implementation.

« Impact on emergency service hubs

It should be borne in mind that the Kidlington area hosts service hubs for all three
major emergency services, including Thames Valley Police, the Ambulance Service
and Fire and Rescue. Anything that potentially disrupts and delays transport
corridors in the area could compromise the ability for these services to respond in a
timely manner.

Conclusion

While the document supposedly provides a detailed transport strategy, the proposed
stadium development poses significant risks to the local transport system, including
increased congestion, public transport delays, parking challenges, and environmental
impacts. The reliance on future infrastructure improvements and temporary measures
further highlights the challenges and difficulties that this development would pose to the
local community and transport network.

Clir lan Middleton - Member for Kidlington East Division
08/05/2025

Page 231



Response to claims that a football pitch has BNG value RESPONSE TO
CONSULTEE COMMENTS - APRIL 2025

lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division

A football pitch, particularly one designed as a hybrid grass pitch, may not have a
meaningful biodiversity net gain (BNG) value for the following reasons:

. Limited Habitat Diversity

A football pitch is a monoculture dominated by a single type of grass species, often
selected for durability rather than ecological value. This lack of plant diversity restricts
the range of species that can utilize the pitch as a habitat, making it unsuitable for
supporting a wide variety of wildlife.

. Frequent Disturbance

The pitch undergoes regular maintenance, including re-seeding, cleaning, and
replacement of the grass layer. These activities prevent the establishment of stable
ecosystems and disrupt any potential biodiversity gains. The annual re-establishment of
the pitch means it cannot reach a target condition that would contribute to long-term
biodiversity.

. Low Ecological Function

While the grass layer may provide some minimal ecological functions, such as soil
stabilization and water drainage, these benefits are negligible compared to natural
grasslands or other habitats. The pitch does not support pollinators, nesting birds, or
other species that rely on diverse vegetation and natural soil conditions.

. BNG Metric Limitations

The statutory BNG metric requires habitats to meet specific criteria to be considered for
biodiversity net gain. The pitch's artificial components and frequent disturbance may
prevent it from achieving even a "poor" condition under the metric. Additionally, the
synthetic fibres and engineered drainage systems reduce the pitch's ability to contribute
to biodiversity.

. Misalignment with Grassland Definitions

The UK Habitat classification system defines grassland as vegetation that is
predominantly herbaceous and not on waterlogged soils. While the pitch may meet
some of these criteria, its artificial nature and lack of ecological function make it a poor
fit for classification as "Modified Grassland." The Council's ecologist has described the
pitch as "effectively a sort of carpet," highlighting its limited ecological value.

Page 232



6. Comparison to Natural Habitats

When compared to natural grasslands, meadows, or other habitats, a football pitch
offers significantly less biodiversity value. Natural habitats support a wide range of
species, including insects, birds, and mammals, and contribute to ecosystem services
such as carbon sequestration and water filtration. A football pitch does not provide
these benefits.

7. Precedents in BNG Assessments
While some developments have included sports pitches in BNG strategies, these cases
often involve compromises that do not fully reflect the ecological limitations of such
habitats. The inclusion of artificial surfaces in BNG assessments can dilute the overall
biodiversity value of a project.

Conclusion

A football pitch does not have a meaningful biodiversity net gain value due to its artificial
nature, limited habitat diversity, frequent disturbance, and low ecological function.

While it may meet some technical criteria for inclusion in BNG assessments, its
contribution to biodiversity is negligible compared to natural habitats, making it an
unsuitable candidate for achieving genuine biodiversity net gain.

Clir lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division
08/05/2025

Page 233



Response to PLANNING STATEMENT ADDENDUM: NEW STADIUM
DEVELOPMENT and arquments that the site could be designated as ‘Grey Belt’.

The assertion that the site proposed for development could be defined as "grey belt" is
flawed and does not align with the criteria for Green Belt designation. A closer
examination of the site’s characteristics reveals that it conforms to Green Belt purposes
and plays a significant role in maintaining the integrity of the Green Belt, particularly in
terms of biodiversity and the Kidlington Gap.

1. Contribution to Green Belt Purpose A: Checking Unrestricted Sprawl

The site is assessed as making a moderate contribution to Purpose A, which aims to
check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas. While the site is not directly
adjacent to Oxford's large built-up area, its proximity to Oxford Parkway Station and the
"Welcome to Oxford" sign creates a clear perception of arrival to the city. This
perception reinforces the site's role as a transitional buffer between urban and rural
areas, helping to prevent urban sprawl. The assertion that the site does not strongly
contribute to this purpose ignores its strategic location and the role it plays in
maintaining separation between Oxford and surrounding settlements.

2. Contribution to Green Belt Purpose B: Preventing Neighbouring Towns from
Merging

The site lies within the Kidlington Gap, a critical area of Green Belt that prevents the
physical and visual merging of Oxford and Kidlington. The Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG) states that Purpose B applies to towns, not villages, and dismisses Kidlington as
a village. However, this narrow interpretation overlooks the importance of the Kidlington
Gap in maintaining the distinct identities of Oxford and Kidlington. Development on this
site would significantly reduce the width of the Green Belt in this area, eroding the
separation between the two settlements and undermining the Green Belt’s function as a
buffer. The site’s role in preserving the Kidlington Gap is vital, and its development
would compromise this purpose.

3. Contribution to Green Belt Purpose C: Safeguarding the Countryside from
Encroachment

The site exhibits characteristics of countryside, including a central field parcel free of
built form and surrounded by vegetated boundaries. While urbanizing influences such
as road corridors are present, the site retains a sense of rurality and openness. The
proposed development, which includes a large stadium and associated facilities, would
introduce significant built form and activity, fundamentally altering the site’s character
and encroaching on the countryside. This directly conflicts with Purpose C, which seeks
to safeguard the countryside from urban encroachment.

Page 234



4. Contribution to Green Belt Purpose D: Preserving the Setting and Special
Character of Historic Towns

Although the site is not directly connected to the historic aspects of Oxford, it
contributes to the broader rural setting of the city. The site’s openness and green
character enhance the approach to Oxford, particularly along the A4165 Oxford Road.
Development on this site would detract from the visual and experiential qualities of this
approach, diminishing the setting of Oxford as a historic town.

5. Significant Biodiversity Value

The site contains important ecological features, including Priority Habitat woodland and
vegetated boundaries that support local biodiversity. The proposed development would
disrupt these habitats, leading to a loss of biodiversity and ecological connectivity. The
Green Belt is intended to protect areas of environmental importance, and the site's
biodiversity value further reinforces its conformity to Green Belt criteria. The assertion
that the site qualifies as grey belt fails to account for the ecological harm that would
result from development.

6. Impact on the Kidlington Gap

The Kidlington Gap is a fragile and narrow section of the Green Belt that plays a crucial
role in maintaining separation between Oxford and Kidlington. The Cherwell Green Belt
Study (2017) identified this area as making a high contribution to Green Belt purposes,
particularly in preventing settlement coalescence. Development on this site would
significantly weaken the Kidlington Gap, reducing its width and compromising its ability
to serve as a meaningful buffer. The assertion that the site is grey belt ignores the
strategic importance of the Kidlington Gap and the harm that would result from its
erosion.

Conclusion

The site clearly conforms to Green Belt criteria, including its role in preventing urban
sprawl, safeguarding the countryside, and maintaining the Kidlington Gap. Its ecological
value and contribution to the rural setting of Oxford further reinforce its importance
within the Green Belt. The assertion that the site qualifies as grey belt is based on
selective interpretations of Green Belt purposes and fails to account for the broader
implications of development on the area’s openness, biodiversity, and strategic function.
Development on this site would undermine the integrity of the Green Belt and set a
concerning precedent for future encroachment.

Clir lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division
08/05/2025

Page 235



Response to STADIUM DEVELOPMENT RESPONSE TO SECURITY COMMENTS

The use of Oxford Road as an emergency muster point

While the document outlines a detailed strategy for emergency evacuation and the use
of Oxford Road as a muster point for Exceptional Egress, it fails to address a critical
concern: the time required to close Oxford Road during an emergency. The reliance on
Oxford Road as a safe refuge assumes that the road can be promptly secured and
cleared of traffic, but the document does not provide any specific measures or
contingency plans to ensure this can be achieved swiftly.

Given the complexity of managing crowd movement, bus shuttles, and traffic stewards,
the process of closing the road could introduce delays, potentially compromising the
safety of evacuees. Emergencies often require immediate action, and any delay in
securing the road could result in congestion, confusion, or exposure to hazards.
Furthermore, the document does not address how the coordination between traffic
officers, stewards, and emergency responders would be streamlined to minimize
delays.

To strengthen the evacuation plan, the document should include a detailed timeline for
road closure, contingency measures for unexpected delays, and alternative muster
points in case Oxford Road cannot be secured in time. Without these considerations,
the reliance on Oxford Road as a safe refuge remains a significant vulnerability in the
emergency evacuation strategy.

Movement of buses through the closed section of the Oxford Road

While the strategy for bus movement along the Oxford Road temporary diversion is
detailed, it raises several concerns regarding practicality and safety.

1. Potential for Delays and Congestion

The reliance on a single coned-off shuttle lane for bus movement could lead to
bottlenecks, especially during peak crowd movement times. The strategy allows
for up to three buses to move at a time, but the process of opening and closing
barriers at crossing points for pedestrians introduces a risk of delays. This could
disrupt the flow of buses and create confusion among both pedestrians and bus
operators. It is also likely to introduce significant increases in the time period that
the Oxford Road would need to remain closed due to the disruption in the flow of
pedestrians.

2. Safety Concerns for Pedestrians
The document mentions the use of Chapter 8 barriers and Traffic Management

Stewards to manage pedestrian crossings. However, the effectiveness of these
measures in controlling large crowds during high-pressure situations, such as

Page 236



event days, is questionable. The reliance on stewards and a Police Accredited
Traffic Officer Motorcyclist to manage bus speeds and hazards may not be
sufficient to prevent accidents, especially if crowd behaviour becomes
unpredictable.

3. Limited Speed and Operational Efficiency

The buses are restricted to a maximum speed of 10 mph, which, while prioritizing
safety, could significantly slow down operations. This low speed may not align
with the bus companies' timetable considerations, potentially causing disruptions
to public transport schedules. Again this will also cause additional delays in
pedestrian movements meaning that road closures will be extended beyond the
stated maximums.

4. Communication Challenges

The strategy mentions the use of PA systems by the PATO Motorcycle and
stewards to warn crowd members. However, the effectiveness of these warnings
in a noisy, crowded environment is uncertain. Clear and consistent
communication is critical, and the document does not elaborate on how this will
be ensured.

5. Lack of Contingency Planning
The strategy does not address potential scenarios where the shuttle lane
becomes obstructed or where crowd control measures fail. Contingency plans for
such situations are essential to ensure the safety and efficiency of bus
movement.
Conclusion
To improve the strategy, the document should include more robust crowd management
measures, alternative routes or backup plans for bus movement, and a clearer
framework for communication and coordination among all stakeholders. Without these
enhancements, the proposed strategy may struggle to balance safety, efficiency, and
practicality.
Clir lan Middleton — Member for Kidlington East Division

08/05/2025

Page 237



OUFC VISSIM Model

Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR
October 2024




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

A Initial Draft for Comment 30/10/24 MH HQ MH

Ref. reference. Rev revision. Suit suitability.

Prepared for Prepared by
Oxfordshire County Council Pell Frischmann
Growth and Place 3 Floor
Environment and Place Edmund House
County Hall Newhall Street

New Road Birmingham B3 3AS
Oxford

OX1 1ND

Page 239



OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

Contents

1 T (oo [ e i o o EU PP PP 1
1.1 WOrk Undertaken 10 DAt ........euiiiiiieieiiiiiii ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e ennneneeeeeeeeeennnneees
L ToTe ] o TN e ) I AN E o || PO UERTPI
1.3 Model Input Spreadsheets REVIEW ............oiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e enneeees

2 VISSIM MOGEI FIES ..eeeeiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt e e et e e e ettt e e e et e e e e e tae e e e e nseaeeeansseaeeansseeeeensneeeeennees 2
20 B | 1o o [F T3 T ] o I PP EPPTRP
2.2 Derivation of the new Base Model (for Scenario Management).............c.cooveeeiiiiiiiiieiie e
A T = b= T |V o T oY B oY =S

I o Tor= 1 1Y/ oo [ IV =1 [To F= 14 TN U= o o] o SRR 4
G 20t B [ 1o o [F T3 o] o I PP PRSPPI
I = T 1T I - | - S
KRG T IV oo L= I B LAYt o] o] o 4 1= oL PP PRT PSR
R |V oTo [ I 0= 1] = 1] o OO OPPSRPRRRI
I I N\ = Yo QY 1 L= 4 = 11T LSS
G TG I ¥ oo [T IV =1 o F= 11T o PRSP
I A I {0 S o Y = 1o = 4o ) o PSS
3.8  Turning FIOW Validation .........cooiiiiii e
3.9 Journey TimMe Validation ...........oooiiiiiiiiiiie e e et e e s e b e e e e b e e e annee e e e aneee
3.10 1Y/ [ To 1= I =Y o] 4= o o7 = XSO

N O o o1 U1 [ o S 6

Page 240



OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

1 Introduction

Ridge and Partners LLP (Ridge) has been appointed by Oxford United Football Club (OUFC) to provide
transport advice to support the development of a new stadium at 'Land to the east of Stratfield Brake and west
of Oxford Parkway Station, known as ‘The Triangle' (‘the Site’) — Planning Application Reference 24/00539/F.

The County Council's Oxfordshire Strategic Model (OSM), a SATURN model, is coming to the end of it's life.

Work on the Oxfordshire Mobility Model (OMM) is currently ongoing and may not be available for use by the

development sites. The North Oxford Corridor / Partial Review sites study includes a VISSIM model that will
be available for use by the developers.

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) has requested that OUFC undertake transport modelling using the North
Oxford VISSIM Model to assess the impact of development generated by OUFC new stadium proposals and
associated match day traffic management.

OCC has appointed Pell Frischmann (PF) to provide audit support for the modelling work submitted by the
applicants.

1.1 Work Undertaken to Date

The North Oxford VISSIM model has previously been used for the assessment of the North Oxford site and
subsequently for the Partial Review sites in 2023.

PF worked with OCC and Ridge to agree on the scope of works for the VISSIM model and a final draft of the
scoping report was produced in August 20241,

1.2 Scope of Audit

This Technical Note sets out a review of the base models and associated Local Model Validation Report
(LMVR) that have been submitted as follows:

e Base Model submitted (11™ October 2024);
e Supporting output spreadsheets and shapefiles (28" October 2024); and;
e LMVR (111 October 2024).

The review includes checking of the input and output spreadsheets as well as an assessment of the
assumptions made in the inputs.

The models have been audited using our standard model audit process.

1.3 Model Input Spreadsheets Review

The model inputs have not been provided, therefore, at this stage they cannot be fully checked. The input
spreadsheets to derive the matrices and resulting inputs and routes in the model should be provided for review.

T OUFC - New Stadium Development — North Oxford VISSIM Model Scoping Report — August 2024.

Page 241



OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

2  VISSIM Model Files

2.1 Introduction

VISSIM model files were provided under scenario management for two scenarios as follows:

1. 2023/2024 Weekday Base
2. 2023/2024 Saturday Base

The models have been audited using our standard model audit process and the full summary is provided in
Appendix A. The audit checks a number of items under distinct headings and adopts a RAG scoring with red
items needing attention, amber needing review and green with no action required.

2.2 Derivation of the new Base Model (for Scenario Management)

A comparison between the previous PR sites model and the new OUFC model has been undertaken to
determine if the changes listed in section 7 and Figure 7.1 of the LMVR cover all of the changes made. The
following locations also contain changes that were not documented in the LMVR.

e Just west of A44/Cassington Road roundabout;
e Banbury Road / Golf Course entrance;
e A44 /Begbroke HI;

e A44/Sandy Lane roundabout;

e A34 near Kiddlington exit;

e Elizabeth Jennings Way / A4144;

e Blandford Ave;

e Oxford Parkway Park and Ride;

e Rutten Lane / Ad4;

e Springhill Road / A44;

e Woodstock Road / Langford Lane;

e A4620 / Langford Lane;

e A44/A4095

Explanations for the changes made at these locations and anywhere not mentioned in the LMVR, should be
provided and included in the LMVR.

2.3 Base Model Review

There main issues identified in the audit review are as follows:

e There are entries in the modification files that should be included in the base file instead (links, reduced
speed areas, priority rules).

e The lane change distances need reviewing particularly on the A34 as they are too short and result in
vehicles making late lane changes.

e Linked to the above, the placement of routes in particularly at the A34 SB link should be updated so
that they allow vehicles sufficient time to weave.

e The coding of priority rules at the new Bicester Road roundabout does not follow best practice and is
inconsistent with the rest of the roundabout coding in the network.

e A new signal head has been added to the northbound left turn at the new Bicester Road junction (this is
not present in Google Streetview? so is assumed to be incorrect?).

2 Bicester Rd - Google Maps

Page 242


https://www.google.co.uk/maps/@51.817155,-1.2727137,3a,75y,25.32h,75.72t/data=!3m7!1e1!3m5!1sRF2EL2U6DagTMbghui9EgQ!2e0!6shttps:%2F%2Fstreetviewpixels-pa.googleapis.com%2Fv1%2Fthumbnail%3Fcb_client%3Dmaps_sv.tactile%26w%3D900%26h%3D600%26pitch%3D14.284100190460705%26panoid%3DRF2EL2U6DagTMbghui9EgQ%26yaw%3D25.318600261209408!7i16384!8i8192!5m1!1e1?coh=205410&entry=ttu&g_ep=EgoyMDI0MTAyNy4wIKXMDSoASAFQAw%3D%3D

OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

e The new RSAs coded are too long (as vehicles are aware of RSAs before reaching them so they
should be a maximum of 5m as they are treated as an object in terms of the number of objects for
priority rules etc in the driving behaviour).

e The presence of the speed camera on the Oxford Road is missing (should have RSAs or speed
decisions). Any speed cameras in the network should also be coded.

e The input spreadsheets have not been provided to check demand inputs and routes and the general
methodology of the matrix development;

e The model is missing some bus services (2C/2D, 7, 233, 250, 500) when compared to
openstreetbrowser? and the Oxford bus spider map*.

e Most bus dwell times have been set to calculation not distribution (resulting in zero dwell time at bus
stops).

e The model output files (db files) have not been provided for the PM peak.

e Signal errors are shown at SC106 and SC1001 in the error files that should be resolved.

3 OpenStreetBrowser

“https://portal.oxfordshire.gov.uk/content/publicnet/council_services/roads_transport/public_transport/timetables maps/Public_Transport_in

Oxford.pdf
Page 243



https://www.openstreetbrowser.org/#map=14/51.8198/-1.3005&basemap=osm-mapnik&categories=pt
https://portal.oxfordshire.gov.uk/content/publicnet/council_services/roads_transport/public_transport/timetables_maps/Public_Transport_in_Oxford.pdf
https://portal.oxfordshire.gov.uk/content/publicnet/council_services/roads_transport/public_transport/timetables_maps/Public_Transport_in_Oxford.pdf

OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

3  Local Model Validation Report

3.1 Introduction

The interim LMVR submitted on 11t October 2024 has been reviewed and the issues set out in the sections
below identified.

3.2 Base Data

On page 12, a comparison of the data should be presented including evidence that the MCCs were typical of
flows during the ATC collection in both the Nov/Dec 2023 and June 2024 collection periods and comparison
between the two datasets.

On page 13, the exact parameters of the source observed TomTom journey times has not been stated. Given
that the flow data is a mix of Nov/Dec 2023 and June 2024 this is important to understand.

3.3 Model Development

On page 16, please can you provide a comparison of the trip ends for the common hours (original model vs
new model) so we can determine what the factors are to the trip ends. The input spreadsheets for the matrix
development should be provided for review and checking.

On page 17, linked to the previous point, more details on the matrix development process are required
including the assumptions made for each hour within each model period. In the conclusions in paragraph 9.2.1,
it is stated that mainly 2024 data has been used in the furnessing process but there is little difference between
the datasets. Evidence of this should be presented as mentioned above.

3.4 Model Calibration

On page 18, this seems to elude the existing model signal data has been retained, however, this is not
accurate as Peartree has been changed and this should be stated along with any assumptions in the coding
(the use of VISSIG vs PCMOVA for instance).

On page 19, maximum queue lengths are not a good indication for comparison as they represent the absolute
worst case over all random seed runs and could occur for a short period in the model, versus observations
where enumerators may not be able to see the back of the queue and are estimating lengths at set periods
rather than continuous evaluation. Given this, average queues are considered a better comparison and
typically due to the differences in collection, the modelled average queues should sit in between the observed
average and maximum queues.

3.5 Network Alternations

On page 20, as discussed above, the signal controllers have been changed to VISSIG fixed time, this should
be stated including details of the signal programme sources along with any assumptions in the coding (the use
of VISSIG vs PCMOVA for instance).

3.6 Model Validation

On page 21, it is stated that the model uses an average of 10 random seeds, however, the model itself is set
for 20 seeds in the PM peak. However, the outputs files (db files) for the PM peak have not been provided, so
if the 20 seeds have been reduced to 10 seeds then please provide details of the methodology for removing
seeds. The methodology adopted should be consistent for all models runs and ideally avoid removing any
random seeds.

Page 244




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

The journey times have been reported based on TAG criteria whereby a route is deemed to pass if the
modelled journey time is within 15% of the observed or 60 seconds. However, the latter should only apply to
routes that are between 3-15km in length (TAG Unit M3.1 para 4.3.3 and C.3.10). The route 6 journey times
are both less than 3km so should only be assessed based on the 15% criteria and not the 60 seconds.

3.7 Link Flow Validation

It is noted that the hours shown in the LMVR are incorrect in Table 8.2 that appears to show the Saturday
labels but the data is correct for the weekday peak.

The results on page 23 for the weekday model, show that the 1800-1900 hour could do with improvement as
well as the 2000-2100 hour. The former is particularly important due to the weekday game scenario. They only
require a couple more sites to improve in order to pass the GEH criteria (and it is note that some are only
marginally over the threshold with GEHs of 5.1 or 5.2).

The results on page 24 for the Saturday model are again concerning that the pre-game hours are not validating
well.

3.8 Turning Flow Validation

The results on page 26 for the weekday models show that again it is concerning that it is the pre-game period
that performs poorly.

The results on page 27 show that all hours could do with improvement but especially the pre and post game
hours.

3.9 Journey Time Validation

Paragraph 8.3.3 uses the word GEH which should presumably be removed as this section relates to journey
times. Given the model performance has the observed data been reviewed for consistency and related back to
the earlier comment what time period does it represent?

As discussed earlier, the 60 second rule should not be applied to route 6. This changes the weekday results so
that the last row of Table 8.7 is also a fail and the overall pass rate for the final hour is 83% rather than 92%.
The Saturday peak is unaffected by the change.

For bus journey times, para 8.4.2 states that observed information was provided by the bus service operators.
This should be listed as a difference source in section 4 of the LMVR.

None of the PT routes are greater than 3 km, therefore, they should only be assessed based on the 15%
criteria. Tables 8.9 and 8.10 should be updated accordingly and the text updated to reflect the new pass rates.

The summary presented in paragraphs 8.4.3 and 8.4.4 do not make sense and should be reworded, following
the updates to the models and new results.

3.10 Model Performance

No outputs are provided on the overall junction performance. These should be provided to summarise the flow
throughput, average and maximum queue lengths, delays and level of service. This will provide an indication of
the level of capacity available within the network.

Similarly, a presentation of the network performance by random seed should be presented to demonstrate that
no outliers have been included in the average results.

Page 245




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

4 Conclusion

There are a number of issues that have been raised. These should be addressed in the model and reporting
and updated versions resubmitted.

Page 246




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Base Model / LMVR

Appendix A — Model Audit

Page 247




Item Comments [Auditor] Actions

Required
[Auditor]
A Project Setup
Al Are ios sensibly named? Yes
A2 Correct modifications applied? No - there are several entries in mod 1 that shouldn't be present including link changes,
desired speed changes and priority rules. These should be incorporated in the base
network.
A3 Are modifications named sensibly? Only two modifications which is fine for the base model, please use different modification
files for ir and h in the forecast scenarios.
A4 Were unused modifications removed? N/A
A5 Were all modifications checked in a text editor? Yes

Driving Behaviour and Functions

Cl Link behaviour types defini No new behaviours added pared to previous model
c2 Display types One new one added from previous base

C3 Car following behaviour No change from previous model

C4 Lane change behaviour No change from previous model

5 Lateral behaviour No change from previous model

C6 A i ion functions No change from previous model

E Vehicle Data

E1l Vehicle types definitions Default used with new ones added. Cars have been split into small and large but not used
instead a deafult car type has been used, LGV has been added along with OGV1 and
OGV2

E2 Vehicle classes definitions Default used, several additional added to group vehicles

E3 Vehicle it Ci itions for Cars, LGV, HGV and peds

E4 2D/3D models and 2D/3D model distributions Same as previous model, simplisti

E5 Realistic power and weight distributions? Default

Priority Behaviour
1 Placement of priority rules The coding of the new roundabout priority rules, only contains a single rule for all vehicles
with different times applied to different vehicle classes for the green bar only. It is best
practice to place two rules one for HGVs/Buses and one for general traffic, with the former

QO

having a higher gap time (see coding for the Kiddli for

G2 Headways and gap times Gap times range from 2.0-3.9 for cars and 3.0-4 for HGVs which is similar to the previous
model.

G3 Blocking back (yellow boxes) coded? Spot checks look fine

G4 Conflict areas Used at a Wolvercote and C I

G5 Consistency between peaks Both models contain changes in the mod files for links, speed decisions and priority rules

that should be coded in the base and remain consistent. Also some extra detectors have
been added to the Saturday peak?

'

d Speed Areas

Desired Speed Decisions and

11 Speed distril ke used not sure where they came from

12 Desired speed isi - position Spot checks look fine against openstreetbrowser

13 Desired speed decisi - distributi Not checked

14 Reduced speed areas - curve locations - position New RSAs are unnessarily long. Vehicles are aware of RSAs before reaching them so

they should be a max of 5m as they are treated as an object in terms of the number of
objects for priority rules etc in the driving behaviour.

15 duced speed areas - curve locations - distribution Spot checks look fine
16 Reduced speed areas - give-way locations - position The speed camera on Oxford Road before the bus lane is missing and should be added.
Other speed camera | ions should be checked.
17 Reduced speed areas - give-way locations - distribution Spot checks look fine
18 Consistency between peaks No changes made other than those mentioned above that should be incorporated into the  Check

base.




K Static Routing

K1 Vehicle input flows

Spreadsheet not provided to check the inputs, this should be provided.

K2 Vehicle input

Simple it applied.

K3 Vehicle input (composition) speeds

All set to low 25mph speed so speed decisions need to be applied near all inputs which it
looks like they have from spot checks (as required for dy i i )

K4 Placement of routing decisions and static routes

Many routes started only 1m downstream of input, better practice to make at least 5-10m to
ensure vehicles don't miss a route in a timestep.

Also exit routes are not completed through to an exit that could lead to vehicles routed
back into the network.

It is best practice to start a new route as soon as possible so vehicles are aware of lane
placement for the next downstream movement. For example on the A34 SB the route
decision is 800m downstream of the input and less than 200m before the exit giving
vehicles little opportunity to get in the correct lane.

K5 Static routes pi

Spre not provided to check the route proportions, this should be provided.

K6 Partial routes

None used.

M Public Transport

M1 Routes Services coded. Opensteetmap also shows services 2C/2D, 7, 233, 250, 500 that operates
within the model extents also. Need to review the existing buses and add additional

M2 Location of stops Spot checks look fine

M3 Correct stops active? Not checked

M4 Vehicle type/characteristics Only standard single deckers coded, suspect this is not correct.

M5 Service i times Not checked

M6 Initial speeds Initial speeds depend on speed of entry link

[0} Evaluations

o1 Outputs configuration and activation Outputs setup for Data Collection, Links, Queues, Nodes, network performance, delays and
travel times.

02 Keep results from the current (multi-)run only Set to all si ion runs (should be current run only)

o3 Data collectif Yes

04 Delays Yes

05 Links Yes

06 Nodes Yes

o7 OD pairs Not Used

08 Queue Counters Yes

09 Vehicle network per Yes

010 Vehicle travel times Yes

0o11 Units of all

Outputs files not provided for PM Peak, should be provided

Q Output Files

Q1 Review error files Lots of signal controller errors at SC1001 and SC 106
Q2 d evaluation files p d Yes

Q3 Cost and path files - created or not created? N/A

Q4 Was model converged N/A

Q5 Sufficient number of random seeds 10/20 seeds

General/Other C

nln

1 There are a few issues to check/fix above including entries in the modification file that should be included in the base file instead, lane change

distances need reviewing, coding of priority rules at the new roundabout, new signal head added to the NBL at the new Bicester Road junction, new
RSAs coded are too long, speed camera missing on the Oxford Road, input spreadsheets not provided to check demand inputs, placement of
routes in particularly at the A34 SB link, missing some bus services and dwell time set to calculation not distribution, outputs not provided for the

PM peak, signal errors at SC106 and SC1001.

Page 249



OUFC VISSIM Model

Audit Summary Report — December TA Material
March 2025

Page 250




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

A Initial Draft for Comment 30/10/24 MH HQ MH

B Dec 2024 Review 4/3/25 MH HQ MH

Ref. reference. Rev revision. Suit suitability.

Prepared for Prepared by
Oxfordshire County Council Pell Frischmann
Growth and Place 3 Floor
Environment and Place Edmund House
County Hall Newhall Street

New Road Birmingham B3 3AS
Oxford

OX1 IND

Page 251




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

Contents
R ] o To (U1 Ao T o PP UUPPR PP 1
1.1 WOrk UNdertaken t0 DAt .......c.eeiiiiiieiee ittt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e nebete e e e e e e e e annnenneeaaeeaaannne
S (oo o T AU o | USSR
P2 1151 1Y 1Y, Fo To [=T I 1= PRSP SPP 3
2% A [ 1o T U T Ao o [ TR
2.2 Derivation of the new Base Model (for Scenario Management)...........cceeviiiirirereeeeriiiiiirireeee e ssinnreeeeaeeens
2.3 Model INPUt SPreadSNEETIS REVIEW ... ..iiiii ittt e ettt e e e e e e e e st e e e e e s st e e e aeeessasnraearaeaeeas
2.4 BaASE MOUEI REVIEW ...ttt e e e e e oottt et e e e e e e e sttt et e e e e e e s e mnbeeeeeaaeesaansnnaenaaaaaeas
3 Local Model Validation REPOI . ........u ittt e ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e annbaseeeaaeeeaansnneneaaaaaaanns 5
I 0 A 1 o o [ Tox 1o o SRR PPPPPRR
3.2 Additional Comments 0N the LIMVR ...t e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e annneeeeeas
3.3 Link and Turning FIOW ValidatiONn ............ooiii ittt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e annnneneeas
N To 10 a1V I T g TSI Z= 1 - o o SRS
T T Voo [T W =T o (o] 0 =T Lo TR
O o (1= K 1Y oo [T ORI 7
4.1 Reference Case MOUEIS ...ttt e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e annt b e e e e e e e e e s annbeeeeaaaaaaaannes
A o TS Yo 411 1 T Vo TN 1Yo Lo 1= SRS PRRRR
LI o] = Tor- 1Sy A =T o To o A (1A PSRRI 9
5.1 Reference Case TP RAIES .....oiiii ittt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e et ab et e e e e e e e e e nraeaeeeaaeeeeannnnneeeas
L2 I 4o T 0 ] 1 0111 SRR
LR T - T 11V | I T SRR
LT =¥ Tod (o [ (o101 o o B I g o I = {=To [1 o 1o o BT
LTS 1V oo [T I @ U o U £ RR S
5.6  Conference CeNtre MOUEL........ooi ettt e ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e nbee e e eeaaeeeeannneneeeas
6 SUMMAIY ANA CONCIUSION.....oii ittt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e s tbe e e e eae e e e e e nteeeeeeaaeeeaannnnnneeaaaas 11

Page 252




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

1 Introduction

Ridge and Partners LLP (Ridge) has been appointed by Oxford United Football Club (OUFC) to provide
transport advice to support the development of a new stadium at 'Land to the east of Stratfield Brake and west
of Oxford Parkway Station, known as ‘The Triangle' (‘the Site’) — Planning Application Reference 24/00539/F.

The County Council's Oxfordshire Strategic Model (OSM), a SATURN model, is coming to the end of it's life.

Work on the Oxfordshire Mobility Model (OMM) is currently ongoing and may not be available for use by the

development sites. The North Oxford Corridor / Partial Review sites study includes a VISSIM model that will
be available for use by the developers.

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) has requested that OUFC undertake transport modelling using the North
Oxford VISSIM Model to assess the impact of development generated by OUFC new stadium proposals and
associated match day traffic management.

OCC has appointed Pell Frischmann (PF) to provide audit support for the modelling work submitted by the
applicants.

1.1  Work Undertaken to Date

The North Oxford VISSIM model has previously been used for the assessment of the North Oxford site and
subsequently for the Partial Review sites in 2023.

PF worked with OCC and Ridge to agree on the scope of works for the VISSIM model and a final draft of the
scoping report was produced in August 20241, The base model was reviewed in October 20242 and concluded
that there were still a number of issues raised that should be addressed in a revised version including the
following (green have been addressed, partially addressed in orange and red have not been addressed):

e Entries in modification files that should be included in the base file;

e Lane change distances need reviewing;

e Placement of route decisions need reviewing;

e Coding of priority rules at roundabout such as Bicester Road does not follow best practice;
e Signal head included on the northbound left turn at the new Bicester Road junction;

e New RSAs are too long (should be a max of 5m long);

e Input spreadsheets not provided to check demand inputs and routes and matrix development;
e Model missing some bus services (2C/2D, 7, 233, 250, 500);

e Bus dwell times set to calculation not distribution;

e Model output files not provided for the PM peak; and,

e Signal errors shown at SC106 and SC1001.

The LMVR was reviewed and the following issues were raised:

e Comparison of data should be presented include evidence that the MCCs were typical of flows during
the ATC collection;

e The source of the observed TomTom data has not been stated;

e Need to provide a comparison of the trip ends for the common hours (old vs new);

e More details on the matrix development are required;

e Need to state where signal coding has changed such as Peartree;

e Average queues should be used rather than maximum;

e Source of signal data for VISSIG coding should be included;

1 OUFC - New Stadium Development — North Oxford VISSIM Model Scoping Report — August 2024.
2 PF Audit Summary Report — OUFC Base VISSIM Model — October 2024

Page 253




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

1.2

Need to clearly state how many seeds have been used and if any have been removed;
Journey times should only be based on a 15% threshold;

Some of the labels are wrong in the LMVR (such as Table 8.2);

The link and turn GEH results are poor, particularly in the pre-game period;

The source of bus journey times should be stated;

No outputs on junction performance are provided; and,

A presentation on network performance by seed should be provided.

Scope of Audit

This Technical Note sets out a review of the revised base models and associated Local Model Validation
Report (LMVR) that have been submitted as well as the forecast models and report as follows:

Base and Forecast Models submitted (19" December 2024);

Supporting output spreadsheets and shapefiles (8" January 2025);

LMVR (December 2024 — Appendix F of the TA); and,;

OUFC — New Stadium Development — Transport Assessment Addendum — December 2024 (containing
the Forecast reporting).

The review includes checking of the input and output spreadsheets as well as an assessment of the
assumptions made in the inputs.

The models have been audited using our standard model audit process.

Page 254




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

2  VISSIM Model Files

2.1 Introduction

VISSIM model files were provided under scenario management for two scenarios as follows:

2024 Weekday Base

2024 Saturday Base

Weekday 2031 Reference Case (RC)
Saturday 2031 Reference Case
Weekday 2031 Do Something (DS)
Saturday 2031 Do Something

S e o

The base models have been audited using our standard model audit process. The audit checks a number of
items under distinct headings and adopts a RAG scoring with red items needing attention, amber needing
review and green with no action required.

2.2 Derivation of the new Base Model (for Scenario Management)

As set out in the previous review, a comparison between the previous PR sites model and the new OUFC
model has been undertaken to determine if the changes listed in section 7 and Figure 7.1 of the LMVR cover all
of the changes made. The following locations also contain changes that were not documented in the LMVR.

e Just west of Ad4/Cassington Road roundabout;
e Banbury Road / Golf Course entrance;
e A44 ] Begbroke HI;

e A44/Sandy Lane roundabout;

e A34 near Kiddlington exit;

e Elizabeth Jennings Way / A4144;

e Blandford Ave;

e Oxford Parkway Park and Ride;

e Rutten Lane / Ad4;

e Springhill Road / A44;

e Woodstock Road / Langford Lane;

e A4620 / Langford Lane; and,

e A44/A4095.

Explanations for the changes made at these locations and anywhere not mentioned in the LMVR, should be
provided and included in the LMVR. This was mentioned in the previous review and has not been addressed.

2.3 Model Input Spreadsheets Review

Limited model input spreadsheets have been provided that do not include the matrix estimation process and
only contain values of the inputs and routes that could just as easily be obtained from exporting them from the
model. We need to see the calculations involved in deriving the inputs and routes, not values contained in the
model.

2.4 Base Model Review

The remaining issues identified in the previous audit review that have not been addressed are discussed below:

e Entries in modification files that should be included in the base file — this has still not been addressed
and items that should be in the base should be removed from the mod files and placed in the base file;

Page 255




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

e Placement of route decisions need reviewing — for example the A34 SB route is still 163m from the
entry link when it should be set at around 10m to allow vehicles more time to get in the correct lane to
exit;

o — the RSA has been added but it is too far
downstream, the end point should be retained but the distance made to be 40m. Also the head can be
reversed so the opposite direction should also be coded with an RSA;

e Model missing some bus services (2C/2D, 7, 233, 250, 500) — The 250 stopped running, but all other
routes appear to still be live (Route 2C towards Oxford City Centre, Route 2D towards Oxford City
Centre, Route 7, 233 - Witney Market Square - Burford Burford Primary School — Stagecoach
Oxfordshire — Bus Times, Route 500)

In addition, the latest models have been reviewed with further issues identified as follows:

e A vehicle composition has been used at pedestrian inputs at crossings on Banbury Road (links
30623, 30625, 30646) and Woodstock Road (link 30650);

e The latest version of the model runs with 10 seeds (the previous version was set to 20 seed runs).
The standard deviation of the results needs to be checked as per our previous request for the
network performance results to be presented by random seed.

Page 256




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

3 Local Model Validation Report

3.1 Introduction

The updated LMVR submitted as Appendix F of the TA Addendum in December 2024 has been reviewed and
the issues set out in the sections below identified.

The remaining issues identified in the previous audit review that have not been addressed are discussed below:

e Need to provide a comparison of the trip ends for the common hours (old vs new) — More detail should
be provided on this comparison that informs the matrix estimation;

¢ Need to state where signal coding has changed such as Peartree — This still hasn’t been included (see
paragraph 6.7.1);

e Source of signal data for VISSIG coding should be included — Again this still hasn’t been included (see
paragraph 7.1.1);

o — now states 10
used but should also clarify that none have been removed as outliers and that 10 seeds is suitable with
low standard deviations (see paragraph 8.1.3 and Table 8.1);

o — the results are improved
from the previous version but still not full aligned to TAG criteria;

o — the source is stated in the main text of the TA in
paragraph 4.7.1 but not included in the LMVR in paragraph 4.2.4 and Table 4.1 that only discusses
general traffic;

e No outputs on junction performance are provided — This still hasn’t been included and is important to
understand the junction performance; and,

e A presentation on network performance by seed should be provided — This still hasn’t been included
and is important to understand the variation between seeds.

3.2 Additional Comments on the LMVR

In paragraph 5.5.6 it states that the PM matrices from the PR site model were used as the prior matrix for the
development of the Saturday peak matrices. This is not ideal and consideration could have been given to using
Inrix OD data as another potentially more accurate source.

A comparison of the ATC and MCC data has now been undertaken between 2023 and 2024 and does show
some alarming differences such as the A40 EB with a difference of over 400 vehicles and Oxford Road SB wit
a difference of over 350 vehicles.

3.3 Link and Turning Flow Validation

The model results whilst improved over the previous results do not all meet the TAG criteria for link and turning
flow validation. Where they do not meet the criteria, they are generally slightly below with the lowest being 79%
(when 85% is required).

3.4 Journey Time Validation

The results show that only the first hour fails to meet the TAG criteria in the weekday PM model. In the
Saturday peak model two of the time periods fail to meet the TAG criteria in the hours of 14:00:15:00 and
16:00-17:00. The first of these hours is the pre-match hour which is unfortunate, although it is only just below
the TAG threshold. These results are much improved from the previous version.

An overall table summarising the pass/fail by route and time period would make this easier to digest.

Page 257




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

3.5 Model Performance

No outputs are provided on the overall junction performance. As previously requested, these should be
provided to summarise the flow throughput, average and maximum queue lengths, delays and level of service.
This will provide an indication of the level of capacity available within the network.

Similarly, as previously requested, a presentation of the network performance by random seed should be
presented to demonstrate that no outliers have been included in the average results.

Page 258




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

4
4.1

Forecast Models

Reference Case Models

The model input data spreadsheets have been provided that follow a similar structure to the PR sites models.

It is not clear if the distribution of the existing Kassam Stadium trips in the reference case is based on the
existing profile or if it is assumed (see paragraph 6.3.1 bottom of p73). This should be confirmed.

The models have been reviewed, and the following issues have been identified:

4.2

There are bus routes without departure times in the forecast model that are different from that in the
Base model? Justification for this is not provided in the TA.

As per the base model a vehicle composition has been used at pedestrian inputs at crossings on
Banbury Road (links 30623, 30625, 30646) and Woodstock Road (link 30650);

New vehicle types with category Car use Small Car not Large Car have been added consistent with the
PR sites models, but more importantly they are not being used. This means it is not possible to identify
committed development easily;

2031 Ref Sat traffic inputs: some inputs in the model don’t match the spreadsheet, for instance, inputs
no. 1 (zone 1- car) and no. 115 (zone 16 — car). Either the spreadsheet provided is not the latest or the
model has been changed after the spreadsheet was developed. This should be clarified.

2031 Ref Wkday Evening traffic inputs: some inputs in the model don’t match the spreadsheet, for
instance, inputs no. 1 (zone 1- car) and no. 115 (zone 16 — car). Either the spreadsheet provided is not
the latest or the model has been changed after the spreadsheet was developed. This should be
clarified.

Do Something Models

Again, the model input data spreadsheets have been provided that follow a similar structure to the PR sites

models.

The models have been reviewed, and the following issues have been identified:

The pedestrian demand on the crossings on the Oxford Road and Freize Road contain very low
pedestrian numbers of 10 per hour despite an obvious huge increase in pedestrian numbers in and
around match time.

Keep clear markers have been added that should really have been included from the base model for
consistency.

The shuttle buses have not been included as new public transport routes.

Traffic has been reduced by 10% but no clear evidence has been provided for selection of 10%. It
would have been better to model the core scenario with no reduction in traffic and then present a
sensitivity test with reduced traffic using an evidence-based figure.

The matrices have been combined into one, it would have been better for the committed development
and development traffic to have been isolated and modelled with different vehicle types to enable easy
identification.

The main issue with the DS model is the routing for the diversion. The methodology is as agreed
however, the implementation contains errors. For partial routes to work they must be 100% within the
main route. The following routes still route vehicles through the diversion in both Weekday and
Saturday models:

0 Northbound routes 122-60, 119-1, 119-46 ,120-47. This is due to the partial routes not
covering the original routes e.g. at the Kiddlington roundabout the Oxford Road approach
connects directly to the Frieze Way exit (link 10160). The main routes for these routes needs
to be updated to connect first to the circulatory (link 128) then the exit connector (link 10157)

for the partial route to work.
Page 259




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

0  Southbound routes 116-37 / 115-41/ 117-42. This is due to the partial route to the A40 West
using the bus lane on A44 and then wrong link on the circulatory (10206 instead of 10205) and
a missing partial route to Godstow Road (for example for route 116-37). Alternatively, the link
on the circulatory could be changed for the individual routes.
e The inputs and routes in the spreadsheet provided do not match the values in the model at all locations
(the model is higher). Again, this should be clarified.

Page 260




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

5  Forecast Report (TA)

5.1 Reference Case Trip Rates

For the reference case paragraph 6.4.6 states that new trip rates have been calculated for the new periods
from TRICS. It is not clear why the same sites that were used by SLR to develop the trip rates for the PR sites
were not used to create the new time period trip rates.

5.2 Trip Distribution

Paragraph 6.5.33 states that postcodes within the MSOA for Oxford 001-008 and Cherwell 017-019 are unlikely
to be made by car. It seems likely that some trips by car will still be made for instance by elderly spectators.

5.3 Parkway Trips

The model assumes no trips to/from Parkway which is not considered realistic (see paragraph 7.2.5). This
scenario modelled should have been a sensitivity test with the core scenario including some trips to Parkway.

5.4 Background Trip Reduction

A 10% reduction in background trips has been assumed. As mentioned earlier it would have been better to
model no reduction for the core scenario and present a sensitivity test with a reduction in background traffic
based on evidence from other locations.

5.5 Model Outputs

Whilst output spreadsheets have been provided, these are for individual outputs and no comparison
spreadsheets have been provided.

Most of the tables presented in the TA just provide the differences from the Reference Case scenario. Itis
difficult to gauge the impact without the full information. Therefore, the tables should be updated to include the
actual Reference Case and Do Something figures then the difference in absolute and percentage terms. For
instance, this has been done in Table 7.10 and should be replicated in all other tables.

The average speed and queue length screenshots are hard to compare as presented, but do seem to indicate
a reasonable impact with the DS.

The journey time outputs do indicate some large differences in the weekday model for Route 3 A4144
Woodstock Road to A44 Woodstock Road East, including a 42% increase (over 6 minutes) in the 18:00-19:00
period and 128% increase (nearly 15 minutes) in the 19:00-20:00 period.

Similarly, in the Saturday peak some large increases in journey times are noted on Route 5 A34 SB to A4260
Frieze Way, a 43% increase (over 10 minutes) in the 15:00-16:00 hour.

More concerning is the increases to public transport journey times in the 19:00-20:00 hour for the Eynsham
P&R SB direction of nearly 3 minutes and on Saturday for the same direction of over 12.5 minutes.

As previously mentioned, and repeated above, no outputs on junction performance are provided. This still has
not been included and is important to understand the junction performance.

5.6 Conference Centre Model
Only the model files have been provided with on input or output files.

The models provided did not contain the output database files.

Page 261




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

The outputs presented in the TA show average speeds but do not present the RC versions to directly compare
against.

The screenshots from the model in the AM peak do appear to show a much more congestion situation in the
DS compared to the RC.

Page 262




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

6  Summary and Conclusion

This Technical Note summarised a review of the revised base models and associated Local Model Validation
Report (LMVR) that have been submitted as well as the forecast models and Transportation Assessment
report.

There are a number of issues outstanding from the previous October 2024 review including:

e Missing commentary on the changes made to the network between the PR sites and the new OUFC
model;

e The input files provided do not show the full calculations undertaken and in particular do not show the
details of the matrix estimation undertaken including a comparison of the trip ends for the common
hours between the old and new models;

e The base model placement of routes has not been updated and are too close to the end of the rotues;

e The model is missing some bus services still (2C/2D, 7, 233 and 500);

e Vehicles are set to use pedestrian crossings on Banbury Road and Woodstock Road in the base and
forecast models;

e The LMVR needs more detail on where the signal coding has changed and where the source signal
data was derived, the source of bus journey times needs to be stated (as it is in the TA), no outputs on
junction performance are provided (these should be provided to summarise the flow throughput,
average and maximum queue lengths, delays and level of service) and a comparison of network
performance by seed should be provided;

e The comparison of 2023 and 2024 data does show some concerning differences;

e The model results whilst improved over the previous results do not all meet the TAG criteria for link
and turning flow validation; and,

e The journey time validation results show that only the first hour fails to meet the TAG criteria in the
weekday PM model. In the Saturday peak model two of the time periods fail to meet the TAG criteria
in the hours of 14:00:15:00 and 16:00-17:00. The first of these hours is the pre-match hour which is
unfortunate, although it is only just below the TAG threshold. These results are much improved from
the previous version. An overall table summarising the pass/fail by route and time period would make
it easier to digest.

Specifically for the forecast models, the issues include:

e ltis not clear if the distribution of the existing Kassam Stadium trips in the reference case is based on
the existing profile or if it is assumed (see paragraph 6.3.1 bottom of p73);

e There are bus routes without departure times in the forecast model that are different from that in the
Base model? Justification for this is not provided in the TA.

e New vehicle types with category Car use Small Car not Large Car have been added consistent with the
PR sites models, but more importantly they are not being used. This means it is not possible to identify
committed development easily (and the same applies to the DS model for OUFC vehicles);

e The forecast inputs in the models do not match the spreadsheets provided. Therefore, either the
spreadsheets provided are not the latest or the model has been changed after the spreadsheet was
developed. This should be clarified.

e The pedestrian demand on the crossings on the Oxford Road and Freize Road contain very low
pedestrian numbers of 10 per hour despite an obvious huge increase in pedestrian numbers in and
around match time.

e Keep clear markers have been added that should really have been included from the base model for
consistency.

e The shuttle buses have not been included as new public transport routes.

e Traffic has been reduced by 10% but no clear evidence has been provided for selection of 10%. It
would have been better to model the core scenario with no reduction in traffic and then present a
sensitivity test with reduced traffic using an evidence-based figure.

Page 263




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — December TA Material

e The main issue with the DS model is the routing for the diversion. The methodology is as agreed
however, the implementation contains errors. For partial routes to work they must be 100% within the
main route. The following routes still route vehicles through the diversion in both Weekday and
Saturday models:

0 Northbound routes 122-60, 119-1, 119-46 ,120-47. This is due to the partial routes not
covering the original routes e.g. at the Kiddlington roundabout the Oxford Road approach
connects directly to the Frieze Way exit (link 10160). The main routes for these routes needs
to be updated to connect first to the circulatory (link 128) then the exit connector (link 10157)
for the partial route to work.

0 Southbound routes 116-37 / 115-41/ 117-42. This is due to the partial route to the A40 West
using the bus lane on A44 and then wrong link on the circulatory (10206 instead of 10205) and
a missing partial route to Godstow Road (for example for route 116-37). Alternatively, the link
on the circulatory could be changed for the individual routes.

e Whilst output spreadsheets have been provided, these are for individual outputs and no comparison
spreadsheets have been provided.

The above issues should be addressed in the model and reporting and updated versions resubmitted.
Notwithstanding the above the model outputs do show some significant increases in journey times on two
routes, the A4144 Woodstock Road to A44 Woodstock Road East in the 18:00-20:00 period and A34 SB to
A4260 Frieze Way in the 15:00-16:00 hour on Saturday. More concerning is the increases to public transport
journey times in the 19:00-20:00 hour for the Eynsham P&R SB direction of nearly 3 minutes and on Saturday
for the same direction of over 12.5 minutes.

Page 264




OUFC VISSIM Model

Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report
April 2025

Page 265




OUFC VISSIM Model

Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

A Initial Draft for Comment 30/10/24 MH HQ MH
B Dec 2024 Review 4/3/25 MH HQ MH
© April 2025 Review of resubmitted material | 4/4/25 MH HQ MH

Ref. reference. Rev revision. Suit suitability.

Prepared for

Oxfordshire County Council

Growth and Place
Environment and Place
County Hall

New Road

Oxford

OX1 IND

Page 266

Prepared by

Pell Frischmann

3 Floor

Edmund House
Newhall Street
Birmingham B3 3AS




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Contents
R [ o To (U1 o T o PSPPSR PUPPROPPRR 1
1.1 WOrk UNdertaken t0 DAt .......cueeiiiiiieieeiiiee ettt ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e nbebe e e e e e e e e annnbnneeaaeeaaaanne 1
S (oo o T AU o | SRS PSSR 1
P22 1151 1Y 1Y, Fo To [=T I 1= TSP 2
1225 A [ 1o T U T Ao o [T 2
2.2 Outstanding Issues with the Base Model rePOrtiNG ........uuuiiiieeiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e areeae s 2
3 Previously [deNtifiled ISSUES ..o ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e e e nntbe e e e e e e e e nnbbeeeaaaeeaanns 4
1 A I 1V PP PRP PP PPPPPRR 4
3.2 RefErenCe Case MOUEIS ... ittt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e et bbbt e e e e e e e e e ntaebeeeaaeeeeannnnnneeas 4
TR T B To S .4 1= 1 T o 1Y o o 1= £ 4
O o (= Tor= I A LT o Lo T (1A I SRR 6
LS Y [0 [T [0 110 0 T =T o To o PP 7
LTS | o1 o o (3 Tod 1T o IR 7
5.2 PeUESHIAN CrOSSINGS .. et iiiuttiiititeeetsiiitteereeeee s s s sastaeeaeeaeesaaasstaeeeaaaaasaaasstaeeaaeeassaassssaeaeaeeessanssasseaeaeeesssnssnsenes 7
5.3 VMS Signing and Traffic Demand RedUCTION ...........ooii i 7
L Y Y ST 2T i (122 10 ) RS 7
5.5 Network Performance ReSuUltS COMPAIISON ........uueiiiiieiiiiiiiiiie e e e ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e et ae e e e e e e e e anneeeneeas 7
5.6 Junction Performance ReSUItS COMPAIISON .......uuviiiiieeeiiiiiiiiet e e e e s et e e e e e e s s e e e e e e e s snsaaaeaeaeeeeesnsnnneees 9
5.7 Queue Length Results — Early KiCK-0ff.........coiiiiiiiiiie e 12
5.8 Journey Time Results — Early KiCK-0ff.......ooo e 12
5.9  Oxford Parkway SENSItIVILY TESt......icuuiiiiiiiee it ite e e e e s e e e e e e e s st e e e e e e e s st e e aaeessassnbeeaaeaeeesannnneees 13
5.10 Network Performance Results Comparison - ParkWay ............coocueiiiiiiaiiiiiiiiieee e 13
5.11 Junction Performance Results Comparison - ParkWay ..........c..uueiiieeeeiiiiiiieeiee e sciiiiieeee e e s ssivnneseees 13
5.12 Queue Length RESUILS — PArKWAY ...........eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e aeesaeeaaaeeeaanns 14
5.13 Journey TiMe RESUILS — PAIKWAY .......cccoiuiiiiiiiee e et e e ee et e e e e e e e e e e s et e e e e e e e e s snnnrnaeeaees 14
5.14 PEUESTIAN ASSESSIMENT. ... .eiii ittt ettt e et e e ettt e e ettt e e s bt et e e s ettt e e e ettt e e e s abbeeeeaabbeeeeansaeeeeans 14
LS IS 10 0] g F= T VA=V o I @ od 01 1o ] o 1 SRR 15

Page 267




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

1 Introduction

Ridge and Partners LLP (Ridge) has been appointed by Oxford United Football Club (OUFC) to provide
transport advice to support the development of a new stadium at 'Land to the east of Stratfield Brake and west
of Oxford Parkway Station, known as ‘The Triangle' (‘the Site’) — Planning Application Reference 24/00539/F.

The County Council's Oxfordshire Strategic Model (OSM), a SATURN model, is coming to the end of it's life.

Work on the Oxfordshire Mobility Model (OMM) is currently ongoing and may not be available for use by the

development sites. The North Oxford Corridor / Partial Review sites study includes a VISSIM model that will
be available for use by the developers.

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) has requested that OUFC undertake transport modelling using the North
Oxford VISSIM Model to assess the impact of development generated by OUFC new stadium proposals and
associated match day traffic management.

OCC has appointed Pell Frischmann (PF) to provide audit support for the modelling work submitted by the
applicants.

1.1 Work Undertaken to Date

The North Oxford VISSIM model has previously been used for the assessment of the North Oxford site and
subsequently for the Partial Review sites in 2023.

PF worked with OCC and Ridge to agree on the scope of works for the VISSIM model and a final draft of the
scoping report was produced in August 20241, The base model was reviewed in October 20242 and concluded
that there were still a number of issues raised that should be addressed in a revised version.

The revised base model and forecast models were initially reviewed in February/March 20258 and a meeting
took place on 11" March 2025 to discuss the issues and Ridge’s actions for a new submission.

The revised models were submitted on 20t March 2025 including new sensitivity scenarios.

1.2 Scope of Audit

This Technical Note sets out a review of the revised forecast models and new addendum report as follows:

e Base and Forecast Models submitted (20" March 2025);

e Supporting output spreadsheet - 2025 March Update - Junction, Network Performance and Q
Summary (20t March 2025); and,

e OUFC — New Stadium Development — Addendum Transport Assessment and Sensitivity Tests — March
2025.

The review includes checking the items discussed in the call of 111" March as well as a review of the new
addendum report.

1 OUFC - New Stadium Development — North Oxford VISSIM Model Scoping Report — August 2024.
2 PF Audit Summary Report — OUFC Base VISSIM Model — October 2024
3 PF Audit Summary Report — OUFC Base VISSIM Model — Rev B - March 2025

Page 268




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

2  VISSIM Model Files

2.1 Introduction

VISSIM model files were provided under scenario management for two scenarios as follows:

1. 2024 Weekday Base

2. 2024 Saturday Base

3. Weekday 2031 Reference Case (RC)

4. Saturday 2031 RC

11. Weekday 2031 Do Something 10% reduction excluding Parkway (DS1)
12. Saturday 2031 DS 10% reduction excluding Parkway

13. Weekday 2031 DS2 10% reduction with Parkway

14. Saturday 2031 DS2 10% reduction with Parkway

16. Weekday 2031 DS1 15% reduction excluding Parkway (NOT REPORTED)
17. Saturday 2031 DS2 15% reduction with Parkway (Early kick-off 12:30)

18. Saturday 2031 DS2 20% reduction with Parkway (NOT REPORTED)

19. Saturday 2031 DS1 15% reduction excluding Parkway (Early kick-off 12:30)
20. Saturday 2031 Reference Case (Early kick-off 12:30)

The new models have not been reviewed in detail due to time constraints, but the key issues from the previous
audit have been checked and the outputs have been summarised in a more concise and understandable
format.

2.2 Outstanding Issues with the Base Model reporting

2.2.1 Derivation of the new Base Model (for Scenario Management)

As set out in the previous review, a comparison between the previous PR sites model and the new OUFC
model has been undertaken to determine if the changes listed in section 7 and Figure 7.1 of the LMVR cover all
of the changes made. The following locations also contain changes that were not documented in the LMVR.

e Just west of Ad4/Cassington Road roundabout;
e Banbury Road / Golf Course entrance;
e A44 /] Begbroke HI;

e A44/Sandy Lane roundabout;

e A34 near Kiddlington exit;

e Elizabeth Jennings Way / A4144;

e Blandford Ave;

e Oxford Parkway Park and Ride;

e Rutten Lane / Ad4;

e Springhill Road / A44;

e Woodstock Road / Langford Lane;

e A4620 / Langford Lane; and,

e A44/A4095.

Explanations for the changes made at these locations and anywhere not mentioned in the LMVR, should be
provided and included in the LMVR. This was mentioned in the previous reviews and has not been addressed.

2.2.2 Model Input Spreadsheets Review

Limited model input spreadsheets have been provided that do not include the matrix estimation process and
only contain values of the inputs and routes that could just as easily be obtained from exporting them from the
model. More detail around the calculations involved in deriving the inputs and routes, should be provided and

described in the LMVR.
Page 269




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

2.2.3 Base Model Review
It was agreed that the remaining issues identified in the previous audit review that have not been addressed will
not be updated at this stage (see previous March 2025 audit report for details).

However, the following issues were updated:

e A vehicle composition has been used at pedestrian inputs at crossings on Banbury Road (links
30623, 30625, 30646) and Woodstock Road (link 30650);

e The latest version of the model runs with 10 seeds (the previous version was set to 20 seed runs).
The standard deviation of the results needs to be checked as per our previous request for the
network performance results to be presented by random seed.

Despite these being updated, the LMVR has not been updated to reflect the changes.

Page 270




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

3
3.1

Previously Identified Issues
LMVR

A number of issues were raised with the previous LMVR submitted as Appendix F of the TA Addendum in
December 2024.

The issues identified in the previous audit are set out below with Ridge’s response rated with a RAG scoring.

Need to provide a comparison of the trip ends for the common hours (old vs new) — More detail should
be provided on this comparison that informs the matrix estimation: There are no common hours
between the PR sites models and the OUFC models. The PM PR Sites Model covers the hours
between 15:00 to 18:00 with a 30 minute cool down which would not provide any suitable comparison.
Need to state where signal coding has changed such as Peartree — This still hasn't been included (see
paragraph 6.7.1): This has been added in Appendix A of the Addendum report — inherited from PR
sites model other than new network.

Source of signal data for VISSIG coding should be included — Again this still hasn’t been included (see
paragraph 7.1.1); This has been added in Appendix A of the Addendum report.

— now states 10
used but should also clarify that none have been removed as outliers and that 10 seeds is suitable with
low standard deviations (see paragraph 8.1.3 and Table 8.1): Clarified that 10 have been run and
standard deviations have been checked.

— the source is stated in the main text of the TA in
paragraph 4.7.1 but not included in the LMVR in paragraph 4.2.4 and Table 4.1 that only discusses
general traffic: This has been added in Appendix A of the Addendum report.

No outputs on junction performance are provided — This still hasn't been included and is important to
understand the junction performance: These have now been provided but not in the requested format
therefore, PF has adjusted them to a more understandable format.

A presentation on network performance by seed should be provided — This still hasn’t been included
and is important to understand the variation between seeds: Indirectly provided in the spreadsheet
provided but no specific output provided

An overall table summarising the pass/fail by route and time period would make this easier to digest:

A revised LMVR has not been provided despite the models being updated (albeit with minor changes).

3.2

Reference Case Models

The model input data spreadsheets have been provided that follow a similar structure to the PR sites models.

The issues identified in the previous audit are set out below with Ridge’s response rated with a RAG scoring.

3.3

As per the base model a vehicle composition has been used at pedestrian inputs at crossings on
Banbury Road (links 30623, 30625, 30646) and Woodstock Road (link 30650): Updated and resolved.
New vehicle types with category Car use Small Car not Large Car have been added consistent with the
PR sites models, but more importantly they are not being used. This means it is not possible to identify
committed development easily:

Do Something Models

The issues identified in the previous audit are set out below with Ridge’s response and PF comment rated with
a RAG scoring:

Page 271




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

e The pedestrian demand on the crossings on the Oxford Road and Freize Road contain very low
pedestrian numbers of 10 per hour despite an obvious huge increase in pedestrian numbers in and
around match time: Uplifting the number of people crossing is not reflective of what could happen due
to marshals controlling crowds. The missing proposed crossings have now been included and fixed
timings added. — This is not considered realistic as the number of calls for the crossing is still low
compared to reality.

e Keep clear markers have been added that should really have been included from the base model for
consistency: Noted - This has not been amended in the base model as it was not identified to be an
issue at the time of scoping or effecting the operation of the network. They have been added to the DS
scenario to make sure that traffic did not block turning traffic.

e The shuttle buses have not been included as new public transport routes: These have not been
included, a manual assessment of journey times on routes that will be used by shuttle buses has been
undertaken and presented within the TAA — However, they do appear to have been added in the
submitted models with a frequency of 10-30 per hour.

e Traffic has been reduced by 10% but no clear evidence has been provided for selection of 10%. It
would have been better to model the core scenario with no reduction in traffic and then present a
sensitivity test with reduced traffic using an evidence-based figure: Evidence on VMS impact is
provided in the Transport Assessment Options and Sensitivity Report. — \Whilst they have provided
more evidence to support this but still retained a global change other than the A34 (but it should
probably also apply to the A40 and A44).

e The matrices have been combined into one, it would have been better for the committed development
and development traffic to have been isolated and modelled with different vehicle types to enable easy
identification: The matrices are split, however the vehicle type is set as the same as others. There are
new user classes associated with the PR sites and OUFC traffic. — If the colours of vehicles can be
updated easily it should be done to make it easier to see the impact.

e The main issue with the DS model is the routing for the diversion. The methodology is as agreed
however, the implementation contains errors. For partial routes to work they must be 100% within the
main route. The following routes still route vehicles through the diversion in both Weekday and
Saturday models:

0 Northbound routes 122-60, 119-1, 119-46 ,120-47. This is due to the partial routes not
covering the original routes e.g. at the Kiddlington roundabout the Oxford Road approach
connects directly to the Frieze Way exit (link 10160). The main routes for these routes needs
to be updated to connect first to the circulatory (link 128) then the exit connector (link 10157)
for the partial route to work.

0 Southbound routes 116-37 / 115-41/ 117-42. This is due to the partial route to the A40 West
using the bus lane on A44 and then wrong link on the circulatory (10206 instead of 10205) and
a missing partial route to Godstow Road (for example for route 116-37). Alternatively, the link
on the circulatory could be changed for the individual routes.

Noted — amended - Whilst this has been resolved for the routes mentioned, there are still vehicles
driving through the diversion well beyond the cut off time (for instance at 1723 in the Friday
weekday). This is probably just a function of the distance that vehicles have to travel from the partial
route?

Page 272




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

4  Forecast Report (TA)

A number of issues were raised with the previous forecast report submitted within the TA Addendum in
December 2024. These are listed below with Ridge’s response and PF comment rated with a RAG scoring:

e Reference Case Trip Rates - For the reference case paragraph 6.4.6 states that new trip rates have
been calculated for the new periods from TRICS. It is not clear why the same sites that were used by
SLR to develop the trip rates for the PR sites were not used to create the new time period trip rates:
The trip rates are reported to be the same as the PR sites model.

e Trip Distribution - Paragraph 6.5.33 states that postcodes within the MSOA for Oxford 001-008 and
Cherwell 017-019 are unlikely to be made by car. It seems likely that some trips by car will still be
made for instance by elderly spectators: Noted - the main drop off is at Pear Tree Park and Ride
where shuttle buses will be provided for those who are less mobile. These trips are included within the
model.

e Parkway Trips - The model assumes no trips to/from Parkway which is not considered realistic (see
paragraph 7.2.5). This scenario modelled should have been a sensitivity test with the core scenario
including some trips to Parkway: Noted - an additional sensitivity test has been undertaken and

¢ included in the Transport Assessment Options and Sensitivity Report.

e Background Trip Reduction - A 10% reduction in background trips has been assumed. As mentioned
earlier it would have been better to model no reduction for the core scenario and present a sensitivity
test with a reduction in background traffic based on evidence from other locations: Evidence on VMS
impact is provided in the Transport Assessment Options and Sensitivity Report.

e Model Outputs:

0 Whilst output spreadsheets have been provided, these are for individual outputs and no
comparison spreadsheets have been provided: No Action Required - The spreadsheets
provided comparisons between the Reference and Do Something scenarios. — As this was not
provided PF have produced them and present them in the next section.

0 Most of the tables presented in the TA just provide the differences from the Reference Case
scenario. It is difficult to gauge the impact without the full information. Therefore, the tables
should be updated to include the actual Reference Case and Do Something figures then the
difference in absolute and percentage terms. For instance, this has been done in Table 7.10
and should be replicated in all other tables: No Action Required - The spreadsheets provided
comparisons between the Reference and Do Something scenarios. — As this was not provided
PF have produced them and present them in the next section.

e As previously mentioned, and repeated above, no outputs on junction performance are provided. This
still has not been included and is important to understand the junction performance: Spreadsheet
included with this information.

e Conference Centre Model - Only the model files have been provided with on input or output files. Input
files have now been provided. However, no output files were provided.

Page 273




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

5  Addendum Report

5.1 Introduction

The Addendum Report (AR) report repeats a large amount of information from the previous report and adds in
new sensitivity test results covering:

e 12:30 kick-off sensitivity test;

e Additional sensitivity test to include vehicles travelling to Oxford Parkway;
e Modelling Outputs split into 15-minute segments; and,

e Additional evidence of background traffic reduction on event days.

5.2 Pedestrian Crossings

In section 2.2.2 it states that Toucan crossings are proposed across Oxford Road north of the stadium.
However, the crossings are either modelled on fixed time with a 120s cycle time (which appears very long for a
standalone crossing) or with pedestrian demand set to 10 per hour which is clearly too low for before and after
the match.

5.3 VMS Signing and Traffic Demand Reduction

In section 3.4.4 it states that traffic has been reduced by 10-15% globally other than the A34. The through
traffic on the A40 and A44 should also be excluded from the global reduction.

5.4 Early Kick-off (12:30)

The methodology adopted to create an earlier time period on the Saturday uses a crude factoring method. The
results should therefore be treated with caution as the factoring is applied on a global basis and will not reflect
changes in OD patterns and local changes in demand that are evident based on the range presented in Table
4.1, from 0.999 to 1.177.

The global reduction in traffic has been increased to 15% for the early kick-off. It should be noted that the input
spreadsheets for this scenario have not been provided to check the calculations.

5.5 Network Performance Results Comparison

Ridge present results simply as the differences between the 3pm and early kick-off times. Therefore, PF has
prepared comparison tables that were previously requested to show a direct comparison between scenarios for
each metric. Table 5.1 shows the weekday results and Table 5.2 the Saturday results comparisons. For the
latter the names with the suffix E represent the early kick-off.

The light blue shaded cells represent the optimal performer between scenarios for each metric and vehicle
class.

Page 274




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Table 5.1 — Weekday Network Performance Results Comparison

Average Stopped Total Travel Time Total Delay Time Latent Demand Delay
Delay (s) (veh/hrs) (veh/hrs) (veh/hrs)

Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2 Ref DS1 DS2
All 174.5] 194.1] 137.3] 26.8] 26.0] 29.3 5.1 6.1 3.8] 90.4| 105.0f 61.1] 1934| 1825] 1700 675 700] 500§ 71018] 79679|50361 1.5 8.8 0.6 0.6 1.3 0.3
Car 180.8] 198.2| 140.8] 27.5| 19.0] 29.2 5.3 6.3 4.0] 94.6] 106.5| 63.1] 1732| 1654] 1492 619 628] 448] 65568| 71259]45495 - - - - - -
LGV | 176.8] 280.7) 150.7] 42.9] 34.9| 43.4] 52 9.8 43| 86.5| 169.9] 65.2 108 117] 105 37 58 32] 3930 7250] 3268 - - - - - -
HGV | 48.3] 36.3] 45.4| 13.7| 15.1f 16.3 1.0l 1.0 1.0] 17.1] 17.6] 15.4 70 83 70 8 6 8] 646] 580 637 - - - - - -
All 168.0| 238.2| 200.1] 27.9] 23.4]| 257 4.0 7.7 4.8] 99.0| 144.6] 126.3] 1413| 1455| 1470] 478 643] 569]40972]| 75123| 48926] 39.2] 35.4| 41.2] 46.3| 67.3] 58.8
Car 174.9] 256.1] 206.0] 28.1] 23.9| 25.2 4.2 8.4 5.0] 104.2| 155.3| 130.9] 1252| 1343| 1278] 436 602 506]37616 | 71399| 44041 - - - - - -
LGV | 177.5| 202.1] 236.0] 43.2| 37.8] 41.7 4.3 5.5 5.9] 99.7| 133.8] 148.2 78 71 83 26 30 34] 2251| 2918] 3059 - - - - - -
HGV 44.6] 25.6| 63.2) 14.0| 15.3] 16.6 0.9 0.7 1.3] 16.7] 13.3| 335 62 24 64 7 4 10 497| 359 703 - - - - - -
All 88.4] 110.1] 242.9] 32.2| 30.3] 23.0 1.8 2.3 5.3] 40.6| 63.2| 168.7 806] 776| 1132] 168 205 487]12574 | 15132| 38084] 37.6] 29.9] 45.00 43.7 2.6] 43.1
Car 93.4] 119.9] 258.9] 33.0] 30.5| 24.2 1.9 2.5 5.7] 441| 69.8] 181.5] 693| 703] 982] 151 189] 439111299 13902) 34486 - - - - - -
LGV 92.1] 97.4] 265.6] 44.5] 39.6| 40.3 2.1 2.3 5.9] 35.2| 51.5| 178.2 45 40 68 9 10 29] 733 797] 2301 - - - - - -

Average Delay (s) Average Speed (mph) Average Stops

Total Stops Latent Demand (vehs)

Time Period Time Class

1800-5400 [ESHOORTRECHO[0)

5400-9000 [EcHOORTeRI0K0[0]

9000-12600 prdeReleRieRaKelo]

HGV 30.8] 15.5| 73.7] 17.7] 17.6] 14.9 0.6] 0.3 1.5 9.1 6.5| 42.2 55 20 62 4 2 10} 295] 153 767 - - - - - -

All 76.0] 83.8] 91.0] 34.2] 325] 319 1.7 1.8 2.0] 8329| 435| 46.2] 678] 576 636] 127] 121 137] 10145| 9237 10818 5.1] 191.9] 234.4] 0.2]| 389.9] 432.9

. Pl Car 79.5] 91.8] 97.7] 34.0] 33.8] 339 1.8 1.9 2.1] 35.3| 48.6] 51.0] 585| 520 541 114 111 123] 9180| 8420| 9700 - - - - - -

12600-16200 SR LGV 82.4] 68.5| 88.3] 45.2| 422| 454 1.9 1.8 2.2] 31.9] 31.2| 364 35 29 36 6 5 7| 524] 483 601 - - - - - -
HGV 28.0 93| 28.6] 17.3] 17.4f 17.1 05 0.2 0.6 8.4 3.7 9.2 47 16 47 3 1 3] 226 82 254 - - - - - -

All 65.0] 82.2] 91.0] 34.8] 32.8] 324 1.6 1.7 2.0] 244] 443| 458] 520] 459 556 84 94| 117] 7218| 6901]| 9323 0.0| 383.5| 441.5] 0.0| 378.9] 4485

. el Car 68.2] 89.9] 942] 344| 341| 345 1.6 1.8 2.1) 259| 49.1] 47.9] 465] 431 478 78 90| 104] 6717| 6477| 8362 - - - - - -

16200-19800 Eriei el LGV 74.0 62.7| 78.3] 45.2| 40.4| 452 1.8 1.7 2.0] 30.8] 27.1]| 342 11 9 11 2 1 2] 162] 139 185 - - - - - -
HGV 24.0 98| 25.3] 17.8] 17.6| 20.7 05] 0.2 0.6 7.2 3.8 8.3 37 12 37 2 1 2] 163 78 187 - - - - - -

bed

(D Table 5.2 — Saturday Network Performance Results Comparison

\] Time Period Time Average Delay (s) Average Speed (mph) Average Stops Total Travel Time (veh/hrs) Total Delay Time (veh/hrs) Latent Demand Delay (veh/hrs) Latent Demand (vehs)

RefE DS1 DSI1E Ref RefE DS1 DSI1E Ref RefE DS1 DS1E DS2 RefE DS1 DSIE Ref RefE DS1 DSI1E Ref RefE DS1 DS1E DS2 Ref RefE DS1 DS1E DS2
1800-5400 14:00 to 15:00 147.6] 184.3| 146.4| 157.3] 184.7| 28.4| 26.4] 28.6] 28.3] 26.1 4.2 5.6 5.2 5.5 7.2| 1483| 1927| 1503| 1482| 1656] 463 699 474 489 613
11:30 to 12:30 164.3] 201.1} 162.3] 178.5| 207.4] 39.2| 37.5] 40.1] 39.2| 38.3 4.8 6.2 5.2 5.6 6.8 86 101 92 98 100 28 37, 30 33 38

73.3] 93.0f 64.3| 75.0] 84.1] 16.3] 16.1] 16.4] 18.1] 15.9 1.8 2.4 1.7 2.0 2.3| 24 28 26 27 27 4 6 4 5 5 - - - - - - - - - -

130.1] 168.9] 159.8] 163.6] 210.0) 31.2] 28.7] 29.3] 29.7) 27.0 815 5.3 7.5 7.0 13.3] 1476 1925] 1629 1595| 1826] 419 661] 535] 533] 721] 96.4] 221.9 0.4 0.4 0.4 26| 916 0.4 0.4 0.6

5400-9000 15:00 to 16:00 130.5] 170.5] 161.3] 160.0) 207.3] 29.9] 27.6] 28.2] 28.8) 26.1 3.6 5.4 7.7 7.2| 13.5] 1368 1798] 1505| 1440| 1659] 390 620 498 471 649 - - | - - - - - | -
12:30 to 13:30 144.3| 183.9] 170.7| 170.5] 208.4] 40.7] 38.1| 40.3] 404] 39.2 4.0 5.6 7.1 6.7] 11.3 69 83, 82 83 89 21 29 27 27, 34

65.9| 95.9] 69.2] 69.6] 82.0] 16.5| 16.3] 16.6] 15.7) 13.2 1.6 2.8 1.7 1.7 2.3 23 27 26 26 27 3 6 4 4 5 - - - - - - - - - -

103.6] 148.1] 92.5] 105.1] 125.3] 33.3] 30.1| 34.5| 34.4| 32.9 2.6 4.8 2.3 2.5 3.5] 1367 1836] 1372| 1372] 1495 329 576] 303 335 418 0.5| 59.8 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.3] 438 0.2 0.1 0.1

9000-12600 16:00 to 17:00 102.8] 148.7] 91.6] 97.0] 119.2] 315 28.6] 325 329] 30.9 2.6 4.8 2.3 2.5 3.5] 1262] 1709] 1259| 1230] 1352]) 302] 536| 277 280] 362 - - - - - - - - - -
13:30 to 14:30 128.7] 176.8] 114.1] 117.4] 138.2] 41.2| 38.0] 41.9] 41.7] 40.5 3.4 6.0 2.9 3.1 4.1 68 83 72 74 76 18 28 18 18 22

56.8] 91.0f 48.8| 51.4] 62.8] 16.3] 16.2] 16.5] 16.4] 16.4] 1.3 3.0 1.0 1.1 1.4 21 25 23| 23 23 3 5| 3 3| 3 - - . - - - - - . -

115.8| 166.1) 136.2| 121.5] 135.8] 32.8] 29.3| 31.0] 33.1] 32.1 3.3 6.7 4.3 2.9 3.8] 1452 1949] 1533| 1455] 1570] 380 664] 452 394| 462 0.5] 22.5] 164.0] 169.2] 165.1 0.4 7.2| 351.9] 359.2] 353.3

12600-16200 17:00 to 18:00 115.2] 167.5| 136.8) 109.1| 125.9] 29.6f 26.7| 29.2] 31.0] 29.5 s 6.8 4.4] 2.9 3.8] 1350] 1828 1419| 1281| 1399 353 624 420 320 390 - - | - - - - - | -
14:30 to 15:30 141.8] 191.9] 148.5] 126.0] 141.5] 40.3] 39.3| 40.3] 41.4]| 40.6 4.0 7.3 4.6 3.5 4.2 68 82 76 74 75 20 30 23 19 22

62.9] 73.9] 63.8] 53.0] 59.6] 16.6] 16.1] 16.1] 18.2] 17.8| 15 1.8 1.6 1.2 1.4 19 22| 21 21 21 3 4 3| B B - - - - - - - - - -

112.1] 124.2] 87.6] 103.7] 101.6] 32.5| 31.6] 345 34.8] 352 3.1 55 2.0 2.1 2.0] 1177] 1480] 1153| 1164] 1192] 301] 410f 245 282] 285 0.3 1.5] 290.0] 308.9] 299.9 0.0 0.4] 236.5| 260.6] 248.9|

16200-19800) 18:00 to 19:00 111.5] 124.8] 87.2] 87.1] 86.6] 30.0f 29.6] 32.7] 33.1] 32.7 3.1 5.6 2.0 2.0 2.0] 1090] 1382] 1062| 1016] 1048] 278] 383] 226] 214 221 - - - - - - - - - -
15:30 to 16:30 141.3] 145.8] 98.6] 103.3] 99.4] 40.4| 40.7| 42.4] 43.1] 424 3.9 6.1 2.4 2.6 2.5 57 65 58, 59 57 16 19 iz 13 13
64.5] 60.3] 429 41.2]| 43.4] 16.8] 16.6] 16.2] 18.0] 18.0] 15 1.5 0.8 0.8 0.9 17 19 18 18 18 3 3 2 2 2




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Purely in the context of early kick-off (E) vs 3pm kick-off on Saturday, the results show the following:

e The early kick-off results in more delay and lower average speed in all hours with the exception of the
4t hour;

e However, compared to the early kick-off reference case, the delays are all lower (and speeds higher),
although this is likely to be due to 15% global reduction in traffic; and,

e The latent demand increases more in the final two hours with the early kick-off compared to 3pm and is
much higher than the reference case for both kick-off times, although for the first three hours the early
kick-off latent demand is lower than the reference case.

5.6 Junction Performance Results Comparison

Ridge did not present any results for the junction performance in the AR or original forecast report, but did
provide a spreadsheet with limited presentation of the results. Therefore, PF has prepared comparison tables
that were previously requested to show a direct comparison between scenarios for each metric. Table 5.3
shows the weekday results and Table 5.4 the Saturday results comparisons. Again, for the latter the names
with the suffix E represent the early kick-off.

The light blue shaded cells represent the optimal performer between scenarios for each metric and vehicle
class. In addition, the level of service (LOS) is a measure of the overall delay at each junction as defined in the
US Highway Capacity Manual. A LOS of ‘A’ to ‘C’ suggests that the junction operates within the capacity
(under 85% capacity), a LOS of ‘D’ suggests that the junction operates approaching its capacity (85%). A LOS
of ‘E’ suggests that the junction operates at capacity, and a LOS of ‘F’ suggests that the junction operates over
capacity.

Therefore, to help distinguish junctions that do not operate within capacity, a LOS E has been highlighted in
orange and a LOS F in red.

Page 276




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Table 5.3 - Junction Performance Comparison - Weekday

Base Re D D B Re D D Base Re D D Ba Re D D Re D D Ba Re D D Base Re D D B Re D D B Re D D
8:00 to 19:00 1201Kidlington Roundabout 95 | 74 | 67 | 69 6 5 4 4 63 | 59 | 52 | 51 | 11 | 16 | 12 | 15 B C B B 7 9 8 1 A Al A B 3 4 3 4 A A | A A
101]Loop Farm Roundabout 233 | 298 | 282 | 287 | 0 1 1 40 | 31 | 35 |34 | 165 | 2 3 4 6 [ A A A C 3 3 2 5| A A | A B 2 2 2 0 [ A A | A A
201[Peartree Interchange 125 | 144 | 136 | 141 | 3 2 ] 9 32 | 34 | 36 | 46 | 20 | 20 0 | 27 | C E C D | 17 [ 17 o [ 28 | C < C D | 10 [20 | 22 | 32 | C < C D
401]Wolvercote Roundabout 96 | 92 | 83 | 87 | 30 | 53 | 40 | 39 | 142 | 126 | 122 | 130 | 34 | 43 31 D E D D 18 | 20 T 16 | C C C C 6 | 15 11 | 12 [ C C B B
701|Cutteslowe Roundabout 254 | 251 | 227 | 233 | 37 | 42 | 25 | 32 | 127 | 109 | 95 | 107 | 43 | a7 37 | E E D E | 41 [ 22 |21 | 33 | E E c D | 28 [ 17 [ 14 | 21 [ D C B C
1001|Water Eaton Park and Ride 257 | 244 | 221 | 228 | 4 3 3 4 60 | 58 | 50 | 66 | 11 | 17 21 B C c c 3 6 0o [ 12 | A | A B B 2 7 2 8 A A A A
1814]A34 Link/Kidlington Road 93 | 95 | 138 | 96 0 0 0 0 3 4 9 2 1 1 2 1 A A A A 1 1 1 1 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A | A A
1812[Bicester Road/A34 Link 76 | 63 | 56 | 61 0 0 0 0 5 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A 1 0 0 0 A A | A A 0 0 0 A A | A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 80 | 75 | 70 [ 73 8 7 6 7 58 | 54 | 48 | 55 | 26 | 24 | 28 | 26 | D C E D | 14 [ 14 [ 10 | 15 | B B B B | 21 | 19 8 | C cC | A C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 120 | 152 | 131 | 138 | 3 12 9 7 51 | 148 | 112 | o4 | 42 | 40 | 37 | 36 E E E E 16 | 20 | 28 [ 20 | C C D c 2 13 2 A B | A A
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 176 | 145 | 139 | 141 | 0 0 6 [ 0 17 [ 9 |10 9 2 1 6 1 A A A A 1 1 2 1 A A A A 0 0 0 A A A A
1717|Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 101 | 74 | 63 [ 68 1 14 | 38 | 2 22 | 89 | o4 | 50 5 27 | 86 | 7 A D | A 2 15 3 A C A A 1 T 1 A A A A
1719|Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 145 | 202 | 161 | 193 | 0 2 2 30 | 81 [ 70 | 79 2 7 5 6 A A A A 2 5 5 A A | A A 1 3 2 A A | A A
1720]Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 257 | 369 | 301 | 350 | 2 3 3 26 | 38 | 29 4 [ 10 | 11 [ 10 [ 1 | A B A B | 10 [ 11 0| A B A A 7 6 8 A A | A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 166 | 166 | 140 | 152 | 4 2 4 |49 | 49 | 47 |45 | 14 | 14 [ 18 | 14 B B B B | 13 | 14 | 4 7 B | A B | 13 | 14 [ 11 | 14 | 8 B B B
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 144 | 137 | 118 | 127 | © 0 0 0 5 6 5 11 9 8 9 B A | A A 6 5 4 0] A A | A A 5 4 2 A A | A A
1705Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 239 | 233 | 211 | 216 | 7 6 5 o1 | 82 | 2 13 [ 1 [ a1 | a1 B B B B | 13 | 10 | 7 0| B B A A 8 8 6 A A | A A
1706]Banbury Road/Bicester Road 237 | 226 | 206 | 208 | 5 5 5 4 73 | 72 | 1 6 | 15 | 15 5 C C C B 6 6 8 7 A A A A 9 8 2 8 A A A A
1708]Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 110 | 105 | 100 | o7 3 48 7 81 | 110 [ 90 12 | 41 | 13 1 B E B B 5 | 2 9 9 A C A [ A 2 1| 4 3 A B A A
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 150 | 146 | 131 | 133 | 52 | 25 | 21 | 20 | ior | 131 | i1 | 119 | 64 | 51 | 53 2 62 | 48 | 33 | 50 | E D 22 | 14 [ @0 [ 11 | ¢ B B B
1710]Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 163 | 178 | 155 | 162 | 0 1 0 1 17 | 20 [ 19 | 20 9 9 8 8 A A | A A 8 9 5 8 A A | A A 3 7 2 6 A A | A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 93 | o7 | 84 | 8 1 7 T T 50 | 86 | 4L | 42 | 15 | 25 | 12 | 13 B C B B B 9 5 8 A A A A 2 Z 4 3 A A A LA
9:00 to 20:00 1201]Kidlington Roundabout 69 | 53 | 36 | 39 2 2 T T | & o | 32 8 7 | 9 o[ A B A B 5 7 3 9 A A A A 3 7 2 5 A A A A
01[Loop Farm Roundabout 148 | 207 | 261 | 248 | 0 0 1 2 22 3 | 54 0 2 2 4 6 A A A A 2 2 3 5 A A A A 1 2 2 5 A A A A
01[Peartree Interchange 83 | 110 | 134 | 132 | 2 3 5 7 23 0 | 47 5 | 20 [ 19 [ 20 | 31 | C C D D | 15 [ 17 | 24 | 33 | B C C D | 13 [ 14 [ 30 | 28 [ 8 B D D
401 Wolvercote Roundabout 69 | 68 | 77 | 77 | 20 | 22 | 43 | 69 | 09 | 114 | 104 | 191 | 27 | 36 | 30 | 58 | D E D N 6 | i7 [ 18 | 41 [ C E C E | 15 | 8 8 | 20 | B A A C
701] Cutteslowe Roundabout 179 | 177 | 165 | 170 | 14 | 30 | 16 30 | 77 [ 102 [ 78 | 127 | 23 | 60 | 35 | 48 C D E 16 | 72 |28 | 36 cC N C E 8 14 |18 | 24 A B B C
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 101 | 181 | 61 | o4 3 3 1 5 58 | 57 | 30 | 62 | 10 | 15 | 12 | 22 B c B C 3 6 6 9 A | A A A 5 8 3 9 A A | A A
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road 56 | 60 | 98 | 57 0 0 0 0 2 2 7 1 0 0 1 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 54 | 47 | 42 | a4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A | A A
1811|Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 54 | 53 | 49 | 50 5 4 4 4 | a7 | 44 |38 | 45 | 23 | 23 [ 21 | 23 | C c c C | 14| 15 | o 2| B B | A B | 15 | 16 | 3 4| B cC | A B
1601|A40 / Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 116 | 151 | 125 | 147 | 3 FE 8 | 45 | 143 | 86 | 122 | 44 | 25 | 20 | 22 | E D C C 9 | 1 | o o A B | A B 2 4 T 3 A A A A
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 105 | o0 | 84 | 82 0 0 27 | 0 9 7 | 136 [ 6 1 I T A A E A 1 1 43 | 1 A A E A 0 0 8 0 A A A | A
1717|Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 60 | 52 | 47 | 29 0 4 38 1 19 | 48 | &4 4 3 12 | 105 | 5 A s [ A 1 7 0 2 A A A A 1 1 1 1 A A A A
1719]Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 79 | 128 | 130 | 119 | © 0 0 0 8 | 44 | 41 2 1 4 3 3 A A A A 0 1 3 1 A A A A 1 2 0 2 A A | A A
1720|Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 131 | 223 | 221 | 208 | 1T 1 1 T 15 | 24 | 21 1 7 8 7 8 A A A A 7 7 8 8 A A A A |10 | 1 2| A B | A B
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 100 | 102 | 86 | 88 2 2 1 2 36 | 36 [ 8L | 32 | 11 | 11 [ 10 | 10 B B B B 9 9 7 9 A A A A 7 6 4 | A A | A B
1702|Banbury Road/The Moors 93 | 88 | 74 | 73 0 0 0 0 7 3 3 3 9 7 6 7 A A A A 7 3 3 3 A A A A 2 2 3 A A | A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 161 | 160 | 136 | 134 | 3 3 2 2 67 | 57 [ 46 | 53 | 10 9 8 8 B A | A A 6 5 5 5 A A A | A 7 6 6 A A | A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 163 | 150 | 132 | 131 | 3 3 2 2 56 | 53 | 38 | 42 | 13 | 13 [ 10 | 11 B B B B 5 6 Z 5 A A A A 7 7 2 8 A A | A A
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 75 | 71 | 64 | 63 1 33| 17 [ 2 35 | 103 | 54 | a7 8 | 138 | 64 | 8 A - A 3 | 0] 20 [ 3 A C A 1 22 | 25 | % A E D A
1709]Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 100 | 93 | 81 | 86 | 12 | 56 | 36 | 14 | 95 | 1oy | 134 | 131 | 390 | 130 | o1 | 43 E E 38 | 62 | 52 | a1 E D 9 27 | 23 [ 11 | A D C B
1710|Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 110 | 127 | 112 | 116 | 0 1 0 0 10 | 25 | 15 | 11 7 10 8 6 A A A A 6 | 10 | 4 7 A Al A A 2 2 2 2 A A A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 66 | 68 | 60 | 6L 0 0 0 0 25 | 27 | 20 | 22 | 11 | 11 [ 10 | 10 B B A B 8 7 7 7 A A | A A 2 2 3 2 A A A A
0:00 to 21:00 T201]Kidlington Roundabout 78 | 35 | 3 | 32 0 0 0 0 27 | 2 20 | 21 5 B 6 8 A A A A 3 7 3 6 A Al A A 2 2 2 3 A A A A
101[Loop Farm Roundabout 100 | 137 | 123 | 148 | © 0 0 0 14 14 | 28 2 2 2 5 A A | A A 1 1 1 2 A A A A 1 1 1 2 A A A A
201|Peartree Interchange 60 | 71 | 65 [ 79 1 2 Z 17 24 | 48 | 20 | 18 7 | 22 | C C E C [ 15 | 15 | 13 | 24 | B B B C | 15 [ 16 | 15 [ 20 | C C B D
401]Wolvercote Roundabout 51 | 51 | 46 | 60 8 13 58 | 62 | 8 62 | 185 | 20 | 37 2 | 93 [ ¢ E E 8 | 35 103 | A D | A 8 7 5 6 | A A A C
701[Cutteslowe Roundabout 132 | 135 | 120 | 143 | © 7 25 | 53 | 67 | 54 | 108 | 15 | 17 5 | 70 B C B 12 | 13 0L | B B A 9 9 8 | 140 | A A | A [
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 131 | 127 | 117 | 120 | 1 1 1 36 | 36 [ 35 | 39 7 o [ a1 | | A B B B 2 2 6 A A A A 2 3 5 2 A A A A
1814]A34 Link/Kidlington Road 45 | 44 | 79 | a3 0 0 0 0 1 1 4 1 0 0 1 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1812[Bicester Road/A34 Link 42 | 39 | 35 | 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 41 | 40 | 37 [ 40 3 3 3 3 35 | 36 | 81 | 36 | 21 | 21 [ 20 | 21 | C C E C [ 10 [ 10 10 [ 11| A B A B | 14 | 16 | 4 6 | B C [ A C
1601|A40 / Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 92 | 105 | 04 | 102 | 2 5 3 4 32 | 67 | 47 | 67 | 35 | 23 | 20 | 24 | E C C C 8 | 1 | 11 [ 10 A B B | A 2 3 0 3 A A A A
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 70 | 63 | 58 | 66 0 0 0 0 5 2 4 3 1 1 T A A A A 0 0 0 1 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1717|Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 40 | 33 | 20 [ 30 0 0 3 0 9 6 | 33 [ 17 2 3 17 A A C A 1 1 0 1 A A | A A 0 1 1 1 A A A | A
1719|Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 53 | 82 | 80 | 80 0 0 0 0 2 2 | 16 [ 13 1 2 A A A A 0 1 2 1 A A A A 0 1 1 T A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane of | 145 | 139 | 140 | © 1 0 T 14 7 | 17 | 18 6 6 A A | A A 7 4 2 4 A A A | A 8 8 2 A A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 72 | 72 | 60 | 68 1 1 T 1 28 | 20 [ 24 | 28 9 9 A A A A 7 7 7 8 A A |TA A 9 2| 7 A B | A A
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 65 | 62 | 53 | 59 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 7 5 5 A A A A 7 2 6 2 A A A A 1 2 1 A A A A
1705|Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 114 | 111 | o5 | 06 | 2 1 1 I T 7 | 30 7 6 A A A A 2 2 A A A A 6 4 3 A A A A
1706]Banbury Road/Bicester Road 114 | 108 | 92 [ 104 | 1 1 T T 39 | 36 0 [ 34 [ 10 9 9 A A A A 7 4 A A A A 6 5 2 A A | A A
1708Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 56 | 53 | 44 | 50 0 2 0 21 | 12 | 20 T Y 4 6 2 15 | A A | A [ > 3 0 | A A | A E 0 0 0 | 1 [ A [ A A B
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 78 | 73 | 61 | 68 7 2 | a 10 | 65 | 85 | 41 | o2 | 32 | 52 27 | 47 | © D E | 16 [ 53 [ 12 | 23 | C B C 5 7 6 | 22 | A [ A A C
1710]Woodstock Road/Moreton Road o7 | 103 [ 92 | o8 0 0 0 0 8 9 7 8 6 6 5 6 A A A A 6 6 3 6 A A A A 1 1 1 1 A A A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 52 | 53 | 47 | 51 0 0 0 0 18 | 18 | 12 | a1 | 11 | 11 | 8 9 B B A A 7 6 3 2 A A A A 1 2 2 f A A A |A
00 to 22:00 T201]Kidlington Roundabout 37 | 27 | 22 | 23 0 0 0 0 | 17 7| 17 7 6 5 8 A A | A A 2 3 2 5 A A | A A T 2 0 2 A A A A
101]Loop Farm Roundabout 81 | 117 | 126 | 131 | © 0 0 0 2 | a1 4 | o1 1 2 2 2 A A A A 1 1 1 2 A A A A 1 1 1 2 A A A A
201|Peartree Interchange 47 | 64 | 63 | 67 1 2 2 2 16 | 26 [ 20 | 21 | 20 | 20 8 | 18 [ C c G C [ 121 |'® 7 B A B 8 9 10 | 11| A A A B
401|Wolvercote Roundabout 42 | 41 | 41 | a4 6 8 7 8 55 | 59 6 | 63 | 17 | 22 1 [ 21| ¢ C E C 7 9 8 8 A A A A 5 6 3 5 A A A A
701[Cutteslowe Roundabout 110 | 109 | 98 | 106 | 4 4 4 5 | 45 | a7 | 45 | 51 | 14 | 14 4 | 16 B B B C 9 | 1 |7 0| A B | A B 6 7 5 9 A A | A A
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 109 | 103 | 64 | 84 1 1 T 1 27 | 30 | 34 | 49 6 | 9 3| A B A B 2 2 6 6 A A A A 1 3 0 2 A A | A A
1814]A34 Link/Kidlington Road 35 | 35 | 64 | 34 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 1 0 0 1 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A |ITA
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 29 | 28 | 33 | 34 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1811Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 30 | 20 [ 31 | 31 2 2 2 2 27 | 30 | 26 | 30 | 20 [ 48 | 10 | 20 | ¢ c C C 9 8 9 9 A A A A 2 4 0 3 A A | A A
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 77 | o1 | 75 | 79 2 2 3 3 31 | 35 | 45 | 45 | 31 | 190 | 10 | 18 D C C c 8 9 8 8 A A A A 1 2 0 3 A A | A A
1724{Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 58 57 50 51 0 0 0 0 4 3 3 1 1 1 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1717|Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 33 | 25 | 21 | 23 0 0 0 0 7 12 9 1 2 2 A A A A T T 0 A A | A A 0 T 0 1 A A A A
1719]W oodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 47 | 72 | 63 | 66 0 0 0 0 1 15 | 11 1 2 1 A A | A A 0 1 1 A A | A A 0 1 0 1 A A | A A
1720|Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 78 | 124 | 108 | 114 | 0 0 0 0 10 [ 17 [18 | 15 5 6 5 5 A A A A 3 3 3 A A A A 7 8 T 6 A A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 52 | 52 | 41 | 46 1 1 0 1 21 | 21 [ 17 | 19 8 8 7 7 A A | A A 6 7 6 A A A A 2 3 3 A A | A A
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 48 | 44 | 36 | 40 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 6 4 3 2 A A A A 3 2 2 A A | A A 1 T 3 A A | A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 89 | 86 | 72 | 77 1 1 T 1 34 | 36 [ 30 | 31 6 5 5 5 A A | A A 2 1 2 A A | A A 6 6 2 A A | A A
1706|Banbury Road/Bicester Road o | 8 | 69 | 75 1 1 1 1 32 | 28 | 22 | 23 8 8 7 7 A A A A 3 4 3 A A A A 3 3 3 A A | A A
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 48 | 43 | 38 | 40 0 0 0 T 9 9 7 15 7 3 3 2 A A A A 2 2 2 2 A A A A 0 0 1 A LA A A
1709]Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 69 | 63 | 54 | 58 6 5 3 5 50 | 41 | 31 | 42 | 20 | 27 [ 24 | 30 | D D E D | 14 [ 13 [ 10 | 17 | B B B C 5 4 Z 6 A A A A
1710|Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 86 | 89 | 80 | 83 0 0 0 0 6 7 6 7 5 5 2 5 A A A A 4 4 2 5 A A | A A 1 T 0 A A A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 24 | 45 | 40 | a1 0 0 0 0 12 | 12 | 11 | 10 9 8 7 8 A A A A Z 5 3 5 A A A A 1 1 T A A A |A
00 to 23:00 1201|Kidlington Roundabout 30 | 23 | 18 | 19 0 0 0 0 7 | 15 [ 12 | 13 3 5 5 7 A A A A T 7 T Z A A A A T 2 T 2 A A A A
101|Loop Farm Roundabout 59 | 78 | 87 | o1 0 0 0 8 8 9 | 19 1 T 2 2 A A A A 1 1 1 2 A A A A 1 1 1 2 A A | A A
201[Peartree Interchange 35 | 46 | 48 | 53 1 T 2 14 | 20 0 | 23 | 15 | 10 [ a7 | 7 | C c c C [ 10 | 1 5 @ | A B | A B 9O 10 | 12 [ 14| A B B B
401]Wolvercote Roundabout 37 | 35 | 35 | a1 6 5 5 6 50 | 40 [ 48 | 57 | 16 | 18 | 17 | 18 | C C C C 8 8 5 7 A A A A 6 5 2 2 A A A A
701[Cutteslowe Roundabout 103 | 103 | o1 | 110 | 3 3 5 | 42 | 4> | 40 | 57 | 1a [ 14 | 14 | 17 B B B C [ 10 [ 10 5 0 [ A B A A 9 8 7 8 A A | A A
1001|Water Eaton Park and Ride 93 | o1 [ 60 |14 1 0 0 7 27 | 28 | 24 | 57 6 10 [ 9 [ A A A C 2 5 3 5 A A A A 1 4 0 2 A A | A A
1814]A34 Link/Kidlington Road 24 | 24 | 54 | 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A |TA
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 25 | 22 | 23 | 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A |TA A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 22 | 21 | 21 | 25 1 1 1 2 23 | 23 | 20 | 25 | 19 | 20 [ 19 | 20 | ¢ C G C 1 2 2 3 A A A A 7 6 7 8 A A A A
1601|A40 / Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 71 _| 87 | 67 | 76 1 2 2 2 27 | 43 | 34 | 40 | 26 | 21 | 22 | 21 D C C c 2 | 4 1| 13| B [ A B B 2 2 0 1 A A A A
1724|Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 42 35 31 31 0 0 0 0 1 3 2 1 0 0 1 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1717|Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 24 | 17 | 14 [ 15 0 0 0 0 3 6 3 2 1 2 1 1 A A A A 0 0 0 0 A A A | A 0 1 0 0 A A A A
1719|Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 34 | a8 | 41 | a3 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 2 1 1 1 A A A A 0 T 0 0 A A A | A 0 1 0 1 A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 54 | 79 | 67 [ 70 0 0 0 0 8 13 | 12 [ 10 4 5 2 2 A A A A 2 4 2 2 A A A A 3 4 T 5 A A | A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 35 | 37 | 33 | 34 0 0 0 0 18 | 18 [ 15 | 17 7 7 6 A A A A 2 2 0 2 A A | A A 0 1 1 T A A A |ITA
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 33 | 34 | 30 | 31 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 4 2 A A | A A 2 2 0 1 A A | A A 0 0 0 0 A A A A
1705|Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 65 | 66 | 58 | 60 1 1 0 0 27 | 26 [ 24 | 26 5 5 A A A A 2 2 2 A A A A 3 3 2 3 A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 66 | 65 | 56 | 59 0 0 0 0 23 | 21 [ 19 | 22 6 5 6 A A A A 2 2 2 A A A A 2 1 T 2 A A | A A
1708]Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 40 | 30 | 33 [ 35 0 0 0 0 7 7 5 5 3 3 3 A A A A 1 1 1 A A | A A 0 0 1 0 A A A A
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 51 | 50 | 43 | 45 3 3 2 3 30 | 34 | 2 | 36 | 23 | 22 [20 | 22 | ¢ C C C [ 1316 |5 ol s cC | A B 3 3 5 7 A A A A
1710]W oodstock Road/Moreton Road 68 | 70 | 62 | 63 0 0 0 0 4 5 3 5 4 5 5 2 A A A A 5 5 3 2 A A | A A 1 0 0 1 A A A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 35 | 36 | 32 | 33 0 0 0 0 10 8 7 7 8 8 7 7 A A A A 6 5 T 3 A A A A T T 0 T A A A A

10



OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Table 5.4 - Junction Performance Comparison - Saturday

Time Node Junction Name Flow Avg Queue Length Max Queue Length Delay Car LOS Car Delay LGV LOS LGV Delay HGV LOS HGV
Base Ref RefE DSL DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DSL DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DS1 DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DSI DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DS1 DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DSL DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DSL DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DS1 DSIE DS2 Base Ref RefE DSL DSIE DS2
EZEVICRTHN 1201 Kidiington Roundabout 83 | 68 | 76 | 50 | 48 | 49 3 3 4 2 2 2 46 | 50 | 55 | 49 | 48 | 40 7 14 | 17 3 5 6 A B c A A 7 10 | 12 | 4 5 6 A B B A A A 3 4 4 13 | 17 | 17 | A A A B c c
11:30 to 12:30 101|Loop Farm Roundabout 208 | 277 | 208 | 322 | 319 | 311 | © 1 9 49 | 36 | 52 | 28 | 32 | 64 | 301 | 253 | 354 | 2 3 6 | 44 | 74 | a6 | A A C E E 2 3 1| 0 2 3 A A B A A A 1 1 29 | 31 | 29 [ 30 | A A D D D
201[Peartree Interchange 135 | 153 | 164 | 168 | 169 | 167 | 3 7 24 | 30 | 27 | 37 | 30 | 5 | 99 | 157 | 114 | 140 | 27 | 32 | 62 | 40 | 37 | 35 C c E D D C |20 [ 32 [ 63 1 1 1 C C E A A A |18 [ 20 | a1 | 58 | 47 | 62 B c D E D E
401[Wolvercote Roundabout 121 | 111 | 121 | 115 | 115 | 118 | 28 | 53 | 44 | 43 | 47 | 46 | 121 | 119 | 122 | 105 | 124 | 110 | 33 | 45 | 41 | 17 | 17 | 18 C D D B B B | 24 | 28 | 26 8 | 10 | ¢ C c A B B | 16 [ 10 | 17 | 36 | 39 | 37 B B B D D D
701[Cutteslowe Roundabout 201 | 234 | 252 | 206 | 201 | 212 | 12 | 15 | 20 | 20 | 15 | 30 | 76 | 81 | o8 | 101 | 03 | 111 | 20 | 21 | 27 | 22 | 20 | 26 C C C C C C [ 17 | 17 [ 21 | 10 | 11 | 16 B B C A B B | 16 | 18 | 21 | 35 | 26 | 46 | B B C C C D
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 204 | 203 | 225 | 79 | 76 | 76 2 3 3 1 2 2 45 | 55 | 64 | 77 | 56 | 54 8 6 | 17 4 4 3 A B B A A A 2 6 6 14 | 19 [ 20 [ A A A B B C 5 5 6 13 | 18 | 18 | A A A B B B
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road o7 | 111 | 121 | 110 | 100 | 114 | 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 6 5 | 107 [ 6 5 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 1 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 77 | 62 | 68 | 55 | 56 | 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 2 2 47 3 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 78 | 76 | 83 [ 71 [ 71 | 70 6 6 7 5 6 5 54 | 54 | 54 | 66 | 50 | 46 | 23 | 23 | 25 8 8 7 C C C A A A [ 20 [ 18 [ 21 6 6 6 C B C A A A 9 7 7 23 | 23 | 23 | A A A C C C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 148 | 175 | 192 | 149 | 143 | 161 | 4 [ a1 6 10 | 11 | 68 | 147 | 260 | 141 | 109 | 117 | 24 | 33 | 35 2 3 3 C C D A A A [ 13|14 15 | 0 0 0 B B B A A A 2 3 11 | 33 | 34 | 32 [ A A B C C C
1724[Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 163 | 110 | 126 | 116 | 115 | 114 | © 0 0 0 0 0 19 | 11 | 14 [ 106 | 12 | 10 T 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 1 1 1 2 2 2 A A A A A A 0 0 1 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1717[Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 90 | 62 | 68 | 57 | 55 | o4 0 1 1 1 1 1 26 | 42 | 45 | 55 | 41 | 37 3 6 7 0 1 0 A A A A A A 3 5 4 3 2 3 A A A A A A 0 0 0 5 6 5 A A A A A A
1719|Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 140 | 176 | 101 | 167 | 161 | 160 | © T 1 T T 1 17 | 65 | 72 | 160 | 61 | 52 2 6 7 1 2 2 A A A A A A 1 5 5 2 2 2 A A A A A A 0 2 2 5 2 2 A A A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 242 | 314 | 342 | 207 | 285 | 284 | 1 2 2 2 1 T 22 | 27 | 20 | 285 | 26 | 26 8 9 10 9 10 7 A A A A A A 8 9 10 | 10 [ 1t [ | A A A B B B 7 7 12 9 8 8 A A B A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 120 | 124 | 136 | 112 | 106 | 105 | 2 3 3 2 2 2 40 | 39 | 43 [ 103 | 36 | 3 | 12 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 10 | 19 B B B B A B 12 | 13 | 13 8 7 6 B B B A A A | 17 |13 [ 11 | 12 | 11 | 11 B B B B B B
1702|Banbury Road/The Moors 118 | 118 | 129 | 106 | 100 | 99 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 6 9 99 2 5 9 9 9 6 6 6 A A A A A A | 10 8 11 5 6 5 A A B A A A 6 7 1T 8 7 7 A A B A A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yamton Road 191 | 206 | 225 | 187 | 179 | 177 | 4 2 5 2 3 3 66 | 68 | 81 | 178 | 58 | 59 | 10 9 11 6 8 6 A A B A A A | 10 9 12 8 8 8 B A B A A A 7 8 2 9 9 9 A A A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 200 | 200 | 229 | 100 | 182 | 180 | 4 2 5 3 3 3 56 | 64 | 72 | 181 | 52 | B0 | 14 | 15 | 15 5 7 8 B B B A A A 7 8 8 6 | 15 | 15 [ A A A B B B 6 6 8 14 | 13 | 13 | A A A B B B
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane o1 | o0 [ o7 [ 78 [ 76 [ 73 1 0 1 2 0 14 | 44 | 37 | a4 | 71 | 30 [ 100 | 8 7 7 5 4 16 A A A A A C 8 6 7 2 1 4 A A A A A A 4 7 3 9 6 2 | A A A A A C
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 128 | 130 | 141 | 117 | 112 | 112 | 14 | 13 | 16 | 12 | 14 | 15 | 102 | o5 | 107 | 104 | 126 | 125 | 39 | 37 | 40 | 24 | 19 | 20 | O D D C B B | 39 | 36 | 40 [ 20 | 21 | 20 [ D D D c C B | 16 | 14 | 15 | 30 | 43 | 42 B B B D D D
1710|Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 167 | 153 | 166 | 140 | 135 | 135 | © 0 0 0 0 0 16 | 16 | 16 | 104 | 12 | 12 9 8 8 4 2 2 A A A A A A | 10 8 8 2 2 4 A A A A A A 4 3 3 8 7 7 A A A A A A
T711[Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane o5 | 83 | o1 | 5 | 72 | 2 T 0 T 0 0 0 42 | 33 | 40 | 67 | 27 | 20 | 12 | 10 | i1 7 Z 3 B B B A A A | 10 | o 9 2 2 2 A A A A A A 7 Z Z 1| 11 | 10 | A A A B B A
FOUICRTHN  1201|Kidiington Roundabout 78 | 59 | 65 | 53 | 51 | 52 2 T 2 T T T 39 | 37 | 37 | 52 | 30 | 33 7 o[ 13 5 5 8 A B B A A A 7 9 0 | 2 5 6 A A A A A A 3 5 6 0 | 2 | 13 [ A A A A B B
12:30 to 13:30 101]Loop Farm Roundabout 215 | 295 | 316 | 203 | 271 | 283 | © T 30 | 120 | 70 | 189 | 26 | 20 | 141 | 274 | 243 | 355 | 2 3 38 | 100 | 87 | 117 | A A £ 3 3 36 | 0 2 3 A A E A A A 1 1 2 | 250 | 165 | 342 | A A A
201[Peartree Interchange 124 | 151 | 160 | 150 | 142 | 148 | 3 14 | 58 | 46 | 37 | 63 | 28 | 68 | 150 | 130 | 102 | 136 | 23 | 45 | 100 | 62 | 66 | 96 C D E E 19 | 20 | o4 1 1 1 B D A A A | 21 | 32 [ 64 | 74 | 76 | 105 | C C E E E
401[Wolvercote Roundabout 107 | 100 | 118 | 100 | 104 | 106 | 49 | 46 | 37 | 43 | 45 | 44 | 110 | 115 | 123 | to1 | 112 | 110 | 52 | 30 | 41 | 14 | 12 | 15 D D D B B B | 36 | 31 | 28 8 | 1 | D C c A B B | 36 | 15 | 16 | 34 | 39 | 3 | O B B c D D
701|Cutteslowe Roundabout 212 | 232 | 255 | 227 | 215 | 224 | 11 | 14 | 10 | 17 | 14 | 22 | 76 | 78 | & | 212 | 81 | 990 | 21 | 22 | 26 | 27 | 18 | 18 C C C C B B 0 | 18 | 22 7 0 | 15 B B C A A B | 16 [ 16 | 18 [ 27 | 22 [ 33 [ B B B C C C
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 188 | 174 | 101 | 158 | 152 | 158 | 2 2 2 2 1 2 39 | 44 | 49 | 153 | 30 | a7 7 3 [ 14 4 8 0| A B B A A A 6 9 5 | 15 | 17 [ 19 | A A B B B B 1 4 5 3 | 14 | 17 | A A A B B B
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road 90 | 98 | 108 | o7 | 95 | 102 | 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 5 95 5 4 T 1 1 1 2 1 A A A A A A 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A T 1 2 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1812[Bicester Road/A34 Link 79 | 66 | 70 | 61 | 60 | 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 54 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 76 | 72 | 79 | 70 | 68 | 70 6 6 6 5 5 5 50 | 46 | 51 | 64 | 43 | a6 | 24 | 23 | 24 6 7 7 C C C A A A | 18 | 18 [ 24 5 5 5 B B C A A A 9 7 9 23 | 22 | 22 | A A A C C C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 137 | 160 | 175 | 147 | 138 | 140 | 4 1| 18 8 8 7 57 | 108 | 161 | 139 | o1 | o4 | 33 | 36 | 34 7 3 11 C D C A A B | 20 [ 28 | 31 [ 0 0 0 C C C A A A 5 7 9 38 | 38 | 37 | A A A D D D
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 160 | 140 | 148 | 123 | 112 | 122 | © 0 0 0 0 0 1 | 12 | 14 [ 113 [ 11 | 11 1 1 2 0 0 0 A A A A A A 2 1 2 2 2 3 A A A A A A 1 1 T 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1717]Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 89 | 66 | 72 | 60 | 57 | 56 0 2 2 1 1 1 25 | 42 | 49 | 58 | 38 | 39 4 6 7 0 0 0 A A A A A A 2 2 6 2 3 3 A A A A A A 1 0 0 6 5 5 A A A A A A
1719[Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 141 | 198 | 214 | 179 | 168 | 173 | © 2 2 1 1 T 20 | 81 | 84 | 172 | 65 | 64 2 8 B 2 2 2 A A A A A A 2 7 7 2 2 2 A A A A A A 0 2 2 5 7 5 A A A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 244 | 351 | 380 | 317 | 298 | 305 | 1 2 2 1 1 1 20 | 27 | 30 | 306 | 24 | 25 8 9 9 5 5 3 A A A A A A 9 8 0 | 10 9 0 [ A A A A A A 2 6 2 8 8 8 A A A A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 114 | 123 | 134 | 112 | 104 | 106 | 2 3 3 2 2 2 40 | 38 | 42 [ 105 | 35 | 36 | 11 | 12 | 12 9 0 | 15 B B B A B B 2 | 13 | 12 7 7 6 B B B A A A it [ 12 [ 12 | ar [ ar |12 B B B B B B
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 112 | 114 | 125 | 104 | 98 | 100 | © 0 0 0 0 0 7 5 8 99 5 5 9 8 8 6 6 3 A A A A A A 8 8 8 5 5 5 A A A A A A | 12 7 5 7 7 8 B A A A A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yarmton Road 177 | 192 | 211 | 176 | 165 | 170 | 3 1 5 1 3 3 59 | 68 | 72 | 170 | 57 | 52 9 9 10 7 4 6 A A B A A A | 10 [ 10 [ 10 8 8 7 B B A A A A 7 7 7 9 8 8 A A A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 184 | 104 | 213 | 179 | 168 | 174 | 3 3 7 3 3 3 46 | 46 | 65 [ 173 | 42 | 48 | 13 | 14 | 15 6 5 5 B B B A A A 7 7 8 5 | 15 | 15 [ A A A B B B 7 6 5 13 | 13 | 13 [ A A A B B B
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 80 | 77 | 85 | 74 | 71 | 76 1 0 0 2 0 9 32 | 28 | 33 | 68 | 25 | o5 7 6 7 3 2 % | A A A A A C 5 2 5 2 1 8 A A A A A A 1 1 1 8 6 27 | A A A A A D
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 114 | 115 | 126 | 108 | 102 | 103 | 13 | 12 | 16 | 13 | 13 | 17 | o4 | 89 | 111 | o6 | 115 | 148 | 41 | 38 | 44 7 22 | 13 D D D A c B | 43 | 40 | 46 | 23 | 22 | 24 | D D D c c c |7 9 12 | 43 | 43 | 48 | B A B D D D
1710[Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 140 | 138 | 148 | 127 | 122 | 122 | © 0 0 0 0 0 9 3 | 14 [ 116 | 11 | 12 7 7 8 2 2 2 A A A A A A 7 7 8 2 2 4 A A A A A A 4 2 7 7 6 7 A A A A A A
T711[Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 80 | 77 | 82 | 71 | 69 | 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 | 27 | 39 | 66 | 26 | 26 | 12 | 10 | 12 3 3 2 B A B A A A | 15 | 12 | 14 | 2 2 2 B B B A A A 3 2 3 | 10 | 12 | A A A B B B
FSORCRZN  1201]Kidlington Roundabout 80 | 62 | 67 | 48 | 47 | 47 2 T 2 T T T 39 | 33 | 38 | 46 | 27 | 26 7 | 1 3 5 7 A B B A A A 6 9 0 | 2 Z 5 A A A A A A 2 Z 5 0 | 2 | 13| A A A A B B
13:30 to 14:30 101|Loop Farm Roundabout 213 | 283 | 317 | 313 | 209 | 313 | © 1 19 2 3 10 | 25 | 34 | 100 | 294 | 78 | 167 | 2 3 33 3 5 7 A A D A A A 3 3 3L | 0 1 2 A A D A A A 3 3 29 8 7 | 40 [ A A D A A E
201|Peartree Interchange 124 | 143 | 162 | 153 | 147 | 156 | 3 8 48 8 6 10 | 30 | 51 | 150 | 143 | 50 | 98 | 23 | 27 | 79 | 22 | 23 | a1 C C E C c D | 19 [ 27 | 81 1 1 T B c I A A |22 | 20 | 74 | 26 [ 20 | 48 | C c E C C D
401[Wolvercote Roundabout 106 | o9 | 110 | 105 | 100 | 104 | 36 | 38 | 36 | 34 | 20 | 40 | 120 | 115 | 117 | o6 | 112 | 113 | 44 | 40 | 39 | 13 | 13 | 14 | O D D B B B | 31 | 25 | 24 9 8 2| C C c A A B | 22 | 16 | 14 [ 34 | 31 | 36 | C B B C C D
701]Cutteslowe Roundabout 203 | 202 | 245 | 205 | 104 | 109 | 21 | 14 | 19 | 18 | 12 | 13 | 93 | 77 | o0 | 192 | 74 | 74 | 33 | 21 | 27 | 19 | 21 | 19 C C C B C B | 29 | 10 | 22 7 7 7 C B C A A A | 3 | 19 [ 27 | 22 [ 21 | 21 | C B C C C C
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 205 | 104 | 213 | 104 | 100 | 106 | 2 3 3 1 T 1 47 | 54 | 58 | 99 | 50 | 43 8 5 | 16 4 8 6 A B B A A A | a1 | it [ o1 |13 | 14 | 36 B B C B B B 3 6 7 2 | 14 | 15 | A A A B B B
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road 101 | 108 | 118 | 105 | 103 | 110 | © 0 0 0 0 0 4 5 5 |13 [ 5 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 A A A A A A 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 1 1 1 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 68 | 56 | 60 | 52 | 53 | 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 42 3 3 0 0 0 T 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 74 | 71 | 77 | 67 | 67 | €8 6 6 7 5 5 5 49 | 48 | 53 | 61 | 47 | 45 | 23 | 23 | 22 | 10 | 17 | 12 C C C B B B 19 | 18 | 20 6 5 5 B B C A A A |10 [ 11 [ a1 [ 2 [ 23 | 23 [ B B B C C C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 127 | 158 | 160 | 140 | 131 | 133 | 2 6 9 4 4 7 51 | o5 | 128 | 131 | 77 | 66 | 36 | 31 | 30 2 3 2 D C C A A A [ 1314 15 0 0 0 B B B A A A 2 2 3 17 | 18 | 18 | A A A B B B
1724|Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 161 | 120 | 146 | 121 | 115 | 122 | © 0 0 0 0 0 21 | 14 | 16 | 113 | 12 | 11 2 1 2 2 2 1 A A A A A A 2 1 2 2 2 2 A A A A A A 1 2 2 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1717[Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 87 | 69 | 76 | 62 | 60 | 50 0 2 2 1 1 2 25 | 44 | 52 | 50 | 30 | a1 3 7 8 4 3 3 A A A A A A 2 7 5 3 3 3 A A A A A A 2 2 2 6 6 6 A A A A A A
1719|Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 130 | 106 | 218 | 178 | 171 | 174 | © 1 3 1 1 1 27 | 78 | 93 | 171 | 57 | 56 2 7 9 2 2 2 A A A A A A 2 5 6 2 2 2 A A A A A A 1 2 3 5 2 2 A A A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 243 | 349 | 386 | 317 | 302 | 306 | 1 2 2 1 1 1 21 | 28 | 31 | 306 | 24 | 25 8 9 10 8 6 8 A A A A A A 8 9 9 10 | 10 [ 10 [ A A A B A A 7 8 8 9 8 8 A A A A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 107 | 116 | 128 | 105 | 99 | 09 2 2 3 2 2 2 34 | 34 | 37 | 98 | 33 | 81 | 11 | 12 | 12 8 3 7 B B B A A A [ 11 | 11 [ 13| 4 5 5 B B B A A A 6 8 10 | 12 | 11 [ 11 [ A A B B B B
1702|Banbury Road/The Moors 104 | 106 | 117 | 98 | o1 | o2 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 6 6 92 6 5 8 8 B 3 3 2 A A A A A A 6 6 5 5 2 5 A A A A A A 4 2 2 7 7 7 A A A A A A
1705|Banbury Road/Yamton Road 167 | 181 | 199 | 165 | 158 | 160 | 3 3 7 3 2 3 53 | 61 | 64 | 150 | 53 | 50 8 8 9 9 8 B A A A A A A 9 9 12 7 7 7 A A B A A A 8 8 8 8 8 8 A A A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 174 | 183 | 202 | 166 | 160 | 162 | 3 3 7 3 2 3 46 | 49 | 56 | 160 | 46 | 46 | 13 | 13 | 14 4 7 6 B B B A A A 7 8 7 5 | 15 | 14 [ A A A B B B 8 3 2 2 | 12 | 12 [ A A A B B B
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 73 | 69 | 77 | 63 | 60 | 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 | 26 | 31 | 58 | 21 | 23 6 5 6 2 2 2 A A A A A A 7 4 4 1 2 2 A A A A A A 2 3 2 6 5 5 A A A A A A
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 107 | 106 | 116 | 96 | 92 | o3 | 13 | 12 | 14 | 14 | 12 | 13 | 90 | 89 | ©5 | 87 | o4 | 03 | 40 | 38 | 42 | 33 | 30 | 21 D D D C C C [ 38 | 40 | 42 | 23 | 24 | 23 | D D D c C C |30 [ 20 | 30 [ 44 | a2 | 43 | C C C D D D
1710[Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 175 | 156 | 172 | 146 | 137 | 142 | © 0 0 0 0 0 17 | 14 | 18 [ 131 [ 15 | 13 9 8 9 3 3 3 A A A A A A 9 8 8 2 2 4 A A A A A A 4 2 2 8 7 8 A A A A A A
1711|Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 93 | 80 | 89 | 75 | 70 | 74 T 0 T 0 0 0 44 | 33 | 41 | 67 | 27 | 30 | 13 | 11 | 12 3 7 3 B B B A A A 9 8 8 2 2 2 A A A A A A 7 Z 3 0 | 11 | 11 | A A A A B B
ERZVICRERN  1201|Kidiington Roundabout 85 | 64 | 71 | 53 | 50 | 5 3 2 3 T T T 79 | 35 | 50 | 51 | 32 | 36 8 3 | 15 7 3 7 A B B A A A 7 8 9 Z 5 6 A A A A A A 3 Z 5 0 | 12 | 14 [ A A A B B B
14:30 to 15:30 101|Loop Farm Roundabout 2220 | 308 | 325 | 310 | 306 | 315 | © 10 | 188 | 6 3 20 | 26 | 83 | 528 | 200 | 78 | 144 | 3 13 | 140 | 3 8 17 A B A A c 3 10 [ 34| 0 2 4 A A A A A 1 2 5 | 1 8 2 | A A B B A D
201|Peartree Interchange 120 | 151 | 162 | 153 | 147 | 154 | 3 1 | 4 | 12 7 21 | 27 | 58 | 105 | 143 | 57 | 8 | 22 | 37 | 69 | 26 | 21 | 32 C D E C C C [ 1o [ 35 [ et 1 1 1 B D E A A A | 16 | 34 [ 52 | 28 | 24 | a0 | B c D C c D
401Wolvercote Roundabout 98 | o5 | 104 | 103 | 98 | 103 | 21 | 38 | 25 | 36 | 32 | 43 | o» | 115 | 112 | o5 | 112 | 112 | 20 | 36 | 34 | 12 | 16 | 12 C D C B B B | 20 | 27 | 22 7 0 | 10 B C C A A B | 13 | 12 | 14 | 34 | 32 | 36 | B B B C C D
701]Cutteslowe Roundabout 202 | 213 | 234 | 205 | 195 | 202 | 23 | 12 | 15 | 13 | 13 | 15 | 96 | 78 | & | 104 | 8L | 8L | 37 | 20 [ 23 | 20 | 17 | 17 D C C B B B | 3 [ 18 | 19 5 0 [ 10 | D B B A A A |20 [ 17 [ a7 [ 21 [ 21 | 22 [ C B B C C C
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 214 | 189 | 209 | 128 | 124 | 153 | 2 2 2 1 2 4 47 | 43 | 47 | 124 | 46 | o4 8 1 | 1 6 8 8 A B B A A A 2 6 6 5 | 20 | 25 [ A A A B B C 2 5 8 11| 15 | 19 | A A A B B B
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road 106 | 115 | 126 | 113 | 112 | 121 | © 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 6 | 11| 5 5 1 T 1 1 2 4 A A A A A A 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 2 1 1 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1812|Bicester Road/A34 Link 71 | 56 | 62 | 53 | 55 | 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 2 47 2 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 78 | 74 | 81 | 71 [ 71 | 77 6 6 7 5 5 6 52 | 46 | 52 | 67 | 47 | 50 | 24 | 23 | 24 5 6 8 C C C A A A | 23 | 20 [ 21 5 6 5 C B C A A A 7 8 5 23 | 23 | 24 | A A A C C C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 125 | 172 | 187 | 142 | 135 | 136 | 2 18 | 30 7 6 12 | 44 | 151 | 180 | 134 | o2 | 126 | 11 | 25 | 33 4 7 9 B C C A A A i [ 14 [ 1w | o 0 0 B B B A A A 8 5 2 | 10 | 17 [ 19 [ A A B B B B
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 173 | 152 | 167 | 137 | 132 | 138 | © 0 0 0 0 0 21 | 14 | 17 | 128 | 12 | 15 2 2 2 1 1 1 A A A A A A 2 1 2 2 3 2 A A A A A A 1 1 1 1 1 2 A A A A A A
1717]Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 88 | 70 | 76 | 63 | 60 | 60 0 2 3 2 1 2 28 | 49 | 49 | 50 | 45 | 45 4 8 8 T T 1 A A A A A A 3 5 6 3 3 3 A A A A A A 1 2 2 6 6 6 A A A A A A
1719[Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 139 | 201 | 219 | 180 | 173 | 176 | © 2 3 1 1 T 28 | o1 | 96 | 172 | 55 | 63 2 7 9 3 2 3 A A A A A A T 7 7 2 2 2 A A A A A A 1 3 3 5 7 5 A A A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 240 | 352 | 388 | 321 | 306 | 810 | 1 2 2 2 1 1 20 | 20 | 30 [ 307 | 26 | 26 8 9 10 6 0 | 12 [ A A A A A B 8 9 9 10 | 10 [ 10 [ A A A A A B 8 10 9 9 8 8 A A A A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 110 | 114 | 125 | 105 | 98 | 99 2 2 3 2 2 2 39 | 38 | 40 | o7 | 33 | 31 | 12 | 12 | 13 5 8 5 B B B A A A |12 |11 [ 13 5 3 6 B B B A A A 6 8 2 | 12 | it [ 1| A A B B B B
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 106 | 103 | 114 | o7 | o1 | o3 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 5 90 4 5 9 8 8 4 4 2 A A A A A A 9 7 9 5 5 5 A A A A A A 6 6 2 8 7 7 A A A A A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yarnton Road 196 | 202 | 202 | 188 | 178 | 181 | 4 2 5 3 3 3 67 | 69 | 72 | 180 | 61 | &7 9 9 10 4 3 Z A A A A A A [ 10| 10 [ o 8 8 8 A A A A A A 4 3 3 9 8 8 A A A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 101 | 106 | 215 | 178 | 169 | 173 | 4 4 5 3 3 3 55 | 57 | 69 | 171 | 54 | 53 | 14 | 14 | 15 9 8 8 B B B A A A 8 7 8 6 | 15 | 15 [ A A A B B B 5 7 6 14 | 13 | 13 | A A A B B B
708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 73 | 69 | 76 | 66 | 62 | 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 17 | 20 [ 60 | 23 | 28 6 5 6 5 2 7 A A A A A A 5 5 6 2 1 1 A A A A A A 3 3 5 4 5 5 A A A A A A
709]Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 110 | 108 | 118 | 100 | o4 | o6 | 14 | 13 | 16 | 21 | 17 | 21 | o 89 | 111 | o0 | 110 | 126 | 41 | 39 | 43 | 35 | 36 | 40 | D D D C D D | 40 | 38 | 40 | 25 | 23 | 24 [ D D D C C C |24 | 22 | 27 | 56 | 47 | 49 | C C C E D D
710|Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 145 | 135 | 146 | 130 | 122 | 124 | © 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 | 13 |17 [ 12 | a1 7 7 8 3 4 2 A A A A A A 7 6 6 5 2 4 A A A A A A 4 2 5 7 6 7 A A A A A A
711[Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 81 | 71 | 77 | 70 | 66 | 67 T 0 0 0 0 0 2 26 | 32 | 63 | 24 | 20 | 12 | 11 | 12 5 2 5 B B B A A A | 13 | 12 [ 10 | 2 2 2 B B B A A A 9 6 6 | o 9 A A A B A A
FEXGICRCIN  1201]Kidlington Roundabout 72 | 57 | 63 | 53 [ 51 | 51 2 T 2 T T T 36 | 33 | 30 | 51 | 30 | 20 6 o 13 7 7 5 A B B A A A 6 9 8 7 5 6 A A A A A A 2 Z 7 9 | 12 | A A A A B B
15:30 to 16:30 101]Loop Farm Roundabout 161 | 215 | 251 | 203 | 196 | 200 | © 6 63 0 0 0 21 | 45 | 271 | 190 | 30 | 33 2 14 | 66 1 2 2 A B [ A A A 2 21 | 80 0 2 2 A cC I A A A T 10 [ 3t 3 5 6 A B D A A A
201[Peartree Interchange 96 | 114 | 132 | 110 | 107 | 100 | 2 8 18 1 3 4 25 | 47 | 73 | 103 | 81 | 32 | 21 | 33 | 40 | 13 | 15 | 16 C C D B B B 7 | 32 | 37 1 0 T B C D A A A | 16 [ 41 [ a1 [ 15 [ 16 | 15 | B D D B B B
401]Wolvercote Roundabout 88 | 88 | 00 | 80 [ 77 | 77 | 14 | 46 | 26 | 13 | 13 | 15 | 83 | 108 | 135 | 73 | o0 | 99 | 25 | 45 | 32 | 13 | 120 [ 1 C D C B B B | 22 | 36 | 29 7 9 9 C D C A A A |13 [ 23 [ 15 | 26 [ 26 | 27 B C B C C C
701]Cutteslowe Roundabout 183 | 201 | 225 | 184 | 175 | 178 | 10 | 11 | 14 9 10 | 10 | 75 | 72 | 82 | 173 | 76 | 75 | 21 | 20 | 22 | 15 | 14 | 20 C B C B B B | 20 | 18 | 19 6 10 | 10 B B B A B A | 22 | 17 [ 21 | 19 [ 10 | 19 | © B C B B B
1001[Water Eaton Park and Ride 196 | 181 | 200 | 167 | 159 | 162 | 2 2 3 2 2 2 41 | 45 | 57 | 160 | 52 | 47 9 5 | 15 6 6 5 A B B A A A 6 14 | 16 | 16 [ 21 | 19 | A B B B C B 2 5 5 3| 17 | 17 | A A A B B B
1814[A34 Link/Kidlington Road 95 | 101 | 111 [ 100 | 99 [ 105 [ 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 5 5 97 5 2 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 1 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1812[Bicester Road/A34 Link 58 | 49 | 53 | 47 | 45 | 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 1 40 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A 0 0 0 0 0 0 A A A A A A
1811[Bicester Road/Water Eaton Lane 69 | 66 | 72 | 64 | 63 | 64 5 5 6 5 5 5 45 | 42 | 47 | 50 | 44 | 43 | 220 | 22 | 22 7 8 B C C C A A A |17 |15 [ 18 5 5 4 B B B A A A | 12 9 8 2 | 22 | 22 B A A C C C
1601[A40/ Eynsham Road / Cassington Road | 109 | 140 | 155 | 124 | 118 | 118 | 1 5 8 3 4 3 36 | 90 | 108 | 116 | 79 | 48 | 24 | 30 | 29 2 2 2 C C C A A A [ 25 | 2 [ 28 | © 0 0 C C C A A A 1 2 2 28 | 32 | 31 | A A A C C C
1724]Woodstock Road/Cassington Road 113 | 105 | 117 | 102 | 96 | 101 | © 0 0 0 0 0 2 | 10 [ 10 [ o7 7 9 T 1 1 0 0 0 A A A A A A 1 1 1 2 2 2 A A A A A A 0 0 0 1 1 1 A A A A A A
1717]Woodstock Road/Sandy Lane 62 | 42 | 47 | 30 | 37 [ 37 0 0 T 0 0 0 10 | 20 | 36 | 36 [ 27 | 20 3 2 5 T T T A A A A A A 1 2 6 2 2 2 A A A A A A 0 T 1 4 2 2 A A A A A A
1719[Woodstock Road/Spring Hill Road 97 | 132 | 147 | 125 | 110 | 121 | 0 0 1 0 0 0 9 43 | 55 | 120 | 29 | 30 2 4 5 1 1 2 A A A A A A 1 2 2 2 2 2 A A A A A A 1 2 2 3 3 3 A A A A A A
1720[Woodstock Road/Langford Lane 166 | 236 | 261 | 220 | 210 | 211 | 1 1 1 1 1 1 15 | 24 | 24 | 210 | 21 | 23 7 8 B 6 8 ol A A A A A B 7 8 7 ] 10 | 9 A A A B B A 6 9 12 7 7 7 A A B A A A
1701[Banbury Road/Lanford Lane 86 | o1 | 100 | 82 | 78 | 79 2 2 2 1 1 1 30 | 32 | 32 | 75 | 26 | 28 | 11 | 10 | 11 | 10 6 6 B B B A A N S T 8 7 6 B B B A A A 7 7 9 10 | 10 [ 10 [ A A A B A B
1702[Banbury Road/The Moors 82 | 86 | o5 | 77 | 73 | 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 4 72 4 3 8 7 7 3 3 4 A A A A A A 9 7 8 6 5 5 A A A A A A 2 1 3 6 6 6 A A A A A A
1705[Banbury Road/Yarmton Road 165 | 175 | 192 | 150 | 152 | 154 | 3 3 7 3 2 2 52 | 61 | 64 | 153 | 51 | 51 8 8 9 5 4 3 A A A A A A 9 8 9 7 8 8 A A A A A A 5 2 5 8 8 8 A A A A A A
1706[Banbury Road/Bicester Road 162 | 170 | 186 | 157 | 148 | 151 | 3 3 7 3 2 2 50 | 50 | 56 | 151 | 46 | 47 | 13 | 13 | 14 8 7 6 B B B A A A 7 7 7 5 | 14 | 15 [ A A A B B B 6 7 6 3| 12 | 12 [ A A A B B B
1708[Banbury Road/Squitchey Lane 70 | 68 | 75 | 61 | 59 | 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 | 22 | 21 | 57 | 16 | o1 6 5 5 2 2 1 A A A A A A 5 7 4 1 1 1 A A A A A A 2 2 2 5 5 5 A A A A A A
1709[Banbury Road/Marston Ferry Road 102 | 102 | 113 | o3 | 89 | 89 | 11 | 10 | 14 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 87 | 80 | 92 | 84 | 117 | 118 | 38 | 37 | 41 | 14 | 14 | 14 | D D D B B B | 43 | 36 | 39 [ 25 [ 25 | 21 [ D D D c c C [ 10 9 14 | a4 | 46 | 47 B A B D D D
1710[Woodstock Road/Moreton Road 118 | 117 | 135 | 106 | 103 | 105 | © 0 0 0 0 0 9 10 | 12 [ 95 | 10 | 11 7 7 7 3 1 1 A A A A A A 7 7 7 5 5 5 A A A A A A 1 1 2 6 6 6 A A A A A A
1711]Woodstock Road/Squitchey Lane 68 | 64 | 74 | 58 | 55 | 56 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 | 23 | 30 | 52 | 12 | 16 | 12 8 10 2 2 2 B A A A A A 8 6 7 2 2 2 A A A A A A 2 2 3 i 0 | A A A B A B

=
=



OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

Purely in the context of early kick-off (E) vs 3pm kick-off on Saturday, the results show the following for cars:

e The early kick-off results in changes in performance at the following locations
0 Loop Farm roundabout from E to F in the first hour, reduction in delay in the 2" hour but still

LOS E;
o Inthe reference case for the early kick-off Peartree is a LOS of F in the 2" hour and E in the

34 and 4™ hours and F again the 5" hour.
o In all other hours the LOS is within capacity in DS1 and DS1E (likely due to the reduction in
overall traffic of 10% and 15% respectively;

5.7 Queue Length Results — Early Kick-off

The results in Figures 4.1 and 4.2 of the Addendum report show that the A40 WB and Frieze Way are most
affected in the pre-match period beginning an hour before kick-off. It is noted that the time labels are incorrect
in those figures but the data is correct.

5.8 Journey Time Results — Early Kick-off

The journey time results were not included in the spreadsheet provided, therefore, the commentary is related
purely to the tables provided in the Addendum report. The journey time routes are shown in Figure 5.1 below.

Figure 5.1 — Journey Time Routes

Table 4.6 of the AR shows that Route 3 NB is the worst affected between the kick-off times with nearly 2
minutes increase (8%) in the first hour. Routes 4 and 5 show small increase in all hours.

Page 279

12




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

The public transport routes are worse affected by the change in kick-off times with routes 2, 2A, S5, S7 and 700
in the SB direction all showing increases in all hours, although all are less than a minute with up to 8%
difference in journey times.

5.9 Oxford Parkway Sensitivity Test

OCC has requested an additional sensitivity test to include vehicles travelling to Oxford Parkway. OCC has
requested that the remaining capacity of Oxford Parkway modelled, following the removal of existing users
(already captured in the model), spaces removed for temporary arrangements on match days and spaces being
lost for the OCC’s Supported Transport depot which is removing 150 spaces is tested to be used by supporters.
This scenario assumes that the use of Oxford Parkway is not managed, therefore traffic arrives and exits the
car park during the closure.

It should be noted that the input spreadsheets for this scenario have not been provided to check the
calculations. A 10% reduction in overall demand has been applied to this scenario in the weekday and 15% on
the weekend. This scenario is referred to as DS2 in the results tables.

5.10 Network Performance Results Comparison - Parkway

Ridge present results simply as the differences between the DS1 and DS2 results. Therefore, PF has prepared
comparison tables that were previously requested to show a direct comparison between scenarios for each
metric. Table 5.1 shows the weekday results and Table 5.2 the Saturday results comparisons. For the latter
the names with the suffix E represent the early kick-off.

The light blue shaded cells represent the optimal performer between scenarios for each metric and vehicle
class.

The tables compare all results therefore, purely in the context of the without (DS1) and with (DS2) Parkway
scenarios on the Weekday, the results show the following:

e In the first two hours the delay is lower and speeds higher in DS2, however, in the final three hours the
delay is higher and speeds lower; and,
e After the first hour the DS2 results in more latent demand than DS1, particularly in the final two hours.

Purely in the context of the without (DS1) and with (DS2) Parkway scenarios on the Saturday, the results show
the following:

e DS2 performs worse than DS1 in all hours except the last but one with higher delays (over 50s in the
2" hour) and lower speeds (2.3mph slower in the 2" hour); and,
e The latent demand in DS2 is slightly higher than DS1.

5.11 Junction Performance Results Comparison - Parkway

PF has prepared comparison tables that were previously requested to show a direct comparison between
scenarios for each metric. Table 5.3 shows the weekday results and Table 5.4 the Saturday results
comparisons. Again, for the latter the names with the suffix E represent the early kick-off.

The tables compare all results therefore, purely in the context of the without (DS1) and with (DS2) Parkway
scenarios on the Weekday, the results show the following for Cars:

e Inthe 1st hour the LOS at Cutteslowe roundabout moves from D in DS1 to E in DS2;
e Inthe 2" hour the LOS at Wolvercote roundabout moves from D in DS1 to F in DS2, also at
Cutteslowe roundabout moves from D in DS1 to E in DS2; and,

Page 280

13




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

e Inthe 3" hour the LOS at Wolvercote roundabout moves from C in DS1 to F in DS2, also at Cutteslowe
roundabout moves from B in DS1 to F in DS2.

The tables compare all results therefore, purely in the context of the without (DS1) and with (DS2) Parkway
scenarios on the Saturday, the results show the following for Cars:

e Inthe 2" hour the LOS at Peartree interchange moves from E in DS1 to F in DS2;
e Inthe 3 and 4" hours the LOS at Peartree interchange moves from C in DS1 to D in DS2; and,
e Inthe 5" hour the LOS at Loop Farm roundabout moves from A in DS1 to C in DS2.

5.12 Queue Length Results — Parkway

The results in Figures 5.4 and 5.5 of the Addendum report show that the A40 WB and Banbury Way NB are
most affected in the Weekday scenarios with the timing on the queues shifted to closer to kick-off, but reduced
compared to the reference case.

The results in Figures 5.6 and 5.7 of the Addendum report again show that the A40 WB and Banbury Way NB
are most affected along with Freize Way in the Saturday early kick-off scenarios compared to the reference
case that only really shows a queue on A44 SB that is removed in DS2 (likely due to the 15% reduction in
global demand).

5.13 Journey Time Results — Parkway

The journey time results were not included in the spreadsheet provided, therefore, the commentary is related
purely to the tables provided in the Addendum report.

Table 5.5 of the AR shows for the Weekday, shows that Route 3 A44 NB is the worst affected with nearly 4
minutes increase (33%) in the 2" hour with DS2 compared to the reference case. Route 3 A44 SB also shows
a large increase in the 2" hour of 2.5 minutes (23%) in DS2 compared to the reference case.

Table 5.6 of the AR shows for the Saturday, shows that Route 5 SB on Frieze Way is the worst affected route
with an increase on 16.5 minutes in the 2" hour (262%). Route 4 A4260 NB is also affected with nearly 4.5
minutes increase (27%) in the 2" hour (and over 4 mins in the first hour). Routes 3 SB also shows a large
increase in the 2" hour of 2.5 minutes (15%) in DS2 compared to the reference case.

The public transport routes generally show delays of around a minute in the Weekday in the first hour for routes
2, 2A, S5, S7 and 700 in the SB direction. In the 3 hour similar increases are shown apart from routes 2, 2A,
S7 and 700 in the NB direction that see nearly a doubling of the reference case journey times with up to 12
minutes increase.

The public transport routes show large delays in the first hour of the Weekend early kick-off for the NB
directions of up to 5 minutes. In the 2" hour this trend continues with delays in the NB directions of up to 4
minutes. In the 3 hour no delays are noted but smaller increases return again in the 4" and 5 hours in both
directions with delays of up to 1 minute compared to the reference case.

5.14 Pedestrian Assessment

A pedestrian assessment has been undertaken using VisWALK, however, the files have not been provided for
review so comment has only been made on the reporting in the AR.

The screenshots in Figures 6.7 and 6.8 show huge demand for the crossing on Frieze Way. This is not
reflected in the VISSIM model where the crossing has been set on a 120s cycle time. If the intention is to run
the crossing with a higher frequency then the VISSIM model should also be updated to reflect the higher
frequency.

Page 281

14




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

6  Summary and Conclusion

This Technical Note summarised a review of the revised sensitivity models that have been submitted as well as
the Addendum Report.

There are a number of issues outstanding from the previous March 2025 review including:

e Missing commentary on the changes made to the network between the PR sites and the new OUFC
model;

e The input files or previous reporting provided do not show or explain the full calculations undertaken
and in particular do not show the details of the matrix estimation undertaken;

e The LMVR needs more detail on where the signal coding has changed and where the source signal
data was derived, the source of bus journey times needs to be stated (as it is in the TA), no outputs on
junction performance are provided and a comparison of network performance by seed should be
provided and an overall table summarising the journey time pass/fail by route and time period would
make it easier to digest. Whilst this information has been clarified in Appendix A of the AR and with a
supporting spreadsheet the previous reporting should be updated with the requested information;

Specifically for the forecast models, the issues include:

e New vehicle types with category Car use Small Car not Large Car have been added consistent with the
PR sites models, but more importantly they are not being used. This means it is not possible to identify
committed development easily (and the same applies to the DS model for OUFC vehicles). Ridge have
confirmed that colours could be added to represent different vehicle types but have not added this
feature to the models;

e The pedestrian demand on the crossings on the Oxford Road and Freize Road contain very low
pedestrian numbers of 10 per hour despite an obvious huge increase in pedestrian numbers in and
around match time (see Figures 6.7 and 6.8 of the AR). This crossing currently operates on 120s cycle
time and if the intention is to operate this on a lower cycle time then this should be reflected in the
model.

e Traffic has been reduced by 10-15% with evidence now provided it has been applied on a global basis
apart from the A34 and it is considered that the A40 and A44 through traffic should also have been
excluded. It would have been better to model the core scenario with no reduction in traffic and then
present a sensitivity test with reduced traffic using an evidence-based figure.

e Whilst output spreadsheets have been provided, these are for individual outputs and no comparison
spreadsheets have been provided. Therefore, PF has derived comparisons for network performance
and junction performance.

e Whilst vehicles driving through the diversion routes has been resolved for the routes previously
mentioned, there are still vehicles driving through the diversion well beyond the cut off time (for
instance at 1723 in the Friday weekday). However, this is probably just a function of the distance that
vehicles have to travel from the partial route?

The Addendum Report (AR) report repeats a large amount of information from the previous report and adds in
new sensitivity test results covering:

e Early 12:30 kick-off sensitivity test;

e Additional sensitivity test to include vehicles travelling to Oxford Parkway;
e Modelling Outputs split into 15-minute segments; and,

e Additional evidence of background traffic reduction on event days.

The results of the early kick-off show that the performance of the network is worse than a 3pm kick-off,
however, the differences are not large and the junction performance shows that Loop Farm deteriorates to a

Page 282 15




OUFC VISSIM Model
Audit Summary Report — Addendum Report

LOS of F in the first hour but after that the junction generally perform within capacity, most likely due to the
global 15% reduction in demand.

The Oxford Parkway results show that:

¢ Network Performance - in the first two hours of the Weekday, delay is lower and speeds higher in DS2,
however, in the final three hours the delay is higher and speeds lower and in the Weekend the DS2
performs worse than DS1 in all hours except the last but one with higher delays (over 50s in the 2nd
hour) and lower speeds (2.3mph slower in the 2" hour).

e The junction performance shows that Cutteslowe and Wolvercote deteriorate in the 1st 2nd and 3rd
hours in the Weekday and at the Weekend it is Peartree and Loop Farm that deteriorate in the 2nd, 31,
4t and 5™ hours.

¢ The queue length results show that A40 WB and Banbury Way NB are the most affected in both the
Weekday and Weekend scenarios with the addition of Frieze Way at the Weekend.

e The journey time results show impacts to A44 NB, A44 SB in the Weekday and Frieze Way SB and
A4260 NB at the Weekend.

e The public transport routes show large delays in the first hour of the Weekend early kick-off for the NB
directions of up to 5 minutes. In the 2" hour this trend continues with delays in the NB directions of up
to 4 minutes. In the 3 hour no delays are noted but smaller increases return again in the 4t and 5t
hours in both directions with delays of up to 1 minute compared to the reference case.

The model results do show an impact in both the Weekday and Weekend and the sensitivity tests have shown
a worsening with both the Early kick-off and Parkway, however, overall, the impact with the Early kick-off or
Parkway shows a deterioration in performance but compared to 3pm kick-off / without Parkway and the
reference case the impact is not considered unreasonable for an event that will not occur every week.

Nevertheless, it is considered that the results should have been presented originally with the worse case
scenario without any global reduction in traffic. This scenario has not been presented for consideration and the
results rely upon large decreases in traffic demand of 10%-15% within the local network area. Similarly, the
pedestrian crossings have not been modelled as a worse case with 120s cycle time or low demand of 10
pedestrians per hour. Again, the worst case scenario should have been modelled and presented for
consideration with further sensitivity tests to reduce the impact.

Page 283

16




Appendix D: Draft Heads of Terms Table — Highways

Contributions

PLANNING REG 122 Test 1 - Necessary to make | REG 122 Test 2 - Directly related | REG 122 Test 3 - Fairly and reasonably

OBLIGATION the development acceptable in to the development related in scale and kind to the
planning terms development

S106

Oxford Parkway
Junction

£587,778 (Baxter
April 2025)

Towards Active
Travel
improvements to
Oxford Parkway
Junction

This contribution is required to upgrade
the existing active transport
infrastructure on Oxford Road. The
existing layout of the Oxford
Road/Oxford Parkway junction is not
considered safe for pedestrians and
cyclists, hence the temporary measures
which have been in place since the
fatality in February 2022.

The junction will see significant
increases in movements of traffic,
public transport, pedestrians and
cyclists as a result of the development.
Without proposed improvements, it
cannot be considered that there is a
safe pedestrian / cycle connection to
the site and in turn, no attractive
alternative to the private car.

The improvements will allow
cyclists and pedestrians to the
development using Oxford Road to
travel safely.

The contribution amount is the cost of the
scheme as costed by Faithful & Gould,
project and cost management consultants.

Traffic
Management -
£260,550 (Baxter
April 2025)

Towards variable
message signs

The development site will significantly
increase the number of people within
the vicinity of the site and the
countywide highway network on
matchdays. This increase on the
highway network will need to be
managed in order to minimise the
impact on the highway. In order to do
this Variable Message Signs will be
required to encourage visitors to use
mobility hubs on route to the stadium,
reducing the impact of vehicles arriving
at Oxford Parkway on match days.

The VMS signage is proposed to
manage traffic on matchdays, this
traffic is directly associated with
the development site.

It has been assessed that 10 Variable
Message Signs will be required at a cost of
£25,000 = £250,000 (December ‘23
uplifted to April ‘25 = £260,550).

Speed
Management -
£260,550 (Baxter
April 2025)

Towards average
speed cameras

The application documents show that
the proposal will impact the highway
network, especially on the routes
between Wolvercote, Peartree and
Loop Farm roundabouts. Capacity is
already maximised at these junctions
and therefore alternative methods of
improving performance must be
assessed.

Average Speed Cameras will help keep
speeds on the ring road below the
speed limit which is proven to help
traffic flow and reduce accidents. This
in turn will reduce the impact of the
development on junctions leading to the
development.

The implementation of average
speed camaras will enforce lower
speeds on the ring road which will
in turn help manage congestion
and the local junctions which are
being impacted by the proposal.

It has been assessed that 5 cameras will
be required at a cost of £50,000 each =
£250,000 (July 22 uplifted to April 25 =
£260,550)

Public Transport
Services -
£722,264 (RPIX
April 2025)

Towards public
transport services
serving the site

NPPF Paragraph 117 states that
developments as far as possible should
facilitate access to high quality public
transport. This contribution will be used
to both maintain and improve public
transport services in Kidlington and
surrounding areas. This contribution is
necessary to ensure that there is a
suitable level of public transport
services serving the site to ensure
visitors have an attractive option to
travel sustainably, reducing reliance on
private vehicle travel resulting in a
reduction in the impact of the
development on the highway.

The proposed development is
likely to permit a significant
increase in the number of
passengers using public transport
services in Kidlington and the
surrounding areas. There is likely
to be a particular increase from the
‘eastern arc’ of Oxford.

The contribution will be used to
improve public transport services
directly serving visitors of the site.

The calculation is based on £23.52 (RPIX
Dec 21) per sgm of floor space with a
development floor space of x 25,235 =
£593,527 uplifted to April 25 = £722,264

Public Transport
Infrastructure -
£932,519 (Baxter
April 2025) towards
the upgrade of the
Cowley Branch
Line for passenger
use.

OUFC Supporter post code data shows
that there are a significant number of
fans that live within the catchment of
the Cowley Branch Line. The Transport
Assessment for the development states
that in D&C scenario 2 there will be an
expected 1960 home supporters using
rail (including CBL), for D&P scenario 3

The Cowley Branch Line opening
to passengers would connect
residential areas where large
numbers of fans live to the
development without having to
access the highway network

The contribution amount is based on the
S106 requirement methodology produced
by WSP, providers of engineering, advisory
and science-based expertise, appointed by
OCC and Oxford City Council. WSP’s
methodology, reported in January 2024,
uses the following factors to determine a
contribution amount:

Danpa 204
LI CU‘.JC L0




there are 3155 expected home
supporters using rail (including CBL).
To achieve an acceptable impact on the
highway the applicants rely on people
using rail, including a CBL open to
passengers.

It is proposed that the CBL will have
new stations at Littlemore and Cowley.
Without the CBL being open to
passengers there are no direct services
connecting those areas to the site. The
opening of the Cowley Branch Line for
passengers will make a direct route for
many fans and will reduce vehicle trips
on the network.

Unit Factor
Impact Factor
Mode Factor
Cost Factor
Locational Factor

Using the above factors and applying them
to the proposed development the
contribution amount is calculated as being
£918,802 (Baxter January 2024 uplifted to
April 2025 = £932,519)

Public Transport
Infrastructure -
£1,838,959 (Baxter
April 2025)

Towards a new
mobility hub on the
Ad4

The primary impacts of the
development are around Loop Farm,
Peartree and Wolvercote Roundabouts
and on the routes between the
junctions. The mobility hub will reduce
traffic on these routes and alleviate
impact on the junctions. Additionally, it
will give fans a sustainable travel choice
and reduce pressure on Peartree P&R
which is over capacity in Scenario 3.

The mobility hub will reduce
vehicular trips from the part of the
network which the stadium has
most impact.

The latest estimate for delivery of a
Mobility Hub near Oxford Airport is
£21,610,829 (Baxter June 2022) including
land costs, design, planning and
construction.

Known development in the area which
require the mobility hub to mitigate their
impact are contributing towards the cost of
the mobility hub based on their peak time
trips on a basis of £2196.89 per trip. The
proposed application predicts 796 peak
time vehicular trips making a contribution
towards the cost of the mobility hub of
£1,748,725 (Baxter June 2022) uplifted to
April 2025 = £1,838,959.

Public Transport
Infrastructure -
£29,786 (Baxter
April 2025).

Towards Real Time
Information boards
at new bus stops
on Oxford Road

The site strategy is based on promoting
sustainable travel. Real time
information boards are important on
public transport corridors such as
Oxford Road to provide accurate
information to users

The development necessitates the
need for new bus stops that will
require RTI boards.

Cost of a new bus stop Real Time
Information Boards = £14,000 x 2 =
£29,000 (Baxter October 2023) uplifted to
April 2025 = £29,786

The bus stops themselves will be directly
delivered by the applicant.

Parking
Restrictions -
£10,112 (Baxter
April 2025) - for
Clearway on Frieze
Way

Required in order to avoid ad-hoc
parking on carriageway and pavement
in the vicinity of the site.

Required as a result of planning
application.

Estimated cost based on distance of
parking restrictions required.

Height Barriers -
£20,224 (Baxter
April 2025) - for
Replacement
height barriers at
Oxford Parkway

Required to allow coaches associated
with the site to enter Oxford Parkway.

Required as a result of planning
application.

Cost of new height barrier quoted at
£20,000 (Baxter April 2024) uplifted to April
2025 = £20,224

Ticket Machines -
£28,313 (Baxter
April 2025) - for
replacement ticket
machines at Oxford

Required in order to provide dynamic
ticketing pricing at Oxford Parkway.

Required as a result of planning
application.

Cost of new machine = £7,000 x 4 =
£28,000 (Baxter April 2024) uplifted to April
2025 = £28,313.

Parkway
Parking Required in order to avoid ad-hoc Required as a result of planning Estimated cost based on distance of
Restrictions - parking on carriageway and pavement | application. parking restrictions required.

£20,224 (Baxter
April 2025) - for
double yellow lines
on Oxford Road
and Bicester Road

in the vicinity of the site.

Parking
Enforcement -
£184,120 (RPIX
April 2025) - for
additional
enforcement
officers

Required in order to better enforce
matchday CPZ (below).

Required as a result of planning
application.

Based on increased cost of enforcement
contract.

Matchday
Controlled Parking
Zone - £102,160
(Baxter April 2025).

Required in order to avoid ad-hoc
parking on the surrounding highway
network.

Required as a result of planning
application.

Estimated cost of delivering Controlled
Parking Zones.

Page 285




Additional
Matchday
Controlled Parking
Zone - £51,080
(Baxter April 2025)
— for an additional
Matchday CPZ if
required.

Required in order to avoid ad-hoc
parking on the surrounding highway
network.

Required as a result of planning
application.

Estimated cost of delivering Controlled
Parking Zones.

Framework Travel
Plan - £3340 (RPIX
April 2025) - for
travel plan
monitoring

A travel plan encourages and promotes
sustainable modes of transport with the
objective of reducing dependence upon
private motor car travel reducing the
environmental impact and traffic
congestion. A travel plan is a ‘dynamic’
document and to be effective requires
monitoring over a 5-year period.

A Framework Travel Plan is required to
monitor the site in it's entirety. Separate
travel plans are also required for the
individual elements which will need to
be more specific to their use.

The fees charged is for the work
required by OCC to monitor a
travel plan related solely to this
development site.

The contribution is based on the number of
officer hours required to monitor the travel
plan over a the 5-year period and the cost
of officer time. Travel Plan Monitoring Fees
are reviewed annually and approved by
Cabinet.

Matchday plan -
£1,985 (RPIX April
2025) - for travel
plan monitoring

As above.

As above.

As above.

Non matchday
conference and
exhibition use
travel plan - £1,985
(RPIX April 2025) -
travel plan
monitoring

As above.

As above.

As above.

Public
restaurant/bar
travel plan - £1,985
(RPIX April 2025) -
travel plan
monitoring

As above.

As above.

As above.

Health and
wellbeing
facility/clinic and
gym travel plan -
£1,985 (RPIX April
2025) - for travel
plan monitoring

As above.

As above.

As above.

Hotel travel plan -
£1,985 (RPIX April
2025) - for travel
plan monitoring

As above.

As above.

As above.

S278 Works

New at-grade
signalised crossing
on Frieze Way.

Required to get fans from the stadium
across Frieze Way to the new shared
path on the north-west side.

Required as a result of the
development

The crossing is only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

2 new at-grade
signalised
crossings on
Oxford Road.

Required for pedestrians to be able to
access the site from Oxford Road.

Required as a result of the
development.

The crossing is only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

Access works and
site frontages,
incorporating
‘Cycle
Superhighway’ on
Oxford Road

Required to allow vehicular access to
site and to tie-in with Cycle

Superhighway scheme on Oxford Road.

Required as a result of the
development.

The works are only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

New 3m off-
carriageway
shared
footway/cycleway
on Frieze Way with
additional 500mm
buffer (minimum,
depending on
speed reduction).

Required in order for fans to safely
access the site from Peartree P&R.

Required as a result of the
development.

The path is only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

Reduction of speed
limit on Frieze Way
to 40mph

To assist in minimising the buffer
required at the above shared path.

Required as a result of the
development

The reduction in speed limit is only
required due to the development therefore
the full cost should be borne by this
development.

Page 286




New at-grade
signalised crossing
on A44 near Loop
Farm Roundabout.

Required in order for fans to safely
access the site from Peartree P&R.

Required as a result of the
development

The crossing is only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

Installation of
Hostile Vehicle
Mitigation on
Oxford Road.

Counter-terrorism requirement required
by Thames Valley Police.

Required as a result of the
development.

The HVM is only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

2 new bus stops on
Oxford Road

Required to improve public transport
accessibility to the site.

Required as a result of the
development.

The bus stops are only required due to the
development therefore the full cost should
be borne by this development.

Page 287




APPENDIX 4 — Glossary of terms

Where in this report the following terms and expressions are used, they shall have the
following meanings:

TERM MEANING

AlA an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AlA)
is a report that evaluates the potential
impact of a development project on existing
trees and their surrounding environment

ASA Alternative Site Assessment — evaluates
whether a proposed development site is the
most  suitable choice by exploring
alternative options and determining if any
other sites could be preferable

BNG Means ‘Biodiversity Net Gain’. It is an
approach to development that makes sure
habitats for wildlife are left in a measurably
better state than they were before the
development. Developers must deliver a
BNG of 10%

BNG Metric To calculate the number of biodiversity
units for existing habitat, or habitat
enhancements to achieve BNG, you must
use the calculator called the statutory
biodiversity metric tool. This tool applies
the statutory biodiversity metric formula.

CEMP Construction Environmental Management
Plan
CIL Community Infrastructure Levy, a charge

which can be levied by Local Authorities on
new development in their area, subject to
compliance with the legislative tests

CPz a “controlled parking zone” - an area where
parking regulations are enforced, usually to
prioritise parking for residents and their
visitors

DRP Design Review Panel. It is a group of
independent professionals working in the
built environment field. It advises the
Council on design issues relating to new

Page 288


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-biodiversity-metric-tools-and-guides
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-biodiversity-metric-tools-and-guides

development schemes and proposals,
including major planning applications and
pre-application development proposals.

EIA

an Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA) is a systematic process that
evaluates the potential environmental
impacts of a proposed project or
development of a certain type and scale.

ES

an Environmental Statement (ES) is a
comprehensive report that assesses the
potential environmental impacts of a
proposed development project, particularly
those that may have significant effects.

GLVIAS

Guidelines for Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment (version 3)

HMMP

A Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan. It is a document that outlines how
habitats will be managed and monitored
over time, in the context of Biodiversity Net
Gain.

LEMP

Landscape Environmental Management
Plan

LHA

Local Highway Authority

LPA

Local Planning Authority

LVIA

A Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment (LVIA) is a process used to
evaluate the potential effects of a planned
development on the landscape and visual
character of an area

MOVA

Means ‘microprocessor optimised vehicle
actuation’. It is a traffic control system used
to optimise traffic signal timings.

SAC

a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is a
protected area designated under the
Habitats Directive to safeguard habitats
and species of European importance, both
terrestrial and marine.

TPO

Tree Preservation Order

Page 289




TRICS

‘Trip Rate Information Computer Systen’. It
is a database and analysis system used for
transport planning.

uTtC

Means ‘Urban Traffic Control. It is a
specialist form of traffic management that,
by coordinating traffic signals in a
centralised location, minimises the impact
of stop times on the road user.

VMS

Variable message signs - electronic signs
that display changeable messages and
graphics to inform road users about traffic
conditions, events, and safety information.

VSC

"very special circumstances" refers to
unique and exceptional conditions that, in
individual cases, can justify approving
development that would otherwise be
considered inappropriate

Page 290




	Agenda
	 Planning Applications
	5 Land To The East Of Stratfield Brake And West Of Oxford Parkway Railway Station, Oxford Road, Kidlington
	Site Plan 1
	Site Plan 2
	Committee Report
	Executive Summary
	1  Main Report
	APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY
	CONSTRAINTS
	DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
	RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
	PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS
	RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY
	RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION
	RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
	APPRAISAL
	Principle of Development and Impact on the Green Belt


	RECOMMENDATION

	Appendix 1 - Summary of Representations
	Appendix 2 - DRAFT Heads of Terms
	Appendix 3 - OCC Response
	Appendix 4 - Glossary of Terms




